

THE HIDDEN FALLING

THE HIDDEN OF VROHKARIA BOOK O

KELLY COVE

Copyright © 2023 by Kelly Cove

All rights reserved.

No portion of this book may be reproduced in any form without written permission from the a except as permitted by U.S. copyright law.

Brief quotations are allowed for reviews.

For permission contact kellycoveauthor@gmail.com

Cover Design by Incognito Designs

Editing by Kalynn Trammel

Map by @Saumyasvision/Inkarnate

Copyright © 2023 by Kelly Cove

All rights reserved.

No portion of this book may be reproduced in any form without written permission from the author, except as permitted by U.S. copyright law.

Brief quotations are allowed for reviews.

For permission contact kellycoveauthor@gmail.com

Cover Design by Incognito Designs

Editing by Kalynn Trammel

Map by @Saumyasvision/Inkarnate

CONTENTS

Series Warning
Map of Vrohkaria
Dedication
Prologue
One
Two
Three
Four
Five
Six
Seven
Eight
Nine

<u>Ten</u>

<u>Eleven</u> **Twelve Thirteen Fourteen** <u>Fifteen</u> <u>Sixteen</u> **Seventeen Eighteen** <u>Nineteen</u> **Twenty Twenty One Twenty Two Twenty Three Twenty Four Twenty Five Twenty Six Twenty Seven Twenty Eight Twenty Nine Thirty** Thirty One

Thirty Two

Thirty Three

Thirty Four

Thirty Five

Thirty Six

Thirty Seven

Thirty Eight

Thirty Nine

Forty

Forty One

Forty Two

Forty Three

Forty Four

Forty Five

Afterword

Acknowledgments

Come Stalk Me

Thirty Two

Thirty Three

Thirty Four

Thirty Five

Thirty Six

Thirty Seven

Thirty Eight

Thirty Nine

Forty

Forty One

Forty Two

Forty Three

Forty Four

Forty Five

Afterword

Acknowledgments

Come Stalk Me

SERIES WARNING

This series is only suitable for those 18+ and contains matters that can triggering. This is a dark fantasy romance. The world is not kind, nor c its people, or the main male character. He's an alpha-hole. This is an e to lovers story. This series is rough going, but they will have their HE \(\text{!} \) eventually.

For those that would like to go in blind, skip this page. If you have triggers read the following below. Please note – More may be added we every book.

This series contains, but is not limited to the following below either page/memories/flashbacks or references. Abuse including child abuse, sexual assault, murder, graphic violence, torture, death, child death, rajexplicit sex, kidnapping, dubious consent. Harm of the Main female chiby the Main male character(Whipping). If you have a specific trigger to not listed here and would like to check if it is in this book, please feel for contact me by email at Kellycoveauthor@gmail.com

be

an be

nemies

١....

ve any

ith

on

child

pe,

ıaracter

hat is

free to



For those that raise their hand to the moon and watch it shine between their fingers.

For those that raise their hand to the moon and watch it shine between their fingers.

PROLOGUE

"You can't do this!" the woman screamed, horror written all over her bloodied face. She tried to pull free from the chains wrapped around he wrists. They were attached at the top of two pillars on either side of he holding her arms stretched wide and dangling her above the ground.

"We already have, Catherine," the man said at the edge of the round stone platform beneath her, a smirk upon his face. "This has been plansome time now. After disposing of the problem that arose, it was easy guide you where we needed you to be."

"W-what?" Catherine asked, shocked as she trembled from exhausti pain. Blood dripped down her wrists where the chains dug into her skil steady flow painting splashes of color on the gray stone below her.

"Well... you see, Derrik was getting too close to finding out things I shouldn't. He had to be dealt with swiftly in order for us to proceed wi ritual. A hunting accident was the perfect way to go about it, wouldn't say?" A slow, satisfied smile spread across his face as he watched the jerk in despair.

"No! No, no, no. How could you?" Catherine sobbed, tears dripping her face. "He did everything for this pack. For his family!" she scream "You were his closest friend. He helped you when you needed it, helpe become who you are. And this is how you repay him? Repay us?"

"Yes, well... his sacrifice was needed, as is yours," the man scoffed stepped up onto the raised circular stone platform as ancient writing be glow along its edges. "Don't worry my dear, it will soon be over."

Catherine frantically tried to free herself from the chains, wrenching body from side to side and kicking her legs out as the man came closer He pulled a blackened blade from beneath his cloak, as the hooded f surrounding the edges of the platform began to chant the language of tl Catherine's eyes widened as she realized what this was, what was abou happen.

"You have no idea what you are doing," Catherine whispered. "You ned for plague these lands with creatures that are not meant to be. Creatures th should stay below and never surface. You cannot undo this. Think this through. The lives of so many will be lost over time," Catherine begge eyes pleading with his dark stare.

"Not for you to worry, my dear. I think I can handle a few pesky cre that come out of the below, especially with what you are about to give The man laughed, floating up to her so they were now face to face.

The chanting grew louder, the ancient writing glowed brighter with ominous mix of violet and black, pulsing to the same rhythm as Cather heartbeat. The hooded figures raised their arms above their heads, swir red extending from their fingertips, flowing toward where Catherine hi

The man looked over Catherine's face and raised a hand to cup her almost lovingly. "You were always supposed to choose me, you know"

2r r,

ed to

on and

n, the

he

th the you

woman

down man murmured. Catherine's eyes hardened at his words, disgust writte ed. her face. "If you had, perhaps this wouldn't have happened, and I would you waited for your replacement instead."

"Don't you dare touch—"

. He A blade to the throat cut Catherine off, a small whimper escaping he gan to the man's sadistic smile widened. "Don't worry, I won't be touching a anytime soon. I have things I am required to prepare for."

Catherine's body was slowly being drained of energy, exhaustion we her down while grief blurred her mind. The feeling of helplessness and igures she was about to lose sparked the last of her saddened soul to cry out, I he old. her lips as if Zahariss herself was speaking.

catherine's delicate markings begin to appear on her face, curving a from above her eyebrows, trailing around her eyes, and down below he will cheekbones. The man watched in confusion and awe. He had never see these markings in person, only read about them in historical texts.

"I curse those who commit wrongs against me and mine," Catherine ed, her a voice that was not her own. "I curse those who steal what is not freel to feel pain and suffering over time. I curse these lands until its last day attures hounds will hunt and gather and kill all who did an injustice against the me." Catherine screamed as a pale colored light shot out of her markings, fly toward the night sky as her life slowly began to fade from her eyes.

an "No!" the man roared, his blade slicing through the air and straight trine's her neck in one swift motion. Blood poured out onto her chest, drippin ls of her naked body onto the stone below. Her lifeblood began seeping into lines of the glowing runes, turning their color red.

cheek, "Did it work? What's happening?" a deep voice said beneath the clc?" the wore, rushing to step onto the platform.

n on The ground beneath them began to tremble as the man still hovered ld have the now lifeless woman, her skin taking on a bluish tint. The markings gone from her delicate face leaving bloodstained skin the man had war his own.

er as The platform began to crack beneath him. He looked down as swirls nyone black smoke flowed toward him almost angrily. He inhaled sharply as smoke made contact with his skin, breathing through the prickles of pa eighinghe accepted the power of old into his body.

I what "I suppose we will await the next moon cycle to see if the ritual wor moving he replied to the cloaked figure as he looked around the grassy clearing breathed deeply, a cruel smile curving his lips as power rushed through round "Either way, this is a new beginning."

?r

'n

said in

y given

ys. His

e line!"

ying

hrough

g down

the

oak he

The ground beneath them began to tremble as the man still hovered before the now lifeless woman, her skin taking on a bluish tint. The markings were gone from her delicate face leaving bloodstained skin the man had wanted for his own.

The platform began to crack beneath him. He looked down as swirls of black smoke flowed toward him almost angrily. He inhaled sharply as the smoke made contact with his skin, breathing through the prickles of pain as he accepted the power of old into his body.

"I suppose we will await the next moon cycle to see if the ritual worked," he replied to the cloaked figure as he looked around the grassy clearing. He breathed deeply, a cruel smile curving his lips as power rushed through him. "Either way, this is a new beginning."

ONE

RHEA

I lean back against the deck railings, relishing another sip of my warm before breathing in the early morning air. Dew and the smell of spring flowers tickle my senses as I tilt my head back toward the rising sun, let the heat caress my face in a loving touch as I ask the Gods for strength today will go without a hitch.

I can hear people milling around in front of me, getting ready for the ahead. Their quiet chatter reaches my ears, but no one approaches me. yet. Everyone knows not to unless it is an emergency. If I don't have a one cup of coffee in me before the day starts, you're more than likely t your head bitten off. I am one of those people, unfortunately, but it is v is.

I slow my breathing and try to center myself, willing a calmness I not feel when I'm preparing to pick up someone new to bring back to Erid We've been preparing for her arrival since the news came a week ago, even though it's business as usual for us now, it feels like a shadow clomy mind this morning.

It happens occasionally, this off feeling, but recently it has been more frequent, and I don't know what to think about that. I even went and st Solvier about it, but he just brushed it off and assured me everything w fine.

I don't feel fine.

I sigh, putting my mug down beside my feet and pulling my ashy-bl hair into a ponytail. The shorter front ends fall lightly into my face, ticl my skin as I walk down the steps of my deck.

I make my way leisurely along the dirt path toward the center of Eri the gathering, where most of the pack congregates for meetings or mea coffee a circular clearing between scattered trees with benches that we had ha carved to sit on, and a sunken fire pit in the middle where we cook our etting With its flattened dirt floor and easy access, we turned it into a place w that the pack could gather and just enjoy each other's company.

The path from my home declines a little as I walk. I listen to the bird chirping their morning songs and a few scurries of rabbits in the distan enjoying the calmness of the morning.

In the nine years since we've been here, I've never gotten tired of it. sight, the smells, the feel of this place. It's all precious to me, this life have made for ourselves.

Our home isn't lavish by any means. It's rugged, but clean, with ma cabins and only the necessities we need to survive, but we make it a pl where we can safely be and live freely.

The Eridian Forest is truly a beautiful place to live, with flowing riv waterfalls cascading down the cliffs that surround us, encasing us with safety. The life that flows through here energizes me. The rare flowers only bloom twice a year make you feel awed just by looking at them,

day ؛ Not

t least

o get

vhat it

ever ian.

and

ouds

knowing not many get to witness them as they glow under the night sk poke to never gets old. When you're gifted by its presence, the forest feels like a life of its own in ways no one could ever explain. I suppose that may something to do with Solvier. He always seems to be everywhere at on though he does protect us after all.

As secluded as we are down in the valley, without his protection we kling be overrun by creatures. The ring of lilk trees surrounding our home ke any unwanted visitors out. But if you go out of that ring, you lose that dian to protection and must fend for yourself in the surrounding Forest.

It's There are not many dangerous creatures roaming around, but some and from The Deadlands at the top of the smaller cliffs west of us. This is a meals, the Rogures come from when they decided to grace us with their presearcher. They stalk down the slopes in search of prey inside the forest, includin we don't get to them first.

Rogures are never on their own and only have one thought in their n ce, just kill. They're beast-like hounds, skin gray and weathered and falling from their body in rotting lumps. Their two sets of teeth make for a nasty bit. The the black, venomous foam dripping from their mouths is the real killer we one knows where these hounds originally came from, only that they ke coming from somewhere, and they're not slowing down, growing in now with every moon cycle.

ace Edward likes to keep me updated on Vrohkaria's current status with amongst other things. Keeping me informed on what's going on outsid ers and Eridian, even if I don't plan on venturing out from here or beyond The in their Deadlands for any other purpose than to collect someone.

that A squeal of laughter draws my attention and I turn my head to the si smiling slightly at the sight of some of our pups playing tag while runr

y. It rings around their moms. It's a heartwarming sight considering what so it has these kids have been through. It makes all our hard work worthwhile to have them laughing and their parents' smiling faces as they watch them. It strengthens my need to go get the girl we are about to collect, so she to be surrounded by this goodness.

would Edward's scouts have reported that over the last few days, her beating eeps abuse have been getting worse. No one wants to risk waiting any longe when Edward knows he can get her out of there and bring her here before irreversible damage is done. Physically anyway. Mentally, that's some come else.

where I pick up my pace, walking through the blooming scattered trees, pronce. a hand to them in thanks for sheltering us. I spot Josie and Danny at the gus if center of the gathering next to the fire pit. Josie has a bucket in her har waving her free arm wildly at Danny. I huff at the ridiculousness of the nind, couple arguing over who will go to the river to collect fresh water for the large pot in the fire pit.

te, but "I've fetched it for the last three days. Three, Danny! How is that fall. No Josie growls, her free arm still flailing around.

"I do it all the time. It's doing great things for that gorgeous ass of y umbers anyway. Why are you complaining?" he asks, looking at her ass as his colored eyes darken with heat.

them, I roll my eyes. They are always at each other's throats, but it is more le of sexual frustration than anything else. He's clearly in the doghouse again I stride forward, making my way through the hand-made wooden be toward them. "Danny, just fetch the water. Stop getting her all worked de, because she won't suck your dick. It's your own fault," I tell him, stop ling front of them and putting my hands on my hips.

ome of Danny's eyes snap to mine, oblivious to my approach with his focus of see Josie's... assets. He makes a small sound, biting his lip to suppress a state I know would be there if he didn't.

"Sorry, Rhea," he mutters, clearly not sorry one bit. He grabs two but off the ground and gives Josie a wet kiss on the lips before he walks of a sand direction of the river just inside the forest.

"Gods, he's so annoying," Josie whines once Danny is out of hearin ore distance. "I should stick one of those buckets on his head and hope it g thing stuck." I snicker as she bumps her shoulder against mine, giggling.

Such a simple gesture, yet it took me a long time to handle being tot without assuming it would come at a price. Eleven years later, I still have moments where I flinch at the slightest contact if I'm caught unaware. In they're rare now. Josie has taught me a lot over the years with her acts affection and surprise touches. I can now touch and receive others' tou without breaking out in a sweat or triggering my fight or flight instinct my pack members know I don't like to be touched much, and are wary ir?" doing so for any length of time, making me love them even more for the thoughtfulness.

ours It's nice to be at a point where I can feel others' affection and gratitic mud-way wolves are supposed to. I just prefer it in small doses, so I'm not to overwhelmed.

e out of It's strange for a wolf shifter to dislike being touched. This is how win. wolves interact with each other most of the time, and it's needed for our necessariance. But my pack knows, more than most, that everyone here has been up just through some shit. They respect that I'm different and don't pry into the ping in which I'm grateful for.

Josie looks over at me, her chestnut hair swishing around her face w

on movement, with an understanding that only very few could.

mile Josie and Danny were some of the first people to come to Eridian ye ago, and she's been there for me ever since. She hugged me as soon as ickets saw me, crying her gratitude that we helped them as I stood stock still in the contact. She knew immediately something wasn't quite right, and luck didn't put her on her ass for it. That's when she began to help me with issues. Despite her being only five feet two inches tall, she has claws we needed if her maternal side comes out.

"You know you won't hold out any longer. You might as well give in iched so we can all have a peaceful dinner," I tell her, nodding in the directic live Danny went.

But "Yeah, I suppose you're right," she says with a sigh. "If he wasn't n of mate, I would have his balls by now and wear them as a bracelet." I sn ch Josie had been with Danny for years before they came here. They're s. All other's chosen mate and have been inseparable since they first laid eye each other. She told me once they had an instant connection, and they couldn't do anything but nurture it. I'm happy she has someone who lo her with everything he has. I don't think that kind of love happens ofte ide the especially with chosen mates rather than bloodmates.

I've resigned myself to the fact that I won't have a love like theirs someday, not even a slither of it. I'm okay with that, though. I don't work mate, I don't think I could be what a mate would need me to be. Though wolf sometimes I think if things were different, if my life had taken a different path, I might want a family of my own. A life filled with laughter and lings, and someone that's mine. Just mine.

I shake off the thought and shove it down. "Josh, get everyone need ith the at the gathering for our final discussion before we head out," I order the

our blood link.

ears "On it," he replies instantly, probably already rounding them up as she speak.

A blood link enables you to speak to another person directly through ily, I mind. It's a very personal connection and usually only exchanged with my closest to you. We can choose who we speak to, either separately or all when once if you have more than one link like I do. It's established through exchange of blood, then a symbol representing the link is tattooed into in now skin using that blood.

It comes in handy most of the time. Other times, it's annoying, like you just sit down for the day and get told there's a problem you need to back up off your ass to deal with.

ort. "You're going out today, right?" Josie asks, bringing my attention be each her as she picks up a log to throw into the sunken fire pit.

"Yeah, I just asked Josh to gather everyone.' Looking around throug trees toward the cabins, I can already see a few members of today's ou making their way toward me.

n, "Okay, I'll let you get on," she says, giving me a quick squeeze before heading off in the same direction her mate went. I snicker, knowing the won't be back for a while.

ant a I take a seat on one of the benches behind me and wait for everyone arrive. I stare up at the opening in the trees above me. The blue hue of is full of different shades, making me think of my own ice-blue eyes are love family.

I'm proud of where Josh, Kade, and I are at this point in our lives. *ed here* Although lately, I do feel like Kade has been distancing himself from through pack, or more to the point, distancing himself from me. I know it's mo

do with his wolf emerging five months ago when he turned eighteen, b seems like he's spending more time in his wolf form than human these and it's worrying me.

It's always a difficult time when we first get our wolf, having to lead those control and adapt to the enhanced senses we acquire. But he's had his for a while now, and with no sign of Kade returning to two legs any tir an soon, I really need to talk to him.

I sigh, bringing my head back down, and notice how low the stock c is getting in the center. I make a mental note to bring more down from when storage shed later today. We self-sustain as much as possible out here, is a lot. We go hunting in the surrounding forest for our food and fish i river south of here. If we want anything we can't get down here in the ack to Edward will send most of what we need through a pair of teleworkers that transport goods between the connected two. It's not often that we go the it, but it's there for when it is needed.

ting We are quite happy with what we have. It's peaceful, quiet, and mos importantly, safe.

ore A simple way of life.

ey

to the sky nd my

he

re to

do with his wolf emerging five months ago when he turned eighteen, but it seems like he's spending more time in his wolf form than human these days, and it's worrying me.

It's always a difficult time when we first get our wolf, having to learn control and adapt to the enhanced senses we acquire. But he's had his wolf for a while now, and with no sign of Kade returning to two legs any time soon, I really need to talk to him.

I sigh, bringing my head back down, and notice how low the stock of wood is getting in the center. I make a mental note to bring more down from the storage shed later today. We self-sustain as much as possible out here, which is a lot. We go hunting in the surrounding forest for our food and fish in the river south of here. If we want anything we can't get down here in the valley, Edward will send most of what we need through a pair of teleworkers stones that transport goods between the connected two. It's not often that we need to use it, but it's there for when it is needed.

We are quite happy with what we have. It's peaceful, quiet, and most importantly, safe.

A simple way of life.

TWO

RHEA

"Alpha," the blond male addresses, dipping his head respectfully as he to stand in front of me. I roll my eyes and kick my leg out toward him, wondering if now is an appropriate time to kick his ass.

He knows how I feel about him using that title, even though I am Al Eridian.

His light gray eyes twinkle as he looks at me, knowing full well he's annoying the shit out of me. I know he's just trying to ease my mind al going into The Deadlands. He knows me better than anyone else. But seriously, only Josh would irritate me on a day when we have important things to do.

I look him over and see he's ready to go, dressed in dark combat gear blades sheathed at his hips and his dark-blond hair in the usual bun, ke it out of his face. The rest of the guys behind him are dressed in camou waiting for my instructions to set off.

I stand up, tightening my ponytail and blowing out a breath. It's tim our plan into action. I just hope Edwards' help is at the meeting point v our girl, and hopefully alone. Sometimes we get stuck waiting for then

arrive if they've been delayed by the creatures dwelling in The Deadla Other times, it's a battle for us to get to them. Either way, we will know we get there.

"We went over the plan last night, so we know what we need to do, let's go over it one last time. Axel and Finn, you're staying where we I to keep it clear for when we need to port back home. Josh, Taylor, Seb you're with me to collect Sarah. Colten and Hudson, you've got our ba and keep an eye out for any trouble. Any questions?" I ask, looking at them.

comes

"I doubt there will be any problems, but stay sharp and alert. There I been more activity in The Deadlands than usual," Taylor, the male that trained us all, tells us. They nod in acknowledgement, a seriousness co pha of over their faces.

oout

Taylor is a six-foot one, coffee haired, amber eyed powerhouse that fast and strikes hard when needed. He's trained us to be the best fighte can be and expects nothing in return. I'm thankful he came here. We b even knew how to hold a blade until he came along.

nt ar with eping

ıflage,

My gaze moves to Josh as I pinch my bottom lip between my finger everything in place for while we're gone?" Leaving Eridian always ma nervous. It's my responsibility to ensure everyone's safety. I know the good hands and that they'll be well protected, but with the news of mo Rogures being seen throughout Vrohkaria, and having more activity th normal in The Deadlands, my mind whirls over every single security n e to put we have in place.

with

1 to

"Everything is set and prepared," Josh replies, shaking his head slig he adds, "Kade is still out hunting."

From the look on his face, Josh is clearly fed up with Kade being ou

nds. the time just as much as I am. I sigh. Kade's battle for dominance with w whenwolf, Axis, is not going well. It's been nearly three days since he shifte went into the forest surrounding our home.

but With Kade being new to having his wolf, he's struggling to separate port in himself from Axis. We all go through it when we get our wolves. You expected to be out of control for a year or longer, but sometimes the backs dominance is lost, and the wolf takes over. If that happens, you lose co each of of yourself completely until you either win and gain control back, or some else controls you. Kade's wolf is strong, and I fear that him spending not time in the forest than at home is not helping him gain the hold he need take control of his wolf.

ming I might need to speak to Solvier to see if he can offer any advice on help him. Either way, Kade is about to have pissed off Josh on his ass. moves even more unfortunate for him, when we catch him, he'll have to deal rs we me first.

arely "Okay, let's get going then. I want to be back in time for dinner, guy and out," I say as cheerfully as I can muster. With the pack's safety an s. "Is plaguing my mind, along with the look Josh threw my way, it's safe to tkes memy cheerfulness falls flat.

y're in We walk out of the gathering heading west, cutting in between the c re and into the forest. We're quiet as we walk, lost in our own thoughts at an prepare to enter The Deadlands. It's always dangerous, but this is what heasure do.

Sticks snap under our feet, the sound echoing along the wind with the htly as melody of the birds. The tree branches sway gently above us, casting for of light onto the rich ground. It doesn't take long before we come to a stall front of the lilk trees that circle our home, separating us from the thick

his forest beyond it. I look up, admiring the pastel pink and orange petals and to their own dance in the breeze. The scent of sweetness and earth hits senses, and I breathe deep, allowing it to calm me.

The others are silent as they wait for me, knowing this is my usual re before I leave. I move forward, pressing a hand to the ivory bark, feeling the for smooth wood beneath my palm. Closing my eyes, I send a silent thank introle them for protecting me and my family. My pack. For giving us a safe I domeoneto just be and live and have a chance to find some sort of peace. My eyenore spring open when I feel a slight tingle on my palm, a subtle lasto acknowledgement of my feelings being conveyed. I smile, rubbing my over the bark, just once, before I drop my hand and step back.

how to "All good?" an amused voice asks. I turn to the right, looking slight But the owner of the male voice.

with "Of course, just giving my thanks." I grin at Sebastian, knowing he' most impatient out of us all. He's also the tallest, which makes me feel squirrel standing next to him. Do squirrels climb into the lilk trees? I'v d Kade never seen one.

say "Earth to Rhea." He snaps his fingers in front of my face, and I blinl him. "Do you have to do this every time we venture away from home? abins wiggles his dark eyebrows at me. "I can think of a better way to pass the time."

I shrug, ignoring his last statement and my internal question about squirrels, focusing on his tawny eyes. "I don't want Eridian to think I'u ungrateful, it's not a big deal. Anyway, Solvier always said the land lashes appreciates it."

stop in "Solvier," Hudson mutters, and I look over at him. "I've not seen him dense in all the years I've been here. He's a goddamn ghost."

flowing "No, he's not," Colten snickers, coming to stand next to him and elt my him in the side. "He's just picky about who he thinks is worthy of his t "You little shit," Hudson growls, grabbing the younger man by the outine shoulder. No doubt ready for another round of 'who taps out first.' ng the "Alright, alright," I say, coming between them and putting my hand you to their chests. "You guys can beat each other to a pulp later, after we've haven returned safe and sound."

"Let's get going. We don't want to be in The Deadlands when the su down," Taylor says, walking through the lilk trees and out of the prote thumb circle.

I follow, feeling a rush of magic flow over me as I step through the ly up at invisible barrier and into the unprotected forest. It feels like cobwebs b removed from my body in one smooth glide, pulling me at the last secons the before it finally releases. I freaked out the first time I felt it, but now, I like a embrace the feeling when I exit and enter our home.

We walk a meter apart from each other and stay alert to our surroun. The forest of Eridian can be just as dangerous as The Deadlands. The lk up at thing we need is a bulcar or a family of bora to come for us, or worse y "He pack of Rogures.

ne Thankfully, we haven't seen any rogures for some time now.

m

We walk for a while, remaining silent and communicating with our and hand signals. The only person with us here that I have a blood link is Josh, so we communicate internally anything we see, then let the oth know.

Taylor stays slightly in front of the rest of us. He was out here last n m once pave a quiet path to the base of the cliffs, so we let him guide us, trusti

nowing to get us there. His steps are light and soft on the ground, missing stick time." leaves to ensure he doesn't make a sound. We follow his lead.

We don't usually stay this quiet when we're in the forest, but we do want any unexpected attacks slowing us down when we have somewhe son need to be. Especially since we don't know what will be waiting for us we port into The Deadlands. We can't risk delaying our arrival.

Coming up to the forest tree line, we pause, staying hidden within the in goes trees. Scanning the start of the barren earth before me, I look up to searctive top of the cliffs that surround Eridian, encasing us in its valley. The patoward the top is steep and uneven, with many jagged surfaces that couyou in two. With no signs of any danger, we head for the base and begoeing ascent. It takes a little over an hour to climb to the top. With our wolve and helping us from within, we managed to gain only superficial cuts.

Heaving myself over the top, I stand and look ahead. A shiver runs of my spine at seeing the top of the dark, dead trees that decay but never dings. crumble. Twisted and thin, the branches intertwine around each other, ast connecting to the other trees around it. The trunks of the trees are deep ret, a rooted into the dry earth. No one knows how deep down they go, and I never seen one uprooted or toppled over in all these years. Mind you, I go into The Deadlands unless I have to.

eyes Taylor takes out the port stone from his pack. Small and square, that with gray stone is powerful enough to travel all of us to the location we set. looks over at us, checking to see if we're ready to go. At our nods, we forward. I put my hand on his shoulder, and the others come around us ight to the same. As long as you are connected to the stone by touching it dire ng him touching a person connected to it, you can port with them to the same location.

A buzzing sensation fills my ears and I close my eyes as a breeze-lil caress touches me, but that soon turns into the feeling of being compre not making the air leave my lungs in a rush. It only lasts a few seconds, bu ere we always extremely uncomfortable.

from Taylor to grab the blade at my hip. We all stand back-to-back, low throughout The Deadlands, opening our senses to any unexpected creater that may be lurking nearby.

The ground is dry, the darkened earth littered with broken sticks and all cut that we try to avoid as we move around slowly, checking for danger. To in our small clearing we ported into shows no signs of any life form aside from and I relax my hold on the blade.

I turn and see Taylor give the port stone to Axel for safekeeping. He down pockets it and takes up a defensive stance. Port stones can only port yo twice before the power inside runs out, and it either needs to recharge always thrown out.

Finn steps up beside Axel, keeping an eye on our surroundings, as the very of us start to move forward to meet with Edward's help and the girl. The don't others stay back, protecting the area to make sure we can reach them we are ready to go home. Hudson and Colten trail behind us, keeping a little reasonable distance to protect our backs, as Josh, Taylor, Seb and I keeping forward on silent feet.

The Deadlands are eerie, dark and gloomy, with enough space betweeto do trees for us to pass through easily. You can't see the sky here. Even wi ctly or dark twisted branches having no leaves or flowers, they intertwine so t together above our heads that they leave no space for light to filter in

between. The enhanced vision from our wolves and the greenish glow ssed, weeping liquid from the trees are the only reasons we can see in here.

A cloaked figure appears in the distance after we've walked a little value holding a limp form at their side next to a large rock. We slow instinct and as we approach, the blade in my hand twitching as I clench my fingers around it. The hooded figure turns our way as we get closer and bows the head subtly in recognition. They look back down to the form they are holding, shaking them slightly until I hear a small, soft groan.

I stones "Sarah, help is here. Wake up now," the male voice urges, standing he as best he can.

m us, Sarah. This is the girl we came to save. I feel the group relax, and I laylor with a nod. He stays still with Sebastian as Josh and I walk the distance left between us and them.

The man is still struggling to hold the girl upright when I move forw slowly and look down at her face, eyeing the male for any sudden movements. Delicate but bruised, Sarah looks to be in her early twentine rest. Sheathing my blade at my hip, I reach a hand out to grab her arm ge helping the male steady her on her feet. She whimpers quietly before on her eyes slightly. Bloodshot eyes meet mine, and then widen as I feel he body tense beneath my hand.

"You're okay," I whisper gently, stroking my thumb on her arm. "E sent me." Tears fill her eyes, and she visibly relaxes, taking a breath ar een the releasing it slowly.

th the Until her eyes land on Josh.

ightly She screams, thrashing in the male's arms, freeing herself from our and staggering back on weak legs. "Stay away," she orders shakily, pu

of the hand out in front of her as she steps backwards. Her dark hair is a mess curls around her face as her panicked eyes flutter around from left to ri while, "We're not going to hurt you," I tell her calmly, showing my hands ively gesture that is the 'I'm harmless' signal. "Josh, stay back," I say down tighter link.

their I could sense him creeping forward to the right of me, trying to get a the back of her without her noticing. But she does, her eyes constantly tracking his every move.

her up "She's going to bolt, Rhea," he murmurs back to me.

The Deadlands are no place for Sarah to run around blindly and alor look at "Sarah, Edward sent us to bring you to our home, in Eridian. We have waiting for you to arrive here so we can take you there. You trust Edw yes? Edward trusts us. We only want to help."

She looks at me and then back at Josh, until finally her eyes meet the who brought her here. "D-did you set me up?" Sarah trembles while shes. backs away further from us. "You said you would take me to someone ntly, would help me."

pening "No, of course not. They are here to help," the male assures her.

"Then why is he here?" She points a trembling finger at Josh. "You me a female ran the settlement. If that was true, he wouldn't be here."

"I came to ensure you and my Alpha get back home safely," Josh tell looking her over with a curiosity I hadn't seen from him before. "I wor you."

"We must go Sarah, it's not safe to be still for too long in The Deadl grips run the settlement, it's our home. Josh and some others came with me titing a us all safe and bring us back. The Deadlands are dangerous. This is for safety as well as ours."

She looks at all of us, shaking her head and continuing to back away ght. cloaked male removes his hood, walking toward her as his light eyes p in a with her to listen. "It's alright, Sarah—" the Snap.

My head flies to the left where I spot a shadow moving through the around The darkness of the forest makes it impossible for me to see clearly who but something is there.

I hear another snap, then a growl.

I stay still, breathing slowly as I carefully reach for the blade at my lee. flick my eyes over the trees, scanning them to try and determine where we beencreature is. I move my left foot, turning my body at a snail's pace so I ard, face whatever it is head on.

"Josh, you're going to have to grab Sarah when this thing comes at e male Take her and go to Axel and Finn. The guys will help you," I order hin prepare myself.

who "I'll grab her, don't worry. Just be careful," he replies through the shifting slightly to get ready to run and grab Sarah by any means neces I sense the male to my right, thankfully he is staying as still as us, ki told there is danger. I caught a glance of his face when he removed his hoo dark, three dots within the upside down triangle in the center of forehe lls her, stood out against his pale skin, letting me know he's an omega. Which n't hurt by nature, he's not a fighter.

A deep, long growl sounds before me as the creature suddenly lunge lands. I from between the trees. Its scaly skin is dark as night, and it's coming to keep for me.

your Sarah screams, the shrill sound echoing around the space before I he the creature.

7. The We collide, slamming against each other and falling to the ground ir lead tangle of limbs. The bora lands on top of me, and I bring my blade up, striking deep in its shoulder. The bora shrieks, its jaw gaping open witl sound. Sharp, pointed teeth come for my face, and I move to the side, I trees. escaping them. I elbow the temple on its narrowed face, stunning it, wl nat it is, lift my hips and buck it off of me, dragging the blade down its shoulde falls to the side. I roll away, coming to a stand. I steady my stance and my knees slightly, ready for the next attack as it gets to its feet and sha head. Blood pours from its shoulder, and it's limping from the injury n hip. I when my blade sliced down its leg. Its head lowers and a menacing gro : the passes through its mouth. I growl right back. can

The bora looks young. The sharp jagged spikes on its tail are smalle *us*. fully mature bora. With the realization that it's just a babe, I have to we as I where the mother is.

I glance around quickly and realize that the others have got away an link, headed back to Axel and Finn.

The bora lunges again, its strong hind legs making it a powerful one nowing my body at the last second to avoid being hit. I bring my blade up, slic d. The along its side as it rushes past me. I spin to see it land on the ground, it ad folding underneath itself from its injuries. The young bora gets unstead means its feet and lifts its head back, letting out a screeching wail.

I cringe, covering my ears with my hands while stepping back to crees out more distance between us. The sound stops suddenly, and the bora's be straightcolored eyes stare at me, waiting. Growls erupt around me, and I freeze

Its mother and family were closer than I realized.

ead for Time to go. Now!

I pivot and run at full speed straight ahead, dashing through the deac

and jumping over large rocks. I check my surroundings as I run, making the boras are all still behind me. The last thing I need is for them to am his me from all sides. A ragged branch slices deep across the top of my arroarely hiss at the sharp pain, feeling blood trickle down. I keep going, not need hile I look behind me to know they're gaining on me. I can hear their panting r as it breaths and growls getting closer.

bend Damn they're fast.

kes its "We're ready to port. Where are you?" Josh asks me down the link.

"Oh, you know, just having a little race with a family of bora," I snowl him, trying to concentrate on not falling on my ass.

"Rhea, I don't think now is the time to get cute." Cute? The cheeky r than a "Are you coming to where we are to port, or do you want us to come for onder you?"

I push forward. "Have you got Sarah?"

d are "Yes, and the omega. Sarah passed out after a little chase, and I grown her. She's fine. It will probably be easier to get her to Eridian while she. I turn unconscious anyway."

"Okay, I'll be there shortly," I tell him. "Get ready to port straight s legs Sprinting in between a narrow gap in the middle of two trees, I make lily to wide turn to loop back on myself. Heavy breathing reaches my ears from behind me, a second before a mouth is about to clamp onto my ankle. I around, sending my foot out with the turn and colliding with the side of one-mouth that's trying to bite me.

e. Shit. The momentum sends me crashing against a tree, the rough bark dig into my hands as I stop myself from face planting it. Ignoring the pain, myself off, and carry on looping back around toward Josh.

1 trees Still hearing the sounds of the bora chasing after me, I pull in some

ig sure speed from my wolf, allowing me to soar across the dry, forest floor. No ibush wolf is resistant at first, but an extra nudge from me has her releasing some and Iher strength into me.

eding to Rounding another cluster of dead trees, I see Josh and the guys wait me, all touching one another, ready to port. My breathing comes in fas and my legs feel like a newborn deer as I sprint directly to them.

An older bora suddenly jumps through the trees ahead of me from the its spiked tail high, ready to meet me head on. I curl my hand around the ark at of my blade so it's pointing toward the ground, ready to defend myself flash of steel catches my eye as it flies in front of me. I follow its path fucker. hits its target, right in the side of the bora's head. It comes to a sudden sliding across the ground in front of me. Dead. I'm glad Seb has good

As I leap over the dead bora, I see the orbs of its essence start to flow upwards from its body, heading toward the thick tree branches above, abbed a warm white glow.

"Hurry, Rhea!" Taylor demands, bringing my focus to him as he loc behind me. The rest of the family of bora come into sight, charging straway. "for us.

e a I sprint the last few steps and reach for the hand Taylor holds out for Once our hands connect, and I hear the shattering wails of the bora, grid spin the loss of one of their own, as we port out of The Deadlands to safety. If the

ging

. I push

extra

speed from my wolf, allowing me to soar across the dry, forest floor. My wolf is resistant at first, but an extra nudge from me has her releasing some of her strength into me.

Rounding another cluster of dead trees, I see Josh and the guys waiting for me, all touching one another, ready to port. My breathing comes in fast pants, and my legs feel like a newborn deer as I sprint directly to them.

An older bora suddenly jumps through the trees ahead of me from the side, its spiked tail high, ready to meet me head on. I curl my hand around the hilt of my blade so it's pointing toward the ground, ready to defend myself. A flash of steel catches my eye as it flies in front of me. I follow its path as it hits its target, right in the side of the bora's head. It comes to a sudden halt, sliding across the ground in front of me. Dead. I'm glad Seb has good aim.

As I leap over the dead bora, I see the orbs of its essence start to float upwards from its body, heading toward the thick tree branches above, casting a warm white glow.

"Hurry, Rhea!" Taylor demands, bringing my focus to him as he looks behind me. The rest of the family of bora come into sight, charging straight for us.

I sprint the last few steps and reach for the hand Taylor holds out for me. Once our hands connect, and I hear the shattering wails of the bora, grieving the loss of one of their own, as we port out of The Deadlands to safety.

THREE

RHEA

We arrive at the bottom of the cliff within seconds, the bora's wails stiringing in my ears, tearing at my soul. Although the bora would have reme to shreds and the young one had attacked me first, it was still a living breathing creature with a family it was only trying to protect.

Taylor lets go of my hand, noticing the blood from where the bark d my palm. He turns his own hand over, looking at the red there, then loot the top of my arm, scrutinizing the wound.

"I'm fine," I reassure him with a small smile. "Just a scratch."

I look over at Josh who cradles a still unconscious Sarah in his arms looks down at her, examining her face before looking up to the top of t cliffs. Blowing out a breath, I follow his gaze and listen for any sign th creatures are above us. We ported quite far into The Deadlands, so I do think the bora would know where we are, but it's always safest to mak With no sound reaching us, we're confident nothing has followed our t and start toward home.

"Alex? You and Finn stay here a little longer to make sure we are no being followed." He nods and turns to set up a post with Finn, both of

effortlessly shifting into their wolf.

Taylor walks next to me, constantly scanning the forest as he shoves now useless port stone into his pocket. I see him looking at the wound arm again subtly, but I don't call him out on it. He trains us to the best ability to keep us safe, so he takes it personally when one of us gets inj Shame we can't protect ourselves from trees though.

"What was that young bora doing on its own anyway?" Colten muse aloud behind me. "That young they don't leave their family to pee on t own, never mind wander so far away."

11 ipped ng,

I was wondering the same thing. It's so out of the norm. I can't imag why it did that, or why the rest of its family didn't notice sooner. They notorious for protecting their young.

oks to

"Maybe something spooked it," Hudson suggests. It would make se ug into what could have spooked only one bora? A family of bora can be up to twenty large. They are ruthless together and have no sense of self preservation when protecting their family, making them dangerous. Mo times it's better to run than take them all on.

. He ·he ιe n't e sure. rail

A throat clears, bringing my attention to the omega male. The hood cloak is still down, making his dark hair hang loosely to his jaw. He lo in the eyes briefly before dropping his gaze to the floor. "We have been The Deadlands for hours, and it has been restless. Edward told me ther wouldn't be an issue, but we fled from many creatures and barely had time to stop and catch our breaths. It wasn't as safe as what Edward to that area would be."

)t them

Looking at him closely, I see the tiredness in his eyes, the exhausted of his shoulders I didn't notice before. "I'm sorry you've had a hard tir Activity has been increasing in The Deadlands, and it's worrying."

The Deadlands has its fair share of deadly creatures. They aren't use the this aggressive or sighted as close to the edge of the cliffs as they have on my these last couple of weeks. I have people checking the perimeter weekl of his see if any creatures are trying to come down into the valley. Thankfully lured. haven't.

A couple of years ago, several families of bora came down the cliffs
The Deadlands. The bora and the creatures of the Eridian massacred eacheir other over the span of thirteen days. It disturbed the animals we hunt, a food was scarce for a while. We also worried they would manage to get through the protective barrier around Eridian. While the lilk trees' inviting are barrier stops strong magic from being used inside its circle and creatur from passing through, if a lot of creatures try to pass through at once, the nse, butbarrier can weaken enough for them to slip inside.

I breathe out heavily, remembering the last time some of the creatur through. We lost some good people that day. And that's why I now har ost someone checking the cliffs and The Deadlands regularly. If we see an creatures getting too close, we try to divert them or regrettably, put the of his down if we cannot change their course.

oks me Since starting the patrols, we haven't had any incidents like that aga n in "What's your name?" I ask the omega, shaking off my memories as walk. The only reason I'm bringing him to Eridian is because Edward any him enough to escort Sarah to us, and he needs rest before he travels at ld me "Ellian," he says, tipping his head down in a show of respect.

"Well, Ellian, we will take you to our home and give it a few days for a slump things to settle. We will get you back to where you need to be, after so ne. rest," I smile, reassuring him.

He gives me a gentle smile back before averting his eyes. "I have no

ially doubt."

Эľ

me

)

been Taylor makes a grunting sound, and I look at him out of the corner of ly to eye. Lifting an eyebrow in question, he shakes his head and continues y, they forward. I guess he's not happy with us bringing Ellian back with us. I Edward always chooses those who do not live close to The Deadlands from home where they pick people up to bring to us. Ellian will need rest be will be able to port to another location from The Deadlands and spend and traveling again to his distant home.

Making our way through the forest silently, I sneak glances at a still unconscious Sarah in Josh's arms. She doesn't even twitch as we walk es Josh doesn't seem bothered by the added weight, walking as if he's no holding another person. She must not weigh much at all. We will reme in time.

Finally reaching the lilk trees, we cross the sightless barrier into Eric sag in relief, pressing my palm to the tree as I pass. We all made it bac and alive. We head straight for the healer's cabin, Josh plowing forwarm his haste to get Sarah there, his brows scrunched in worry. The oak wo cabin is to the left of the gathering, central to the other cabins around in reach it soon enough, and Anna opens the door for Josh to pass through we nears the door.

"I'll take Ellian to one of the spare cabins," Taylor says. He motions gain. the omega to follow him as Ellian looks around our home with wide ey don't blame him, others did the same thing when they first came here.

Seb winks at me, sauntering off toward the gathering, whistling as h He's probably going to find any leftovers. He eats like a bottomless pit "Hope all goes well with Sarah, Rhea. Come find me later?" Colten out. I turn to catch him wiggling his eyebrows at me, which earns him on the back of the head from Hudson.

of my "Come on, pup, leave them to it." Hudson grabs his arm, moving his along. "Leave the flirting to Sebastian."

"Stop calling me pup," Colten growls, trying and failing to get his a or the free.

fore he "Stop acting like one then," Hudson chastises.

days "I didn't do anything!" They continue to bicker as they walk off, and turn, heading inside the cabin.

I walk down the narrow hallway and to the first room on the right. For any and medicines assault my senses as I walk into the room and see Sarah out on the bed. The white sheets are a stark contrast to her dark hair fairly dy that around her head on the pillow.

Anna flutters about, grabbing supplies while she barks out orders. "I dian. I off her cloak and any other clothes. I need to see her injuries after I get k, safe fluids in her. Grab some warm water and towels as well."

I go to do her bidding as I watch Josh out of the corner of my eye. How of removes the pin on her cloak that keeps it together before slowly movit. We material to either side. He sucks in a sharp breath, his nostrils flaring a has he takes in her small camisole top that is covered in blood.

I knew I smelled blood in The Deadlands, and I'm sure he smelled v for he was carrying her, but seeing it is much different.

He looks up at me, his gray eyes filled with pain, and I know without words what he needs me to do. I go over to him, giving his hand a squee goes. he clears his throat and moves away from the bed. I take over, slowly and peeling away her bloodied clothes as he goes to grab water and too calls. Anna comes to stop next to Sarah, gathering her red curls in a bun at a slap head to keep it out of her face. Looking down at her, she shakes her he

sadness in her eyes as she glances at the bloody clothes I put to the side Josh comes over with towels and water in a bowl, setting them down the table next to the bed. Anna takes out a clean sponge from the cabin above the table and dips it into the water. Wringing some of the water rm she brings the sponge to Sarah's slightly parted lips. Squeezing gently, pushes the sponge slightly into her mouth, so the water trickles down h Ιb throat.

I grab a sheet while Anna works and cover Sarah's body from the w down. My eyes land on the deep slash across her abdomen, blood oozi **Ierbs** from the jagged stitches that had been put there carelessly. By Ellian o laid herself, I don't know. nned

Josh stands back, still as a statue to give Anna room to work while I Γake her clean up Sarah, assessing the injuries on her body as we uncover the : some Most are deep and infected, which takes a lot for a shifter. She must ha been unable to shift to heal herself to prevent infection, and I dread to what they did to stop that from happening. [e

I refuse to acknowledge the thought right now. ng the

n

Sarah groans softly as we roll her to the side so Anna can see her ba s he shush her gently as Anna stills, flicking her blue eyes up to mine briefl before prodding at Sarah's back. I peek over to see what she's doing at vhile cringe at the sight.

Letters have been carved into Sarah's skin, making crude lines along ıt eeze as whole of her back. They're weeping and raw, the skin around them put cutting red from infection. My heart pangs at the pain she has gone through, th she is still in. My whole body itches at the thought. wels.

top her Anna grabs a bowl of salve. It's made with plants that we collect fro Eridian Forest, making sure we always pick the ones aged to get the m ad,

e. from its healing properties. She grabs a yellow fettle leaf, thick and will not lathers the brown colored salve onto it with a spoon. She places the leadet salve side down, onto one of the wounds on Sarah's back, then continuout, process until her back is covered completely. We wrap a bandage like she around her to keep the leaves in place, securing it with knots as gently can.

"Ease her onto her back, please?" Anna whispers.

aist I do as I'm asked, gently rolling Sarah onto her back and taking a peng her face. Her mouth twitches as if she can feel the pain, her brows furn r Sarah as her breathing picks up a little before settling again. She can't escape even in her sleep, and the thought saddens me.

help We get to work on the slash across her abdomen, picking out the old sem. stitches and adding salve into the cut as Josh watches on silently. Anna stitching the wound closed. I watch her hands move through the procest think precision, always amazed by her speed.

Flicking my eyes to Josh to see how he's holding up, I see him watch Anna's movements intently, his eyes never leaving her hands as she wick. I He hates seeing anyone in this state, hates feeling helpless. It brings memories we both try to forget from a long time ago, when I was on the ground and Josh didn't know what to do. It's not something we want to relive, but we can't turn our back on helping others in need because of gast. I refuse to.

ffy and Sarah starts to stir as I'm cleaning her hands with a damp cloth, trying the pain get the dirt and blood from the sides of her broken fingernails. She while and I see Josh's leg twitch out of the corner of my eye. Focusing on Sam the see her eyelids flutter and then she opens them slowly, blinking a few to see the fingers twitch in my hand and she looks toward me, a crinkle in he

de, and brow. Her eyes go wide next, her breathing increasing and her gaze flief, around the room until it lands on Josh.

ies the "It's okay, Sarah," I tell her soothingly, running my thumb over the cloth of her hand.

She ignores me, moving to sit up and wincing at the sudden movement Josh takes a step forward, but stops when she releases a long, piercing She hops off the bed clumsily, causing me to move back to give her so space as she backs away into the corner of the room. She grabs the close owing thing to her, a small sharp blade that is amongst other equipment that ver this, to cut through skin. Holding it up and pointing it at each of us, she war without a word. I have no doubt she would use it in her desperation, but can't let her take it that far.

starts "Josh, please leave the cabin, I'll update you later," I tell him down so with link, my eyes moving from Sarah to him.

He looks over at Sarah and clenches his jaw. Taking a deep breath, I hing looks down to the floor before he nods once. Heading toward the door, orks. closes it gently behind him without looking back.

back Sarah relaxes slightly when she hears the door close, but she still air blade at me and Anna.

"Why don't you put that down and hop back into bed?" Anna asks, our gathering the sheet off the bed and holding it out toward her.

She looks at the sheet confused before noticing her naked body and ng to Red tinges her cheeks, and she steps forward slowly, grabbing the sheet impers, a shaky hand and wrapping it around herself.

rah, I "You're safe here, sweetheart. We promise you that," Anna murmur times. gently to her.

She looks at Anna. Her lips tremble, and her eyes fill with tears. The

es in her shaky hand clatters to the floor, and she follows it, exhaustion w over her will to stay standing.

back I dart forward, wrapping my arms around her as gently as I can, and her back onto the bed. When she's settled, I pull a chair from across th ent. and take a seat next to her, grabbing her hand softy before I bring my ε shriek, hers.

me "I know you're scared. I know you're hurt. But please, let us help you sest Edward sent you here because he trusts me. He sends all manner of perve use here who need some help, and we make sure whoever he sends gets the ms us help," I assure her, rubbing circles on the back of her hand.

It I She nods at me, her breathing now steady and calm. My body relaxed relief. It won't be an easy road for her to walk, but we will be here to do not the everything we can to help her along the way.

I clear my throat and extend my free hand. "Hi, I'm Rhea, Alpha of Eridian. I would like you to tell me what you can. It doesn't have to be everything at once, but I would like to know who did this to you, and anything else you are willing to share at the moment. If you don't wan ns the me anything, that's not a problem. We can take our time."

Tears spill over her eyes, and she takes a deep breath. She shakes me and then brings the sheet closer to her body, wanting some form of protection.

jolts. Then, she opens her mouth and speaks.

'S

in her shaky hand clatters to the floor, and she follows it, exhaustion winning over her will to stay standing.

I dart forward, wrapping my arms around her as gently as I can, and guide her back onto the bed. When she's settled, I pull a chair from across the room and take a seat next to her, grabbing her hand softy before I bring my eyes to hers.

"I know you're scared. I know you're hurt. But please, let us help you. Edward sent you here because he trusts me. He sends all manner of people here who need some help, and we make sure whoever he sends gets that help," I assure her, rubbing circles on the back of her hand.

She nods at me, her breathing now steady and calm. My body relaxes with relief. It won't be an easy road for her to walk, but we will be here to do everything we can to help her along the way.

I clear my throat and extend my free hand. "Hi, I'm Rhea, Alpha of Eridian. I would like you to tell me what you can. It doesn't have to be everything at once, but I would like to know who did this to you, and anything else you are willing to share at the moment. If you don't want to tell me anything, that's not a problem. We can take our time."

Tears spill over her eyes, and she takes a deep breath. She shakes my hand and then brings the sheet closer to her body, wanting some form of protection.

Then, she opens her mouth and speaks.

FOUR

Darius

"What do you mean go into The Deadlands?" I ask Charles, tilting my and wondering if he's lost his fucking mind.

I move my eyes to Leo, my second in command, and see his brows furrowed in confusion, just like mine. His blue eyes briefly meet my gones before he settles back into his seat next to me, returning his gaze. Higher Charles while he waits for his reply.

"It's just like I said, Darius," he sighs. "A member of the Nightshadhas been taken, and Alpha Christopher asked for my help a few days a sighting was brought to my attention this morning by my scouts after c regular meeting. I showed them a drawing of Christopher's missing pa member for them to keep an eye out, and a female matching the woma description was seen with another person going into The Deadlands tw nights ago. My scouts saw her side profile, and are adamant it was the woman in this sketch. Who else could it be? No one willingly goes into Deadlands."

"They can't tell if it's the girl just from looking at the side of her fac scoff.

"No," he agrees. "However, they said the person with her was half dragging her into the forest."

"And they didn't think to check if there was a problem?" I ask. Som fucking scouts they are.

"Of course not. I don't pay them to intervene with nonsense." He hu shaking his dark head before he continues. "I sent more scouts to searc area to see if they could track a scent. There was no trace because of the heavy rain we have been experiencing. I need you and the Elites to go The Deadlands to find this woman to see if she is, in fact, the missing Nightshade member."

head

reen

"We don't deal with missing people." I eye him where he sits behind desk. "We take out creatures, manage power spikes and search for a w stop the Rogures." I lean back in the chair, spreading my legs, already to Lord with this conversation. Why would he even help the Alpha? "Packs us deal with their problems internally, so who is this girl for them to ask f outside help?"

e pack

go. A

Even as Elites, we are a pack. We know how pack structure works. like this are dealt with internally and handled quietly. To ask for outsic is very unusual. For Lord Higher Charles to ask for *our* help with this, more so.

n's

O

)11r

ck

"She is set to be mated." He steeples his hands atop his desk in front him, dark eyes boring into mine with determination.

same

o The

"Have her mate look for her. This matter doesn't affect us at all. It d affect you."

:e," I

"It does affect me," Charles says in a hard tone, and I raise an eyebr him. Leo shifts uncomfortably in his seat next to me, not liking the His tone any more than I do. "Alpha Christopher is an important ally to us.

have had an alliance with him for over fifty years. He has personally co here to ask for assistance, and I assured him I would help in any way I "You could get anyone to search for her. Why the Elites? We are ne .e elsewhere for more important issues. The Rogures are an important iss iffs, I'm not letting this go until he tells me. Something is up, and I want to h the We Elites mainly hunt creatures causing havoc across Vrohkaria. W get a power spike hit from the Highers' witches after they scry the land ıe go and investigate. It could be that a spell was cast by someone to bles into land or heal a large number of wounded, or it could be a spike of powe a creature that has no business running amok in a village. If we're not creatures, we're actively searching for a way to stop the Rogures that a d his plaguing Vrohkaria. ay to

done We don't search for missing women.

"We are on a time limit. You are the best of the best. If anyone can for her, it is the Elites." He keeps his stare on me, and I stare right back, no giving him a word until he tells me why it is so important. He lets out a Things sigh. "She is from a good line and due for an arranged mating four more le help from now," he finally concedes, shocking me into silence.

even "An arranged mating?" Leo asks before I can. "We don't have arran matings anymore. It's been proven that the mated pair struggle with fe tof There hasn't been one in hundreds of years."

"We know of the complications it can bring, however, this arrangen oesn't gains the Nightshade pack a new ally in the Aragnis pack, and therefor Highers. The other Highers and I have agreed to accept the arranged m ow at that was proposed. We have also agreed to allow others to go ahead wigher's arrangements if their application is approved by us. We are also looking the offer other pairings to our current alliances," Charles tells me, sitting u

ome straighter. "The people are beginning to question our authority, causing can." because we are the most unaffected by the Rogures. These matings will eded hope to the people and help regain faith that their Highers are doing the ue." them. That I am doing this for them. This is greatly beneficial to us all, know. especially with the Rogures slowly, but surely, reaching all Vrohkaria hen we closing in on Fenrikar. Food sources are getting lesser, materials thinnels, we villages torn apart."

He's not telling me anything I don't already know. I travel all over from Vrohkaria for weeks on end, visiting different territories. I see all this huntingfirsthand. Mothers cradling children who were killed by Rogures, villa destroyed, people fighting over food, murders over materials, and it's j getting worse. Especially with the Rogures numbers growing. He's lying about one thing though, food is not as scarce as it seems to be as he has find stored here within the castle.

"It's time to unite us all across Vrohkaria and bring in more alliance a heavyhave had eight sightings of rogure packs in Fenrikar this month alone, nths—each time they are creeping closer to the surrounding homes of Wolvo Castle. We need to come together and be rid of them once and for all," ged—growls, slamming his palms on his desk.

"We kill off any Rogures we see. We hunt them, and more keep con We need to find the original source, but our scouting missions have co lent empty. We have no idea where they're coming from, or how many the e, the We keep searching but come back with nothing. We have been trying that rid of them for years. Gaining more alliances and approving arranged that," I state, and Leo nods his head in agreement.

"It is done, and I need you to find the girl." His tone leaves no room argument. It is a done deal in his eyes.

I grind my teeth and look around the obnoxious office. We sit in the g riots ll bring of the room, a window at his back overlooks the courtyard. Lord Highe is for Charles has a taste for the expensive and rare. His thousand-year-old, I carved, white wood desk is made from wood as rare as finding a Phoer and high back, you guessed it, white, wood chair is embedded with terbiun er and has been magically turned solid around the edges of the silk, padded se chandelier above us is translucent ore, one of only twenty made, and le forget his blue crystal tumblers to go with his extensive, expensive liqu collection, just to name a few items. How do I know all this? The first stepped into this room after my father passed, he bored me to near selfges mutilation by telling me about the rarity of every single object. ust

Even his door has a spell on it so that no one can gain entry. Charles doesn't like anybody touching his things without permission. None of will matter, though, if we don't find a way to deal with the Rogures.

s. We The Rogures appeared about twenty-one years ago, seemingly out o nowhere and started creating havoc throughout Vrohkaria, and *only* Vrohkaria. The Rogures are mindless, bloodthirsty creatures that look large, deformed hounds, with rotting gray skin dripping from their bod a double set of sharp, pointed teeth. They kill anything and everything from others like them.

me up No one knows how the Rogures came to be. Some say it was a spell re are. wrong by the blood witches, while others say the fae put a curse upon to get Vrohkaria for selfish reasons. Others still think the demons want to see natings suffer for their own amusement. The most recent theory is the Gods are punishing us for taking advantage of the land they gave us and not givi

for back to it.

No matter what may have caused it, we have tried and failed countle

center times to get rid of them or figure out where they come from. And they
coming back in greater numbers. We have had the most powerful witch
and cast every known spell to try and eradicate the beasts from Vrohkaria.

nix. Hiswe manage is cutting down a few with no real end in sight.

"With this new alliance between the Nightshade and the Aragnis page 1 that eat. The with many more coming in the future, the result will only be beneficial et's not all. We'll be gaining more numbers while also gaining peace among territories. We will be able to send out search parties much more effici 10r time I and do so without trespassing on other territories in the process. Of cou we are still in conversations with other packs to search their lands, as v the witches in the southwest woods. After all these years, they still refu form any kind of alliance with us. But with some added pressure and tl this knowledge that our alliances are growing, the witches will come aroun dark look spreads across Charles' face before his expression returns ne f "There is the pesky problem of The Deadlands being included in the ar haven't searched yet, and you could do so while looking for the girl."

"We haven't searched that land for a reason. The creatures living the ies and be deadly, and not many are up to the task. We also haven't searched to apart to because we haven't witnessed any Rogures coming from the area. The reason to risk lives unnecessarily. We don't have the numbers behind to kill the Rogures roaming the lands and search for a way to stop them, we also continuing to hunt other creatures that become a problem. I don't why you and some of the other Highers can't go in there yourselves to for the missing woman."

"You can also search for rogure dens while you're in there," he adds know the other Highers and I are needed here to ensure the laws of Vroess are upheld. We are extremely busy with day-to-day meetings and going

keep reports while also attending trials. And we now have the added worklo hes reading through proposals for arranged matings and packs coming and But all from the Castle that we need to cater to. These potential matings are ve important if we are to have any way of getting rid of the Rogures. We ck, and just sit in our offices and do nothing, you know this."

I do know this, but surely if this woman is important enough that he for us, it would take importance over anything else. Charles is the mos ently, powerful Higher out of all seven. With his wolf strong and magic powerse, is why he is *Lord* Higher over Vrohkaria. The crest that hangs from his vell as proves it. So why do the Elites have to go if he's not willing to? I don't use to fuck about this woman. She is of no interest to me.

"So let me get this straight," I start, leaning forward in my chair. "Y d." A want some of my Elites to search for this missing woman while also tutral. searching for rogure dens in The Deadlands?" I shake my head. "It's a sea we suicide mission."

"Not just any Elites, I want you to go. You can of course take whoe ere can want, and I will supply people to take over whatever Elite business you here while you are away," he offers.

re is no "Even with me, it's still potential suicide. You know most of the cre is to that are in there, but not all of them. No one does. Never mind if we do while any Rogures. The woman is probably already dead as well as the person took her, and I'm not losing any of my Elites, trainees or otherwise, for look dead-end mission," I growl.

He leans back in his chair, smirking at me. If he wasn't my father's 3. "You friend and unrelated uncle to me for all my life, his face would have a bhkaria broken bones by now.

g over "You are strong enough to handle it. The Higher's authority over

ad of Vrohkaria is currently being questioned, especially here in Fenrikar. W going accused of not doing enough against the Rogures or having caused the problem, which is preposterous. The more time passes, the more they t don't we are unfit to rule. The people will come banging on our doors as the assume they are a better fit to rule the lands. I have made great progres asked peace has settled in the lands since I became Lord Higher many years at This plague of creatures is destroying whatever is in its path and disruperful, it the peace I have worked so hard to maintain. Alliances need to be mad neck the Rogures need to be killed. I won't take no for an answer, Darius. C t give ayou ready to be a Higher and show your worth like your father wanted asks, sliding a sketch of a woman toward me on his desk, and I give hi dirty look. "Or do you need more...persuading."

I hold back a growl. It is a low blow mentioning my father, and his persuasive methods.

He could force me to become a Higher, and there is nothing I can do ver you it, regardless of being Elite. Before my father died, he nominated me to I have become one. That nomination remains and can be called upon at any ti I refuse, the Highers will call upon the oath my father made on my behatures and force me to take a seat amongst them while using my men to make I have too much to do before he calls upon that nomination. He's on who backed me into a corner, and he fucking knows it. So, what choice do I Become a Higher or do as he's ordered.

"Fine," I state reluctantly, grabbing the sketch off his desk. "I will g best you can keep the word Higher and my name out of your mouth." Getti few in one smooth motion and pocketing the sketch, I walk to the office do Leo following behind me.

Charles' voice makes me pause as I reach for the door handle. "Kee

The are updated on your progress, son. You have four months. This alliance is extremely important. It will help us all and put the people's minds at eachink I say nothing, opening the door and walking out, Leo following at my back.

I grit my teeth in frustration, walking with measured steps down the ago. winding hallways toward the entrance hall before reaching the castle dotting. Hemsworth, the castle attendant, opens the doors when he sees me, note, and his head respectfully. I pass without saying a word.

"Why did you agree?" Leo asks, catching up to walk beside me whe ?" he are further into the castle courtyard, passing sellers and their goods. "Y ma could have said no."

"No, Leo, I couldn't. You know I promised my father I would help (in whatever he needed when I became Alpha of the Elites, and he would use you to get what he wants. It's either helping him or becoming a Hi about myself. He has the power to make it happen. The laws state that he can me whenever he wants, and there is nothing I can do about it. I need to me. If of the Rogures before they destroy us all and avenge my family for whe lalf, did to them. If I have to find this fucking woman to achieve that, I will grunt, walking quickly through the courtyard, ignoring everyone staring around us.

I have? It isn't hard to move easily through the people considering they give Elites a wide berth. They know what we could do, what we are capable o, and even though all we do is protect them. But they still fear us.

ng up There's a crowd forming around some men that are shouting about to or with Highers' not protecting them against the Rogures, and how it's strange these creatures never attack the castle. The Highers' guards soon appears pime

push through the listening crowd, most likely to arrest them and take the ase." the cells beneath the castle to await sentencing for their slander.

"I know, brother," Leo replies, his tone low as he watches a guard to male to the ground. "But to send you there for a girl who is probably a dead is fucked. We did our rite of passage in The Deadlands, and we b oors. made it out alive. That was what, nearly twenty five years ago? Imagir dding bad it is now."

"I know, but we had to go deep in The Deadlands for that. I doubt we now go deep enough for the more deadly creatures to give us much trouble."

You will find her body, somehow, and get back home."

"Let's hope so. We could take some trainees as an exercise, if they Charles volunteer," Leo muses, cocking his head in thought.

I'll think about it, it might be a good lesson for them if we aren't go gher go that deep. I'll talk to everyone when we get back," I tell him, makin inducttoward the castle gates to head back to Vokheim keep.

get rid My men aren't going to be happy with the news, but ultimately, Characterist they the leader of Vrohkaria and what he says goes. To refuse him would can," I more problems that we don't need right now.

g

: the

e of,

he

: that

ar and

push through the listening crowd, most likely to arrest them and take them to the cells beneath the castle to await sentencing for their slander.

"I know, brother," Leo replies, his tone low as he watches a guard tackle a male to the ground. "But to send you there for a girl who is probably already dead is fucked. We did our rite of passage in The Deadlands, and we barely made it out alive. That was what, nearly twenty five years ago? Imagine how bad it is now."

"I know, but we had to go deep in The Deadlands for that. I doubt we will go deep enough for the more deadly creatures to give us much trouble. We will find her body, somehow, and get back home."

"Let's hope so. We could take some trainees as an exercise, if they volunteer," Leo muses, cocking his head in thought.

"I'll think about it, it might be a good lesson for them if we aren't going to go that deep. I'll talk to everyone when we get back," I tell him, making way toward the castle gates to head back to Vokheim keep.

My men aren't going to be happy with the news, but ultimately, Charles is the leader of Vrohkaria and what he says goes. To refuse him would cause more problems that we don't need right now.

FIVE

RHEA

Throwing wood in the fire pit, I stand up straight and wipe the sweat fi brow. I've been working around the settlement all morning, doing choldealing with squabbles amongst some of the members.

We don't get them often, but they do happen every now and again. I doesn't help that some of the females are going into heat soon. It's har balance the added workload on top of our usual daily work, especially tensions running so high.

I've made sure we separated the male and females, so they work at opposite ends of the Eridian, and we rotate when needed so they are not each other as little as possible. The males won't be shifting into wolves the female's heats are over, unless they are far out in the forest and we from the large three story cabin that we allocate the females to during the heat. If they choose a male to help them during that time, they go to the cabin.

The males are also running high on testosterone, and with the number people who will be otherwise occupied for a few days, we have to pick slack of those not around to help keep our home running.

With the last log placed into the pit for tonight's dinner, I sit down c ground, my back to the wooden bench behind me. I take out the small that I've had with me since I left my old pack. I trace my fingers over t feeling the carved words 'we bleed wolf' in my family's language bene fingertips.

Grabbing a broken piece of wood that was left on the ground, I begi into it. I started doing this years ago, randomly, not really sure what I v doing at all. My first carving was of a wolf that took me many tries and several weeks to complete. I've been carving for years now. I'm not gr com my it, but that's not the point of why I do it.

The motion of my hands moving with practiced ease as I carve at the res and

calms me. The methodical movement helps me to process my thoughts I have a lot on my mind. It has become a ritual of sorts.

d to with

ar

s until

ll away

their

t

After sending Ellian back to his home with a port stone, my focus ha concentrating on Sarah. She's still recuperating in the healer's cabin, s recovering from her injuries even after two moon cycles. They're heali well, but they will definitely scar as they have been left untreated for to long. If she would have been able to shift when she was injured she wo have been fine, but her body has been changed without her permission she will have to learn to live with the physical scars as a reminder of w went through. She will eventually learn that those scars show her stren but it does take time, and that amount of time differs from person to pe $\operatorname{\mathsf{eir}}\nolimits$ own

Once Sarah told me her story about how she ended up the way she v who did that to her, she retreated into her own mind, staying very quie er of don't pressure her to speak, to tell me what she's thinking, sometimes speaking to our demons is the only way we can process things.

Her injuries weren't just external. Anna examined her after our talk,

on the she was torn in places no woman should ever be. It was clear she had to blade raped. Many times. Sarah told me they gave her some kind of drug that the hilt, paralyzes your body, but you're awake and completely aware of what' eath myon around you. She could see, hear and feel what they were doing to he all she could do was lay there and hope it was over soon.

n to cut I shake my head as fury coats my skin. I take a deep breath to calm I was shaving the wood into a rounded shape at the top with a little too much It's hard to hold onto anger with no real release. It's draining when all reat at want is to unleash it on the person responsible, but the situation makes you can't. The kind of anger that you're terrified to finally let out, dreat e wood the outcome after holding it in for so long.

when If I let out that anger, it wouldn't just affect me. If I followed my ins to tear apart all the people responsible for the suffering of my pack me as been it would affect them all, and I can't do that to them. Edward mostly sel lowly wolves that need to escape a life of abuse to Eridian. I can't just throw home away, our safety, for revenge, and I can't let others do that either would know we have a settlement somewhere, and we need to remain buld That's why once you're in Eridian to stay, you're in, and you don't lea, and Apart from myself and my closest pack members who I trust when we that sheventure out into The Deadlands.

gth, If anyone left after they lived in Eridian, they could risk the whole erson. settlement and the people that live here.

vas and I can't risk that.

t. I When you create a new pack, you have to declare it to the Highers, t that rule over Vrohkaria, and get permission to claim a territory. And s we are hiding out here, we haven't told them. That's another reason no and

can leave. Because if they find us, we will all be punished for breakinglaw of the lands, many times over.

s going Especially me.

er, and The people we save understand this before they agree to come here.

Edward informs them, and it's up to them if they want to come to this myself, haven and agree to the terms. I don't know how Edward finds people it force. or even manages to speak with them, but it doesn't matter as long as we you continue to help those in need and they arrive here safely.

We've grown in numbers over the years, our home slowly expandin time someone new joins us. I was worried when we first started out if I would be enough food for us, if we'd be able to house anyone and buil stincts here. But everyone pitches in. Whether it's collecting water, harvesting mbers, vegetables in the gardens or chopping wood. We have certain people woods skilled at hunting that go out and find food, and there is enough prey a our for us that we don't have to kill unnecessarily. We are never greedy an they take more than the land offers. That's important to us.

hidden. Blowing the shavings off my lap, I reposition my hand and start at the ve. bottom of the wood, carving lines out for the legs and slowly adding it details as I go.

Pack members come and go from the gathering, dropping things off refilling the large pot with water to put on the fire later to cook. They c talk to me as I continue chipping at the wood, knowing I'm not in the I for conversation if I'm carving, my mind being elsewhere.

those I wonder if Sarah talked to anybody while she was being abused. She ince didn't mention that she had, only that she was down there for what felt really long time. At least a full season. She must have been lonely on h

the own, with only her own mind for company. I can relate to that more th knows.

I had hoped when she mentioned they gave her drugs that she would remember most of it. I'm not sure how much she remembers, but she d safe remember some of it. After talking with Anna and going through her n need journals, we came to the same conclusion that it had to be the dassil flow that was given to keep her helpless. The symptoms match what she deshad happened to her.

g every What I don't understand is why someone would go out of their way there the flower. It grows in The Drylands, west of Fenrikar, deep inside cav d a life damp places. The Drylands are mostly barren and scarce of any plant c animal life. It's why no one travels or lives out there. Why would her pround all that effort to get the flower to drug Sarah?

don't Apart from what had happened to her, she hadn't told me any names that her pack did this, and she needed to get out. I won't force her to te anymore, just like I won't force her to shift to heal. It would help her, I tiny has been forced to do things she didn't want to for a while now, and I wand to the list of people who did that to her. My worry is that it's been two months, and even though there has been improvement physically, lon't mentally, nothing has changed much. She hasn't even left the cabin an any males go near her, she loses it.

I need to at least try to persuade her to get some fresh air, I muse to myself as I finish the details on my newest carving, blowing any excest like a shavings from the now carved wood. I put my knife back into my boot look at my handy work with a small smile. It's jagged in places and the

an she designs I tried to carve have small chips here and there, but I know Ka like it anyway.

ln't My wolf mentally stretches inside me, peeking her eyes open at the loes thought of Kade. She treats him more than just pack. To her, he's her pedical Just how I see him. I raised him from when he was seven, and even the ower is my aunt's son, he's more than just a cousin to me. It wasn't easy raise scribed him at first, so many struggles and doubts, but I soon got into the swin things, and I wouldn't change it for the world. Mostly everything I do, to get for him.

"The perimeter has been checked, and the Eridian is calm," Josh sa through the link, and I tilt my head back, watching the sun high in the back go "That's great, all good at the cliffside?" I ask him.

"Yeah, no problems, and no sign of any bora or other creatures."

"It's been long enough since we went into The Deadlands. I don't the s, just bora know where we went. Call off checking it every night," I tell him, all me thankful we've had no trouble following us after we got Sarah.

out she There is a pause before he asks. "How is she?"

won't I don't need to ask who he's on about, he's been asking every day. 'nearly well as expected, I'm going to try and get her out for a bit, some fresh do her some good I think."

d if "Hmmm, maybe," he says hesitantly.

I stretch my legs out in front of me. "Is the cabin prepared for the females?"

s "Yes. They keep hounding me for things. I don't know why they do that and me every time," he sighs, and I can picture him dragging his hands down a small face.

Whenever the females go into heat, syncing up together as women d

de will always pester him for things to go in the cabin, or they ask him to help through it every time. He never joins them though.

"Oh, come on Joshy, you love the women's attention," I chuckle.

oup. "For fuck's sake. Here comes the fucking Joshy," he growls. "Are yough hepurposely trying to annoy me?"

sing "Me?" I fake gasp. "Never."

g of He mumbles something down the link that sounded a lot like 'fuck c

I do can't be sure. "Are you done for the day? I still haven't got a hold of K yet," he says, and I sigh in resignation. Me and the kid really need to h talk, but it's like I can't get through to him lately.

sky. "I've got some work to do in the office for a little bit and then I'm gofor a run. Are you all good for a few hours?"

"Don't worry, I can handle the pack. Let me know when you're back link the "Yes, Dad," I snark back. His chuckles bounce down the link while pocket my newest carving and move my ass back to my cabin.

'As air will

his to vn his

lo, they

always pester him for things to go in the cabin, or they ask him to help them through it every time. He never joins them though.

"Oh, come on Joshy, you love the women's attention," I chuckle.

"For fuck's sake. Here comes the fucking Joshy," he growls. "Are you purposely trying to annoy me?"

"Me?" I fake gasp. "Never."

He mumbles something down the link that sounded a lot like 'fuck off' but can't be sure. "Are you done for the day? I still haven't got a hold of Kade yet," he says, and I sigh in resignation. Me and the kid really need to have a talk, but it's like I can't get through to him lately.

"I've got some work to do in the office for a little bit and then I'm going for a run. Are you all good for a few hours?"

"Don't worry, I can handle the pack. Let me know when you're back."

"Yes, Dad," I snark back. His chuckles bounce down the link while I pocket my newest carving and move my ass back to my cabin.

RHEA

I sit on the edge of the water, watching the water flowing down over the edges of the large, circular opening above that mirrors the size of the public below. The moonlight shines down on the water, making it glisten like thousand tiny stars are stroking the surface, rippling in a wave of color the splashes. Small blue-green wisps float around the edges, gliding the the air between the few lilk trees that are inside here, playing with each in a dance only known to them. Some are as small as the palm of my him while a few others are bigger. I gaze at their smoke-like power trailing them as they fly before the essence of that power disappears behind the nothing.

I love being in the cave I have claimed for myself, my own hidden paradise. It's peaceful listening as the water flows down in soft crashes the soothing swish of the wisps by my ear when they get close and fly They don't bother me when they swirl around or hover nearby. I take c in their gentleness. They know when I come here, I'm respectful and n harm. Mostly, this is the only place you can see them, apart from the fe times out in the forest.

The first time I found this place a couple of years ago, it was by acci We hadn't been this far north in the Eridian Forest, and I was curious, went off on my own. I reached the cliffside and was about to move on saw an opening within the rock. When I went inside and followed the t I never expected it to lead to a hidden cave with its natural light flowin the opening above, or for it to contain lilk trees standing strong and he It was majestic, and one of the most beautiful things I had ever seen.

The moment you first come across pure beauty, it never leaves you. just stop and stare and take every little detail in. Then you tuck it safely in your memories for all time, cherishing it. The moment I first saw thi was one of those times.

Not many people know of this place, and the few who do, don't con often as they know I've claimed it as my own. Well, with the wisps. B very territorial over it as wolves are when something belongs to them. made a home away from home here, with some tables at the sides and chairs. My carvings are displayed in crevices that act as shelves in the behind walls, proud, precious, and in clear view. I even have some bedding if em into to spend the night here, which I do when I can.

I close my eyes and give a gentle touch to my wolf, stroking her acre head and then down her nose in my mind. She doesn't let me do this as as she should, but spending this time together here calms her as much does me. She loves it here, feeling more content than she ever has. I ha feeling it's because we are hidden away but not trapped, the opening al makes it feel like we are out in the open. She needs her alone time to renean no even if she is still a grumpy wolf. Apart from Kade, Josh and a few oth she simply tolerates everyone else. She wants to be a part of the pack, also to be on her own or just with her family. It is a predicament somet

ıe ool

a with rough 1 other and.

s and

past.

comfort

3W

so I encourage it. I received her, and then lost her to the safety my body off when I She lost her freedom, and I lost my wolf in the physical sense. She's st runnel, there inside me, I can still feel her emotions and she gives me a boost ving from she's in a giving mood, albeit reluctantly, but with a nudge from me she althy. If it's absolutely necessary. I miss her though, even though I only had I completely for a short time. It wasn't a pleasant experience, but being

You go wolf is what makes you well, wolf.

y away Without being able to shift, I feel like I don't belong... anywhere.

"What am I going to do with you, Runa?" I say aloud, my voice ech around the space slightly as I feel her move beneath my skin.

the length of the looks like. I can't see her clearly in my that I'm just feel that she is there. The one time she did come out, I was too bus I've keeping alive rather than taking a look at my paws.

a few I lay back, feeling the rich earth beneath my fingertips as I watch the rock fly over me, chasing one another. I sometimes pretend they are the esset I want the ones we've lost, staying close to home. Many have died over the year especially when we first started accepting people. It was rough with or oss her few of us having to try and learn to survive out here. We made a lot of a often mistakes.

as it I made a lot of mistakes.

I became obsessed for a little while with our safety, hunting on my c bove keeping members inside the settlements and refusing to allow them to efresh, the protection circle the lilk trees provide. The ones we lost were eitheres, buried on the farthest edge of Eridian or lost them to the creature that k but them. I still feel guilt from their deaths, amongst other things. It wasn't times. Taylor and a few others joined that we trained to protect ourselves project.

He taught us a lot about safety precautions and how to hunt correctly. 'fers. could say we owe him our lives, because we really were in bad shape vill he arrived. We lived out of crude shelters and ate scraps, barely getting when He saved us all, and since then, we have saved many and none. Unless lost themselves, walking to the end of the valley and jumping into the Unforgivable Sea.

able to Solvier protects us within the circle of lilk trees as best as he can, bu cannot protect us from our inner demons.

I hear movement to the left of me, and I turn my head just as Kade s oing into the cave, looking around until he spots me. He gives me a small si and walks over to me slowly, almost hesitantly.

mind, He's gone from a snot-nosed kid to a six-foot tall eighteen-year-old of pure muscle. His golden blond hair has gotten thicker on the top sin last time I saw him, and his blue eyes, a slightly different shade than me wisps look tired.

I sit up as he plops down next to me, both of us watching as the watch ence of the sides of the pool and splashes some unsuspecting bugs. Runa come ears. closer to the surface as we sit in silence, lost in our own thoughts. He's ıly a distanced himself from me, still spending more time as a wolf than hur He just brushes me off when I ask about it and says he's fine, but I knc something is bothering him. I usually wait it out until he tells me, but r patience is running thin. I'm worried. I even went looking for Solvier a)wn, to see if he had any words of wisdom, but he's been nowhere to be fou leave lately. He does this every so often, but I could really do with some adv how to handle this. cilled

t until "You okay?" I ask Kade softly, leaning my head on his shoulder. I p perly. the end of my shorts, twirling some loose thread around my finger as I You for his reply and make a mental reminder to ask Edward to send more when material to make some new clothes.

y by. "Yeah, I'm good, Rhea," he says with a sigh, bringing his head to re they top of mine.

A few wisps fly past us, and I watch as Kade lifts up a hand. One of smaller wisp flies down, circling his hand and hovering above his palm it's perching there. I giggle as he wiggles his fingers, and the wisp bou like it affects his position. It doesn't, but it amuses me anyway.

teps "Where have you been? I've not seen you in a few days," I whisper, nile not to disturb the playful wisp.

"Here and there." He shrugs, jostling my head. "Done a lot of huntir made roaming, getting used to all the new smells around Eridian."

ce the He's been doing that for weeks now. "No trouble?"

ine, "Nothing I can't handle," he replies vaguely.

I lift my head off his shoulder to look at him, but he just stares at the er hits not giving me his eyes. After a tense silence, he turns to look at me wit troubled gaze and a grim look on his face which makes me immediatel "What is it?" I whisper, knowing I'm not going to like what he is ab nan. tell me.

He hesitates for a few seconds while grinding his teeth, before finall telling me. "I spotted a few Rogures this morning. Don't worry though again, care of them," he rushes to add when he sees my eyes widen at his men Rogures.

ice on I shoot to my feet in one move, my panicked eyes looking down at h "What do you mean you took care of them?" I shout, horrified at what bick at telling me. The wisp flies off with the others, darting behind the trees a wait

raised voice. I would feel bad for scaring them off, but I'm too preocci with my panic. "How many were there?"

"Three, and I handled it, so it's not a problem," he says as he stands full height, towering over my five-foot six frame.

"Not a problem," I repeat. "Not a fucking problem. What in the God like were you thinking?" I growl, poking him in his chest. "Have you lost y not damn mind?"

"I said I took care of it, and I did," he states, throwing his hands up i trying air and glaring at me. "I got rid of the problem, there was no more. Whyou making a big deal out of it?"

"Kade." I pinch the bridge of my nose, willing myself to stay calm. bristles beneath my skin, not liking that he had been in danger either. "could have been fucking killed, does that even matter to you? And why just hearing about this now?" I demand. I'm panicking. I panic for him wisp, for the pack and why we had an unexpected visit from some Rogures. that there more around? Are they on their way here now? y alert. "Josh" I bark down the link. "Do a perimeter check. Now! Three Rogures out to have been in Eridian, there dead but they may be more."

"Shit. On it, I'll update you," he rushes out, not asking how or why.

y no doubt he heard the slight fear in my voice. It wasn't fear for me, but, I tookfor everyone else.

ntion of I look back to Kade as he speaks. "They were northwest from here a cliffside. I'm fine. I only got a few scratches, and they're all healed," h nim. me, as if it's no big deal that he decided to take on three fucking Rogul he's his own. I look him over, seeing no visible injuries which calms me somewhat. "And I've only just come back," he continues. "That's why

ipied haven't heard about it until now. It happened not too long ago. I was alout this way when I caught your scent. So here I am."

to his "You took on three Rogures on your own, as a new wolf. You didn' retreat and call on me or Josh through the link, you just decided to con ls namehome like everything is fine. You're telling me you see absolutely noth your wrong with that?" I question in disbelief, shaking my head at him.

Did he suddenly lose his head when he got his wolf?

in the He lifts a shoulder and tucks his hands into his front pockets or his c ry are pants like he doesn't have a care in the world.

Like he didn't just play with his life.

Runa I explode.

You "There could have been more of them, Kade! Shit, there might even y am I They travel in large packs, you *know* this. You're lucky you're even stapping, panic here," I shout, forcing myself not to strangle the kid for his stupidity. "

Were an eighteen-year-old who only got his wolf five months ago," I grit ou barely resisting a snarl toward him. "You have no idea how to control;

ngures instincts. You should have called for me or Josh down the link. You she have come back to the settlement, and we would have taken care of it.

I have can't just endanger your life like that. You can't—"

"I can, and I did!" he roars, losing his nonchalant attitude and stunni into silence with his outburst. He continues as he starts to pace, "I saw and I took care of them." He breathes heavily, fists clenching and unclenching. "I ripped them to shreds and tore out their throats until the was nothing left of them but blood and guts. I did what I should have a years ago!"

you Confused, I stare at him as he paces back and forth, wondering what talking about. What does him tearing Rogures apart and putting himsel

lready danger have to do with anything years ago?

Then it hits me, and my face instantly falls.

t Shit.

"Carzan," I say gently, speaking the male term of endearment of our language as I walk toward him. Stepping in his way to make him stop pacing, I bring my hands up to his face to make him look at me, but he his head and squeezes his eyes shut, refusing my silent request. "Look please," I plead with him, stroking my thumbs over his cheekbones.

He inhales deeply before opening his eyes for me. What I see there I my heart for him all over again. So much pain and torment reside in th blue eyes of his, and I wish I could take it all away from him. I wish I be. heal these wounds he carries on his young heart. I hear Runa whimper anding my head, affected by his pain as well.

"There was *nothing* you could have done," I choke out, and his face You're at my words. "You were a *child*, Kade, just as Cassie was. The blame i t, me and me alone." He opens his mouth to speak, but I cut him off with your shake of my head. "I was responsible for you both, and I failed. Me, K ιould You am forever sorry, and I know sorry doesn't make it any better." I inhale sharp breath and blink back tears at the pain. I will never forgive myse ing me not protecting them both. "Her death is on my shoulders, not yours. Yo them, everything a thirteen-year-old boy could have done. It was not. Your. I I whisper the last words, bringing his forehead down to mine, hoping h me. Feels the sincerity in my voice. ere

He breathes in a shuddered breath, then brings his arms around me, hugging me close. My hands drop from his cheeks when he rests his he top of mine. "It hurts," he says in a guttural tone that has more tears stilf in the back of my eyes. "My wolf, he feels the loss of her. He wants some

he can't have. Can never have. I don't know what I'm supposed to do, His shoulders shake while he burrows his face in the crook of my neck clinging to me tightly.

family I wrap my arms around him, holding him as I feel his tears coat my his I'd never even thought about what it would do to both him and his wol shakeshe got him. I'd seen his and Cassie's bond from the first moment they at me, not long after we left our old pack. They were enamored with each oth was so sweet and protective of her, and she adored and followed him breaks everywhere.

ose One night, one moment, changed all of that. Leaving heartbreak and could behind.

inside I hate that it's my fault that he's feeling this way, that I failed to prowhat was most precious to him. He and his wolf are hurting so much, a twists there is nothing I can do to ease it for them. How didn't I realize that u is on now?

"I am always here for you, always. Whenever you need me, I'm here ade. I whisper hoarsely, trying to keep myself together for him. "I pray to Za e a and Cazier that time will help your heart, Carzan."

If for More tears wet my neck as he takes a few deep breaths and tightens ou did hold on me. "Arbiel cana," he says, so heartbreakingly that a lone tear Fault," silently down my cheek.

e hears "Arbiel cana," I repeat, bringing a hand up to stroke the back of his comfort him. The same way I have always done since he was just seve old.

ead on I hold him to me as I look toward my newest carving over his should nging a younger version of Kade with a bright smile on his face. So innocent ething free, full of life and love.

Rhea." Before life happened and Rogures took his mate from him. . ., skin. f when met, er. He grief tect and ntil e," I hariss his falls head to n years der. It's and

Before life happened and Rogures took his mate from him.

SEVEN

RHEA

I groan as the sound of tapping wakes me up from my much needed sle was late by the time I got back last night, with Kade and I spending ho upon hours talking before we eventually headed back home.

Josh reported back that there were no signs of any other rogures in to once he came across the ones Kade had killed. What was left of them anyway. It's extremely strange that only three rogures came down from Deadlands, but I'm thankful regardless that there aren't anymore.

The tapping continues. Whatever it is making that sound has a death one I am more than happy to fulfill. With a growl, I open an eye and potoward the window on my left. A small, familiar winged creature stare through the glass, its dark eyes never leaving mine, as it continues to to beak against the window. I huff and rub my eyes, sighing at the though getting out of bed. I pull the covers back, yawning as my feet touch the floor.

I shuffle toward the window, grumbling with each step until I reach then I notice the moon still high in the night sky, telling me it's far too to be getting out of bed. I look back toward the winged creature, and n the leather strap tied around his neck with a small package attached to of it. Unlatching the lock from the bottom of the window, I lift the glas cool night breeze caresses my bare skin in the places my night shirt do cover, causing goosebumps to form across my body. I reach out a hanc stroke Illium on the top of his head and underneath his black beak as h at me under my attention.

"Sorry, little guy," I coo. "I don't have a midnight snack for you. W don't you head down to the gathering on your way out, there might be something there for you," I tell him as he caws again softly, nuzzling n hand with his head. I reach for the back of his neck and untie the leathe strap, scratching there lightly to ease the muscle.

Croneians are small but clever creatures that are extremely loyal to t they have chosen. As dark as night with midnight blue tipped wings, th he area easily hidden as they fly through the night sky. Illium has been flying l years at Edward's request, sending little packages and messages when n The or when needed. But he's never sent him here in the middle of the nigh usually the start of it.

"Thank you, Illium," I murmur, giving him another quick stroke bef watching him take off to the sky once again, remaining unseen.

I examine the small package in my hand and move to sit on my bed. flick of my wrist, lanterns softly light my room in a warm glow as I ge comfy and cross my legs. I remove the leather strap around the packag open the cloth material gently. A rolled-up letter falls out along with a lightweight, dark crystal that I haven't seen before. I pick it up, running thumb over its smooth edges as it fits in the palm of my hand. A mix o and yellow flashes inside the stone, and I feel the gentle thrum of power within it.

eep. It urs

ı wish,

eek

s at me

ap its it of

e wood

it. It's early

otice

the end Curious as to what Edward has sent me, I undo the string around the ss. The and roll it open. I recognize Edward's writing straight away from the c esn't certain letters, and I can't help the small smile that graces my face. It's l and very long time since I last saw him, and I have missed seeing his face are caws stories he tells me about my parents.

Edward is one of the Highers of Vrohkaria, living in Fenrikar at Wo hy castle with the other Highers. We met each other about two years after my pack by accident. I was trying to get food for Josh, Kade, Cassie ar from a little village he visited that day. He saw me browsing the foods had and noticed I hadn't bought anything, even though he could probal by my thin frame that I wanted to. How could I buy food when I had n hose to buy it with? I wasn't used to the world, and I didn't know how thing ney are worked.

he can little later when it was busier. He followed me out of the village and to it, some small woods when I rounded on him, dull blade in hand. I needed him to move on and stop following me so I could get back to the other ore didn't know what he wanted, but it wasn't the first time I had to defend myself against someone who wanted to try their luck with me.

With a He stared at me for a long time, and I stared right back, refusing to I until he either went away or I had to make him. He took a deep breath e and was trying to smell me, and his eyes widened and started to water sligh was confused by his reaction as I stood there, stunned, watching a tear g my down his tanned face. After a moment, he whispered one name, one nate that changed everything and nothing at all. It was then that Edward wo me about my parents and about Eridian. About how I would be safe, at one would find me. How he thought I was dead.

I was nervous, he was a stranger and a Higher. How could I trust hir ! letter urve of told me many things I didn't know, but made some things make sense, been a explaining why my life was the way it was. By the time he finished tal and the we were both sitting on the ground, surrounded by nothing but the tree the earth beneath us. I thought about everything he had said to me, and knew I didn't really have a choice but to trust him. We were starving o lvorn here, Josh and I had no home and two kids to take care of. So, I told hi I left ıd I told him some of my life and who I was with, and he didn't bat an eye, though his face was solemn. He told me if he had known, he would ha they bly tell come to get me, that I never should have had the life I had lived and th othing was sorry he couldn't protect me.

But it was just words, and it was too late to change the past. He aske ξS to meet him back where we sat later that night, and he would get us all Eridian. Feeling like I had no choice, I spoke to Josh, and we came to t ck a same decision to wait for him to return to take us to this Eridian place. ward Edward kept his word and ported us to Eridian, where we would live d to get then on. He couldn't stay with us, but he said he would help us whenev s. I ł could. He had to go back to the castle, and his important day to day du a Higher meant he couldn't be away for long the rare times he did visit months of us living in Eridian and trying to make a life for ourselves, I et up like he started sending people to us who also needed a place to start a new life itly. I been this way ever since.

roll And I wouldn't change any of it.

The smile on my face vanishes as I begin to read Edward's letter, an uld tell up straighter, reading through his words again and again. My hands trend no shaking the paper and making the words blur as my breathing picks up dread overcomes me, and with a muttered 'fuck,' I jump off the bed an

n? He over to my dresser against the wall. I grab some pants and shove my le them with one hand, the letter still clutched tightly in the other while I king, dressed as fast as I can.

Pants on, I rush out of my bedroom, grabbing the crystal off the bed go. My feet slap against the dark wood flooring with my steps, passing the Kade's door before I rush down the stairs, holding the banister as I tak m. I steps at a time. I round the bottom and aim for the back of the cabin to door on the right. Pushing down the handle and opening the door, I wa around my desk and flop down in my chair, putting the crystal and the down on the desk amongst my things.

"I need you in the office. Now," I rush out down the link, running med me hands through my hair, snagging the tangles but not bothered by the slato pain.

room to try and calm my breathing. My office is simple. A dark wood e from and three chairs, two rows of bookcases filled to the brim with books cover he walls to my right, stopping at the floor to ceiling window. To my left, to ties as are two seating benches with small homemade cushions and a small tale. After the middle of them. There are shelves placed around the room, full of Edward keepsakes I have from Kade and pack members.

. It's My walls are light wood, the same as the rest of my cabin, and fram pictures the pups have drawn for me hang on them. I even had some the Kade did when he was younger, losing interest as he grew older. The dot I sit bookshelf at my back is for the pack. They contain small information formule, on each of my pack members. It's how I keep track of who is here, and Pure if any, issues they may have with certain things. It also has details on void head females want to go through the heat alone or with help from males, am

gs into other information about what jobs they would like to do and their skill get Only a few are allowed access to them, including the pack member. W hide what I have written about them. It's their information, they are en as I to see it. There are no secrets.

Unless those secrets are dangerous for others to know.

I grab a pen off my desk, twirling it in my hand to try and shift my the thoughts and not let panic set in. Sweat beads at the back of my neck, I my hair stick to it, and I feel Runa twitching inside me, sensing my unletter They can't find Eridian, they just can't, and more than that, they can Sarah. She's been through too much shit to be dragged back to the night she has ran from. No, fuck that. Not happening.

I hear the front door open and close quickly before I hear footsteps r my way. In the next second, Josh is standing in the doorway to my offind the looking disheveled. His jeans are undone, hanging off his hips, his dark blond hair is out of his usual man bun, and he's carrying a black t-shirt hand, leaving his defined muscles and tattoos on display. His gray eyes there me in the dark instantly, and he lets out a sigh of relief at seeing me ble in unharmed.

"I'm not dying Josh. You could have at least done your jeans up." I chuckle, but it trails off at the glare on his face.

Now I'm the one sighing as I open the top drawer in my desk and ta a hair tie to put my hair up in a ponytail, tossing him an extra one. I was hand and the lanterns around the room come alight as Josh closes the dolders behind him. I wait until he gets himself reasonably decent before slidir I what, letter across the desk toward him. He picks it up and flicks his eyes to what quickly before he takes a seat in one of the chairs across from me.

longst I sit in silence and watch his reaction to the letter while I pick up the

set. crystal, tossing it in the air and catching it again. His brows furrow, the e don't eyes widen and snap up to mine, probably thinking the same as I am. I titled wordlessly. He looks back at the letter and continues reading, his eyes moving rapidly as he reads the words. After a few minutes when I'm s has read it multiple times, just like I have, he finally speaks.

"What the fuck," he mutters. He keeps looking at me and then back naking letter like it might change before he finally puts it back on my desk. "They cannot take Sarah or find Eridian, Josh. They just can't," I str ease. i't find looking out my window at the forest that continues on until it reaches t ntmare surrounding cliffs. I can just make out the dead trees resting atop of the never changing, never moving. "We have worked too hard and too lon ushing our home here, to find some sense of peace and safety. If they find it, I know what we will do. We've never been in a situation of potentially t ice, discovered." I bite my lip as I think. "We could fight, but if Edward is kin his in that letter, we aren't strong enough to face who's coming. We could s find evacuate, but where would we go? We can't stay in Eridian if they find but this is the safest place for us in Vrohkaria. We can't even go into a region without a letter of free passage, and the lands are more dangero force a roam than ever. We could be lucky enough that they don't find us, but they come across Solvier in the forest? Would they send more people i ke out aren't enough to capture or kill him? They wouldn't just see him and le eve my and they would definitely find us then. It would just be a matter of time I get up and walk toward my window, resting my head on the cool g loor ig the and closing my eyes against the onslaught of so many emotions runnin through me. Fear. Panic. Stress. Worry. Dread. They rush through so q mine that it isn't until a hand lands on my shoulder from the side that I realize small struggling to get air in my lungs.

"Breathe, Rhea," Josh says calmly. I listen to him taking deep breath nod and then exhaling slowly. I stay still, focusing on his breathing until I'm mirroring him and getting some much needed air into my lungs.

ure he When my breathing calms, he moves to stand behind me, leaning do rest his head on my shoulder and look out toward the forest. He takes rest to the hand in his, rubbing his thumb over the back in small circles, comforting We're both silent while I continue to breathe deeply, squeezing his hares, mine as I lift my head off the glass and relax back against him.

"I don't know what will come or will happen," he tells me as gently em, can. "We'll figure it out, we always do, don't we?" I nod my head. "You won't let them get to Eridian, and if they do, you will do everything you don't to keep the pack safe, no matter what. You won't roll over, and neither being the rest of us. I know you're scared about what it would mean if they forcerect this place. So am I. But I will be with you through it all, together like a as a family," he vows, giving my cheek a nudge with his, rubbing again lus, gently. I feel Runa directly at my cheek beneath my skin, feeling the conother for herself. "I follow you by choice, not pack, you know that."

us to He brings his right forearm up in front of me from my side, and I loow what if down at the design he has covering his skin there. It's the same one Kafthere I also have on our forearms, with only small differences in the designs eave, we put there ourselves. We all have a few blank spaces left so we can a the design when we choose.

I trace his forearm with a finger, following the ancient writing, lines swirls before moving over the marking of the blood link that rests above luickly blank center, pressing down slightly on it and feeling the tingle in my a ze I'm the connection. I continue downward until I reach his wrist where the a of our Gods are, the symbols for Zahariss and Cazier intertwining with

ns in, other. One full circle at the bottom, one outlined above, slightly overla meach other with a crescent moon inside each. The tattoos are a sacred nof my family, given to those who are deemed worthy of their chosen pown to We also have other markings that can be given to those in your inner cony left. The differences don't diminish the value of such marks upon your skinng me. just mean different things to different people.

In Seeing the markings so clear in front of me, to look upon what I coungives me the determination to calm my panic and clear my thoughts. It as he had much fear in my life, and I won't let it rule me. The cost would be be high.

"We fight," I tell Josh, with steel in my voice. "Protect the pack at a will costs. Protect Kade no matter the cost."

ound I feel him hesitate before he nods his agreement as we look out towalways, forest, lost in thoughts of what may come. I won't let our home fall int hands of the Highers, and I won't let them take any of my pack members back to where they escaped from. We have a home here, and I won't let take it.

ok Even if the cost is myself.

ide and

that

add to

and

ze the

mind at

unes

ı each

other. One full circle at the bottom, one outlined above, slightly overlapping each other with a crescent moon inside each. The tattoos are a sacred marking of my family, given to those who are deemed worthy of their chosen people. We also have other markings that can be given to those in your inner circle. The differences don't diminish the value of such marks upon your skin, they just mean different things to different people.

Seeing the markings so clear in front of me, to look upon what I could lose, gives me the determination to calm my panic and clear my thoughts. I have had much fear in my life, and I won't let it rule me. The cost would be too high.

"We fight," I tell Josh, with steel in my voice. "Protect the pack at all costs. Protect Kade no matter the cost."

I feel him hesitate before he nods his agreement as we look out toward the forest, lost in thoughts of what may come. I won't let our home fall into the hands of the Highers, and I won't let them take any of my pack members back to where they escaped from. We have a home here, and I won't let them take it.

Even if the cost is myself.

EIGHT

RHEA

I turn, giving Josh a quick peck on the cheek and move back toward m Josh leaves without another word, his aura pulsing beneath the surface skin as he tries to control his emotions to gather everyone.

I pick up the letter and small crystal off my desk, then crouch down bottom drawer. Biting the end of my finger until blood swells to the su place my bloodied finger onto the drawer. I watch as the red liquid soa the wood, whispering under my breath as dark runes appear, then chan pale green. I move my finger away and open the drawer, putting the leterystal inside, nestled safely amongst the other important items I have there.

That done, I stand and head back for the stairs again, closing my off door behind me. I slow my walk as I near the top of the stairs, passing bedroom door quietly on the landing and listening for any movement in Only the sound of his soft snores reaches my ears, letting me know he' asleep.

That kid sleeps so deeply sometimes. It makes me wonder what keel sleeping so soundly when we have hearing like ours.

Moving on to enter my bedroom, I grab the things I need from my d and head for my bathroom, flicking my wrist until the room is bathed i White units and shelving greet me with splashes of green from my tow a few plants I have in here. Apart from that, it's all white and dark woo open the shower door and turn the knob, letting the water heat up as I I my clothes down next to the sink. Glancing up at myself in the white fi mirror, I let out a defeated sigh at myself.

My lightly tanned skin looks pale, my ice-blue eyes tired, and my as blond hair definitely needs a wash, looking like an animal made its hor there while I slept.

y desk.

of his

I look a fucking mess.

Walking in the shower and going about my normal routine, then chatothe into some dark leather pants and t-shirt. I add a blade to the holder at norface, I from my stash in the bedroom and call it a day. Padding barefoot back the stairs to the open plan kitchen and dining room, the countertops glewing with their light color as I make my way to the liquid of life.

I grab a clean mug and make a coffee before hopping up on the cour and looking at the large dining room table in front of me. Josh, Taylor, and I made it when Kade mentioned he wanted to eat together with jus and a few others sometimes. Not being able to get what he said out of ice Kade's mind, we made it happen for him, just like my parents made theirs. We had many meals together at this table. It even still has Kade and Cassie carvings they made together on the top where they sat next to each oth giggling and smiling at secrets only they knew.

ps him He hasn't sat down in that seat since she died.

Swinging my legs back and forth, I wonder if I can find and warn So after I speak with the pack. He can go for days on end without being so

resser I doubt I even have the time to try and find him. If he doesn't want to length, he won't be. It's as simple as that, but he always seems to disappels and when I need to talk to him.

Edward's letter said the search party for Sarah set out over two mon ago, and he only found out about it yesterday morning, which has me to most worried. Why was he excluded from the decision to send the Elite The Deadlands? Edward taught me all about Vrohkaria, its laws and he hashy-Highers ruled over it. He also taught me how the Highers work togetheme for an important decision like this to be made, all the Highers would not be present to cast a vote to approve or deny the task, with the Lord Highert getting the last vote. Yet, Edward wasn't present. He wasn't even told.

The Elites carry out important and deadly tasks across Vrohkaria. For any hip some of the strongest members of the Elite to venture into The Deadlar down be away from their work for this long is unnerving. Why is Sarah so important? She never told me who she was, and I wouldn't pressure he

tell me, but what do they want with her? Her pack abused her, starved ter drugged her, and chained her. But they want her back, for what? So the Kade continue doing it?

t us "Fuck that, and fuck them," I growl aloud in the open space.

If the Elites knew where they were going, they could reach us in about have thirty-three days on foot. No one knows of Eridian apart from the pack early so little Edward, even Ellian would have been spelled to forget when he met up

er, Edward after porting out of here. Those spells are hard to come by those they are only used by Edward when it's absolutely needed. So unfortuse if the Elites found this place, we couldn't just spell them all and send to olvier their way like nothing happened.

een, but We do have one witch in our pack, Anna, but she isn't strong enoug

spell like that. It takes days for her to recharge one port stone, which fr эe knowledge, is basic magic. But she doesn't work with the type of energy pear that's needed for recharging them, so it's a blessing she can even do it My legs swing faster as I think over the best way to deal with the El ths They could be dead already, torn apart by the creatures of The Deadlar he es into unless we find evidence of that, we have to assume they are still on the by the for Sarah. We have the element of surprise. We could track them down er. So redirect them, or maybe I could bait some creatures and let them deal v them. But in doing so I would be seen, and if one or more Elites somel ed to survive, they would go back and inform the Highers, causing them to r (her disaster upon Eridian.

The other issue I have is Sarah. If they manage to get to Eridian, I not not and hide her. She refuses to leave the cabin, and if I just drag her out of the kicking and screaming, I fear it would just worsen the situation. Her progret to is small, but it's there. She sometimes gives me a small smile when I ver her, and she doesn't fight Anna when checking over her injuries anymore, are healing slowly due to the dassil flower being in her body for so lon don't want to do anything that will stop her progress in its tracks or mat worse.

I've never had to deal with something like this before. Sure, I have a sand with pack matters, keeping us safe from the creatures that surround us, with have never been threatened by people coming here. Never mind the go ugh, so Elites, who Edward told me a long time ago are the most feared warrio nately, all of Vrohkaria. They are trained since they are young to hunt and kill hem on most dangerous of creatures, for fuck's sake. They are the Highers were and effective weapons they are.

h for a I shiver at the image of them coming into Eridian, grabbing women

rom mychildren and dragging them before the Highers for leaving their packs gy without permission. For keeping a child from their mother or father. Tl at all. of Vrohkaria are bullshit, and so are the pack laws.

I exhale a breath that sounds more like a growl and throw my mug i ites. ids, butsink, watching as it smashes into pieces with disinterest. Sarah is obvious important to her pack. But how? Edward never gives in-depth details o : hunt people he sends here, just their name and sex along with a time to go a 1 and them. Sometimes, it's not even that. All that matters is that they are in vith *√* If they pull their weight around the settlement when they're able to and าดพ a threat, we don't care who they are or where they're from. We have a ain hierarchy in place to keep the peace, but we are all equals here in our c eed to lives. Sure, it's not the norm for packs, but we are not the norm to begi Whoever Sarah is, she is important enough in her pack for the Highers re ogress send the Elites to collect her.

isit, Which means we're in deep shit.

I look across from me to the grandfather clock on the back wall behi which dining table. The ticking noise is the only sound in the room as my tho g. I ıke it race, and I squeeze the edge of the counter in my hands as I focus on it Edward has given me many books over the years, and when I came aci lealt grandfather clock in my reading, I fell in love. We can't just go into a but wetown and buy one, so I made it, just like we make most things in Eridia ddamn chose a lighter wood from the trees that grow near Lovers Falls, using the whole body, and a darker wood for the side panels. The clear glass rs in dried petals in between them from the lilk trees, adding some color to i the apons, took a long time to create the clock. It's beautiful, and one of my most treasured creations.

and But time is something we can't control. We can't get it back. Whene

look at the clock, I remind myself that time in my past is gone, and I can he laws go forward, like the hands of the clock.

Seeing it's nearing six thirty in the morning, I look out my window that the morning light shining down on the tops of the trees and realize it's time busly moving. The pack are definitely not expecting what I'm about to tell that this morning. It will be a shock for sure. It sure as the Gods was for me make the morning of the trees and realize it's time busly moving. The pack are definitely not expecting what I'm about to tell the morning. It will be a shock for sure. It sure as the Gods was for me make the morning of the trees and realize it's time busly moving. The pack are definitely not expecting what I'm about to tell the morning of the trees and realize it's time busly moving. The pack are definitely not expecting what I'm about to tell the morning of the trees and realize it's time busly moving. The pack are definitely not expecting what I'm about to tell the morning of the trees and realize it's time busly moving. The pack are definitely not expecting what I'm about to tell the morning of the trees and realize it's time busly moving.

nocent. A pause, and then he groans. "Whaaat?"

1 aren't "Emergency meeting at the gathering. Get dressed and head there a as possible,"

laily "Huh? What?" he says, panicking already, and I haven't even told I in with anything yet.

"Just come, and I'll explain." I hear him stumbling out of bed upsta a curse flying from his mouth after a bang. No doubt he ran into somet his haste.

"Josh, get everyone together at the gathering. It's time." I hop down ughts the counter and walk toward the door, stopping briefly to put on my work worn boots, tying the laces extra tight. I grab my knife from the entry to and shove it inside my right boot, being extra careful not to nick mysel nearby it. Checking my weapons and titbits that I always carry, I make my wann. I the meeting with the pack.

it for Walking between the scattered trees that surround the gathering, I so of the pack members are already seated on the benches or on the floor, looking half asleep and confused. I hate that I'm about to tell them son that will cause panic, but I promised to always be honest if it affected to and I will always keep that promise. I keep my face blank as I approact ever I circle, my steps even as I walk to my usual bench and take a seat. I do

an only speak, I just sit in silence and wait for everyone to arrive. The pack sto talking when I continue to sit there, looking toward me to begin as a fe to the shuffle nervously in their seats or shush their pups.

e to get Josh eventually arrives with a few others, Kade and Taylor among the lem They all take a seat as Josh comes and stands next to me, always the preventhough I'm perfectly safe here. He gives me a subtle nod, letting know everyone is here and folds his arms as he scans over the crowd.

I stand and everyone's attention stays on me, showing me the respects soon earned by protecting them and giving them a life here in Eridian. I lool member in the eyes briefly, showing that I see them and giving my unvaim thanks that they came without question. I look at Josie who sits next to Danny, her eyes full of worry and apprehension. I have never called a jirs and meeting at this time of day in all the years I've been here, she knows hing in something's up. I tighten my ponytail.

With nothing left to wait for, I open my mouth and tell them. "I was n from informed in the early hours of this morning that an unknown number o are currently in The Deadlands," I state bluntly, seeing no point beating able around the thorny bush.

If with "The Elites?" Kade questions, rubbing his jaw. I nod my confirmation y to him. "What are they in The Deadlands for?" Pack members look from me, waiting for my answer.

"They have been requested by the Highers to search for a missing w from another pack," I say, cracking my knuckles to ease some of my g nething tension as all eyes immediately fly to the healer's cabin.

them, "To state the obvious, yes, it's Sarah they are searching for," I confi h the "But she is not the only one here who has gone from their pack or hom vithout requesting it and getting it approved by the Highers. We all ha good reasons for being here, but in the eyes of the Highers, we broke that and are still breaking it by living here. I don't know the location of the in The Deadlands, or if they are dead or alive. But we have to assume them. of right now, they could find Eridian at any moment," I finish, crossing totectorarms over my chest and taking a deep, subtle breath.

me Panic. My pack goes into an instant panic.

A few members get to their feet, looking around with wide eyes as it I've Elites are hiding in wait behind a tree. Some start shouting, some cryin k each some hold their children close. A younger male knocks over a bucket c voiced water trying to leave the gathering, to where I have no idea, but Taylor him by the back of his shirt and sits his ass down, giving him a stare th pack would make most people shit themselves. The male doesn't try to leave again.

I rub my temples and look over at Josie. Danny's holding her close a someone is already trying to rip her away from him. Seeing their fear a f Eliteshearing their panic sets me on edge. Runa growls inside me, pacing from the noise. My eyes slide to Kade's, his face slightly pale from the news clench my hands. I never want him to be scared of anything, but he known at what could happen if the Highers get hold of Eridian. Of us, specificall him to the doesn't know all the details about our pack, about his years before left. I asked Edward to use a memory stone on him to hide the memori oman his time there. He doesn't know I did that, but I couldn't see him sufferowing longer. What he does know is that our old pack is a danger to us, and it situation ever arises where he is near them, he runs.

rm. "Alpha?" Katy cries to the left of me, and I turn to look at her. She's holding her son, Oscar, tightly in her lap. "I-I can't go back. Don't let to take me b-back, p-please!" she sobs, tears flowing down her face and i

he law three-year-old son's dark hair, the same color as hers. I can see her sha Elites from here, and her green-brown eyes hold so much terror in them that that as straight to my soul.

Katy has come far in the seven months she has been here with us, ar she's just now coming out of her shell and starting to integrate properly pack. I refuse to let anyone take my pack away without a fight. I just d the know if I can win.

"Calm down," I command, and she does instantly, sniffling and wip her cheeks. "I will not let anyone take you away from your home, do y grabs hear me? They will not take you back to where you came from," I grow at her, at all of them. Runa joins me, the feeling of protection we have pack flowing through us. She might only tolerate most of them, but the hers to tolerate and she will protect them with me.

Most of the members start to whimper and turn their heads to the sic and exposing their necks to me. It takes me a second to realize that I dropp and hold on my dominance, letting my aura flow freely from me.

s, and I All Alpha wolves have an aura of dominance that we can control, le ows flow freely or stay locked up tight. Being in a pack with more abused ly. members than not, all the Alpha wolves here keep our aura low for the re we of their comfort. Dominance scares most of our members, and we don't es of to scare them anymore than they were, or still are.

r any I mentally stroke Runa, sending calm to her to help gather myself ar regain control. The last thing we need is for the pack to be in any more distress right now.

"Sorry," I say to them, dipping my head down briefly. "We all need them settle. Katy, Oscar senses your unrest. Be calm for him," I tell her gent nto her using a voice I wouldn't have thought was possible for me right now. I king stretch my neck from side to side before I continue, looking out over I feel it everyone. "Your safety, all of you, is my top priority. I will not let the report any of you back to the Highers. I will not let them remove you, will not leave you unprotected here," I vow. They relax slightly after hy in the my words, sitting up a little straighter knowing I will do everything will on't my power to keep them safe.

"The good thing is, right now the Elites aren't near us. They're still ing at Deadlands. Either as bora food or alive and lost. We can work with tha will take a team with me to The Deadlands to handle the situation. All 011*v*l deep from those left behind is to be alert, to be brave and wait for me." I par for our making sure they hear what I have to say next. "If it has been too long ey are haven't returned, I leave Alpha duties to Kade. He will do right by you I know Kade has been unpredictable lately with his wolf, but he will after the pack in a way I know everyone will be happy with, and he wi le. ed my them safe. They trust him. He is my Heir to Eridian, and even though l young, I've trained him for years to be a leader. I look over at Kade, bu tting it keeps his eyes straight ahead, refusing to look at me. Despite his feelin sits there like an immovable force in front of the pack, strong and sure. I smile to myself at the man he's becoming. I need to accept that he' sake 't want kid anymore, and I can't wrap him up in cotton leaves to keep him safe will face danger again throughout his life, but I can try and control wh danger that is. ıd

And I'm determined for the Elites to not be one of them.

to

ly,

Ī

stretch my neck from side to side before I continue, looking out over everyone. "Your safety, all of you, is my top priority. I will not let the Elites report any of you back to the Highers. I will not let them remove you, and I will not leave you unprotected here," I vow. They relax slightly after hearing my words, sitting up a little straighter knowing I will do everything within my power to keep them safe.

"The good thing is, right now the Elites aren't near us. They're still in The Deadlands. Either as bora food or alive and lost. We can work with that. I will take a team with me to The Deadlands to handle the situation. All I need from those left behind is to be alert, to be brave and wait for me." I pause, making sure they hear what I have to say next. "If it has been too long and I haven't returned, I leave Alpha duties to Kade. He will do right by you."

I know Kade has been unpredictable lately with his wolf, but he will look after the pack in a way I know everyone will be happy with, and he will keep them safe. They trust him. He is my Heir to Eridian, and even though he's young, I've trained him for years to be a leader. I look over at Kade, but he keeps his eyes straight ahead, refusing to look at me. Despite his feelings, he sits there like an immovable force in front of the pack, strong and sure.

I smile to myself at the man he's becoming. I need to accept that he's not a kid anymore, and I can't wrap him up in cotton leaves to keep him safe. He will face danger again throughout his life, but I can try and control what danger that is.

And I'm determined for the Elites to not be one of them.

MINE

RHEA

The pack shuffles out one by one after being dismissed, touching me b before they leave in a show of strength and support. Runa settles at the touch, happy they have calmed down and are trusting us to take care of problem.

Josie comes up to me last with Danny, her eyes red around the edges holding back tears of fear for me, for us all. This could be the last time ever see each other. I grab her and pull her close, breathing her in as wildflowers fill my senses, her favorite scent. A soft cry escapes her, a rub soothing circles on her back, shushing her gently. Danny puts his her shoulder, squeezing tenderly and prying her away from me. We state each other, so many unspoken words passing between us. Not a single escapes us, but knowing exactly what we are saying.

Come back to us.

"Be safe," Josie whispers, her voice trembling with the words. I nod unable to speak over the lump in my throat, to tell her that I will be wh both know I can't promise that. Danny guides her away from the gathering, their steps slow as they When they reach the edge of the trees, Josie looks back at me one more sadness flooding her eyes before she turns and disappears from sight. I will probably go back to their cabin and hold each other tight tonight, I they are the only ones in the world. A sharp pain goes through me at the thought. Would I ever have that? Would I ever have someone to hold r tight and look at me like I was their world? Would I ever let anyone? V even have the chance?

riefly

ir

f the

Colten sighs and throws himself onto a bench heavily, pulling me or my depressing thoughts. "Well, how screwed are we?" he asks.

"Col," Hudson snaps at him, glaring so hard at the younger male you would expect him to drop dead any second. Taylor and Sebastian come to where we are standing, checking around us for any listening ears.

s from
we
nd I
nd I
nand on
ire at
sound

Colten shrugs, looking down and picking at his pants. "What?" he re unbothered. "We're fucked unless by some miracle they don't find us I they have a task, they see it through. My father was exactly like that. I would become obsessed and be gone for weeks and weeks at a time un completed what he set out to do. They are called the Elites for a reason are the best at what they do. With a reputation like theirs, most people stay out of their way. They may live in Vrohkaria, but they are a class own. Even the Highers are wary of them."

This isn't news based on what Edward has told me, or from what I he read in the texts on Vrohkaria's history. The Elites have been around for hundreds of years, created by the first council of Highers after the King Queen died. But hearing it come out so seriously from Colten sends a sendown my spine. He knows firsthand what an Elite is like.

"I know their reputation, well some of it, but they bleed like anyone

en we

walk. Elite or not, we have to protect the pack at all costs." I look at each of a etime, closest pack members, and they nod in agreement, knowing we have to they whatever it takes. Kade stays silent, still refusing to look at me.

"Sarah is still not in any fit state to move," Josh interjects, steering to conversion away from the Elites and tilting his head in the direction of healer's cabin. "If the Elites do get into Eridian, she can't be moved. So Would Iwouldn't be able to handle it." My eyebrows raise at him in surprise. He does he know what she could or couldn't handle? He's not seen her sire to day she arrived many weeks ago.

I pinch my lip with my fingers, wondering what the best thing would u do. If we had to move her, she would need to be sedated, it would be to e closerrisky otherwise. Although, being drugged and waking up in a different again wouldn't be good for her mental state. But it's better than having eplies, return with the Elites if it came down to that.

here. If "I think it's best if we leave her where she is for now," I offer, and le shoulders relax. His chest rises with a deep breath before letting it out til he *Interesting*. I set my eyes back to Taylor as I ask, "How many trap stor. They we have?"

usually Taylor tilts his head, his amber eyes focusing as he thinks. "Eight," I of their finally says. "We also have a few slow ones."

"Hmmm," I contemplate, reaching down and pulling my knife from boot and twirling it in my hand. I copy the moves that Sebastian is doin or his own blade since the pack members left. He notices me watching his a few moments and his tawny eyes flash in amusement before executir shiver more difficult movements. "Asshole," I grumble when I can't keep up him. He chuckles, throwing me a wink, then flips the blade around and else. launches it in the poor, unsuspecting tree across from him.

my "What are you thinking?" Hudson inquires, pulling my stare away for do smug faced Seb.

I put my knife back in my boot and place my hands on my hips befo he turning to Hudson. "I'm thinking that the best way to deal with the Elit the they are alive, which is highly likely, is using the creatures of The Dea he against them. If we can lead a lot of the creatures to where they are wit low being seen, they will be overrun and left with only two options. Die or ice the retreat." I don't want anyone to die, but if it's between them or my pac choose my pack every single time.

d be to "I agree." Taylor nods. "If it works, they won't know anyone is livir here, and they will have to conclude that Sarah has also died."

place "I think it could work," Colten chimes in, standing up and stretching to Hudson, Josh and Seb nod in agreement. Kade doesn't respond.

"There is one problem though," Taylor says, his eyes holding mine.

Josh's they die, won't more Elites or the Highers come looking for them?"

slowly. Well, shit. I didn't think of that. I groan out loud. "So we have to sent them back, and make them give up the search." I nod, resigned, knowing is going to be more difficult than just having them die. If we fail, we and than likely not coming home. "Edward can't help us either. He doesn't where the Elites are specifically, and he isn't even supposed to know the were sent to The Deadlands. We're on our own with this."

ng with I know if Edward could help us, he would. He has risked his life ma m after times over the years in helping people come here, in helping us. If the Ig Highers found out about what he was doing, he would be sentenced to with He's broken too many laws. Repeatedly.

I've always felt like Edward was our safety net. And now to have th suddenly gone, we are free falling with nothing to catch us. It's scary h

rom a to face a problem as serious as this ourselves when we have never face something like this before. The outcome will affect every single members the pack in ways that are yet to be seen.

I look at my friends, the people I'm closest to, memorizing their faced dlands they do the same. The air changes with a sense of helplessness that I transhout really hard not to feel. This might be the last time I see them in our how a lump forms in my throat. I cough roughly to cover up the sob that walk, I'll escape, causing the guys to look away from me and pretend they hadn't noticed that show of vulnerability.

Sebastian flips a new blade aggressively, his jaw tight. Taylor stands extremely still, staring hard at the floor like it has all the answers. Colt while the back of his neck, looking up into the sky, and Hudson stares at Col with a look of determination in his blue eyes. Josh still looks at me, his on the side of my face roaming over my features. And I... I look at Ka sharp jawline, strong nose, high cheekbones, his hair blowing gently ir do breeze. I memorize every detail down to the tattoo on his right forearm ng this blood link proudly displayed in between the lines and swirls.

re more He got his tattoos just hours before his eighteenth birthday as part of know sacred ritual my family completes before they get their wolf. It is a ble upon oneself, a show of faith in our Gods, a show of respect to his wol a show of loyalty to his family. That night is a precious memory I hold ny to my heart, thankful I was able to be there for that monumental mome his life and to be included in marking him permanently. I'm truly prou death. call him family.

Right now, though, he isn't happy with my decision for him to stay at know he will gladly step up and be whatever the pack needs him to be, naving

believes he should be going with us. He doesn't have to speak for me to be believes he should be going with us. He doesn't have to speak for me to be believes he should be going with us. He doesn't have to speak for me to be believes he should be going with us. He doesn't have to speak for me to be believes he should be going with us. He doesn't have to speak for me to be believes he should be going with us. He doesn't have to speak for me to be believes he should be going with us. He doesn't have to speak for me to be believes he should be going with us.

"Tell Finn, Axel and Eliza to go wolf when we leave, Josh. It might as as little bit for Kade to get his head on straight after we leave."

Josh nods subtly at my request, not saying a word as he looks at the y ne, andwe have brought up together. He walks over to Kade and plonks down ints to him, both sitting in silence as I watch. They got into so many argumen when Kade was younger. He was always an act first, think later kind o 't not realizing the dangers around him. Josh would constantly lecture him about looking where he's going, or to think before he decided to chase en rubs rabbit down a narrow hole and get himself stuck. But seeing them sittil by side, their body language says it all. All three of us formed a bond t ten s stare of our old pack, and it's unbreakable. I wished for a long time that we de. His good life in our old place, that we were surrounded by our families, that were loved and taken care of. I don't wish that anymore. My home is h 1 the my people are here. I wouldn't change my past because it meant I ende ı, the here with my chosen family.

Josh nudges Kade's shoulder, a small smile on his face. "Come on, sing it's not all bad. You're really needed here to keep the pack safe. We're f, and just shoving you out the way. You need to keep things running smooth close help anyone who needs it. We trust you with this."

ent in "I can help you out there," Kade grounds out. "I have my wolf now, d I can another person is another chance of making the Elites leave."

"It's also another person that we could lose," I explain, eyeing him where. I "You are about to stand in for me, Kade, you are the only one who can but he we are not here. You have to put pack needs before your own. They we looking to you to reassure and guide them. I have taught you everythin

here. I have been since you were eleven. It is important you step up no put your feelings aside. I have no doubt you will be what they need, with take a it's for a few days, weeks, or permanently." I gulp over the last word, I it is a possibility, but knowing we can't hide from it. We can't ignore to man may not come back.

next to The Deadlands are more dangerous the further inside you go. We co into all sorts of creatures and be killed off before we even have a changer fixed by the shakes his head, fixed shakes his head, fixed by the shakes as he still refuses how a look at me. "You expect me to just let you leave me here while you go possibly die? We are always together."

ng side "I know we are." I walk forward and sit down next to him, taking hi because clenched fist in my hand. I pry his fingers open and link ours together. had a like this any more than he does. The possibility of never seeing his fact we will tear me up if I think about it too much. But the alternative is just n iere, option.

"I'm not saying you are not capable of helping, I wouldn't have put charge if I thought otherwise. We don't know what we are getting ours Carzan, into when we leave. We are going in blind. I need someone here who cannot take care of the pack, especially the pups. They love you and have mis ly and you a lot since you have been going out for longer lately." I give his has gentle squeeze. "I don't like leaving you behind any more than you do it's the right decision. You know this is the way to proceed. Emotions sway these decisions that are made for the pack." For you, I add to my warily. whisper down the link to him. "Please understand."

while He lets out a small snarl and then blows out a breath. Finally, he loo ill be me, his eyes sad but sure in the decision he has made. He nods, and act I do that he's staying here, pulling me into a hug. I lean into him in relief at

w and at Josh over his shoulder. Josh gives me a small smile and wraps his ar hether around us both, pulling us close. We sit there holding each other close nating few precious, quiet moments, breathing each other in while our wolves hat we up against the others below the surface of our skin. Until Seb decides this mouth.

ould run "Do I get to join in, or is it limited to three?" he drawls. Before I car e. my mouth to tear him a new asshole, we're being jumped on. The brea to took to verbally rip him to shreds turns into a squeal when I feel the wout to him on my back.

The next thing I know, the rest of the guys are there adding to the pi squishing us until we fall off the bench and onto the dirt floor. I laugh S I don't pinch someone's side and they let out a high pitch squeal that makes m e again snort. Oh, that is some good bribery material I could use for later. I flic eyes forward to see Josh pulling someone's hair, Kade squashed benea ot an all eating dirt, and Hudson with someone in his armpit. Gods help then "Tap out! I tap out!" comes a muffled voice from somewhere as the you in of someone gagging hits my ears. I shove Seb, the squealer, off my bac selves not before getting in a cheeky nipple pinch and rolling off of Kade. He an like he's barely breathing after the weight of us on top of him. Taylor s sed next to us, arms folded, but I see the amusement in his eyes. Still chucl and a sit up and look over to see Colten on all fours gagging. , but

cannot Well, at this point I think it's safe to say it was Colten that was in self. I Hudson's armpit. To make it worse, Hudson is shirtless. The poor guy picking hair out of his teeth for a few hours.

ks at "You." *Heave*. "Dirty." *Heave*. "Bastard," Colten manages to choke cepts while shooting Hudson a dirty look. Hudson just smirks back at him. ad look Meanwhile Sebastian is on the floor, crying with laughter that is just to

damn contagious for me not to join in. I fall back on the ground, laugh for a along with them all at Colten's expense. He's a good sport though, and eventually joins in with us, spitting out the odd hair.

o open "I'm surrounded by idiots," Kade chuckles, wiping dirt off his face a looking up at the clear blue sky trying to catch his breath. I join him, lo open at the cloudless sky. The weather is warm with a slight breeze, the tree th I swaying along with it. Such a pretty, peaceful day for such dreadful ne eight of "Yeah, but we're your idiots," I reply with a fake smile on my face,

breathing in the scent of my pack, grass and flowers. Spring is my favor le and season. I hope I'll get to see it again if all goes to plan.

as I Either way, Kade will still be able to continue to see it, if it's the las I do. Emotion clogs my throat, and my eyes burn, but I won't let it ove k my me. Not now. I need to be clear headed for the unknown that we are at thus face.

n. "Arbiel Cana." It's a whisper, but it comes out strong. It's a vow and sound statement all at once.

ck, but

looks

stands

kling, I

will be

out

damn contagious for me not to join in. I fall back on the ground, laughing along with them all at Colten's expense. He's a good sport though, and eventually joins in with us, spitting out the odd hair.

"I'm surrounded by idiots," Kade chuckles, wiping dirt off his face and looking up at the clear blue sky trying to catch his breath. I join him, looking at the cloudless sky. The weather is warm with a slight breeze, the trees swaying along with it. Such a pretty, peaceful day for such dreadful news.

"Yeah, but we're your idiots," I reply with a fake smile on my face, breathing in the scent of my pack, grass and flowers. Spring is my favorite season. I hope I'll get to see it again if all goes to plan.

Either way, Kade will still be able to continue to see it, if it's the last thing I do. Emotion clogs my throat, and my eyes burn, but I won't let it overrule me. Not now. I need to be clear headed for the unknown that we are about to face.

"Arbiel Cana." It's a whisper, but it comes out strong. It's a vow and a statement all at once.

TEN

Darius

"I'm sure Charles has lost his mind. What in the Gods was he thinking sending us here?" Leo grumbles from behind me. "We've been in this fucking dead place for weeks now. It's never ending." I grunt in agreei always seems never ending inside The Deadlands.

In the history of the Elites, no one has ever traveled this deep into Tl Deadlands, not even for our rite of passage at age twelve. Those that dup in its depths and never came back out again, falling to the creatures stalk this land.

We don't know how many creatures actually live in The Deadlands, I've read about many in texts and seen enough sketches to know they shouldn't be fucked with. Two of our Elite trainees have already been from running into a couple of gresins, and I don't think they will survivanother attack.

Gresins are tall, skinny creatures with thin, pale green skin, clawed l and long tusks curving out of their cheeks that they use to strike if you close enough. They're strong, despite their skinny frames, and they ma to claw one of my trainees through the stomach and pierce another through

the leg. They fell behind as we moved through the dead trees, and the thought them easy targets.

We took the creatures down before they did any more damage, but r have two injured in the center of our group, slowing us down when we be picking up the pace. I made them shift to their wolves to heal faster. them to do it, but it benefits us all in the long run. They shouldn't have lagged behind if they didn't want to be thought of as a snack. I shake n head to myself at their stupidity. If they really thought being at the bac them safe, then they have learned their first lesson out here the hard wa

We haven't seen any more gresins since. We've run into quite a few of creatures while we've been here, but the gresins have been the worst so We can take care of ourselves easily, but having Elite trainees here is ϵ ment. It different story. Having to fight while defending dumbasses that can ba hold a blade right splits your concentration.

We all thought it would be a good training experience for any traine id end volunteered to come with us. I bet they're regretting that decision now that because I sure fucking am.

They should have stayed at Vokheim.

"Charles wasn't thinking, brother," Damian eventually grouches to 1 "I've been on some shit tasks, but even I have to admit that this takes t injured cake and the frosting on top. How many creatures have we come acros ve entering this land? And we haven't found any sign of this woman or w took her in here." He kicks a stone off the ground. "They're probably c nands gobbled up by Gods knows what. There is no way they survived here," concludes next to me as he snaps a branch from a nearby tree, stripping dead bark with his fingers in frustration.

"They're definitely dead," Zaide grunts next to me, the scowl on his

he

but

're

ınaged ough

gresins showing his displeasure about being here. I have to admit, even I'm ge sick of being here. Weeks and weeks and we've not come across any o now we living person.

should I stay silent, not bothering to add to the conversation.

It hurt We carry on wading around dead trees, broken branches cracking be our feet as we move. The only sliver of light we have in here is the gre glow coming from the oozing liquid that seeps from the blackened treek kept don't even know what it is, but I'm not touching that shit. It started apparents about three days ago and I have a feeling it's because of how deep we other now.

o far. With all of this and added complaints from Leo and some of the trai I'm close to chopping someone's hand off to really give them something rely complain about.

We walk for another few hours, the time stone I have helping to kee es who of the time and days for us. There is no other way to tell in here with the branches covering up the view of the sky. We arrive at a small clearing between the trees with a pool of slush-like water off to the right. It's stone the night with glimmering mushrooms growing sparingly around it.

Leo. "Set up camp," I order my men, and everyone drops their gear besid he and starts unpacking their necessities. Furs are placed on the ground, we say since skins set out to be refilled and dried foods passed around. Maize, an El hoever witch, starts putting protection crystals around us in a wide circle to ke lead, unwanted visitors at bay as we rest. She touches each one as she places onto the ground, and their clear color changes to azure, letting us know gether they're activated. The light coming from them is bright enough to light resting place, which is helpful.

face I drop my own pack and lean against a tree that isn't oozing light, w

tting my team rummage around and make their resting place for the night. To there that are injured curl up near the center, feeling sorry for themselves. St noises hit my ears. They sound like whispered shrieks flowing near us, there is no breeze to carry it. I tilt my head to try and decipher it,

eneath acknowledging that it's the same sound I've heard every time we have enish stopped to camp. We haven't met the creature it comes from yet, unables. I pin it down and remove the potential threat, though I think we may me pearing soon.

are I scan our surroundings through the trees, keeping my team safe as t work. Leo huffs near the center of our made-up camp and lays flat on l nees, back, looking at the twisted branches above. His legs bend before he p ng to arms behind his head, relaxing like he isn't inside a deadly land that cc kill him in his sleep. I shake my head at him and look at Zaide as he p track approaches. He leans against the tree next to me, blades hidden in his scabbard as he watches the others.

"Do you feel anything?" he asks.

I focus on my senses and shake my head. "Nothing different than us Apart from sensing the odd small power spike every now and again, the them an ominous feeling since entering this place. It's like something is call me, and I can't stop it. Or refuse it.

"How long are we going to keep going?" he asks. "This whole rescue mission is pointless." Shifting his weight with his eyes still on our pacl them waits for my answer.

"I'm not sure. We still have over two months until Charles' deadling tour agree with you, she has to be dead, and I doubt we will even find a boo now." I run a hand down my face. "We haven't come across one single atchingof evidence of anyone even entering here, or any rogures. I don't know

he two Charles expected us to find, but we sure as shit aren't finding it." I kee range eyes on the trees, watching for any movement. "We will keep going ur but deadline then port back. If we go back too early, he will be on our asse "Sure," he mumbles in response. He doesn't offer anything else, but know he will stick with me until I leave.

le to I take out the square, white time stone from my pocket. The lines on et it stone are black, followed by shorter lines in-between. Seeing the glow line near the top, I know it's late into the night. "Get some rest, we're hey covering more ground tomorrow." I hear a few sighs and grumbles from pack, but I ignore them. If they didn't want to put in the effort, they should be a second black of the same of the same of the stone o

You don't get to hold the title of Elite until you can prove you have fucking takes, and moaning about hard work will get your ass kicked c sent home. Being an Elite is simple. You strive to be the best and put it effort, or you don't. There is no in between.

Maize saunters over to me, hips swaying in her barely there shorts. *I* ual." of the males stare at her ass as she comes to a stop a foot away from mere is She's pretty and acts innocent, but she has a nasty streak that she seem ing to think no one knows about. Dark hair, light eyes, big tits and an ass mover, she has no issue using her assets to get what she wants.

"The crystals are done. Is there anything else you would like me to ck, he Alpha?" Her voice is smoky and seductive, most men would be droolin now with the added look of lust in her eyes. I'm not most men. I used let. But I mouth a few times a long time ago, but stopped as soon as she talked a ly feelings. Clearly, I picked the wrong woman to satisfy my needs. I done piece feelings. I just want to fuck when I need a release.

what "That's all I need," I say dismissively, running a hand through my d

p my hair as I turn to look back out through the trees. She stays in front of m til the few moments while I ignore her presence. Eventually, she huffs under s." breath and walks away.

Leo cackles on the ground, witnessing me brush-off her advances, a shoot him a glare. The little fuck knows how much her pestering make the want to snap her neck.

of one Much more lately with this restlessness within me.

I would be pushed to do it too if the Highers wouldn't drag me to an m the seat and make me become one of them. Maize might be in my pack, ar ouldn't but I have no doubt that the Highers have her in their pockets and on the cocks. Another reason I stopped using her mouth.

what it I sit down, banishing the thought and pick out some dried meat from out and rucksack, taking a strip and chewing the hard texture. It tastes like shit it's our only source of food out here. We only have clean water becaus Maize duplicates our water sacks, and even those are dwindling.

Eating the last of my food, I rest my arms on the top of my knees, go e. as comfortable as I can for the first watch. Zaide moves toward the cer s to our makeshift camp, kicking Leo's leg as he passes and Leo howls like st trip lost a limb. He must have pissed Zaide off with his complaining earlier

I close my eyes and listen to the even breathing of everyone as they letting my senses go wide.

ng by Nothing, not even a twinge of movement.

her Just that small hum of power somewhere in the distance.

bout

lo,

ı't want



her camp, I see no one moving, not so much as a twitch. My eyes slide to I who is on the last watch. He gives me a confused look at my sudden nd I movement, then straightens when he sees me tilt my head, knowing I'r s me trying to pinpoint where a sound came from. It's soft, barely there, but it.

A scrape of dried dirt. A slight snapping of branches.

I get to my feet slowly, my blade already in hand as I edge toward the leit. Side of the camp. Damian slowly follows, his steps quiet behind me, known in the leit of the concentrate. Stopping as I reach the protection crystals, my blank knit together as the sound comes and goes. I look over at Damian and head in the direction of the others, a silent command to wake them. He off quietly, and I look back through the trees, my eyes narrowing. Noth moving, but the air feels thick and heavy, yet somehow warm as I grip blade tighter in my hand.

I let my senses flow free and feel *something* up ahead in front of me sense the rest of the Elites getting to their feet, alert and wary at being up suddenly. I glance over my shoulder at Max and Rilo, the two injurt. trainees who are still in their wolf forms. Their ears perk to listen, but sleep, are still a little sluggish on their feet. My eyes land on Zaide next, his c twin blades in hand as he focuses past me while remaining in a defensi position in front of the others. Leo notches an arrow to his longbow, ai just past my left shoulder, covering me while my eyes are elsewhere. J takes the back, his body at an angle so he can see us all and holds his to blade axe in his grip.

My eyes roam over the trees before narrowing at a spot in front of n feeling eyes on us. On me. I shift my feet slightly apart and straighten

ind the back to prepare for whatever is coming.

Damian The air is tense. The dark of the forest is suffocating while we wait for creature to show itself. And when it does, I will rip its spine out and hat the trees as a warning for any others that try to attack us.

I hear The shuffling sound comes again, but it's closer this time, and I let c deep warning growl as my lips peel back, my face twisted into a snarl wolf nears the surface. A choked, wet gurgle suddenly comes from belne right and my head snaps its way as it grabs my attention. Near the dark pool nowing water, a woman has her serrated teeth in the neck of one of my men, it rows rolling in pleasure as it sinks its teeth deeper into its prey. Weston's ey nod my with mine, terror and pain filling them. I can do nothing but watch as surushes out his flesh, blood spraying the ground as she consumes it. He wouldning is have survived a bite like that, no matter what I did. He was dead the men she clamped her teeth into him.

My body tenses as his body goes limp, eyes dimming, but she doesn . I relent, making sure no one can take her meal away from her. Snarling woken I turn toward the creature, furious that she even got in our protection cied. The Elites back away from the pool of water, never taking their eyes of they knowing this predator just became our prey.

Leo's blue eyes flick to hers briefly before he returns his attention to ve disturbance at my back, covering me. I don't know what type of creatu ming is, but she chose her own death by killing one of my Elites and having errod nerve to come into our camp.

win Her sunken, dark eyes hold mine, still chewing the flesh of my male stalk toward her. She shuffles back into the pool, the water coming up ankles, and I dart forward, grabbing her jaw and squeeze tightly. She lo of Weston, his body falling in a heap at our feet as she scratches at my

pained sound leaves her, but I pay it no mind, looking into her eyes and for the letting her see what she has awoken inside.

ing it in She stills with what she sees. Her arms fall limply to her side, and he are full of terror. I bring my blade up slowly and put it to the center of out a forehead, keeping a tight grip on her jaw so she stays still. Pushing the as my slowly into her pale, wrinkled skin, I let her feel the burn of pain as I satisfied us, to her skull. She's shrieking now, fighting me with renewed effort, but of doesn't matter.

s eyes Her life was forfeit the second she came into my camp. Her end will es lock painful for killing one of mine.

he rips My grip tightens on the blade, and I twist, relishing in her high pitch 1't squealing before I force it forward to the hilt.

oment Then she's silent, just like everyone else.

ı't

in rage,

ircle.

ff her,

) the

ire she

the

as I

to her

ets go

arm. A

pained sound leaves her, but I pay it no mind, looking into her eyes and letting her see what she has awoken inside.

She stills with what she sees. Her arms fall limply to her side, and her eyes are full of terror. I bring my blade up slowly and put it to the center of her forehead, keeping a tight grip on her jaw so she stays still. Pushing the blade slowly into her pale, wrinkled skin, I let her feel the burn of pain as I sink it to her skull. She's shrieking now, fighting me with renewed effort, but it doesn't matter.

Her life was forfeit the second she came into my camp. Her end will be painful for killing one of mine.

My grip tightens on the blade, and I twist, relishing in her high pitch squealing before I force it forward to the hilt.

Then she's silent, just like everyone else.

ELEVEN

RHEA

We crouch behind the dead trees, using strips of cloth to plug the glow fluid leaking from them. We make sure to keep the luicium off of us as so to remain in complete darkness, using the shadows to our advantage watch the Elites sleep in their temporary camp at a distance. A brownmale keeps watch, scanning the trees surrounding them, but not noticinare here.

After days and days of searching, I thought we'd lucked out and the either left or were headed in the wrong direction. But when Taylor sco ahead of us to check if it was safe to rest for the night, he came back at us that he had found them. We packed our things up quickly and stalke through the trees toward them, silent as the air in the forest and set up to observe them, trying to find any weaknesses.

I shuffle on my knees somewhat, trying to ease the ache there when dark-haired male suddenly snap his eyes open. I freeze mid move, my pounding with my knee slightly lifted off the hardened ground. He then his head and gets to his feet in a silent, fluid motion, and my eyes track move. That shouldn't have been possible for a man his size, but he did

the ease of an experienced warrior. He's tall, probably taller than any c male I have come across, and he keeps getting taller as he heads closer toward us. I feel the others tense around me at his movements, none of moving a muscle as we watch him. He's in all black, his t-shirt seemin attached to his body like a second skin, outlining his muscular figure a defined muscles. Tattoos peek from the collar, gliding up his neck a lit I look over them curiously before I glance at the ones slithering down arms and stopping at the crease of his elbows.

ing
we do
as we
haired
g we

As I gently lower my knee back down on the ground, my thigh burn from the effort, I stop breathing as I feel his eyes land directly in our direction. His weighted gaze is heavy as it seems to stay on me. I drag eyes down from his arms hesitantly and look at the dark blade in his has slightly curved and wicked. I absentmindedly lick my dry lips. He benknees a little, and my eyes fly back up to his face, unable to resist any. The pounding of my pulse increases as I realize he knows something is watching them.

uted ad told ad to

y had

My limbs become frozen when I see fury in his gaze. It feels like he crawling inside me, like I'm some sort of prey about to be slaughtered predator before us. Runa growls at my thoughts and gives me a harsh r under my skin. She doesn't like us being thought of as prey. We are fathan that.

I see a heart n tilts every it with

My lungs expand before I let out a long breath, shaking off the feeling moving my eyes to the male beside him. It's the same male who was o watch. He's slightly smaller than the dark-haired male, but he's also lo in our direction, features tight as he scans the shadows. He suddenly woff to the center of the camp, waking the rest of the sleeping bodies. Quafter, a blond male is aiming an arrow our way, eyes hard and clear. As

other male with twin blades stands, getting into an offensive position in the cready to face the threat head on, while a huge guy with an axe moves for back.

The tall male, who is still staring at me, releases a low, threatening § nd causing the small hairs on my body to stand to attention. My body war tle, and and tingles spread across my arm at the sound, my heart missing a beat his starting up once again. My brows furrow at my reaction to the deep an violent sound while Runa perks her head up inside of me, ears forward listens. Another sound suddenly reaches my ears, and the warmth that my body turns ice cold. The dark-haired male turns to look behind him lean to the right, hands gripping the dead bark of the tree to hold me as and, follow his gaze. I nearly gasp out loud at the sight.

ds his A pale, ghastly figure of a woman has her teeth sunk into someone's longer. blood dripping down the man's front as she digs her teeth in harder. A shere, fucking water hag. Shit. I exchange a quick, worried glance with Josh, hiding behind the tree next to me, before looking back to the creature.

's water hag suddenly tears her teeth away from the man, and I swallow a by the couple of times. Seeing the lumpy, bloodied flesh hanging from her manudge not something I enjoy. My vision starts to blur at the sight, my heart kill r more up a notch while my breaths start to come out in small, fast pants.

"Rhea, you're being too loud!" Josh calls out down the link, but my ng and is hazy, like I'm listening underwater.

I close my eyes and will myself to calm down, to stave off the dizzin oking that I'm feeling. It's not like I haven't seen something like this before. anders seen dead bodies and gruesome injuries. But seeing it so suddenly comuickly with the look on the man's face as she tore at his neck, was enough to nother

center, a reaction I can't control. His look of pure, unadulterated terror, knowi urther has no chance at surviving an injury like that. It's hard to witness.

A soft, cloud-like touch presses down on the top of my head, the fee growl, causing me to grimace at the painful stabs to my scalp. Barely there fir ms, soothe the pain and then trace along my forehead, down to my cheek, at beforedizziness starts to fade away. The ghost-like caress feels wrong but welcoming at the same time as my breathing evens out.

las she A hand touches my shoulder, and I jolt. My eyes spring open and my held clears as I look into Josh's worried, gray eyes as he crouches next to mut, and I "I've been trying to get through to you. You shut down the link," he teld anxiously, squeezing my shoulder lightly.

I shut down the link? I didn't even feel it.

know it? When your link shuts down, it's like an empty space inside you who's head. An endless void, waiting to be filled by the presence of the one was the space there. It's uncomfortable and unnerving. It's why I don understand how Kade can be so unaffected by it when he shuts us out.

I shake my head. "I didn't know I closed it," I reply. Lifting my han cking my forehead and trailing my fingers down my cheek, I still feel a sligh where something touched me. What the fuck was that?

rhead I ignore it and Josh' curious stare and look back out toward the camman the water hag has in her clutch slumps forward, but she doesn't le drop to the floor. She holds him closely, keeping her prey with her. The I have dark-haired male stalks toward her, sure and steady, and I lean forward wanting to see what he will do. His hand flies out, gripping her jaw tig set off not a single sign of worry in his posture as she drops the dead guy and at his hand to try and get him to release her. I watch on, fixated as she

ng he completely with her horrified gaze locked on the man before her. The brings his curved, black blade slowly to her forehead, and then starts to ling forward through her gray skin. He pauses the blade as she starts shriek sound echoing her pain from the weapon lodged in her flesh. Her shrie and the so loud it's like she's right next to us, and I shove my hands over my e try and block it out. I see everyone else do the same apart from the dar haired male and some other men in the camp who are eagerly watching y mind we are.

It's like he's not sure if he's done with her yet.

After a few short moments, he plunges the blade through her skull, to sound of her shrieking instantly stopping and replaced with the sound of splitting. It echoes around the now silent night as I remove my hands for my ears. He pulls the blade back out in one upward move, slicing her be open and darkened blood spills over him and the ground. The water has our supright for a few moments, unseeing eyes staring ahead, until she falls who should be a start of the male start at her, cocking his head to the side in a pure animalistic to the side in a pure animalist

In the forest seems to freeze. My shoulders tense, and my breath is tract tingle my lungs, waiting to see if her shrieking has roused any other creatures

The Deadlands. A few moments pass without any sounds of movement p. The slump in relief. I look around to the rest of the people in their camp and their focus is on the male, except for the blond guy still aiming his letall, our way.

l, This is it. This is our chance while they are distracted, if we can rem htly, unnoticed by the archer.

claws "Josh, Taylor said he can get some bora here fast, right?" He nods stills confirmation. "I don't think those crystals will hold up against a large

male of bora. Let's stick to the original plan."

He waves subtly to get Taylor's attention who's leaning behind a treing, the Seb to the right of us. Josh signals to him that it's time to put our plansks are place, and his eyes harden before he nods. Taylor looks around the edgars to the tree to the camp briefly before he quietly slips away deeper into the forest, grabbing Hudson and Colten on the way. Seb takes the place Tagon as left, crouching low and taking out a few stones from his pack as quietly possible before putting the pack behind a tree.

Quiet murmuring comes from the camp, and I watch as some people of bone toward the dead, male body on the floor, sadness etched on their faces. rom bad using the death of a man to my advantage, but I can't pass up this nead opportunity. I lift my hand and sign for us to start our task, backing aw g stays from where I was hiding to gain a good distance from the protection or back, where at a tree further back and pass out the stones quickly before n as part ways again. As quietly as possible, I sneak around their camp on the move edges of their visibility and hearing, placing the dark, violet stones on

ground. Avoiding broken branches as I go to keep silent, I continue are pped inknowing Josh and Seb are doing the same thing until eventually, we cr s of circle around them. Just like they did with their protection crystals.

t, and I As I round the camp at a safe distance, I keep a watchful eye on ther d see dark-haired male is still standing where I last saw him, and the archer i aiming where we were, so I know we have moved undetected. I spot Jolittle distance ahead of me, placing his stone down gently.

"This is the last one I have. Seb is waiting for Taylor, Hudson and C to come back. It won't be long now." He runs a hand over his hair, care his to dislodge his bun as he leans against the tree closest to him, his eyes family focused on the Elites.

I crouch low and hold the stone just slightly off the ground, ready to se with down when it's time. Taylor has spent a lot longer in this forest than at in us, so he knows how to track bora down quickly. He also knows how to ge of them off, and with Hudson and Colten helping, I think pissed off will be understatement for the bora.

y as wait, muscles tense and ready for the bora to come and for us to get at distance away from what's about to happen.

Closing my eyes, I will myself to not feel guilt for what I'm about to • move I feel but I know it will be of no use. I place my free hand on the ground, wa for the slight tremble that I know will come. It's not long before the ru of the surface tickles my palm, a slight warning, and my eyes flare ope ay ystals. move my head slightly to the right across the camp, anxious for the fire of the bora. The trembling intensifies, and the Elites look down at the s e we confused, while the red-haired man lowers himself to one knee and put he palm to the floor. My heart thrashes in my chest as he shoots to his fee the unsheathing his weapon and looks toward the trees. The others become ound eate a that something is wrong and gather for the incoming attack, the two wo taking up a defensive position in the middle, but it's too late.

n. The Dozens of bora shoot through the darkness, running straight for then is still Black as night, teeth bared and spiked tails high, they are furious. The pish a gathers to arms, weapons at the ready. The protection crystals glow bri as the bora clash into an unseen barrier. They let out a series of yelps a colten whines, falling to the ground, but soon snarling, going back for a secon eful notround. A shimmer of azure appears, surrounding the camp with slight a flowing through it like water. The bora don't let up, attacking the barri teeth, tails and claws, trying to get to them. When the ripples become l

put it place the stone to the ground, and it reacts, giving off a dark violet glorny of the dim light of the others that have been placed on the ground reacting o piss letting me know it's ready.

I shuffle back and hide behind a tree, Josh following me as the glow stones brighten. A line of purple light escapes from the stone I put dow r, we shooting to the next one on its left, and then it continues going round, a safe connecting the stones together before finally reaching my stone again. stones now pulse with a dark, violet light, signifying the ring is now co and working. I ease away from the glowing light, aiming to get to a safe iting distance to not be seen. My steps speed up a little, ready to sprint to the mbling up location we set before we came here to wait out the bora.

I'm just about to start running at a full sprint when I check over my st sign shoulder to see how the barrier is holding up. But my steps falter and n ground widen before I reach out for the closest tree to save myself from falling ts a my own feet.

t, But the tree won't save me from the furious, dark-haired male looking aware directly at me.

olves

n.

camp

ghter

nd

ıd

ripples

er with

arger, I

place the stone to the ground, and it reacts, giving off a dark violet glow. I see the dim light of the others that have been placed on the ground reacting, letting me know it's ready.

I shuffle back and hide behind a tree, Josh following me as the glowing stones brighten. A line of purple light escapes from the stone I put down, shooting to the next one on its left, and then it continues going round, connecting the stones together before finally reaching my stone again. All the stones now pulse with a dark, violet light, signifying the ring is now complete and working. I ease away from the glowing light, aiming to get to a safe distance to not be seen. My steps speed up a little, ready to sprint to the meet up location we set before we came here to wait out the bora.

I'm just about to start running at a full sprint when I check over my shoulder to see how the barrier is holding up. But my steps falter and my eyes widen before I reach out for the closest tree to save myself from falling over my own feet.

But the tree won't save me from the furious, dark-haired male looking directly at me.

TWELVE

RHEA

Murderous eyes hold mine as I'm frozen to this spot. I can't look away entrapped by his stare as all sounds fade away. No bora snarling, no sh from the people in the camp, just...silence as we watch each other. The strange hold he has on me breaks as his eyes track down to the ground, finding the glowing violet ring that surrounds them outside of the prote crystals. Looking behind him quickly at the bora, his eyes slowly come to mine, and my fingers dig into the rough tree bark. Runa paces inside as my knees tremble and sweat dampens my lower back. A high pitch fills my ears as I realize what this means.

He's seen me. No one could see us. They would know we were out I and wonder why. They would start asking questions that we cannot ans We couldn't be seen, and I just failed. I fucking failed. How did he eve know I was here? I was careful, and he was distracted by the bora. I was of it. Yet the dark-haired male is looking directly at me.

He pays no mind to the bora family attacking the protection barrier at them, uncaring that they will eventually bring it down. He's confident in his Elite's skills that they just seem like pests. Even if there was a sl

chance that the bora might kill themselves attacking the barrier or be k by the Elites, the Elites couldn't leave anyway. The trap stones we place won't let anyone leave the ring for a full day, but anyone can enter. No they know it isn't just the bora out here with them, this changes things.

Josh suddenly appears next to me, and my panic escalates further. H in my features, looking over my body for injuries. His light brows drav together when he sees I'm fine, but then he takes my hand from the tre slowly prying my fingers from the bark and bringing it up to his face to inspect. Seeing the blood on my hand, he looks over my bloody fingers sees where the bark broke through the skin from how hard I was diggii the tree. He looks from the tree back to my fingers, then pauses when l finally looks at my face. Following my gaze, he eventually sees what I staring at, and he sucks in a shocked breath as his grip on my hand tigh Josh holds my hand as the male watches us, his stare moving to whe skin touches. His lips start to move, and the guy with brown hair, the o who was on watch while the camp slept, walks over to him before look our direction in shock. They speak, their faces tense until the other mal face becomes confused. His eyes widen a little as the black-haired mal

here

swer.

he's glaring at us.

Now it's my turn to grip Josh's hand tightly. We watch them watch as sure apprehension washing over me. What the fuck should we do now? We run back to the location we agreed to meet up with the others. If the El somehow manage to send a message back to the Highers, they will known enough what direction to aim themselves in to follow us. They can't survive no

have to stay here and make sure the bora finish them off. The guys wil

continues talking to him. The tall male points to the violet glow the tra

stones are giving off, and the brown-haired guy's face turns hard, and

around ight

outs

ection

of me ،

sound

e back

'n

illed and find us sooner or later, hopefully out of sight, and we can make a red plan.

w that The bora start to renew their efforts, and the men give me one last lc before they turn their backs on us. Their protection barrier forms more e takes ripples, letting everyone know that it will come down any second now. my body to face them fully, no point in hiding now that we've been se-Josh stands at my side, still holding my hand, and we share a look befc e, take stock of the bora. Some are dead on the floor, their essence floating them high up into the curved branches that cover our head. Others are s and ng into twitching where they stand, still whimpering from the pain the barrier them every time they hit it. The shrieks of the ones attacking get loude ıe growls more aggressive in their frustration at being held back from the 'n I look further right and see the largest one walk away from the barriitens. ere our then turn back toward it. Its large, narrow face dips low as its spiked ta moves straight and far back while its eyes remain intent on the barrier. ne king in out a growling howl, and the other bora joining in as the sound pierces air. This is the head of the family. The large bora charges forward and le's others follow suit, aiming for the barrier as one. They hit it hard and fa e ripples expand larger than before, becoming more widespread as the bo p attack. The large, head bora brings his spiked tail high and whips it thr then the air to crash into the barrier one more time. The barrier stills.

us, Everyone stills.

can't And then it breaks.

The bora charge forward to attack, their excited snarls sounding around but the Elites are ready. An arrow flies through the air and lands in the bw. We middle of a bora's chest, killing it instantly as it pierces its heart. The I come with red, plaited hair styled down the center of his head swings his axe

high before coming back down on another bora, a pain filled howl followher action. Two bora charge at the wolves in the center of the camp as bash through other Elites, and all I see is teeth tearing into flesh, claws scraping across bellies and bloodied fur on the ground. I watch on, not anticipation, but in dread. I planned for the bora to be here knowing the would be death, and their deaths are on me.

ore we This is for the best, I tell myself. There is no other way.

Twin blades flash in a twirl of violence as another dark-haired male through the bora, aiming for their head near their temples and moving causes ease, quickly charging from one to the next. The head bora is tearing a r, their another man on the floor, his arm dangling from its mouth. The bora dir prey. and goes back for more. I swallow hard and block it out, looking for the er, and dark-haired male.

If lets three creatures are dead on the floor in no time. I watch as he turns, slict the the blade through the air into the mouth of another and then his free hat the comes down to the back of its neck to hold it still. His blade hand tips st, the making the end of his weapon pop out of the bora's head through the rora its mouth. My lip's part at the strength and practiced ease he has at kill ough them, at how quick and precise he is with his movements.

A wolf's cry shouts out in the air, and I slide my eyes toward the sor a bora tears out the wolf's throat, blood spraying across the ground as move in on it.

und us, This is utter carnage. A slaughter.

I look down, tearing my gaze away. Even though I know it had to be Elite to protect my pack, to protect Kade, I'm the cause of these deaths. Sha fills me at the thought.

owing The fighting continues for a while. Josh still holds my hand as I conthey looking at the ground, waiting for it to be over so we can confirm that Elites are dead, and go home to tell the pack that we are safe again.

in Eventually the sounds of growls, cries and shrieks stop, and I finally myself to look up at the mess left behind. I suck in a breath as I see both man, wolf and bora alike, littering the ground. It shimmers with red from massacre in the glow of the trap stones. My eyes scan over them, takin slashes the mangled shapes and disfigured features, forcing myself to see what with done, and also face the realization of what I failed to do. I know what I find before I lift my eyes off the ground. I can feel their stares aimed o rops it burning holes into my face. I steel myself, spine straight, my head held let all, and face carefully blank as I look at the Elites left alive. There are mor I expected. I take in their tense stances, hard eyes and furious expressions that examine them.

cing These are the Elites. This is the reputation they hold. Fearless. Bruta nd Merciless. Covered in blood and flesh from the creatures they slayed, t down, truly look formidable.

oof of The tall, dark-haired male looks over my shoulder, his nostrils flarin before his hard eyes come back to mine, and I suppress showing any end on my face. I know what he sees. I heard them coming in the direction and as came from, it would be pointless to try and hide. I feel Taylor, Sebastia more Hudson and Colten at my back, a silent strength as Runa nudges my sk to greet them. They would have assessed the situation and decided thei option was to stand with me and Josh. The Elites are trapped so there i edone, need to hide.

"Well, how do you think we should play this?" I ask the guys quietly "They saw me and now they have seen us all. They can't have the

tinue opportunity to find Eridian or tell the Highers they have seen us here. It have a day before the stones lose their power."

"We could always get more bora, or another creature?" Josh suggest will releasing my hand to shove them in his pockets. "Gresin maybe?"

dies, I stretch my fingers out, feeling the blood flow coming back into my om the "I don't think that will work. We already used the element of surprise. g in won't be caught off guard again. You saw how quickly they just destrot I have entire family of bora. It won't work unless we get a lot of them, and the limit will the closest family near here and gresins are too dangerous."

ur way, "We can wear them down. Go inside the ring and tire them out?" Tall high voices. "I could find some more creatures and bring them back here late than when they are exhausted."

ons as I My hand grips the strap around my waist where my blade is kept. "I our only option at the moment—"

I cut myself off as the dark-haired male suddenly moves forward, stathey the violet ring that circles them past the now useless protection crystals toes of his boots stop just before he touches the ring, looking down at i barrier blocks any further steps forward, and his brows draw together a motion speaks to the other Elites. We're still too far away to hear them, but the on his face give away the tension as he talks to them. More Elites walk an, to the larger male, every so often glancing our way while others, including as if female, tend to injuries.

"Let's go," I murmur, bracing myself as I walk forward toward then s no stop talking at our approach, watching our every move and looking over weapons. We stop fifteen paces away. I grip the hilt of my blade, ready y. attack them inside the stones we placed when a dark-blond male speak "Who the fuck are you?" He aims the question at Josh, folding his a

We over his muscular chest. Josh stays silent. "Did you set the bora on our and put down these stones?" He nods at the dark violet glow surroundits, them.

The dark-haired female, who must have finished treating injuries, co hand. up from behind them with a snarl on her face, looking at us as if we're They disease. I pay her no attention and look at the silent, tall male who is stoyed an watching me, silently observing. I wonder if he's the leader of this tear at was Every member seems to look to him for direction.

The red-haired male speaks next in a low voice, capturing my attent tylor "Did you enjoy getting our people killed? Have some fun watching the slaughtered?" With his axe still in hand, he twirls it, most likely wanting throw it at us. I hold back a scoff at his words. Of course, I didn't enjoy t seemsnever wanted any of this, but here we are. Shitshow central. I have no they have done worse things. Who are they to judge when they go arouaring atkilling things all over Vrohkaria?

We keep at a distance, not saying a word as they get increasingly ag t. The with our silence. There is no point prolonging this, and we didn't come to have a chat. I take a light-colored stone from the small pouch I have attached to the strap at my hips, rubbing my thumb over the rune engratore into it to activate it. Sensing movement behind me, I know the guys are ling a getting ready to attack on my command. We have no choice.

The Elites watch us with murder in their eyes, but there is nothing that in they do to stop what's about to happen. They're trapped inside the stones we errour way out, only able to defend until the trap stones deplete. But by that to we will have worn them down and taken them out. If we are careful, we sup. not up to their standards.

rms Raising my hand I bring my arm back high over my head, ready to t

camp down at their feet through the barrier. As soon as the stone lands it will activate, slowing the movements of whatever is within a certain radius I shift my right foot further back to get more force into my throw. I' about to let the stone loose when the dark-haired male crouches and place his hand onto the violet barrier. Pausing, I watch as it shimmers, blinki violet and translucent and then to my utter horror, it breaks entirely. The stones explode one by one into tiny pieces around them until the glow held disappears.

ion. I stumble back in shock, and the guys move with me. That's impossem get No one can break through trap stones. They take years to make with the highest magic, powerful enough to hold most creatures. Edward had give jit. I me them from his collection that he had collected over the years. Now doubt of them are gone, just like that, and they didn't even work when we need them to.

The guys tense behind me, not expecting what just happened as we selected shuffle back, keeping our eyes on the Elites in front of us. We're closer outnumbered, the trap stones broke, and they are looking at us like they to rip us apart. We can't fight them and win. We can't take them all on survive. The black-haired male comes directly for me, his gaze never lemine and ignoring the males around me. I do the only thing I can think Throwing the stone at their feet, I grab Josh's hand, turn, and then proved the stone and run.

ith no The plan has changed once again, and I'm not sure how we will survime,

e are

down at their feet through the barrier. As soon as the stone lands it will activate, slowing the movements of whatever is within a certain radius.

I shift my right foot further back to get more force into my throw. I'm about to let the stone loose when the dark-haired male crouches and places his hand onto the violet barrier. Pausing, I watch as it shimmers, blinking violet and translucent and then to my utter horror, it breaks entirely. The trap stones explode one by one into tiny pieces around them until the glow they held disappears.

I stumble back in shock, and the guys move with me. That's impossible. No one can break through trap stones. They take years to make with the highest magic, powerful enough to hold most creatures. Edward had given me them from his collection that he had collected over the years. Now eight of them are gone, just like that, and they didn't even work when we needed them to.

The guys tense behind me, not expecting what just happened as we slowly shuffle back, keeping our eyes on the Elites in front of us. We're outnumbered, the trap stones broke, and they are looking at us like they want to rip us apart. We can't fight them and win. We can't take them all on and survive. The black-haired male comes directly for me, his gaze never leaving mine and ignoring the males around me. I do the only thing I can think of.

Throwing the stone at their feet, I grab Josh's hand, turn, and then push the other guys to move and run.

The plan has changed once again, and I'm not sure how we will survive it.

THIRTEEN

RHEA

We sprint, our wolves giving us the extra boost we need to be able to r fast as possible. Dodging between the dead trees and hitting the harder earth with heavy steps, we power forward. I can hear them pursuing us feels like their breath is against the back of my neck, itching for its pot flesh. We have to leave. We have to get away, regroup and come back another plan.

We just need to lose them first.

Breathing heavily, I squeeze between a narrow gap in the trees, hear whizz of air before an arrow lands into the bark where I just passed. Sh hadn't moved at that moment, it would have pierced my shoulder. I loc my right at Hudson and Colten, who are keeping a steady pace with me then to my left at Josh, Sebastian and Taylor. We're running like mice together. There are more of them, all aiming in the same direction, and will catch us eventually.

"We need to split up," I pant. "There are six of us and at least eighte them, we don't stand a chance like this." They could probably take two more of us at the same time. Taylor may be able to keep on par with or them, but it's not looking good for the rest of us. We've fought creatur warriors like this. I don't think our sparing is up to their standards.

Taylor ducks under a branch as we plow forward. "I hate to admit it agree. Splitting up is the best option. The port stone is with our packs v stashed back in their direction. One of us could try to go back and get i

"It's too risky for that," Hudson breathes, going around a tree and co back next to me. "They would notice straight away if one of us goes in different direction."

The howls of wolves echoes through the air. "Shit," I hiss, jumping exposed root. "Let's just split up. We'll meet up at the second location nove as the end of The Deadlands," I whisper, not wanting to risk the Elites ıed , and it overhearing about our meet up location.

They nod in agreement and our pace picks up. Colten's pants snag o ind of large tree root sticking out of the ground, nearly making him stumble t Hudson grabs him and hauls him along. I notice him glancing down qu at the blood now staining Colten's pants, before dragging him in front, ing the pushing him in another direction to the right. Looking back over his sh Hudson takes off in a different direction, narrowly avoiding another ar nit. If I that whizzes past us.

"Go," I urge Josh, his reluctance to leave me evident in his eyes and making me feel on edge. I nod, letting him know it's okay, and he sque my hand briefly before going ahead. Sebastian gives me a concerned le he leaves with Taylor, who gives me a small nod of his head.

I blow out a breath and take a quick glance over my shoulder. I spot ones who turned wolf, and I nudge Runa for some added strength. She it to me without a second thought, knowing we really fucking need it a howls of the Elite wolves shake my bones. My legs move faster, and n

with

ok to e, and all

they

en of o if not ne of

es, not move at my sides as I travel through the trees, listening for anything the be in front of me while trying to hear the Elites from behind. There are the footsteps behind me now, meaning they have also split up to follow the others. It might have been better for my guys to also go wolf, but it's hit." fit through the narrow gaps between the trees in wolf form.

I just hope they can get away. We know this forest better than the El a We have been its neighbor for years now. I know the Elites come here of their rite of passage, and we avoid The Deadlands when it happens of over anyear, but they don't come in as deep as we do. We have been to many near different locations within The Deadlands to bring people back with us Eridian, so we have a slight advantage.

I keep a steady pace, winding between trees and easing into the dark on a can still hear the rushed footsteps behind me, but I'm gaining ground susing small gaps to my advantage. No more arrows come my way, thankfully. They probably can't take a clear shot at me. So, with that the in mind, I press on, determined to lose them and meet up with the othe oulder,

row

I've been running for what feels like hours. My legs tremble, my breat come out short and quick, and I know exhaustion is setting in. The oth ook as on my mind. Did they get to the location? Are they safe? Did they get caught? My thoughts whirl around inside my head, going back and for the between worry and determination to get to them, but my body is slowing my muscles are aching. Runa stopped lending me some of her strength s the

ıy arms

at may while ago, her reserves also running low, and I feel every sore part of I fewer body.

I leap over a rock, landing in boggy water, and I instantly pause to li ard to hear no footsteps or wolves snarling behind me. In fact, I hear nothing wade through the sludge like water, keeping my senses alert. It's disgulites. but it will cover my scent. The area of water is long, almost like a river as part with no flow. When something slithers across my lower leg, I move fa once a not wanting to know what the fuck it was that touched me. Water splas at me with my hurried movements, causing more noise than I should a to The further I go into the water, the deeper it gets, coming up to my v now. Goosebumps travel across my body as the cold seeps into my bor ness. I keep my arms above the surface, blade in hand as I continue on. I stop lowly, now and then to listen, making sure I'm still alone, not wanting to be c by surprise. It's eerie, not a sound can be heard apart from the splashes nought water makes as I wade through it.

I heave myself up when I reach the end, gripping a large rock for pu I lean on it and catch my breath, teeth chattering, then look down at my with a grimace. They're covered in algae-like strings that are bleeding fluid. I shake my feet one at a time, trying to get the damn things off or and failing miserably. Giving up, I inhale quickly before straightening ers are walk on. I shouldn't be too far from our backup location now, and the thought gives me a little nudge to speed up my steps. The squelch on n boots is the only sound I hear as they hit the ground, the area having m ng, and more space to move with the trees growing more sparingly here. My back a little hangs loosely in my hand at my side as my vision wavers a little, trees to double, and I shake my head to try and clear it. I need to rest, despending of the control of the co

ny through the link, and get nothing in return. Again. I pause and check the feeling it's still open, so why isn't he responding to me?

at all. Ia large, dead tree with a hollowed space underneath, like its own little sting, cave. I immediately know where I am. This is the last landmark before r, but reach the location, it shouldn't be long now. I breathe a sigh of relief, r ster, shoulders slumping with the thought of being able to rest, even just for shes up while. I round the large tree, eager to get to the safe place when a voice llow. me in my tracks. It's deep, clear, and speaks from behind me.

"Found you, little wolf." My eyes go wide, the blade in my hand sha *w*aist whirl around and see the tall male standing about ten steps away from ies. I every Runa raises her head at the sound of the voice, rising on exhausted legs I blink rapidly as my shoulders tighten, staring at the Elite with my l aught now in my throat. His head tilts just slightly as he looks at me, his dark ; the resting on his eyebrows. His lime-green eyes bore into my ice blue one rchase. furious intent. When he takes a step forward, I take one back. Somethi y boots haven't done in a long time. I lift my hand with the blade, holding it tis black and pointing it in his direction. He keeps stalking forward, and I keep l up. He's taller than me, broader, and I know he can easily overpower r f me especially in my exhausted state. My eyes roam over his form, to his b and hands that twitch at his side as he pays no attention to the weapon in m hand. His gaze never strays from mine when I look back up at him, and ny ıuch intensity makes me swallow roughly. How am I going to get out of this A few steps away, he darts forward suddenly, and I drop to the grou lade begin crouch on instinct, slashing my blade through the air and aiming for hi rately. He shifts to avoid the strike, and I roll to the side and stand as quick as

Knees bent slightly, right foot back, I'm ready for him to come at me a

tracks the strands, watching until it relaxes back onto my skin. Then he I pass assesses me, sliding his hard eyes to the blade in my hand and lifting a hidden eyebrow at me. It's like he didn't expect the move I just made, but also I amusing. I glower.

He comes at me once more, strong, bare hands attempting to grab at a little while I slice at him and he dodges my every move. Sweat gathers on me stops forehead, and my limbs weaken and shake the longer we go on. We go and forth, but I know he's holding back, playing with me, taunting meaky as I what he's capable of when he was cutting up the bora, this is child's pl me. him, and the thought pisses me off. I let out a growl in anger, renewing efforts to either kill him, or survive long enough to escape him.

He pauses for just a second at my growl, and I manage to cut him or neart side of his bare forearm, blood instantly coming to the surface. I back (t hair es with he tries to counter, aiming a kick at my midsection that I avoid before ng I suddenly stills. He looks down at the wound I created on his arm with furrowed brows, as if he either didn't realize I cut him, or he can't beli ghtly packingdid. When he's finished examining the split flesh, he glares up at me sl and lets out a snarl that rattles my bones. Even Runa backs up within n ne, the sound, and even more so when he takes out his wicked, curved, bla are ly own blade from the sheath at his waist. Twisting it around his hand with eas I their once again starts to stalk toward me.

s? I think playtime is over, and I know I won't survive it.

nd in a I can't fight him and win this. I fight creatures, not people with brain s thigh.muscles. Never mind a Gods damn Elite! I feel my chest start to cave i I can. throat tightening at the thought that this is it. He's going to kill me, fingain. I Eridian and everyone hiding inside it. He's going to take them all back

and he Highers and take the pups away from their mothers. Then he's going to Kade, and the Highers will force him to go to our old pack.

My vision blurs again, my breaths coming in ragged puffs of air as r finds hands shake. I feel as though I'm watching him in slow motion as my awaits me. He's getting nearer and nearer, but I can't move, I can't get me enough air into my lungs as he brings his blade up with a wicked smile my face. I feel numb, I can't feel my body. Not my legs, not my arms, not back the beating of my own heart. He says something with a sneer on his fact. I saw I can't hear it. I can't hear anything anymore.

My face begins to tingle, and it causes a jolt to move through my bo ay to The touch is cold, but I feel it. I feel something other than terror, other ξ my numbness and panic and the fist wrapping around my heart. A trail of 1 the coldness travels to my temples, remaining there for a second as I watcl male bring his blade up to my throat. I jostle, and the end nicks my ski off as making me hiss as I feel the warmth of my blood against my neck as it he down. Down, down, until it stops at the beginning of my t-shirt, eve I soaking into the material. The male watches as it flows with disinterest lowly, grabbing the collar and hauling me up off my feet. The cold touch mov prods my cheek, hard, and that's when I finally move, bringing my ow ne at up to defend myself, but he suddenly throws me to the side. ıck

se, he My body flies through the air before I hit the ground, a sound of pair leaving me as I roll. Tiny stones and twigs scrape my exposed skin unt eventually crash against a tree. My body thrums in pain as it fully wak as and its numb state, and I gather myself onto my knees, groaning at the mov n, I lift my blurry vision toward the male, wondering if he's coming straig dependent of the few times to register what I see.

of the boggy water I just went through. I didn't even know the water has there. The male looks at the head with distaste before kicking it, sending through the air like he just did to me. I hear a splash as it lands in the value further in the distance. No essence comes out of her dead body at his form on his wasn't worthy enough to dance with the land. No, she will rot with the even instead.

before I rise. My body begins to shake as it finally reaches its limit. The dy. looks over the boggy water one last time before bringing his piercing go than back to mine and prowls toward me. I let out a warning growl to stay be but he doesn't falter. I raise my arm when he's close enough and I let he latch his hand around my throat. He kicks my legs out from under me, both go tumbling to the ground. He straddles my thighs, his full weight flows pressing down on me as his face hovers an inch above mine. I grunt, go my teeth as I let loose a hiss of pain as I glare at the asshole pinning met beforefloor.

My pulse speeds up, and his fingers around my throat twitch in responshable I have at his neck, the one I took from my boot just before he grame. I placed it at his throat as we hit the ground. I press it into his skin il I to end his life, but his free hand curls around my wrist, trapping it in his fromto stop the blade from going any further. I bring my other hand up, digoement. my short nails into his arm, trying to push forward with no success. If the once again stare at each other, and I breathe heavily while he ex blink a my face, my eyes, my nose and cheekbones, before trailing his gaze do my throat in his grasp. He pauses for a moment. His green eyes flare,

alf out probably at the sight of my blood on his palm, before meeting my eyes ag was more. I breathe in the heavy scent of him, cedarwood, damp earth, and ig it power that I want more of. I can't look away from the brightness of his vater or from the way they are so focused, so intently locked on mine. It's lilet, she can't look away either.

below I lift my hips, lightly growling at the effort to dislodge him, but he's boulder. Completely unmovable. His hand tightens on my throat, a was second not to move as his jaw ticks, and his eyes narrow on mine.

e male "You broke the laws of the land, little wolf." His murmur is low and gaze deadly, full predator as I squirm beneath him.

oack, I speak for the first time, croaking out my reply, but still strong. "Th not my name."

and we He squeezes my wrist. "It is now."

t I glare. "And I broke no laws."

ritting His eyes darken. "You sent creatures to murder my Elites. You are *a* e to the guilty as them. Murder is against the law."

"The Deadlands are not under Vrohkaria law." I take small, steady tonse, through the tightening grip on my throat before continuing. "There are laws here, but you are trespassing."

"Trespassing? The Deadlands are unclaimed but still under Vrohkar, ready rule. It does not belong to you," he growls, eyes still hard and the bright is gripg green I have ever seen. The light of the luicium sap makes them glow, ging captivating me in their depths. They remind me of fresh grass peeking

through the snow's surface after a long winter. They're mesmerizing, a amines couldn't deny the asshole had been graced with a beautiful image, in a own to kind of way.

He's pure alpha.

His dark, messy hair hangs loosely, the front locks ending just above eyes. A thin, white scar runs across the middle of his nose, slightly lon seye, the right side than the left. A steel sharp jawline with a little scruff on i ke he brings my attention to his lips, which are currently set into a hard line. this to all his hard muscles and power in a body that moves like he wei like a nothing... He is dangerous in a wholly different way than just his skill rning Elite.

"How do you know this land doesn't belong to me and is not claime question as he twists my wrist and slams it into the ground next to my forcing a whimper from me as I clutch the blade tighter, refusing to let "You are nothing, little wolf, that's why The Deadlands don't belon lat's you," he hisses at me, watching me closely. "Your dominance is as lov omega's. You might move like some amateur warrior, but the fact that as fragile as a newborn pup still remains. It will be easy to break you for murdering my Elites. It will be slow. I'll take my time until you're a m lS tears, blood and piss, begging to be put out of your pathetic, little life," reaths says vehemently, a shine to his eyes at the thought. I force my face to s blank, to ignore the words he just said and the vision he just put inside no head. "Your crimes will be paid for in your blood after I've taken you Highers, but before that, you're going to tell me what the fuck you are ia's in The Deadlands, and you are going to—" itest

He's thrown off of me, a blur of dark, gray fur colliding with him from side. I blink rapidly before turning my head to follow him, choking on and I first full breath of air now that his hand around my throat is gone. A wruggedgrowls menacingly, and my head snaps up, my heart thrashing wildly me. I stare at the wolf, shaking my head to clear it, because what I see be possible.

e his Blood flows down from the side of its neck, landing on the darkened ger on and a shocked breath escapes me. My widening eyes move to where the asshole male stands, a cruel smirk on his face as he looks at the wolf we have deadly intent. I watch on, my body shaking as he holds up his black blac

s as an Blood that came from the wolf.

Blood that came from Kade.

d?" I

head,

go.

g to

v as an

you're

or

less of

' he

30

my

to the

doing

om the

my

olf

within

cannot

Blood flows down from the side of its neck, landing on the darkened earth and a shocked breath escapes me. My widening eyes move to where the asshole male stands, a cruel smirk on his face as he looks at the wolf with deadly intent. I watch on, my body shaking as he holds up his black blade, watching as the blood drips down the metal and over the hilt.

Blood that came from the wolf.

Blood that came from Kade.

FOURTEEN

RHEA

Blade in hand, I rise to my feet as fast as I can, ignoring the pain flood body, ignoring everything as I rush forward on shaky legs and stand be Kade and the male. Tremors run through me as I open my arms to bloc asshole from going for Kade again, the small weapon in my hand hope But he will not get to him. I breathe heavily as the dark-haired male we me closely, looking at me and then to the wolf.

"Kade! What the fuck are you doing here?" I shout down the link. 'now and go home quickly. Please," I plead, but it doesn't reach him. T nothing but silence. He has completely shut down the link.

I keep my eyes on the male, who watches on in confusion, before I prover my shoulder at Kade. I grunt and grip the blade tighter, swallowing down the nausea that rises. His normally blue eyes are darker, bleeding silver from the edges of his irises, and his pupils are larger. Kade isn't charge right now, Axis is.

Fuck!

No, no, no. "*Josh, I need your help*," I rush out down his link, but seget no reply. I bite my lip to stop the sound of panic that wants to leave

and look into Axis' eyes, trying to find any hint of Kade in there. But t nothing. Kade isn't in there. Gods, what am I supposed to do?

The sound of boots moving on the ground has my head snapping bathe male as he steps closer, and I swear my heart stops. "No!" I cry. "I loathe the way my voice cracks as I speak, and Runa begins to move restlessly within me, a whimper leaving her at my distress.

ing my in

atches

The male pauses, titling his head as his eyes find their way to the wi beating pulse in my neck. They slide to Kade and then back to me, a sr leaving him. He turns his blade so he's holding it with the metal running along the outside of his forearm and comes closer. I lift my hand, throw my small blade toward him as I back up closer to Kade. He easily defles hitting it away with his own weapon, and I brace for him to come at more blade or hands, I ready myself for more pain, determined not to I near the wolf at my back.

A savage growl comes from behind me. Just as I turn toward the wo 'Leave 'Leave 'I scream, watching as they crash into each other. I scramble to get back feet, but my legs refuse to cooperate. "Stop!"

peek ng g to in

till I

e me

The male hits Kade in the side of the head with his fist, knocking his the left momentarily, but Kade goes for him again, rabid sounds leavin as I watch on in terror. I dig my fingers into the dry earth beneath my I as the male keeps knocking the wolf back every time he gets close. He toying with him, like he did me, and Kade just keeps going back for m Every blow he receives adds another injury to his body. He won't stop won't let up. He's acting like a crazed beast whose only desire is to teamale into pieces. Blood pours from different places on his body where

here's been hit and cut as the ground turns wet beneath them. Kade's dark, gr is even darker from all the blood.

Ck to Kade tries to tear into the males' arm after he's been flung back again Don't." the male slices across his shoulder, making him yelp in pain. I will my to move and rush forward toward him, managing to grab the slick fur common back to try and get him to stop, but he just pushes his body hard into move ldly forcing me to let go. I'm knocked into a tree, and I hiss as the rough back again to make a slices into my arm and the side of my face. I bring my hand up and fee seeping from the cuts.

"Kade," I whimper, pain radiating through my chest as he continues ects it, soul screaming at the savage growls tearing out of him. "Please... plea e. stop," I beg. Tears sting the back of my eyes at the sight of him so out et him control. My vision blurs as I push off the tree, my movements sluggish slow as I stagger toward him. It feels like the forest is closing in around the dark, twisted branches wrapping around my heart and squeezing ur "No!" they pierce it, making me bleed out. "Carzan, enough," I plead, my breat omy erratic as my knees give out. I land hard on the unforgiving ground, an knees burn with pain. "Please!" I scream at him, the raw sound tearing my throat. He has to stop, he's losing too much blood. He's going to go

nands He. Has. To. Stop.

g him himself killed.

's The male snaps his head toward the sound of my scream, looking at ore. my knees, and then to the tears in my eyes. He grunts and looks away at the kade attacks him again, but this time, he grabs Kade by the scruff of the rand pins him to the floor on his stomach, his knees straddling the wolf he's either side. He did it so effortlessly, handling the five-foot wolf with eattacks. The male demands of Kade, while the wolf's cold stare is air

ay fur me. Kade bites at air around him, saliva dripping from his mouth and c ground. The male puts his free hand on the back of his head and forces in, but down. "Shift, now," he orders in a deep growl, the dominance radiating body him far superior to Kade's young wolf.

Unable to resist the order, Kade's pupils start to shrink, the bleeding on his around his irises pull back, and his dark blue eyes start to lighten to his ıe, normal shade. His body convulses. Bones start to move, fur starts recei ırk I blood into skin, and his teeth shorten. It doesn't take long for a male to appear where the wolf once was beneath the dark-haired male. Panting for bre Kade's fingers dig into the ground, his face twisted in pain from his in , my and being commanded to change against his will. I sit up on my knees se oftake in Kade's bloody and bruised body as the fight drains from him, a slumps into the ground. ı and

d me, "Now, why don't we start with you answering some questions," the ntil aims my way. "Who the fuck are you, and what are you doing in The eathing Deadlands?"

I stay silent, biting on the inside of my lower lip as I wonder how to from answer him, how to get Kade away from him. He stares at me, waiting to respond. When I take too long, he grabs a fistful of Kade's hair and his head back, exposing his neck. I jolt when his blade comes up and p against his throat, and my fingers curl, digging into my palms. I swallc me on hard. The male presses the blade into his skin a little more, and Kade's fly to mine.

ne neck I find exhaustion, defiance and an apology in his blue orbs, telling noneverything that he can't say. I bring my shaky hands to rest on the top ase. thighs, clenching them into the soggy material of my pants as I try to rened at him through the link, but it's still not open.

onto the "Hmmm, do you need some more motivation?" A cruel smirk slides it male's face, and in the next moment, Elites are coming out from withing from trees, dragging my pack members with them.

My eyes widen slightly before I force my face to go carefully blank silver sight. I don't look at them, choosing to keep my focus on the male who obviously in charge. I see another dark-haired male dragging Josh forw ding out the corner of my eye, forcing him to his knees to the right of me. I in his direction and notice his hands are tied behind his back with rope eath, glows, cutting into his skin. I grind my teeth.

iuries "It's okay," Josh tries to reassure me, his link finally open. "If we cannot an opening, get Kade and run toward—" The link suddenly shuts down nd he my eyes look to Josh as his face twists in pain. What's going on?

"It's rude to have a private conversation. If you have anything to say male can answer my questions," the asshole murmurs, and my eyes go back him. How did he know we were talking? He wrenches Kade's head bafurther, causing a cry of pain to slip from his lips. My insides revolt at sound, and I can't contain the warning growl that slips free. Runa brist for me what the male is doing to her pup, and the leader looks from Kade to n snaps confirming he has the advantage here. "Well?" he demands.

in. We can't win here. There are too few of us, those that are here are to eyes and I'm completely exhausted. I also can't risk Kade. Nothing is worth risking Kade. Reluctantly I grit out, "My name is Rhea. We live in The Deadlands."

of my "Rhea," he tests my name with distaste, and I suppress a shiver. "We each you mean you live in The Deadlands? Nothing can live here, it's uninhabitable. It has been for all of time. Don't fucking lie to me."

on the "I'm not," I rush out, my gaze going to Kade. His form slumping litten the causing the blade to slice his skin. I close my eyes briefly. "There is an where we live that is full of life," I answer quickly as I panic seeing the at the that seeps from Kade's throat. I tell him anything to let him go.

"You're full of shit, nothing like that is in here," he growls. Moving vard blade from Kade's neck, he aims it to the back of his shoulder, the tip glance pressing down through his t-shirt and against his skin. "Did someone s that you to try and kill us? You must be fucking stupid to try."

"No, no one sent us to kill you," I answer. It's the truth. We weren't an find kill them, that was our decision. "I'm not lying. The Deadlands are out, and home." He pauses, looking at me to continue. Fuck "I... if I come with the Highers, will you let them go? I was the one who set the trap stone 7, you caused the bora to come for you." I ignore the Elites' hard stares on my to at my confession. "I knew what they would do when they found you. So ck of your men died, and that's on me and me alone."

the He lets out a mocking laugh. "You think you can bargain with me? I les at current position? Oh, little wolf. You are all going to pay for the deather, trainees."

My brows furrow. "Your trainees?"

r back "I'm the Alpha of the Elites," he says casually, and my face pales. E ied up, just the leader of this team... he's the fucking Alpha. I start to tremble.

- n men that were killed were my trainees. How do you feel about cutting
- lives that should have long lived?" he sneers, and the men around him in response.

hat do I look down, unable to look at the loathing in his eyes. I did what I had, what I felt like I had to do to protect my pack. We were backed into corner. I acted with what I thought was the only option. They wouldn't

tle, stopped looking for Sarah as they are relentless at their tasks. They have are a gotten this deep into the forest and survived. It was only a matter of time blood before they stood atop the cliffs looking down at Eridian. Now, all that had done didn't matter in the slightest. I killed people, young people, for the nothing. Because now we are in the grasp of the Alpha of the Elites, the Highers most fierce weapon, and I have no idea the outcome. I failed. It end them all.

Forgive me Zahariss.

told to "Nothing to say?" he asks, his voice condescending. I shake my hea looking down, trying to not let the guilt drown me, trying not to let the you tosituation suffocate me. Shove it down Rhea. "Pathetic," he spits, and I s, and I help my slight flinch at his words.

y face "Pathetic, can't even get your wolf to come out. How you were born some fucking miracle! You should have been strangled as soon as you came your whore of a mother's cunt! Aww... are you crying? Poor pathetic In your girl. Do you want mommy? Well, mom—"

s of my "Rhea!" Josh shouts, and I blink, looking up toward him. His eyes a as he struggles against the male holding him, trying to stand to get to n the others do the same. I shake my head and press my knuckles into my le's not shaking off the memory.

"The It has been a long time since I was sucked into a memory like that.

I clear my throat and drop my hands back to my thighs. "I'm okay,"

growl whisper to Josh. I then look to the Alpha and say, "I accept sole respor

for what I did to your Elites. I accept your decision, but leave the rest of

ad to it."

o a "Why are you accepting sole responsibility when all of you were thave involved?" he questions me, brow raised.

"I'm the Alpha of this pack," I state, as I nod to my members. My sı straightens, and my chin lifts at the declaration. I'm proud to be called of Eridian. It's an honor.

or "A female Alpha with no mate?" His face shows his surprise for a specond at my nod before he controls his reaction. There are not many for a failed that run packs on their own anymore. There is usually an Alpha male a female that run a pack together. "So, this isn't your mate?" He nods his toward Josh, and the question surprises me.

d, still "No," I shake my head. "I have no mate."

"And this is your pack?" I nod again. "Is this *all* your pack?" I hesit can't and he picks up on it. He looks thoughtful for a second, looking toward dark, blond-haired male who has Colten on his knees in front of him. I a is a blond male looks at the rest of the Elites, especially their injured who a out of little further back. I follow his line of sight and see the woman from ea little cleaning some of the injured men's wounds.

"Maize," the blond calls, and the woman looks toward him. "How n re wild injured, and how badly?"

ne as "Six injured, three badly. They may not make the night even with shy eyes, I suspect one has a broken rib in his lung. He needs a healer, Leo, if he a chance at living," she replies coldly, looking directly at me.

The Alpha's face hardens again, and I look at Kade and all the blood I losing. His eyes are drooping as he takes slow, raspy breaths and pure isibilitysets in. It's the only reason for what I say next. "I can take your injured but of healer," I force out in a rush, and my guys look at me in shocked surprious They then look in the direction of Kade. Worry soon shines in their eye Josh struggles again, eyes on Kade as he tries to get to him, but the oth dark-haired male holds him steady. I have no choice but to do what I'n

oine to do. Kade needs help, and there is only one person who can help him Alpha now. "I can take you to a healer," I say louder when no one speaks,

demanding their attention. I feel all eyes on me as I continue. "I will ta plit if you vow no more harm comes to him." I point at Kade. "Or my pack females anyone at our home," I add.

Everyone is silent as my words set in. I failed the mission, and now shead inviting the Elites to our home. The home I was trying to keep them so far away from that I was willing to kill for it. Have killed for it. But I n get Kade help. He won't be able to shift for hours yet. It would put too ate, strain on his body, and if the Elite Alpha forces him to shift back now weakened state, he might not make it. And that is not an option. I put r he pack before everything... everything but Kade. I will figure something he agrees to go to Eridian. But Kade is my priority now.

rlier Finally, the Alpha speaks to me. "I could just torture the pup until you me where your home is."

"You could," I whisper, my voice steady despite the thought of him that making me want to throw up. "But he is innocent. He had nothing lifting. with this. He was just trying to protect me. He wasn't even supposed to stands here."

"My trainees that died were innocent," he spits, nostrils flaring as he is he's at me.

"I know," I agree with a nod. "You can do whatever you see fit with I to a and I will take you to the healer." He stares at me, and I stare back, lett ise. him see the truth of my words. If he has to take me back to the Highers es. so be it. But Eridian and the lives there will stay secret. If I can't do it, er Solvier will make sure there is a way to do it. I just need time.

n about He searches my face for a few moments before looking toward his in

"I have a port stone in my pack I left behind." I nod in the direction

ke you came from. "If we don't collect it and go on foot, it will take days, dep

c. Or how fast we move."

"We have a port stone. We will use that," he decides. "Damian, gral stone and gather everyone together," he orders the brown-haired male was on watch in their camp. "Leo, Zaide, round up the assholes that at us." The blond male in front of Colten grabs him by the arms and haul much up roughly, causing Hudson to growl where he's on his knees next to lin his. The other dark-haired male, Zaide, does the same to Josh while Sebast Taylor grumble as they are pulled to their feet. I snarl at their rough ha of my pack, unable to help myself while they just smirk at me. Unconc Just wait assholes.

blade. He bends and picks up a barely conscious Kade and throws him doing his shoulder. Not seeming to care about the blood dripping on his cloth to do moves over to the side and picks my knife off the ground. Walking over the blood dripping on his cloth moves over to the side and picks my knife off the ground. Walking over the blood dripping on his cloth moves over to the side and picks my knife off the ground. Walking over the blood dripping on his cloth moves over to the side and picks my knife off the ground. Walking over the blood dripping on his cloth moves over to the side and picks my knife off the ground. Walking over the blood dripping on his cloth moves over to the side and picks my knife off the ground. Walking over the blood dripping on his cloth moves over to the side and picks my knife off the ground. Walking over the blood dripping on his cloth moves over to the side and picks my knife off the ground. Walking over the blood dripping on his cloth moves over to the side and picks my knife off the ground. Walking over the blood dripping on his cloth moves over to the side and picks my knife off the ground. Walking over the blood dripping on his cloth moves over to the side and picks my knife off the ground. Walking over the blood dripping on his cloth moves over to the side and picks my knife off the ground. Walking over the blood dripping on his cloth moves over the blood dripping over the blood dripping over the blood dripping over the blood drippi

He growls down at me. "If you try anything stupid, I will slit the pupme, throat and make you watch. Is that clear?"

"Yes, it's clear," I grit out, ignoring the pain in my scalp. His chuck s, then dark and low as he puts my knife back in my boot. "To see you play la then "Darius, everyone is ready," calls the blonde male, Leo.

Darius, a name to put to the Alpha asshole.

njured, He pulls me up by my hair, my head still tilted back at an awkward

ıler?" as his face hovers close to mine. "You fucked up, in more ways than y know." He drags me over by my hair to where everyone is huddled tog we ending ready to port. He stops when Damian hands him a stone. He puts his based on the p everyone and looks down at me. "Hold the port stone and set the locati) the He passes me the stone while still holding my hair tightly, but allow head to straighten. Everyone is still touching, and the red, plaited moha that tacked guy stands next to Darius, flicking his eyes to me before placing a hand his shoulder. I close my eyes and feel the tingling in my palm as I visu s him where I want to port in. I would usually port to the base of the cliffs, by im. ian and is of the essence with Kade, so just inside the Eridian Forest will do. T ndling good thing with porting there, is that they still don't know where it is. ' erned. could store the location in another port stone, but they don't know exact where it is from there toward our home, and that's an advantage I won ignore. They also don't know you can't use magic inside Eridian's bar nis they can't communicate with others about the location, giving me an over opportunity to think about how the fuck I'm going to get them to keep ies he er to secret.

ail. Or try and kill them, again.

p at "It's ready," I tell Darius as my eyes open, and I hand the stone back"Then it's time to port," he says, staring down at me. "Let's see whεo's live, little wolf."

le is

ter."

as his face hovers close to mine. "You fucked up, in more ways than you know." He drags me over by my hair to where everyone is huddled together, ready to port. He stops when Damian hands him a stone. He puts his back to everyone and looks down at me. "Hold the port stone and set the location."

He passes me the stone while still holding my hair tightly, but allows my head to straighten. Everyone is still touching, and the red, plaited mohawk guy stands next to Darius, flicking his eyes to me before placing a hand on his shoulder. I close my eyes and feel the tingling in my palm as I visualize where I want to port in. I would usually port to the base of the cliffs, but time is of the essence with Kade, so just inside the Eridian Forest will do. The one good thing with porting there, is that they still don't know where it is. They could store the location in another port stone, but they don't know exactly where it is from there toward our home, and that's an advantage I won't ignore. They also don't know you can't use magic inside Eridian's barrier, so they can't communicate with others about the location, giving me an opportunity to think about how the fuck I'm going to get them to keep it a secret.

Or try and kill them, again.

"It's ready," I tell Darius as my eyes open, and I hand the stone back.

"Then it's time to port," he says, staring down at me. "Let's see where you live, little wolf."

FIFTEEN

RHEA

We arrive inside Eridian Forest, and I blink a few times, adjusting to the bright area and breathing in the comforting, sweet smell of home. The high in the sky, so I know it's around noon, which means most of the prembers are at the gathering eating their lunch. Maybe it's not such a thing. With everyone being in one place they will all see the Elites arrithey won't accidentally stumble upon one and get the shock of their life.

The Elites look around the forest, shock on their faces at seeing the life in the healthy trees, shrubbery and berries growing around the area bird squawks in the distance, and they look up as one, following its pat glides through the air and zooms past the cliffs at their backs.

"What the fuck?" Damian asks, looking toward the top of the cliffs to can see peeking through the trees.

I shrug, looking at Darius, who still has a hold of my hair. His grip t for a second before he releases it. He scans the area before looking bac me, confusion evident in his eyes. "Welcome to our home," I say overl sweet, the sarcasm in my words as loud as a screeching rull in mating substitute the bird they all watched disappear behind the cliffs.

Darius' eyes darken. "Watch your mouth, Rhea, unless you want me shut it for you." I go to open my mouth again, but a small groan from I pulls my attention to him.

I move forward instantly, Darius watching my every move as I lift a to Kade's bloody face, gently moving his blond hair out of his eyes. He at my touch, feeling me and Runa there before I step back and nod my in the direction we need to go. There is no point in hiding my worry fo Kade. He's already seen him as my weakness, so I won't deny myself holding it back.

ie now sun is ack bad ve, so e.

We walk at a brisk pace, heading straight for Eridian and to Anna w heart in my throat. The bleeding has slowed from Kade's body, but he' out of danger yet. My feet slow when we are just a few meters away fr lilk trees that surround Eridian, and apprehension flows through me. A doing the right thing bringing them here? I don't have much choice, bu know my pack won't react well to our visitors.

lush of 1. A th as it that he k at ly

season.

I breathe in the scent of the blossoms on the trees, their colors turnir darker with spring about to end. Letting their sweet scent welcome me I turn and face Darius. "I need you to keep your dominance low when pass through these trees." He opens his mouth to speak, but I cut him c "It's important, and I'll explain later, but we need to get the injured gu looked at as fast as possible. And to do that, you need to keep your aur ightens dominance as low as possible." I clear my throat. "We can use a spare as the healer's is not large enough for this many injured." Darius and tl Elites just stare at me, not saying a word, and I snap at them all. "Do y understand?"

Darius gives me a furious look, but I don't give a shit. Here, I'm the not them, and this is what needs to be done to go forward. We continue stare at each other, my blue eyes to his green, until he reluctantly nods

Kade I feel Darius and the Elites' aura shrink down to a low simmer and reli

me. I let out a quiet sigh as I nod back. Hopefully, this will help when

hand meet my pack.

e sighs We move on, and Darius slides up next to me as I look at him out of head corner of my eye. I watch him take in the lilk trees ahead, their blossor gently falling to the ground, and then to a few cabins he can see throug by them. His face is set with a stern look while his eyes travel everywhere focused and alert. He's suspicious, and I can understand that. This has ith my under their noses since forever, and they never knew. No one did.

We trail through the lilk trees, my hand gliding over the closest one om the pass, and I see Darius shiver as he feels the invisible barrier. His head m I my way, and I shrug, hiding my smirk behind my hand and not botheri t I explain it. I hear some murmurs of his Elites behind us as they walk th but I continue forward, readying myself to head to a larger cabin to the that sits below mine. All is quiet as we enter Eridian, the cabins empty home, circular shape of our settlement all but abandoned until we near the gat we at the center.

I see heads turn our way through the scattered trees that surround it, murmurs of excitement reach me as they see I'm home. Then they see as of Elites, and their alarmed voices hit me. Mothers start grabbing their pu cabin hold them close, others cower and let out cries as some of the more unaffected members move to stand in front of them protectively. I raiso ou hand in greeting and give them a small smile, trying to reassure them v ignoring Darius' muttered 'what the fuck' next to me.

alpha, "Josh, can you go on ahead and let Anna know we have injured that to tending to and get her to the spare cabin?" I ask him. I also need him to

at me. Anna away from the healers cabin and to keep Sarah quiet. She can't be ef fills found. Zaide, the short dark-haired male who is behind him, looks at Γ they for the okay, and I growl at him, my patience running thin. "Do you whelp or not?"

"Untie him and the others," Darius grunts, looking at my pack at the gathering curiously. "They are no threat to us, not here," he tells them the confidence of an asshole that he most certainly is. Zaide nods, unty Josh's hands while the rest follow, releasing my pack members from the binds. Once released, Josh rubs at his wrist and gives Zaide a dirty look before going on ahead to the healer's cabin.

as we "You can put the injured there," I point to where the large, worn cat snaps ahead of us on the left. "I need to talk to my pack, quickly," I say to Dang to and turn to walk toward the gathering. I'm hauled back with a rough grough, my arm, causing my eyes to snap to Darius' while the rest of my pack left warning growls, which he ignores.

"Damian, grab the pup and take him to the cabin with the others. I'll thering follow shortly," he orders, not looking away from me. I watch as he sli Kade off his shoulder and hands him to Damian like a piece of meat, c and my hackles to rise. He ignores my death stare and addresses the other I the "Check the perimeter and around where we came in. We wouldn't war ps to more surprises today, now would we?" he says, giving me a hard look.

"Taylor, Seb, go with them please. I can't have cavemen messing up e a home and scaring unsuspecting bugs," I grunt, ignoring Darius' last wo while I jerk out of his grip and continue walking forward. Hudson and Colter with me while Darius follows at my back.

need I have a babysitter. Fucking fabulous.

As I near my pack, their expressions vary from terror to anger. I give

a small smile, to let them know that all is well, even though it's far from a small smile, to let them know that all is well, even though it's far from a small smile, to let them know that all is well, even though it's far from a small smile, to let them know that all is well, even though it's far from a small smile, to let them know that all is well, even though it's far from a small smile, to let them know that all is well, even though it's far from a small smile, to let them know that all is well, even though it's far from a small smile, to let them know that all is well, even though it's far from a small smile, to let them know that all is well, even though it's far from a small smile, and the smile smile, and

"Are you okay?" she whispers, a tremble in her voice. Pulling back ing me and looking me over, she notices the dried blood on my exposed skeir especially down my neck, and her eyes widen. "Kade went to—"

"I know, and I'm fine. Don't worry,' I tell her. "Come, everyone sit, loudly, getting everyone's attention. Once they're all seated, albeit relution is with the tall Alpha at my back, I walk into the gathering, but stay at the arius, of the benches. Darius positions himself next to me, arms folded with a rip on look on his face that makes me want to smack him. I clear my throat in release "We ran into some trouble. The Elites will be staying with us until thei injured men are healed from a bora attack," I announce. It's not a lie. I did get attacked by the bora. I just left out that I was the cause of it, bu

did get attacked by the bora. I just left out that I was the cause of it, bu suspect they know as I feel Darius tense beside me. "They are no threa ausing pack. This is their Alpha, Darius." I nod toward him. "His Elites will n Elites. cause any problems and will respect boundaries, won't they?"

Darius looks over the faces of my pack who freeze at the mention of they are. Darius' face is carefully blank, but he must sense all is not rigorous here. He's the Alpha of the Elites. He'll be able to pick up on the fear to ords as are giving off. He must see the horror on their faces, hear their quiet crome notice their bowed heads. It has my blood boiling that his presence is come notice them, but I only have myself to blame for it.

He nods once before he speaks. "We will be leaving once our injure e them Elites are healed, and I have spoken with your... Alpha on some busin

m it. needs taking care of," he assures them. He was reluctant to agree with he slipstold them, but he did. He also could have just let loose his dominance t in the has bottled up. They would kneel to the ground and expose their necks ness in heartbeat. I'm curious to know why he didn't just do that considering l

wants to slowly tear my head from my body. Small mercies for now, I from until he decides to drag them from their homes and take their children them.

It wouldn't be the first time the Elites have done just that.

I say I address my pack. "Things will run as normal here. If anyone needs ictantly change their schedule, let me know after I have finished in the spare called edges where the injured are being looked at. Those that can't continue after lead hard with their daily tasks are free to go back to their cabins. I'll come chec istead. you later, okay?" I ask them. They nod hesitantly, mothers still holding children close. I look at Hudson standing close to Colten, nodding my subtly to the pack, and he nods back without hesitation. They will stay them and make sure they're okay as they can be.

I give my pack a nod and turn on my heel, heading toward the cabin desperate to get to Kade with Darius practically up my ass. I slow my until he steps up beside me, and I hold my breath as I pass Anna's cabi who listening for any sounds of Sarah inside. But thankfully, all is quiet. I f stare on me after a few paces, and I look over at him, raising my brow they question.

ies and He looks back over his shoulder at my pack still at the gathering, an loing back to me. "What are they so scared of?" he demands. "What are you to them? Threatening to kill them if they don't fall in line?"

d The fuck?

ess that I halt in my tracks, fury coating my skin. "What am I doing to them"

what I speak slowly, testing the words. He can't be serious. "Are you fucking that he kidding me?" I whisper hiss at him. I get close to him, standing toe to 1 "You fucking idiot. It's you they are scared of. You and every Elite wh in a walked in here." I poke his chest, furious at him for insinuating that I'r ıe guess, hurting them, threatening them. I'm too exhausted for this shit. "We ha never had anyone come here, never mind a group of Gods damn Elites from you fucking dare accuse me of doing something to scare them when yo don't know shit!" I fume at him before stepping back and stomping to the cabin where Kade is. Strong footsteps reach my ears, and I'm spun i to around by my shoulder to face a furious Darius. "Would you stop ıbin manhandling me?" unch

He ignores me, getting low in my face. "You killed some of my Elit k on 3 their trainees. You tried to kill us all. That's who you fucking are, little wolf murderous bitch. So, tell me what the fuck you are doing to them. Nov head I practically vibrate with his words. I am a murderer. I have killed to with my pack alive. Killed to keep Kade alive. Killed to keep myself alive. feel guilty for killing some of my own people? Yes, but not all. Some walk deserved to be sent to the dark one below, to be tormented for all of tir innocents? I feel the crushing weight of it down to my soul. I feel their in, eel his like they are attached to me, haunting me. But I had no choice, and did only thing I thought I could to protect my family. I have to remember t in I must.

d then I look up to the sky and close my eyes, letting the heat of the sun wa doing exhausted body. To ask Zahariss for strength and forgiveness. My eyes still closed as I speak. "I did kill some of your trainees," I agree. "I did felt I had to. Whether you believe me or not is your problem. I can't che?" I what I did, but the reason behind it is the truth." I open my eyes and se

watching me, watching my every reaction to my own words. "I am sor toe. came down to that, but I can't say I'm sorry for doing it." I shake my hand mutter under my breath. "Too much is at risk." I walk more quickled get to Kade, he's my priority right now. Not entertaining the Alpha's questions.

. Don't "What the fuck do you mean too much is at risk?" Shit.

"I will answer your questions after I have seen the injured. Just drop ward now. There are more important things to do than stay out here and arguyou.' I wave my hand as if I can bat all his questions away. He wants answers, and he will get them. Maybe just not the correct ones.

We come up to the cabin, trailing up the worn steps and entering. The plan living and kitchen area has been turned into a makeshift workspace. Anna. Pallets have been put on the floor, furs and clean sheets over the she goes from man to man to assess their injuries. She spies me as I en briefly looking over my shoulder at my babysitter before barking out of the people to hand her things, not letting any of this overwhelm her. Exthough I know that she is internally freaking the fuck out.

ne. But Josh stands near Kade at the far right of the room where he lies deaths unconscious, his naked body half covered with a sheet, and I rush over the landing on my knees beside him. I ignore the looks I'm getting and lift hat. shaky hand to Kade's face, stroking his cheekbone and shaking my headown at him.

"You stupid boy," I whisper, my feelings caught between worry and are He should have been safe. He should have been at home, not in The what I Deadlands. That wasn't part of the plan.

e him covered in blood and dirt, but I can still see the cuts and bruises over h

ry it body. The cut on his neck isn't bleeding anymore, and the gash at his t and shoulder already has some salve over it, the brown substance thick y to against it. The other gashes on his body are bare of the healing salve, le heal on their own.

I suspect we don't have a lot to go around with us not normally havi treat this many at once.

"Anna says he will be fine," Josh starts. "She stopped the bleeding f it for ie with his wounds before it became dangerous, and I gave him some blood fo little boost to replace some of what he lost. He's mostly exhausted and need to rest for a few days. She doesn't want him to go wolf until then ne open him being forced to shift before, it drained the last of his energy." He r hand down his face, his exhaustion showing with the strain around his e for "He's also dehydrated, has deep muscle damage to his shoulder, and m m as cuts and bruises that will hurt for a bit, but are not a problem. She told ter, keep giving him water through the sponge." He nods at the bowl of wa rders next to him on a small table before whispering. "He never should have /en in the fucking Deadlands. What in the Gods was he thinking?"

"I don't know." I grab the bowl, taking the sponge out and squeezin lightly before bringing it to Kade's lips and letting the water flow into mouth slowly. "I'll speak with him when he wakes, let's move him bad my cabin after he's rested for a bit longer. I want him to be in his own "Give me a knife," I hear Darius demand, and my head whips aroun langer. harsh sound. Anna passes him a blade, and he crouches down next to chis Elites, placing the tip at the side of his ribs. "Get something to soak blood." Anna grabs a cloth and holds it below where the knife is, and I and walk over to get a closer look.

The man is pale, breaths coming in wet exhales. I watch as Darius sl

is

emple the blade down the man's skin, blood instantly rushes to the surface an Anna collects it in the cloth she holds below. Darius then takes the kni eft to the middle of his cut and pushes in deeper in a straight line. He does stop until he's almost at the hilt before pulling it back out slowly.

"Swap with me," Anna says as Darius drops the knife and takes ove holding the cloth. Anna crouches down next to the man and puts her harom over the wound, her eyes squeezing shut for a moment before opening She looks at me briefly, asking for permission, and I chew my lip, shut on my knees. I look around the room at the number of Elites in here will and then look at the man's slowing breaths before nodding. If someone tuns a dies, I don't think Darius will listen to anything I say. I'm more likely eyes. knife to the stomach.

I watch Anna close her eyes, her face scrunched in concentration as iore me to everyone watches on in silence, confusion written on all their faces. At few seconds, she pulls back her hand slowly, a rope of blood following ıter out of the wound. I rush and grab a bowl off the side before coming to next to her. Her eyes open, and she guides the blood into the bowl I'm holding, careful not to spill any. I hear the Elites inhale sharp breaths a g sight of Anna using blood magic and internally cringe, not looking at I his even though his gaze is on me. This will be another conversation he wi ck to room." to have, I'm sure. She repeats this process again and again until the ma d at the breaths become clearer, and no more blood is left to remove from his l "All done," Anna pants, sweat beading on her brow as she lifts her r me of off the back of her neck and fans herself. "I'll put the broken rib back i the get up that is piercing his lung. I'll have to remove blood from his lung again doing it and hope I can get it done the first time. He can't shift until his lides broken rib is back in the correct place, otherwise the shift will move th

straight through his lung. If it goes in any further," she trails off, shakii d fe back head. "I don't think I will be able to repair the damage. I'll assess his s in't once the rib is back in place and determine if he's healthy enough to sh afterwards. He has a nasty gash on his leg that will need stitching and l wrist needs to be checked out." She gets up and moves to wash her har r the sink in the kitchen before coming back to me. "He will live if this a and again. smoothly," she tells me and Darius. Then to everyone else in the room ffling says. "Now, will you all leave while I work? I need quiet to concentrat There are too many of you in here to do that, and I have many others to ith us ı else to."

to get a I give Anna a small smile before I look back over to Kade one last ti Josh walks next to me as we leave the cabin, exhaustion hitting me har as my adrenaline fades with Kade out of danger. I lean my head on Jos fter a shoulder as he rubs his chin on my head, sighing through the ache in my here. I'm just closing my eyes when my babysitter speaks from behing the for answers," he growls, and I grunt. I just want to curl up in and sleep for a week.

I want to pretend none of this happened and I don't have Elites craw Darius over my home, breathing down my neck while I try and figure out how ill wantgoing to answer him.

m's Because he can't know it all, but I have to give him something. ungs.

ed hair

in place as I'm

us i ii

at rib

straight through his lung. If it goes in any further," she trails off, shaking her head. "I don't think I will be able to repair the damage. I'll assess his state once the rib is back in place and determine if he's healthy enough to shift afterwards. He has a nasty gash on his leg that will need stitching and his wrist needs to be checked out." She gets up and moves to wash her hands in the sink in the kitchen before coming back to me. "He will live if this all goes smoothly," she tells me and Darius. Then to everyone else in the room she says. "Now, will you all leave while I work? I need quiet to concentrate. There are too many of you in here to do that, and I have many others to tend to."

I give Anna a small smile before I look back over to Kade one last time. Josh walks next to me as we leave the cabin, exhaustion hitting me hard now as my adrenaline fades with Kade out of danger. I lean my head on Josh's shoulder as he rubs his chin on my head, sighing through the ache in my bones. I'm just closing my eyes when my babysitter speaks from behind us.

"Time for answers," he growls, and I grunt. I just want to curl up in bed and sleep for a week.

I want to pretend none of this happened and I don't have Elites crawling all over my home, breathing down my neck while I try and figure out how I'm going to answer him.

Because he can't know it all, but I have to give him something.

SIXTEEN

RHEA

I sit in my office chair, gulping down coffee as Darius leans against the by my door, glaring at me. We have been in this sort of standoff for a f minutes now and my mood is already sour. I've had a shower and put salve on the cuts I had gotten from The Deadlands to help the healing process, but I can't do anything to help the aches throughout my body. would rather be sleeping as my exhaustion is already over its limit, but am, getting ready to answer the questions I said I would answer. Kind

Josh is with me, as well as Taylor, Sebastian, Hudson and Colten. To stand near me around my desk, Josh the closest to me as always. Zaide Damian stand while Leo relaxes back in the chair across from me insterior blond hair brushed away from his face as he watches us all.

I have no doubt his relaxed pose is just a facade though.

I sigh, putting my mug down on my desk before leaning back in my and folding my arms. I really don't want to do this now, but it's far bet than them harassing my pack. "Go ahead, ask," I say in a bored tone, v a hand at them to start even though I'm dreading their questions.

"How long have you all been here?" Leo asks in front of me, lookin around my office and out toward the window. I knew they would be cu about our home, but I didn't think they would ask that right away.

"We were born here," I lie, my face set into a neutral mask.

"That's not possible," Darius adds, shaking his head. "In the history Elites, we have been to every place in Vrohkaria. This wasn't here, the no way this has been here all this time. We would know."

"How would you know?" I question him with a lift to my shoulders. are deep in The Deadlands. It's always been here, you just haven't eve across it." I don't know this for sure, but Solvier told me he has always here, and he's hundreds and hundreds of years old.

"We would know," Darius assures me, and I suppress an eye roll. "I Elites have access to all Vrohkaria's history from the Highers. They ar keepers of knowledge. Their records would have shown this place exis I call bullshit." He pins me with a hard, green glare, not backing down neither am I.

"I don't know what to tell you." I shrug. "We have always been here our own. Away from everything in Vrohkaria and any civilization. We sustain and live peacefully."

"If you live peacefully, why is everyone so scared then?" Darius que coming forward to stand in front of my desk next to Leo, glaring down I tap my forearm where my arms are crossed and think about how to answer him. If we lived here all our lives, why are they so scared? Shit didn't think this through. "They had some... issues not too long ago."

"What issues?" he presses, and I grind my teeth and look out of my window.

I don't want to go into this, and it's not my place to tell them either,

e wall [:]ew

some

I : here I

hey all

of.

and

ad, his

chair ter

vaving

have to give them something. "Look," I start, before turning my head the irious him and the other Elites. "I won't betray their confidence by telling yo personal experiences. What I will tell you is that some shit happened a scary men, well... scare them, okay? It happened, and it's done, but mof the not all are one hundred percent healed from it. They get by the best the and live peacefully here. However, since I brought you all here it's cat issues for them, and I will have to figure out the best way to deal with "We asked you to keep your dominance low to try and not frighten them as roome As you could see before at the gathering, it didn't do much, but their reseen would have been worse if you had just let your aura loose."

"Is that why your aura is like an Omega's? You give off barely any dominance," Damian says, as he walks over to my bookshelves and state the looking at the books I've collected over the years.

ted, so "That's the whole point," I state, blowing out a breath and trying to . Well, that he's touching my things. "Omegas are non-threatening. They are land gentle, so we have always kept our dominance as low as possible to the pack feel safe."

"So, what you're saying is something happened here, and since then all keep your dominance down so the rest of the pack feels safe?" Dari estions, slowly, eyeing me to find a crack in my facade.

truths. But what does he expect? I just spill all of our secrets? Not a check, I need to find a way to keep this place hidden, to stop him from telling the Highers. But I honestly have no idea how. He's going to take me back Highers one way or another, and I'll accept that if I can reason with him the others stay here and Eridian's existence be kept secret.

but I "You know you have already broken the law by murdering some of

oward Elite trainees, and injuring others." Darius' stare becomes cold. "You lu their also broken the law by not declaring your home and pack to the Highen die big When my injured are healed, you will come back with me, face sentenentally and your punishment will be in my hands. But before that," he cuts offer your protests of the guys at my back, waving a hand at Leo.

that. I a small piece of crumpled paper in his hand, that is until he flattens it c much. puts it on my desk and turns it over. I keep my face from giving any re eaction as he slides it toward me and my heart stalls in my chest as I look it ov

Dark, shoulder length hair, toffee eyes, a bright smile and delicate face force my brows to furrow as I look it over in confusion.

"Who is this?" I ask Leo, who's eyes haven't left mine.

"This is the reason we are in The Deadlands in the first place." He to ignore picture. "A woman matching her description was seen entering The kind, Deadlands with another person. She was taken from her pack, and we have makebeen tasked with getting her back."

Rescuing her from her pack is more accurate. "How long ago was slayou coming into The Deadlands?"

us says "Just over two months ago," Darius informs me. So they have been searching for her pretty much since we brought her here, and they still half- haven't given up. Great.

ance. I I chew the inside of my bottom lip. "You guys haven't seen her?" I he the shake of their heads, I continue. "Anyone that enters The Deadland to the good as dead." At Darius' flat look, I scoff at him. "Apart from the Elim to letclearly. But anyone else would last a few days at best. There is no way alive and out there somewhere."

my Darius tilts his head. "She isn't here?"

"No," I swallow. "Why would she be? No one has been here and we rs. haven't seen another person in the forest apart from you guys and creating. How would this woman get here if you guys didn't even know it existe the. He looks me over, and I hold my breath. My ice blue eyes clash with his green one's, neither giving anything away and neither backing down as ike justlook for weaknesses. I don't know if he believes me, but I know he defout, doesn't trust us.

action A knock comes to my office door before it swings open. Anna stops er. tracks when she sees us all in here before straightening her shoulders a looking at me. "Everyone is stable, but they will need to take a few we rest before any traveling is recommended," she tells us, and I know she reluctant to give us that information considering we don't want them h aps the "Especially Jase," she continues. "His rib is back in place, but his lung take time to heal and shifting is not an option right now, for him or any have else. They are too exhausted for the change. Kade is ready to move up to his room. I gave him something extra for the pain to help him sleep, he seen should be out until tomorrow morning." Anger floods Darius' face like thunder by the time she has finished talking.

"Thanks Anna. Rest up and head to the gathering," I look toward my windows before looking back at her. "Dinner will be soon." She nods a leaves as quickly as she came, passing the Elite with the plaited mohav ask. At she goes. He follows her, no doubt keeping an eye on her.

ls is as I'm glad Kade is ready to be moved to his room though. I want him tes, at the moment.

she is "She's a blood witch, isn't she?" Zaide states, the first time he's spo since he's entered my office. His voice is quiet, but still strong. He's the of male who only speaks when needed.

I lean forward on my desk and clasp my hands together. "She is a bl tures. witch," I confirm, and they inhale sharply, all apart from Darius who led?" me with a curious expression.

is light "I knew she wasn't a wolf, but I didn't expect a blood witch," Dami s we spits, finally coming over to us and leaving my bookshelves alone. "Yo finitely harboring a dangerous being in your pack, Rhea. All blood witches are killed on sight."

in her "That blood witch saved your men," Josh growls from my right, con nd around to the side of my desk.

eks "And whose fault is that?" Damian fires back, getting closer to Josh e was they are almost touching. "You caused those injuries."

ere. Josh gets in his face, their height evenly matched. "And we saved the will injured. If the others hadn't died, she would have saved them too."

"We have a right to kill her. She is not allowed to be left alive!"

stairs I stand so fast my chair crashes into the bookshelf behind me. Every so he turns to face me as I growl at Damian, "You will not touch her. I will r to shreds before you even touch a hair on her head!" I feel Runa in my and my pupils dilate as a tingling sensation creeps up my neck as my a builds.

Hudson comes up behind me and puts a hand on my shoulder. I sens wk as was coming, but I still flinch anyway. The tingling stops, fading away instantly and I manage to get myself under control.

close "No one will touch her, Rhea," Hudson tells me gently, while Sebas Colten and Taylor grunt in agreement. "They are in our territory, not the Vrohkaria law doesn't apply here."

"He's right," Taylor adds. "They can't kill her."

Darius takes a hold of Damian's arm and guides him back. "The His

ood rule over Vrohkaria," Darius tells me, his eyes roaming over my form.

ooks at "As I've already said, The Deadlands are not claimed by them." I sh

my head and move closer to Josh at the edge of my desk. "If you want

an for the men that have been killed, I agree to go to the Highers with you

ou're without a fight."

to be "Milal—" Josh starts, but I cut him off.

"I will go, willingly, but I want something in return." I keep my sho ning straight and head held high as I tell them, acting like going to the High no big deal, when internally, I'm scared shitless. Edward told me to av until them at all costs, and his reasons are understandable after what they diagreed, of course I agreed. But if it saves my pack, I will go to them.

e "Leave us," Darius orders. When no one moves, he lets loose a dom growl that almost sends me to my knees in submission. The windows r the floor shakes and I'm stuck between awe and fear at the power that one growl holds. But I stay standing, even as the rest of the people in this r ip you show slight signs of submission. I would be doing the same if I was a r eyes, wolf, but normal I am not. And I don't think he is either.

rest of the Elites following them while Darius and I are locked on each
I've never been more captivated looking into another's eyes as I hav
As soon as he hears the door click, he rounds the side of the desk an
in front of me. I hold my ground and lift my head to look at him, trying
tian, hold his scent in my lungs. A second later, his hand wraps around my t
neirs. and I'm shoved back into the wall next to the bookcase. A sound of su
escapes me as my eyes widen, not expecting the move, and then they le
as I bare my teeth at him.

ghers I will not cower.

"Who are you?" he demands, and my brows furrow.

ake "I already told you."

justice "Why don't I believe that?" His thumb runs along the side of my new touch gentle compared to the way he's firmly holding my throat.

"I will go to the Highers," I tell him again, ignoring his question. "If "I find it amusing that you think you can bargain with me," he laugh ulders me mockingly. Lowering his face, until his nose touches mine, as he lo directly into my eyes as I struggle for breath under his grip. My hands ers is his bare wrist, trying to release his hold on me. When that doesn't world oid d. So I my knee, aiming between his legs, but he moves, closing the little dista between us and pinning my hips to the wall with the tops of his thighs. inating are in no position to tell me what you will do, little wolf. You will pay attle, deaths of my men, either from the Highers' orders or from me alone. E never doubt that you will be coming back with me whether you're will one not." oom

normal "I know that," I choke out. "But leave the rest of Eridian alone. Tell of this place."

od, the "Eridian?" He tilts his head, his eyes still holding mine, and I swear other. them start to bleed black at the edges of his irises before going back to re his. normal.

d stops What was that?

g not to "It's what we call our home and the forest surrounding it," I say in a throat as he eases his hold just enough for me to get more air in to speak. His rprise fingers stay on my pulse, monitoring it as it beats widely. "There is no ower to tell the Highers about this place. We broke no laws."

"This place needs to be recorded as there is life here. The Highers de that all such places in Vrohkaria are known. It doesn't matter that they

haven't claimed this as their territory. They never had to because it's a been known as uninhabitable. It was pointless until now."

ck, the I lick my dry lips and his eyes drop there for a second before looking into my eyes again. "You can't tell them," I stress. "There is no point. I you—" would it accomplish?"

"It would accomplish putting that look on your face again."

"What look?" I stammer, trying to keep my face blank and failing.

"The look of pure terror that you had when I had the pup in my gras k, I lift are you so adamant that you don't want the Highers to know of this plance he questions, then swings me around by the throat and slams me onto t "You desk on my back, my legs dangling either side of him as he looms over for the "What are you hiding, little wolf?"

I growl at the position he's put me in. I try to get my feet up to push ing or off of me, but he's just too big. He's immovable, and I'm exhausted. H out a low chuckle as he brings his free hand up to take both of my wris no one hold them above my head in his grip. He feels the pulse at my neck aga digging his thumb in as it beats rapidly beneath his touch.

I see "Get off me, asshole!" I arch my back, wriggling to get him off me. my efforts do nothing but exhaust me more, I slump back onto the desl close my eyes, trying to breathe through the feeling of helplessness. Helplessness I swore to myself I would never let myself feel again.

"Are you ready to give me some real answers?" he murmurs, and I f breath on my cheek, so close, but not touching.

reason Why is he so close? And why do I want to wrap his scent around me second coat?

emand "I answered all your questions. I killed some of your men, I get it." I eyes open and look him dead in the eye as I tell him my truth. "But bel

lways me, I had no choice."

His eyes roam my face like they did in The Deadlands. "Why?" he g back demands, his hold on my wrists and throat tightening for a second.

"You have seen my pack. They're scared of outsiders. If you told th What Highers, they would demand that we all go and declare we live here. T couldn't go through being surrounded by powerful Alphas. They could cope with it, they are already frightened. To be forced to go to the capi p. Why Vrohkaria to be surrounded by strangers?" I shake my head. "They wo survive it," I whisper, my throat tightening at the thought. "I will fight 1Ce?" anyone and anything every step of the way to stop that from happening he lose at the end, then I lose, but my pack will be safe. Kade will be safe r me. I'm out of my depth here. He needs to understand he can't take then him but how do I do that without telling them we take them from packs for le lets safety?

its and The Elites belong to the Highers, and you never trust a Higher. Unle ain, you're Edward.

"The pup?" He scoffs. "You so easily give away your weakness. I co When force you to do whatever I wanted just by holding a blade to his throat. k and should do that anyway for him attacking me."

"You already know Kade is a weakness, so what's the point in deny And give him a break. He's just got his wolf, and he's going through a "Everyone goes through a rough time when they get their wolf. It's natural process."

like a "It's more than that with Kade, he's hurting and so is his wolf." I sig look at my ceiling. "He lost someone important to him, and his wolf is mourning." I can feel him watching me, trying to sense if I'm lying, but ieve not. I need him to understand the struggle Kade has so he won't punish

He finally speaks after a tense silence. "You will come to the Higher me after my men are healed. I will decide when we get there if I tell th about Eridian." I freeze, my eyes snapping to him. There's a chance he tell them? It can't be that easy. "But it looks like you're stuck with us l for a few weeks while my injured heal." His slow smirk is cruel as he t 'hey ln't me. "We will continue to look for this woman in the forest while here. better set up rooms in this cabin for my closest men. I won't be letting tal of uldn't out of my sight, little wolf."

He digs his thumb into my pulse one more time before he stands stra staring down at me. His gaze tracks over me, not missing a single inch ٤. If I body, and my cheeks heat. He grunts, giving me a last look before he v 1 back, out of my office. I lay still, breathing through frustrated breaths and rethe urge to touch my throat. It still feels like his hand is wrapped aroun Our simple life isn't so simple anymore.

And if Darius finds out I lied? We're all going to suffer for it.

ould

!SS

. I

e

ing it?

lot."

the

3h and

ıt I'm

ı him.

He finally speaks after a tense silence. "You will come to the Highers with me after my men are healed. I will decide when we get there if I tell them about Eridian." I freeze, my eyes snapping to him. There's a chance he won't tell them? It can't be that easy. "But it looks like you're stuck with us Elites for a few weeks while my injured heal." His slow smirk is cruel as he tells me. "We will continue to look for this woman in the forest while here. You better set up rooms in this cabin for my closest men. I won't be letting you out of my sight, little wolf."

He digs his thumb into my pulse one more time before he stands straight, staring down at me. His gaze tracks over me, not missing a single inch of my body, and my cheeks heat. He grunts, giving me a last look before he walks out of my office. I lay still, breathing through frustrated breaths and resisting the urge to touch my throat. It still feels like his hand is wrapped around it.

Our simple life isn't so simple anymore.

And if Darius finds out I lied? We're all going to suffer for it.

SEVENTEEN

RHEA

Morning light peers through my window, casting colors into the room bounce off some of the objects I have in here. Sleep didn't come easily night. Between worrying over having strangers in my house and keepil ears open for any sign of Kade waking, I've only had a few solid hours best.

I stretch and get my ass up, knowing there is absolutely no point in sin bed. Grabbing a t-shirt and shorts, I take a quick shower. I get dresseleave my room, shutting my door behind me and listening for any sour the cabin before knocking on Kade's door. A snore answers from the c side, letting me know he's still sleeping, so I pad downstairs to the kitc

I round the banister and nearly halt in my tracks at the sight of Dariu sitting at my dining table. He's bent down, lacing up his boots, and I tr to look at the way his muscles flex in his arms. When did I suddenly be someone who notices these things? I ignore him and head to the kitche

"Morning, little wolf," Darius practically purrs, and I shiver at the so Why did his voice have to sound like that? Deep and low, like a caress skin. I mumble under my breath and ignore him, but he doesn't apprec that. The way he's at my back not a few seconds later, practically brea down my neck, clearly gives that away. "I said, morning, little wolf."

"It's morning? Shit. I didn't even realize, I thought it was midday yo know, with the sun just rising," I snark out, moving to grab a pan. Filli with water, I put it on the stove and set the flame.

"Not a morning person I see," he says, and I feel a touch on the top head, causing me to freeze a second. Why is he touching me?

"I wonder what gave that away," I mutter, moving away from him a grabbing a mug before filling it with some coffee granules and the now water. Moving around Darius, I head for the table and take a seat. Dari follows me and sits back down across from me, watching me. I ignore ⁷ last and pretend he's not there while I drink the elixir of life and look out tl window.

"Why don't our stones work here?" he asks suddenly, and I nearly ju out of my skin at him breaking the silence.

"Eridian is protected. We mostly can't use magic inside the settleme whether from objects or ourselves. Unless it's powerful enough and the lets you. We can't go to our wolf forms either unless you are in the for Out of the corner of my eye, he slouches back in his seat, his dark tpulling tight across his chest. "Unless the land lets you?"

I roll my eyes and finally let them go to him. We lock eyes and heat to spread at my chest. "Yes, the land. It's living and breathing, just like and me. It chooses what can be used and what can't." I take a sip and v him acknowledge what I've said.

"It sounds like you live in the way our ancestors did hundreds of year when the old ones were around." I shrug because we do live like that h

that

ng my

3 at

staying ed and ids in

other

hen.

1S

y not

ecome

n. ound.

on my iate

thing They would be wise to start too. "What does it let you use then, this...

He rolls his green eyes, and I can tell he thinks I'm being ridiculous.

"That's not for me to decide," I tell him, and hear a door opening from it upstairs and then hard footsteps coming down the stairs. "I can't tell you what it deems worthy." A throat clears, and I turn my head toward it as of my comes into the dining room, scowling at Darius.

I check him over. He's only wearing dark pants, which lets me get a at his injuries on his bare torso that are healing, thankfully. He looks a pale and tired, but otherwise okay. He comes over to me and rubs his c against mine before heading into the kitchen. I grab his arm before he him far, and he huffs back at me. He humors me as I stand and run my fing around the wound on his shoulder that's been stitched up before lookir his throat and temple closely. The wounds have closed nicely, and aparamp some redness, they're healing well.

"I'm okay, Rhea," he whispers softly, and I look into his blue eyes, ent, different from mine, as he gives me a small smile.

e land "Go grab some food and we'll talk, okay?" He nods, and I squeeze l est." before I drop it and let him go.

shirt I return to my seat, shifting uncomfortably as Darius looks between Kade with far too much interest. "I'm sending Elites out to search The starts Deadlands. Since we can't use our stones as they have been drained of 2 you magic, what is the best way to keep track of locations there?"

watch "I can send Taylor with you, he knows The Deadlands better than ar and can make sure your men don't get lost. I also need you to make sure ago, anyone staying behind keeps their distance from my pack members an ere. sure they keep their aura low. If they need to speak to them, do it with

land?" and at least with a good amount of space between them. If any of us se Elites crossing the line, we will act. You can understand that, right?"

He nods, his eyes bouncing between mine before he stands. "Althou don't know why you are Alpha of this pack," he starts. "I understand tl Kade when the need arises, you need to take care of things. You have my

permission to do so if the circumstances call for it, and only then." He

look his hands on the table and leans forward, bringing his face closer to mi

little "But don't try anything you shouldn't, little wolf. You are already in d

theek shit, and you won't like the extra consequences." He stands and walks

gets without another word, the front door closing behind him as he leaves.

ers Well, that was interesting.

I reach out to Josh, our links now, thankfully, open again. "Send Tay rt from with the Elites that are going into The Deadlands. I'm sure Taylor will how to navigate them around without them being able to track exactly a shade we are. You can stop by when you're done if you want."

"Got it. Is Kade awake?" he replies.

nis arm "He sure is."

"Good," he says, and the link closes as Kade sits down next to me, me and sitting in his usual seat where he used to sit with Cassie. I nudge his sh before drinking my coffee again.

their He eats his mountain of food in silence, and he gets down to the last fruit on his plate before I ask him, "Are you done?"

iy of us He nods, putting a gooseberry in his mouth before pushing his platefrom him. "I am now," he exhales, patting his stomach.

d make "Good." I put my mug down and grab his ear, pulling him toward m care "Now you can explain why the fuck you were in The Deadlands," I grad dragging him up out of his seat and toward my office.

"You're lucky I'm only trying to rip your ear from your head and no gh, I kicking your ass all over Eridian. Plus, you won't miss an ear, it's not you listen anyway." I open my office door and bring him with me, sho him down in the chair at my desk. With him sitting, I start to pace.

places Kade rubs at his ear, watching me with a scowl on his face. "Rhea—' ne. "No. No, Kade. Don't you Rhea me, you little shit. Do you have a deep wish?!" I shout. "Was it not enough that you decided to risk your life vaway rogures before we left? You had to come into The Deadlands where you could have died?"

"It wasn't like that," he protests, but I'm not ready to hear it.

I tug at my hair before shoving it into a knot on top of my head. "It have like that, Kade. You know how dangerous it is out there, and you knew where we were doing," I hiss at him. "You knew you were putting yourself ir danger by going in there. And not only that…" I point at him as the frc door opens. "You put our pack at risk. I put you in charge because I tru you to look after them. But instead, you left them alone and vulnerable still notwent searching blindly in The Deadlands for who? Me? The fucking E oulder Josh enters the office and spots the shitbag in the chair, seeing Kade burning as he looks at me. "Ah." That's all Josh says, before moving to of his down near the windows.

Kade says nothing, just continues to stare at me, his lips pressed in a away line as I fume. I fling my hands out. "Answer me!" I demand.

He sighs, running a hand through his hair before he stands. He wince. slightly, trying to not show it, but I see it. I instantly feel guilty for doin owl, right now. But fuck, he nearly died. What he did was reckless, stupid a damn irresponsible.

Kade shoves his hands into his pockets. "I know you probably think decision to go to The Deadlands was impulsive, but we had a vote."

like "A vote?" Josh repeats, his brows raising.

"Yeah," Kade nods. "You had been gone for days. We were all getti worried. Josie suggested maybe a few of us go and look for you guys.

like it, but the rest of the pack agreed. It was either I go alone or some likely to sneak out to go find you, regardless of whether I told them no picked what I thought was the best option in a shit situation," he sighs, looking down at his bare feet.

Well, that changes things. It's Josie's ass I will beat next. Why woul even suggest this to him and the rest of the pack?

was "That's really fucking stupid," Josh mumbles, and I nod. "Looks lik v what Wrath Rhea is going to be aimed at someone."

I point at him. "Hey! I can aim it at you if you want." I hate that nicl "I would do it again," Kade pipes up, and I look at him.

I sigh, the fight going out of me. "I understand what you did and when, and this was any other situation I would be on your side. But Kade, the situalities?" is dire, and there is too much at stake. Whether you like it or not, me at 's eyes guys going out was to prevent them from coming here, but yours and to pack's decision sealed that fate when you nearly bled to death." My vocabitches at the memory, and Kade steps closer to me, pulling me into his hard and holding me tight. "I suppose it doesn't matter now, but you have to at the pros and considered heading into an unknown situation. You has be sure it's what has to be done. You can never put yourself in dangering this that again."

nd so "I know, I'm sorry," he mumbles into my hair. "I messed up."

I shake my head against his chest. "I'm sorry, too." For shouting at l

my when he's hurting. For bringing the Elites here and putting him in danş fucking failing.

"Come on, Carzan," Josh says. "I still need to chew your ass out, bu ng will leave Rhea here and do it somewhere else." Kade grumbles as he I I didn'tgo and sulks out the room, Josh on his heels. I close my eyes and just t were Good fucking morning to me.

t to. I

ld she

e

kname.

y. If

ıation

nd the

he

ice

s body

o look

ve to

like

nim

when he's hurting. For bringing the Elites here and putting him in danger. For fucking failing.

"Come on, Carzan," Josh says. "I still need to chew your ass out, but we will leave Rhea here and do it somewhere else." Kade grumbles as he lets me go and sulks out the room, Josh on his heels. I close my eyes and just breathe. Good fucking morning to me.

EIGHTEEN

RHEA

"Any idea how we're going to get the Elites to keep Eridian a secret?" the guys quietly. Darius said he would think about keeping Eridian qui we need something solid, not a maybe.

We watch the Elites spar with each other in front of us. We are just the lilk trees in the forest and a good distance away from them so they hear us. Some Elites are in wolf form, some not. I drag the elk we hunt dinner closer to me, my bloody hands leaving red prints on its legs.

"I have no idea, Milal. But I'm not about to let you go to the Higher way." Josh steps up beside me and watches the Elites intently, tracing moves.

Two wolves attack each other, their paws swiping and teeth biting. I on in rapt attention. They are so well trained, we look like puppies con to them.

"We could kill them," Colten muses, bringing my attention to him. "Poison?"

Hudson shakes his head. "They would smell it a mile off. They are I trained. It won't be that easy."

"I could slit their throats in their sleep,' Sebastian says, twirling his favorite knife in his hands, eager to throw it as usual.

"I doubt you could get close enough without them knowing you're t sigh, watching as Darius steps up to two Elites and guides them throug defensive move. His face is set into a mask of authority, his stance uny as he asks them to go through the move again and again.

Maize steps up to him, disrupting their drills and that mask breaks ir annoyance. She waves her hands around wildly, and Leo walks over, listening to what she's saying.

Lask et, but

I haven't seen much of Maize since the Elites came here a few days She mostly sticks with the other members of the Elites or goes off on h own. The witch seems to have an eye for Darius though. It shouldn't b me, there is no reason for it to.

outside can't

ed for

But every time her eyes are on him, I kind of want to pluck them ou Leo shakes his head and walks over to Zaide, leaving her with Darit starts throwing a series of punches. Maize starts pointing toward the ba s either and I bristle. The fuck is she talking about?

their

Darius starts to wave her off, but freezes when his eyes land on me j outside of the lilk trees.

watch npared

Maize continues to talk to him, but his attention is solely on me, on blood that covers me from the hunt, and I see his eyes flash. His body and takes a step toward me, but Maize grabs his arm to halt him. He pa and turns his head to her, making her hand drop from his skin. I can ba hear the growl he releases toward her, but it has an effect because she off, head bent low.

nighly

He turns back, and with purposeful strides, walks toward me. He par sparring Elites, not concerned with being accidently hit or caught in be anyone. His steps eat up the distance between us until he's a few feet a from me. His eyes roam over my body, paying extra attention to the ar here," Icovered in blood, before looking down at the elk.

th a My body tingles under his attention, and my brows furrow at my rearielding "Hungry?" he asks, and I lift my eyes to him.

"Dinner for the pack," I reply, refusing to let the heat I feel at his pe to redden my cheeks. "She was an older elk, unable to breed any longer." didn't have much time left, so she was a good choice today.

His brows pull together. "You hunted her because she's old? Why n ago. for the younger, healthier one?"

"Then we would take out a young, healthy and still fertile female that other reproduce and keep their numbers reasonable. We can then still hunt element without worrying about their population decreasing." Taylor answers here, his amber eyes glancing around the Elites at Darius' back.

"You only hunt ones that are not as able as others?" Darius asks, his arrier, furrowing, and I can't understand why this confuses him at all.

"Not all the time, but mostly. And we only hunt to eat, not to just ch ust kill," I shrug, wiping my hand on my shorts to try and get more blood Darius follows the movement, and I pause at the look in his eyes.

the "Alpha," a male greets. Darius and I both turn our heads at the title at turns and Finn walk toward me. "All is well around the cliffs. No sign of any close by. It's fairly quiet."

"Okay, good," I tell him. "Rest up. Is Ben still out?"

storms "Yeah," Axel says. "He wanted to go for a run." He looks toward th sparring with interest before clearing his throat and looking at Darius.

"Would you mind if some of us spar with you?" I choke on my own sa etween his words, and Josh pats my back as I bend over slightly and cough. A growl sounds in front of me, but then cuts off as my eyes spring u eas

Darius in surprise. His eyes are on Josh, his look screaming danger bef expression clears, and he looks at Axel.

iction. "I don't see why you or anyone else can't spar with them. Though it be better if you spar with some of the trainees," Darius suggests.

Oh, he woke up and chose violence, I see. "They have experience,"
She proudly. Sure, we're not exactly at their level, but were scrappy fucker we fight. Plus, Taylor has taught us everything we know and he was troot go somewhat.

"Darius," Leo calls, clearly eavesdropping, and we look toward him at can them play. It will be fun." The fucker smirks, his blue eyes dancing in lk amusement, and my blood boils.

lim for I straighten and walk around Darius, dropping the legs of the elk and heading directly for Leo. He examines me curiously, and the Elites aro brows slow their movements as they watch on. I feel the weighted gaze of Damy back, but I refuse to turn and meet his eyes. I have something to do ase or Leo shoves his hands in the pockets of his combat pants, his stance off. at my approach. He smiles when I'm two steps away from him, head ti amusement. "Wanna play—" My fist flies, aiming for his jaw, and it lares Axel forcing his head to whip to the side. His body follows as I sweep my leything taking his feet right out from under him, and he lands with a hard thud ground. "Fuck," he grunts, looking up at me in shock.

The Elites suck in sharp breaths around me and laughter rings out free Elitesbehind as Colten loses it, cheering me on. I smirk. "Play?" I tap my fin my chin. "I don't think playing is the right word for me putting you on liva at ass."

"What the fuck just happened?" Leo asks as he stands, brushing the

p to his pants.

fore his "You got your ass handed to you," Damian cackles. "That's what happened."

"Shut the fuck up," Leo growls at him before he starts toward me. I' about to uppercut the cocky shit, knowing I need to be quick, but he's ass again before either he or I can blink.

s when Darius towers over him, features set in stone as he looks down at hir ained "You got put on your ass because you underestimated your opponent." can stay down a little longer for that trainee mistake."

. "Let Darius turns toward me, but I'm already walking off. "Axel, why do ask some others if they would like to join you in sparring with the Elite sure it would be good for those that are okay with that." He nods befor walks off with Finn.

rius at the ground behind me. As we walk toward the barrier, something pulls if first. elk. I turn with a growl, a snarl on my lips at someone touching my kil relaxed Darius lifts a brow at me, yanking on the elk, but I don't let go. "Giv lted in up, little wolf. I'm carrying it so you can change quicker."

ıds, "Why?" I wonder.

eg, He pauses for a moment, his grip tightening on the elk as his eyes do not the "Because the sight of you covered in blood makes me want to hunt you

I swallow at his words, at the thought of hunting me in a way that m om the Alpha in me want to rise to the challenge. I let go, wanting to get a liger to from him and the way he has my body reacting in a way I'm not sure I your understand.

He picks the elk up easily and flings it over his shoulder like it weig dirt offnothing when I struggled to drag it. We stare at each other, and the wo narrows down to the two of us and nothing else. No one can penetrate bubble we've created a few times now, and no one can stop it, not ever Runa comes to my eyes, watching him intently as confusion stirs insid m just the way he commands my attention and focus.

on his I feel my guys are near me. I know the Elites are too. But it's as if the presence is muted, like whispers at the edges of my being, and the only n. form is the one in front of me. He's a force of his own, taking up all the You oxygen around us and demanding my eyes to be on him at all times or I'll suffocate for the failure to do so. But I don't think this feeling is or on't yousided. He looks at me like he's trying to figure me out, trying to underses. I'm what he's seeing just like I am.

e he I don't think either of us know the answer.

He steps forward while I'm rooted to my spot, my head the only par t along body moving as I tilt it back, unable to look away from his eyes. His gon the drifts over my features again. Moving over my eyes, my cheekbones, r temples, my nose, until his gaze slides down to the side of my neck, be we it finally moving and landing on my lips. The air around us thickens and spreads through my body when his scent hits me. My lips part, and his lowers, getting closer and closer. His mouth is a breath away from tour rken. mine, and I don't think I breathe. He skims his lips against my cheek, l touching my skin, before he whispers against my ear. I shiver.

akes "Keep looking at me like that, Rhea, and I'll show you how I hunt a devour my prey." He moves around me, the world coming back into fc I stand there, sucking in air and wondering what the fuck just happened Again.

hs "Gods," Sebastian breathes. "You two giving each other fuck me no looks? That's a disaster waiting to happen." My mouth drops open at h

this words. "A hot disaster, but a disaster all the same.

n us. "There were no fuck me looks," I object as I clear my throat and turne me at head home.

"There kinda was," Josh says, and I shoot him a look of betrayal. He shrugs. "Just remember he's the enemy."

"How could I ever forget," I mutter. He's enemy number one, even so with the way I react to him. He holds Eridian in his palms, and I have else find a way to make nice with him, or kill him, to keep Eridian hidden.

Now, I just need to ignore the fact that when he looks at me, I feel stand something I don't think I have ever felt so strongly before.

Desire.

And that, is a hard fucking no.

t of my

aze

ny

fore

heats

head

ching

parely

nd

cus as

d.

W

ıis

words. "A hot disaster, but a disaster all the same.

"There were no fuck me looks," I object as I clear my throat and turn to head home.

"There kinda was," Josh says, and I shoot him a look of betrayal. He shrugs. "Just remember he's the enemy."

"How could I ever forget," I mutter. He's enemy number one, even more so with the way I react to him. He holds Eridian in his palms, and I have to find a way to make nice with him, or kill him, to keep Eridian hidden.

Now, I just need to ignore the fact that when he looks at me, I feel something I don't think I have ever felt so strongly before.

Desire.

And that, is a hard fucking no.

MINETEEN

DARIUS

"Any news on the sighting of the woman?" I ask Leo. We're on the de Rhea's cabin, leaning against the wall while Leo sits on the top step, and dangling between his legs while we both look out over Eridian.

From here we can see the main housing cabins surrounding us, and the place at the center that Rhea calls the gathering, where I first saw the place we've been here for over a week now. Taylor, Zaide and Damian have taking some of the men with them to search The Deadlands, making strained are safe. The only way they can get back here is on foot since out stones have been drained of magic since entering through the invisible barrier, so we have to be careful they don't get lost.

I still don't understand how the barrier around Eridian drained those stones. I haven't come across a barrier like that apart from when the H witches get together to create one, and that's only possible if the witch at a high level. The Highers have the strongest witches in Vrohkaria, e for the ones that live in the southwest woods with their coven. But hey refused to bend to the Highers' will and law, and they still don't coope now. So how did Eridian get its barrier? From those witches?

"Nothing. Nothing at all," Leo grumbles, finally answering me. "Th whole search and rescue is fucking pointless. We were never going to her in the first place, or Rogures."

"I agree, but it's either I become a Higher or this, and I need to get r the Rogures before I commit to anything. The lands across Vrohkaria a going to shit with no end in sight, and the people are fighting amongst themselves then pointing fingers at who they think is to blame. If we c find a solution, there will be nothing left by the time the Rogures destr everything." I couldn't give a fuck about becoming a Higher, It was something my father wanted me to be, and at the time, I agreed. But th change. The lands fucking changed. "We are the Elites, we are suppose protect Vrohkaria, and we haven't managed to do that."

ck of rms

the ack.

e been

ire the

ir port

"We can only do so much, Darius. You can't shoulder the full responsibility of the Rogures on your own," he sighs, scanning the area watching Rhea's pack get on with their daily chores.

purpose is to protect, and we can't even do that.

The taste of failure is bitter and leaves anger in its wake. The Elites'

"I swore I would get justice for my family, and I will. Nothing will s the way of that." We've had this same conversation many times before tells me I'm taking on too much, and I reply that it's my responsibility Alpha of the Elites. It only leaves us both pissed. I shake my head and es rank the people mulling about, changing the direction of the conversation. " is something not right about this place, and I can't figure it out." Eridia xcept shouldn't exist. No record or map shows life in The Deadlands through the history of Vrohkaria. Eridian is an anomaly, and not knowing how rate came to be angers me.

"I know, it's definitely not normal," Leo says. "But if you can't figu

out, we have no chance of doing so." We watch the pack give my men berth as they move around the center, scurrying off with their pups as some comes in sight. Jerrod looks in the direction a mother and son ran, id of pausing as he watches the now empty space before carrying on. "Why they act like that? It's like they have never seen another person."

"I don't know, and I don't believe the bullshit Rhea told me either."
an't lies that come from that woman's mouth just show the type of wolf show the has tells when she lies, and over the past week, I've figured their She's naive to think she can hide from the Alpha of the Elites.

ings He scoffs. "You would have to be a fool to believe what comes out of the detail mouth."

I nod. I don't believe half the shit she said to me in her office that dathink she knows it as well, but what is she hiding that she can't just say What's the problem with declaring to the Highers where they live? It d make sense. They could even live a better life than they are now. It isn hole here, but it isn't anything that's considered as standard in the land either. Even the way the pack is structured and works is strange.

"It's time to start asking more questions. She thinks I've dropped it leaving it alone for a few days. She should have realized that I've just as the observing. She has no idea that the men have been reporting back to me watch daily." Stupid wolf. She thinks she's safe in her own home. She will so understand nowhere is safe for her anymore. Not from me. I have her seem that I can't pinpoint where have scented it before. Either way, I can track her anywhere if she is clearly enough, and my wolf likes the thought of that.

a and

"Want me to come with you?" Leo stands and shakes out his arms, see it observing Rhea's pack.

a wide "No. Go and wait for the men at the bottom of the cliffs where they soon as yesterday," I tell him. "They will be back soon."

I'll admit, I'm still shocked at what I saw when we went atop the cli do where The Deadlands are. The cliffs encase an odd rectangular valley I that is what they call Eridian, that protects the life that flows through it The healthy trees grow in the valley, and there are two different sized lakes e is. the bluest water I have ever seen. There are strange birds and some unin out. animals that live there. Further along, there is an opening that looks lik water spilling over the edge toward the Unforgivable Sea, the only ope of her the valley.

There are waterfalls coming out of the cliff sides that surround Eriding. I when you look toward the center of the valley, there's a ring of what I know are lilk trees, their colors vibrant amongst the normal greens of t loesn't other trees. That's the protection circle that surrounds Eridian. Everyth 't a shitabout this place is unnatural. I refuse to believe this has been here all the time.

I walk down the steps of Rhea's home, our temporary resting place, by make my way down the dirt path. Leo goes off to the right toward the been outside the barrier, heading to the cliffs. There are some creatures and animals in the forest, but nothing like in The Deadlands, so he has noth worry about. I continue forward, then veer off to the left when I pick usent. Rhea's scent, a beacon to my wolf who stirs in excitement.

He likes being near the little wolf, when all I want to do is strangle to out of her, but maybe do it while I'm inside of her. I shove that though Whether they were trainees or not, the fact is that the little wolf killed of them and even dared to try and kill all of us. That can't be forgotten matter how I forget about everything and anything when I look into he

left Those fucking eyes.

I continue on, eventually coming up to the lilk trees. I study them as through the invisible barrier, feeling a caress against my soul that I alw below, feel when crossing it. My wolf, Drax, practically fucking purrs at the factorial contentment oozing from him, and I growl within myself at him. I pick with speed, heading into the forest and opening my senses around me. Noth asual particular reaches me as I track down the little wolf, only the usual sou animals skittering about.

ning in It isn't long until I hear her footsteps up ahead, quiet, but not quiet e to hide from me. I stalk through the trees, excitement running through an, andseeing the spark in her eyes when she sees me. I don't think she even k now she does it, but she does. Her reaction to me intrigues me like no other he my reaction to her makes me want to kick my own ass.

From the first moment I saw her in The Deadlands, everything within wanted to hunt her. To get to her. Her eyes were wide, lips parted, check heaving, and I wanted nothing more than to pin her to the ground and wanted her eyes go wide for a different reason.

forest Drax was also riding me hard. He wanted to tear out of my skin and her, and it took a lot of my control to get him under wraps.

ning to Our reaction to her isn't normal.

p I follow the sounds of her steps, light and delicate, until eventually I her up ahead, her hand on one of the trees with her eyes closed. I stop the life watch her closely. The steady breaths she takes, the stance she is in anota away round curve of her ass in her shorts as she stands still. I tilt my head.

some What the fuck is she doing?

, no I stalk forward, silent and sure, until I'm at her back and feel the hear eyes. her body soaking into mine. I lean forward slowly until my lips are next

her ear. I see her still, her breath hitching, and it causes me to smirk, king I pass she feels my presence. "What are you doing, little wolf?" I murmur, move bottom lip touching her ear as they move.

eeling, She spins, and I move my head back while she glares up at me, her i tup blue eyes so full of anger it gets me hard. I want to see tears in them aging in want to see them shine like the clearest glass as they water. I want it.

inds of I crave it.

Fuck.

nough She crosses her arms over her chest, and my eyes flick down on thei me at accord. Her breasts strain against her dark t-shirt, rising softly with her mows breaths, and I can't help but imagine how they would feel in my hands , and they would look with my teeth marks on them. I clench my jaw and wi cock to go down.

In me

This attraction I have to her is going to end up being a pain in my as

I drag my eyes away and up, slowly looking over her throat and pau

watch before coming back to her eyes. She scoffs at my perusal, giving me a
look before turning and walking away from me. I chuckle under my br

run to Doesn't she know never to turn her back on a predator?

And I'm not just any predator.

Catching up to her in a few short steps, I place my hand in between see shoulder blades and shove her forward against the nearest tree. She ma and small sound that I ignore while I keep her pinned there. I like her helpl under my touch. "I wasn't done talking," I say, my voice low. I dip do can see her eyes from the side while she spits curses at me.

"You asshole! Get off of me!"

"Now where is the fun in that? Are you going to be a good little wol to have some manners?" I ask her, smirking at the tiny growls she makes

nowing Adorable.

y I find *nothing* adorable.

I growl to myself.

"You're talking to me about manners?" She brings her head back, tr gain. I hit me, and I bring my free hand to her ponytail, wrapping my hands ir strands and then wrenching her head back.

I look down into her seething eyes and smirk. "Are you going to be She says nothing, so I tug on her hair more and press her more firmly i r own tree.

The breath wooshes out of her as we lock eyes, and I get lost in their . How depths. Her pupils start to dilate, and I know her wolf is watching me f ll my within her. I let Drax come to my own eyes, showing both of them that not fucking around.

s. Finally, after a tense moment, she slumps forward. I shake her head sing wanting words. "Yes," she grits out between clenched teeth, I release I hard watching as she straightens her clothes. Anger pours off her in waves t eath. makes me run my tongue over my teeth in anticipation of how she will

I may tower over her with my six four frame, but she's a little fighte I examine her tattoo that I saw when we first encountered each other her interest. It's on her right forearm and the language is old, so extremely lkes a that I can't make out what it says, but the runes on her wrist I recogniz essnessThey symbolize the old wolf Gods, Zahariss and Cazier. "Why do you wn so I the old Gods on you?" I nod at her arm when her eyes meet mine in qu

She brings her hand up to touch it, and she shrugs. "Why wouldn't I are wolves, are we not?" She scuffles a booted foot in the dirt.

"There are different kinds of wolves, and no one follows the old Go anymore. They follow the Highers rule. You're what? Late twenties, a follow the old Gods?" I tilt my head at her. "That doesn't make any se "Twenty-eight, and I've always followed them. The whole pack doe give our blessings to them for the life we have here and the food they I ying to us. They are the land we walk upon after all. They also gave us our wo so why wouldn't we give thanks to them and honor them?"

"The legends state they had gone mad, especially the male, Cazier. good?" Between Zahariss and him, the lands started to rot with their madness, nto the they disappeared, leaving us with no explanation. Why would anyone honor Gods that were out of control and abandoned us?" I walk deeper the forest before looking over my shoulder when she doesn't follow. I from her to the spot next to me, my meaning very clear. She huffs before I'm stepping beside me, keeping some distance between us. So I immediate

close that distance, not letting her get what she wants.

"You're ridiculous," she mumbles under her breath before answerin a little. "I don't know about them abandoning us, but they have given us the gi ier, our wolves. How can we not honor them for that and all they have crea hat react. she says, trying again to move away, but giving up when I again move "Legend does state that Cazier did go a little mad because he couldn't r. with his mate, and Zahariss wasn't doing well without him. He lived in the while she lived on the lands. It was pretty much impossible for them to old be next to each other for long periods of time. She walked above, and l е. traced her footsteps below. They were so close to each other, but never lestion. touching. I feel sad for them and the life they led. Wouldn't you go a b ? We being separated from your mate? Not being able to go to them?"

"I don't know, and I don't particularly care either. Having a mate is ds concern to me, especially if it turns you mad." I lift a shoulder. I don't nd you

nse." for or want a mate. Having your life intertwined with someone else's ves. We your control? Fuck no.

"Do we actually agree on something? I'm shocked." I believe her or lives, Her eyes are wide as she looks at me, and her brows scrunch together a she truly can't believe we agree on something.

I grunt and move on. "So you follow the old Gods because they gavand your wolf?"

want to She nods. "I do, and so do my pack. The Gods may not be here with into they are here in everything we see and touch." She runs her hand on th look of a bush as we pass. "Do you not feel it?" she asks, and I give her a lower "You're missing out. Though I guess it's all blood and guts with you bely Elite and all.

"We are Elites. We do what we must." I tell her, ignoring the way sl g me. eyes me. "Did you know we would be in The Deadlands?"

Her eyebrows raise at my question, and I continue to watch her as wated?" walk. She shakes her head slowly. "It was a chance meeting, and we are closer. How would we have any idea you were in there? We had been in The be with Deadlands for a few days to collect Luicium." At my confusion she ad below "The glowing liquid from some of the dead trees. We put it in jars and o even them as light in places around Eridian. Anyway, we were just in the same place at the same time, that's all."

She's lying. I can tell by the way she avoids my eyes when she's do it mad talking, pretending to watch the ground while she walks, and the way I fingers twitch at her sides while she speaks.

of no What are you hiding, little wolf?

care "What do you know of Rogures?" I ask, instead of calling her out or bullshit. For now. Being out here, I would be surprised if she knew ho

vithout rest of Vrohkaria suffers while she stays with her pack in their own litt oasis. The thought quickly angers me.

1 this. "I know of them," she says slowly. "We have had some come here it is if forest. We got rid of them, but the sightings have increased over the lawyear." She shakes her head and stops to look at me. Bright, innocent ey hold mine. "Where did they even come from?"

"No one knows. That's another reason we are in The Deadlands. We us, butlooking for rogure dens as well as this missing woman. We have no ide e leaf—where they came from and neither do the Highers." She looks away. "I ook. been taking my Elites all over Vrohkaria to different parts of the lands eing anand find their original den or find a way to stop them. All we know is to they are plaguing the lands, killing and mauling anything in their sight ne side-no sign of slowing down.

"I hate them," she mutters. "They destroy everything." Sadness flasl across her face quickly before it's gone. "I can tell you I haven't seen acted. dens in The Deadlands in all the years I've lived here though."

"All the years you've lived here? I thought you have always been hε ds. question, looking at her dead in the eyes.

"I have," she waves her hand at me. "I just meant since I've been ali me Hmm. "What about your parents? Have they seen any dens before?" are they anyway?"

"The only family I have left is the one I choose," she says coldly, all emotion gone from her face, and my brows furrow. "No one alive in E has seen any rogure dens. We are thorough in checking our perimeter f them. Many years back, a pack of them came into the valley and killed of us. Since then, we have taken no chances. Some appeared a few more with

le ago, but there were only a few of them, their pack small. We don't knc where they came from, and we haven't seen any since."

moves to my arms. "I'm surprised they have even been this deep into Toes Deadlands. We never see any come out of there, and you clearly don't many come in here. How nice it must be to stay away from the lands the being plagued by them. Living your life out here peacefully while other suffer and die."

"You think we don't suffer?" she hisses at me, eyes narrowed as her to try takes over, and mine rises to the challenge. "You don't know the fuckithat meaning!"

I scoff at her, looking her over like the unimportant bitch she is. "So with think you can be attacked here a few times by Rogures and think that's suffering?" My hand whips out, and I grab her by the jaw, digging my 1es into her skin. She winces, but otherwise doesn't make a single sound. any just pisses me off more. "Do you hear babes being ripped from their m ere?" I arms? Mauled alive while their mother tries and fails to save them? Do hear the screams of people running for their lives, only to be hunted dc and ripped apart?" I shake her chin. "You live here in your own little ve." Where paradise, peacefully passing the fucking time while the whole of Vrohl out there suffering every fucking day! Do you know the number of pec that could have been saved if you had declared to the Highers where yo ridian fucking live!"

for I growl at her before raising my other hand pushing her chest. She falmany the floor, landing on her ass as I tower over her. "What—"

nths "Many could have been saved and been brought here if you weren't selfish bitch, keeping Eridian to yourself," I cut her off, and hurt flashe

through her eyes at my words. good. "Hundreds could have lived here happily instead of rotting in the ground. More deaths are on your soul is seems than just my trainees." Her hands clench at her sides. "When we here, I'll be taking you to the Highers, and you will tell them about this see. You will stand there, in front of them all and the public who join, and you will tell them how you kept a safe haven hidden from everyone when you could have helped your own people!"

Helped my fucking family.

Her eyes flash up at me, her jaw clenched, but she doesn't utter a sir ' anger word. I look at her in disgust and turn my back on her before I kill her ng soon. I walk away from her while Drax nudges me to go back, but he c fuck off. The more I think about her not declaring this place to the Hig , you the more I want to tear the whole fucking valley apart. The number of fingers that could have lived here, that could have been kept safe inside the ba while we try to search for a way to stop the Rogures... It would be Γhat others' invaluable, and she just kept it to herself. Not caring about the rest of Vrohkaria wasting away and dying. It's people like her that are the fuc) you problem. Selfish, self-important and only looking out for themselves w **y**wn leaving the rest of us to rot. She will soon be in shock when we get bac karia is home. Her whole life is about to change.

pple Eridian is soon going to be overrun by people, and there is not a dan thing she can do about it but sit back and watch her home be taken ove All the while, she will be left in my hands to be dealt with as punish alls to for murdering my men.

such a

through her eyes at my words. good. "Hundreds could have lived here happily instead of rotting in the ground. More deaths are on your soul it seems than just my trainees." Her hands clench at her sides. "When we leave here, I'll be taking you to the Highers, and you will tell them about this place. You will stand there, in front of them all and the public who join, and you will tell them how you kept a safe haven hidden from everyone when you could have helped your own people!"

Helped my fucking family.

Her eyes flash up at me, her jaw clenched, but she doesn't utter a single word. I look at her in disgust and turn my back on her before I kill her too soon. I walk away from her while Drax nudges me to go back, but he can fuck off. The more I think about her not declaring this place to the Highers, the more I want to tear the whole fucking valley apart. The number of people that could have lived here, that could have been kept safe inside the barrier while we try to search for a way to stop the Rogures... It would be invaluable, and she just kept it to herself. Not caring about the rest of Vrohkaria wasting away and dying. It's people like her that are the fucking problem. Selfish, self-important and only looking out for themselves while leaving the rest of us to rot. She will soon be in shock when we get back home. Her whole life is about to change.

Eridian is soon going to be overrun by people, and there is not a damn thing she can do about it but sit back and watch her home be taken over.

All the while, she will be left in my hands to be dealt with as punishment for murdering my men.

TWENTY

RHEA

"Fucking asshole," I mutter as I get to my feet and stomp after him. W suffer? Every member of my pack has suffered one way or another. He see it clearly in some of their faces, for fuck's sake. All I have ever do help other people survive, my family included, and he calls me selfish! audacity of this overgrown babysitter. He can go fuck himself if he this Highers are getting their grubby hands on Eridian.

I won't tell them shit.

I pick up speed, growling beneath my breath and clenching my fists sides as I follow in the direction he went. I finally spot him up ahead a distance away, his broad shoulders tense with every heavy step he take

I look down at the forest floor and pick up a small rock, tossing it in a few times and feeling the rough edges before I take my aim. I bring r back and power it forward with an extra boost from Runa. I watch as it through the air, flying perfectly to hit its target. Yes! Sebastian teachin how to throw knives at targets on the trees has really paid off.

I'm so busy basking in my smugness at hitting Darius between his shoulder blades, the same spot he pinned me by to the tree earlier, that actually notice how still he's gone. It's only when I see him turn his he slowly to the right, that I realize that's the only part of his body moving There's not a twitch of his fingers or the rise and fall of his shoulders, he's not even breathing.

I may have just made a wrong move.

I bite the inside of my lower lip as he turns slowly, so slowly, until l eventually facing me. He looks down toward the forest floor, to where stone now rests and tilts his head at it in an animalistic way. His dark h hangs just above his eyes. I freeze at the way he looks at it, and a stilln e don't surrounds us. My heart rate picks up, my palms start to sweat, and whe finally lifts his head to look at me, my eyes widen, a gasp leaving me a look into his eyes. His pure black eyes where the whites should be. His green pupils glow as he stares straight back at me with an intensity I fe down to my soul. I take a small step back at the sight of him, the shock him, but he follows, taking a step toward me.

I pause, and he stops.

Darius' wolf watches my every move, head still tilted, body still ten at my ready and waiting to get to its prey. His nostrils flare, and then he relea good deep, low growl that pins me in place. My body shivers at the sound, a S. Runa looks out of my eyes, watching him with me. She whines softly, the air looks over at the male that is now releasing dominance freely, no longe ny arm holding it back. Runa bristles as it hits us and tries to get me to release t soars but that would be poking the very angry wolf, and I do not want to do g me right now. We may be strong, but Darius and his wolf are also pure Al pure power. To be able to hold and control the change, but still work a I don't together completely... His eyes confirm it, and there is only one explai

e can

ne is

. The nks the as to why he can do that. One I don't want to even think about right no g. face an extremely furious male.

I stay as still as possible, watching him watch me as his scent drifts me stronger than ever. Cedarwood, damp earth that comes with the after of a thunderstorm, and power. Pure fucking power that wants me to know before him and bow in his presence. My legs begin to shake, but I lock the refusing to bend.

He takes slow, measured steps toward me, stalking me like a hunter his prey. His muscular body moves with intense precision, his steps silen he even as I feel the ground tremble with every step he takes toward me. It is I trees nearby vibrate with the power he's giving off, and I swallow, uns larger what to do here. My body trembles as Runa keeps fighting me to release hold on my dominance that I refuse to let loose, and I have only one instinctual thing left on my mind.

Run.

So, I do.

se, I spin and take off, forcing Runa to give me some strength because values are as fuck are going to need it. We can't compete against the Alpha at our I know it and so does she. Yet with the need to flee, another thought ni at the back of my mind. This isn't just us running to get away, but a ne assess the male behind us.

ours, A strange urge to see if he is worthy.

that If he can catch me.

pha, I jump over small boulders and exposed tree roots, not even daring t s one behind me as I dart through the trees and duck under branches. I hear I nation growl behind me, shaking the very air, but this time it's not in anger, it

w as I approval. My brows furrow at the unusual sound, but I continue on, ign how that particular sound lights me up from within.

I'm fast, and I know this forest well. It's my home. I've been nearly ermath everywhere in here, and that's the advantage I'll need. I aim for one of eel rivers up ahead. If I can cross it and duck under the water quickly, it w them, my scent when I get to the other side, giving me more of a chance to lc and leave him to calm down.

would Throwing a rock at him was childish for sure, but the bastard deserv His words hurt, and assuming we haven't suffered made my blood boil ent threw a stone. I don't think he appreciated that. I grimace, but keep my The open, only hearing the movement of animals ahead of me scurrying aw ure my approach. But I feel nothing behind me. Did I lose him? I hear the se my of rushing water up ahead and move my legs faster, spotting the river j the distance. I check over my shoulder, seeing nothing but trees, and I out a breath. I think I actually lost him, but I'll still go through the rive other side. He will catch up to me eventually, but he'll have to find me I glide around a huge tree and aim for the water. I hit it with a splash we sure r backs, feeling its coolness seeping into my skin. With it being so deep inside ggles forest, it doesn't get much sunlight to warm it up, but at least it's not freezing. I wade through it as fast as I can, making as little noise as pos ed to Reaching halfway, the water is up to my waist now, I'm just about to c under when I'm collided with and forced under. I open my mouth on a scream, but all I get is a lungful of liquid. I thrash in the arms that surre o look me, my feet kicking out, trying to dislodge him. I'm running out of air, Darius lungs constricting, and I start to wriggle more fiercely when I'm sudde 's in... brought to the surface. I hack up water, spluttering and taking in deep l of air as I thrash to get away from the male at my back. I don't get far

noring are banded around my chest tightly, my own pinned at my sides as I co to twist in the asshole's arms, my legs pushing off the riverbed to try a me.

the I bring a hand up and grip his forearm, my short nails clawing at the ill hide until his nose presses against the side of my neck, just below my ear. I see him his touch. At the place where he shouldn't be touching me.

My heart slams against my chest, and there is no way he doesn't fee ed it. with the arm banded across me. His growl is a low rumble, pressing hi l, so I further into my skin, and I can't hold back the tiny sound that escapes r sensespulls me more firmly against him, drawing me closer, and I feel hardner ay at digging into my lower back. My stomach drops and my nipples tighter sound feel of him, the heat of him, the scent of him. I pant as he brings a hand ust in stroking my side leisurely until he slowly wraps a hand around the from blow my throat and tilts my head to the side, exposing more of my neck to h r to the he speaks against my skin.

first. "You shouldn't have run, little wolf," he rumbles in a low husky voi 1, excites me." He nips my flesh, and my body flushes at his attention.

"You were angry," I pant, unconsciously tilting my head further as I teeth travel up my neck, biting me softly. My eyes close as his hold on ssible. throat tightens, his arm moving from my chest further down to hold my luck

I'm not panicking at his hold on me. I'm not flinching away from hi like I would have with others. Through the slow haze that's clouding nound mind, I realize that I have not once ever flinched away from him.

my He spins me suddenly, using the hand that's still on my neck to guid as I face him. He takes his hand off my hip and grabs me under my chibreaths adding pressure until I look up into his eyes. My lids slowly open, the as armslike I'm floating at his nearness consuming me as I try to clear my min

ontinue eyes are a little dimmer now, the white of his eyes only showing black nd aid bleeding at the edges. Although his wolf may have pulled back slightly prominent thing still has me entranced as I look in his half-lidded eyes skin The heat in them.

still at They're burning, threatening to eat me alive and devour me in the as that he will leave in his wake.

He pulls me closer by my throat, a soft sound spilling from my lips as nose hands land on his solid chest. "I am angry," he says in a low tone. "Bu me. He you had to run from me. You know as well as I do how we wolves like chase, the hunt, the challenge. And I always catch what I'm hunting, R at the you should know that from when I caught you in The Deadlands." He lup, his head lower, so close to me that I see flecks of silver dancing in his tof looking like tiny shards of exploded glass. "Now, I'm not just angry, I' im as excited." he growls, gripping my throat tighter, and Runa growls back I can stop the sound escaping. He pauses, his eyes dropping to my lips ice. "It looking back up at me.

His body tenses at the look in my eyes, his thumb rubbing smoothly my pulse and his brows form a line. He makes a frustrated sound at the my of his throat until he closes the distance between us, a breath away from y hip. lips.

in a brutal kiss. I let out a squeak of surprise, my fingers digging into h chest as I keep my eyes wide open, just like him. His eyes darken, and le me lips press firmer on mine before he bites my lower lip in reprimand who, don't kiss him back. I'm too stunned to do anything, to understand who feeling fuck is happening. He pulls away, his heated eyes take in my startled o ld. His both of us panting heavily and sharing each other's breaths as we stare

that's each other. "Open for me," he demands in a low tone. When I say noth 7, one grabs and pulls my ponytail, holding me still. His mouth comes back to once more, squeezing my throat in warning to do what he says.

Unable to resist, I do, even though I have no idea what I'm doing, but shes doesn't seem to care.

My eyes close and a small moan escapes me as I relent to his deman as my mouth as it moves with mine. I kiss him back, unsure but fiercely, my then traveling up his chest to the back of his head. I grip his hair tightly in not the fists, pulling him closer. Needing him closer.

hea, He makes a sound of approval into my mouth, and the sound goes st dips to my clit, causing wetness to pool between my thighs. His grip on my pupils, and throat tighten simultaneously, no doubt smelling my arousal that h'm caused, and that just excites me further. His hand moves away from my before to my jaw and squeezes until my lips part for him. He invades my mou before tongues tangling in a battle for dominance, and I whimper at the feel of the taste of him. I want to bathe in him as his scent wraps around me.

I rock my hips forward, feeling his hardness pressing into my stoma over back making me feel delirious with want. Need. I feel him turning us and wa me backwards, the cool water splashing against my heated skin as we n my My nipples rub against his chest through our wet clothing, and I releas long, low moan, wondering what it would feel like skin to skin. He lets re me my jaw and bends slightly, moving his forearm beneath my ass and lift ıis up against him. I wrap my legs around his waist, feeling his cock agair his center as I bring my arms around his neck. He releases my lips and trai ıen I open mouth kisses down the side of my neck while I move my hips, ru at the my pussy against him through our clothes. My back hits a hard surface nes, pay it no mind, feeling my body thrum with pleasure as I rock into him at

ing, he lips attack my collarbone, his hand squeezing my ass helping me move of mine him, guiding my body how he wants it as he tastes my skin. Why does feel so good?

ut he He grunts against my shoulder, moving me faster, his grip on my assibruising with every rock of my body. "You smell so good, little wolf." ding gravel in his voice has pleasure thrumming through me. "You want to hands don't you?"

"Yes," I moan, and scrape my nails down the back of his neck, making groan against me. He lifts his head and captures my mouth, devouring traight our tongues taste each other, and I feel my orgasm creeping closer. "Down hair his chuckle is deep as tiny sounds escape me as the tightness in me higher and higher as he grinds his cock against me, hitting my clit with y throatthe right amount of pressure. His free hand roams over the swell of my the thin, our breast, squeezing and roaming before he pinches my nipple through the finm, of my t-shirt, I suck in a sharp breath.

"Fuck," he breathes against my mouth before everything tightens at ch, slight pain, at the pleasure I haven't felt this strongly before flooding tl alking me. I arch into him as my orgasm hits me hard and fast. My lips part at move. moan, loud and long, and Darius groans low at the sound as my pussy e a contracts, my legs twitching around his hips.

He holds me close as my orgasm fades, my body slumping against he to me we stay like that as I come back to myself, mouths not moving against other, just touching as I catch my breath. I peel my eyes open, not realist closed them, and his eyes hold me captive, the desire in them sending being butterflies into my stomach as his fingers twitch against my ass. When the breathing is under control, I hum at the satisfied feeling in my body, remains the satisfied feeling in my body, remains the satisfied feeling in my body.

e into in this new state, and then almost stop breathing, my body locking up a this him.

What the fuck did I just do? How did that even happen?

I jolt and lean back away from him, moving my eyes away from his drop my hands from around his neck and loosen my legs from his wais come, removes his hand from my chest and around my ass and drops me slov the floor, saying nothing, but making me feel every inch of his body or ing himway down. I feel his eyes still on me, but I continue to look away as I i it as past him to the river, wading through the cool water and dipping low u arius." up to my neck. His stare caresses my back, but I don't speak and neither builds he, my mind whirling with what I just did. The shame of it.

I just got off on dry humping Darius, the Alpha of the Elites, the ma can tear my world apart as soon as he gets back to the Highers, while he e fabricpinned me against a fucking tree.

What. The. Actual. Fuck.

the When I feel the cold of the water settle into my bones, I stand and w hrough back over to Darius where he hasn't moved. I stop a few feet from him s I shivering, and not in the way he just made my body feel. I stare at the my hands moving to my hips wondering what in the Gods I'm suppose say.

im. My mind is a mess of confusion and disbelief. Even though we didned the each get naked and have sex, I still held on to him like I never wanted to let izing I and he definitely kept me there, gripping me just as tightly. I put myse position of vulnerability, and I never do that. I let it get too far, even if my encouraged it, even if he started it by running. I shouldn't have even le lishing kiss me. I should have kicked him in the balls and told him to fuck off. didn't. I've given myself orgasms before, that's nothing new. I've only

Fuck, I've never kissed anyone before until him, never been that close another person like that. How he made me feel, how I relented to him a as I pulled him closer, needing him closer. I've never felt that way before, at. He felt that need.

vly to I shake my head. Insanity.

1 the I'm still running through the whole situation in my mind when he sp nove "What's wrong, Rhea?" he says mockingly, and I stiffen at the cruel so ntil it's his voice. "Never come before?"

er does "I'm not some naive, virgin girl," I snap, bringing my head up just in to see his eyes flash black. "But what the fuck just happened?"

n who "If you're not a virgin, then you know you ground your pussy on my until you came. How you make these little whimpering sounds when I you close—"

"Stop being an asshole!" I cut him off, glaring at him. This is seriou ralk he couldn't give a fuck. He shrugs and crosses his arms, my eyes follow, how the wet material stretches across his body, and I can't help as my ground, lower to see the outline of his abs. I flick my eyes back up to him quicked to the smirk on the mouth that just devoured mine tells me I was caught checking him out.

"You ran from me. I was already angry and then you had to go and I go, he tilts his head, his wet hair sticking to his face. "I've been in The De If in a for months, I haven't fucked since before then. The hunt excites me, ex my wolf." His gaze trails my body as I stand there, wet and flushed. "Yet him were there, and your body begged for release, so I gave you one. You'd But I lucky I restrained myself enough that I didn't bend you over and fuck you had

ning. until you had to crawl back home. Remember that the next time you trous to run from me."

"Lucky?" I scoff, trying to ignore how coldly he is recalling what ju never happened. "What makes you think I would let you fuck me?" He runs tongue over his lips, and I'll be damned if I lower my eyes and watch.

"I would fuck you, Rhea, and you would welcome me into your tight beaks. body, begging me for more like a greedy slut." I flinch at his words be bund of can stop myself, and his smirk is slow, vicious. "However, it depends i want my cock in a hole that has probably had so many, because I don't n time put it in anyone. Your body may be tight, but your pussy?" He tilts his "That's questionable."

v cock With those last words, he turns and walks off without a care in the w pulled while I struggle to keep the prickle of tears from my eyes.

That hurt. His assumption about who's been inside my body, of how s and people I would just let that close to me without care. That's not me, I d wing let anyone touch me like that."

eyes Yet here I am, pissed and slightly confused at being aroused by the tkly, butthat he could have fucked me against that tree, and I would have let him that moment. I don't even know him. He's the enemy.

I scrub my hands down my face and sit in the dirt, cold and wet, wo run," if I need to go to Anna for a checkup. It's just the stress of these last fe adlandsweeks, finding the Elites while searching The Deadlands, Kade being creites and now having strangers in my home.

The reason I'm acting strange is because of that.

re That's all it was, and that's all it needs to be.

you Ghostly fingers start stroking along my shoulder to my neck, and I r hand up absentmindedly, putting my palm against it. Unexpected warn

touches me, and I close my eyes, feeling reassurance wash over me what ingling sensation starts in my chest. When it crawls upward and reach cheeks, I open my eyes and will the feeling to stay. Runa whines inside and I mentally scratch behind her ears, letting her know I'm here. The tingling feeling finally goes, and I lean back on my hands and open the It little Determined to ignore what just happened.

fore I "Everyone at dinner?" I ask Josh, hoping my voice sounds normal. "Yeah, they're just waiting on you. Kade is there too," Josh replies. I just My brows rise in surprise. I didn't expect him to be there. Kade's be head. pretty much keeping to himself unless he's with Sam, and he should st resting and taking it easy. "I'll be there soon."

I jump to my feet, my eyes lifting to the glow of the wisps as they please the trees and head home for a change of clothes and a shower. I can't expression many walk into the gathering with the smell of Darius on me, feeling the result on't my orgasm in my panties with each step I take. That would definitely expressions I'm not sure how to answer and more problems I do not hought. And I don't need to keep thinking about the asshole who just left me in the gave me something I never knew was possible for me.

ndering

W

distant

each a

nth

touches me, and I close my eyes, feeling reassurance wash over me while a tingling sensation starts in my chest. When it crawls upward and reaches my cheeks, I open my eyes and will the feeling to stay. Runa whines inside me, and I mentally scratch behind her ears, letting her know I'm here. The tingling feeling finally goes, and I lean back on my hands and open the link. Determined to ignore what just happened.

"Everyone at dinner?" I ask Josh, hoping my voice sounds normal.

"Yeah, they're just waiting on you. Kade is there too," Josh replies.

My brows rise in surprise. I didn't expect him to be there. Kade's been pretty much keeping to himself unless he's with Sam, and he should still be resting and taking it easy. "I'll be there soon."

I jump to my feet, my eyes lifting to the glow of the wisps as they play in the trees and head home for a change of clothes and a shower. I can't exactly walk into the gathering with the smell of Darius on me, feeling the results of my orgasm in my panties with each step I take. That would definitely cause some questions I'm not sure how to answer and more problems I do not need.

And I don't need to keep thinking about the asshole who just left me after he gave me something I never knew was possible for me.

TWENTY ONE

RHEA

I sneak through the back door of my cabin, closing it behind me slowly I listen for any sounds inside. Hearing nothing, I rush down the hallwa around the banister to head for my bedroom. I get three steps up the stabefore I halt at the amused voice aimed my way.

"I didn't think you would have to sneak into your own home," Josh suddenly, and I turn slowly toward him.

Shit.

"I didn't want to be bothered,' I tell him tentatively as I shuffle towaliving area. I see him sitting on the sofa, flicking through the pages of book he's reading.

"I can smell him on you, you know." I cringe and move from foot to where I stand. He sighs and looks up at me, taking in my wet clothes a disheveled hair. "I didn't see that coming," he says, continuing to look over.

I blush and roll my eyes before walking forward and taking a seat of chair across from him. "Yeah, well," I mumble. "I didn't either." I picl fingernails.

He shakes his head. "I also didn't see you letting anyone near you li either, and though I'm glad you finally have, I hate the person you dec do that with."

"We didn't fuck," I blurt out, and then clear my throat at the confuse on his face. "We just sort of... grinded a bit." I groan and rub my eyes. Please ground. Swallow me.

I won't lie to Josh. He's my brother without the same blood. But shi didn't want to have this conversation right now, or, you know, ever. Bu also know he won't let it drop. He loves and cares for me, and I know doesn't want to see me hurt. So if talking about what happened with D will ease his mind then that's what I'll do then forget it ever happened. "Oh," he trails off, looking like he's about to piss himself from hold laugh that I know wants to escape at my expense. I scowl at him, and t does it. He drops his book, and his head falls back as he laughs into the silence around us. I pick up a pillow and throw it at him.

"Josh," I groan.

"Okay... just give... just give me a second," he breathes. I cross my ard the and scowl in his direction, waiting until he finally calms down. He see the look on my face when he's done and straightens, his face serious. "Dic hurt you?") foot

"What? No, he didn't hurt me," I tell him softly at his concern, and l relaxes. Sure, he didn't hurt me physically, but his words did a little de me me. Asshole.

"This isn't a good idea, you know. You and Darius," he pulls his kn 1 the and rests his arms on them. "For starters, you guys practically hate eac s at my other. Not to mention he's the Alpha of the Elites, who do the Highers bidding."

y while y and

irs

says

nd my

ke that "I know," I sigh, and tip my head to rest on the back of the chair. "I ided to know how it even happened, Josh. He was saying all kinds of shit, and threw a stone at him when he was walking off and—"

ed look "Wait, you threw a stone at him?" Josh cuts me off, amusement writ his face.

"Yes. I threw a pissing stone at him. Then he went all human wolf a t, I and I ran and he chased me. Then we were in the river, and then I was a tree rubbing myself over him like the green on grass."

he just Silence. Absolute silence.

arius I bring my head up slowly and look at Josh who appears as shocked felt. He shifts a little and clears his throat. "Well, shit, Rhea." I nod. Sling the indeed. "That's quite the escalation."

hat "Yeah, it really is." I shake my head. "Now it's going to be awkward he probably won't take me seriously because of what happened, but no has changed. He needs to leave and keep his mouth shut, because after watching him and the Elites since they arrived, there is no way we can them." I hesitate. "I... I also don't think I can handle more deaths on not sthe hands," I say quietly, looking down at my lap.

I he "You shouldn't feel guilty, Milal. You did what you had to do to sur We all did," he says gently, and I shake my head.

"I just feel like there could have been a different way, some other roent on could have taken. They were just trainees, Josh." My voice cracks. "Dathey had families."

h face. The dam finally bursting within me, and I can't hold back any me another tear streams down my face. Josh sits next to me, pulling me to side. I bury my face in his shoulder, soaking in his comfort as he wraps

don't arms tightly around me. My emotions flow free, and I cry for the lives then I took. For the trainees that had full lives ahead of them. Lives that I rob them of. I try not to let the guilt and sadness consume me, but it's so hatten on "Shh Rhea, it's okay. I'm here," Josh soothes, rubbing my back.

He is here, he's always here. I honestly don't think I would have got nd shit, this far without him. He saved my life all those years ago and has done against many times since then. Always with me, always supporting me and low me. I wrap my arms around him and hold him closer. I'm so grateful for the's seen me at my worst, at the top of the cliffs at Lovers Falls who as I wanted the Unforgivable Sea to take me in its grasp and never let me go lit let me have peace.

Only Josh and Kade held me back from those waters, and now my p d, and does too. But the stain on my soul, the dark mass that will forever be thothing the things I've done, even if it was to ensure we survived, robs me of the to breathe at times.

soothing hands up and down my back. He's one of only two people the seen my tears like this, who have seen me exposed and breaking down vive. can't trust anyone else with them. I get myself under control and lift m to look at him. He lifts a hand and wipes my cheeks, his eyes full of coute we "Okay now?"

ammit, I nod, and he relaxes. I lean back, taking his hand in mine and squee lightly. "Much better now."

"Just be careful, okay?" he says after a while of us sitting in silence, ore as enjoying being near each other. Runa definitely doesn't mind the close his with Josh, feeling his wolf where our arms touch.

s his "Hmm?" I ask.

that I "With Darius. I've seen the way he watches you. Just be careful." I bed he does. He's a stalker as well as a babysitter.

ard. "I will," I say, smiling softly, ignoring what he said about Darius. The let loose a bigger smile when I ask, "So, how's Sarah doing?" He shift uncomfortably. Well, well.

"She's doing good, really good actually. Anna says her healing is coving along great, and I'm keeping her up to date with everything that's happor him. like you asked me to. She's okay, scared obviously, but not scared enough retreat into herself fully."

That great news, Josh." And it is, Sarah has come so far with her recovery, especially with letting Josh near her. "When the Elites leave, ack hopefully she has enough courage to venture outside. I'm sure you wil nere forthere to help her." I nudge my shoulder with his.

he will His cheeks redden, and he pushes me away from him as he stands. I back a laugh. "Go shower, you stink. I'll meet you at the gathering." Hobing to leave, but stops at my words.

"Will you keep an eye on Maize? I saw her lurking through the fore.

I the way back here. I haven't seen her around much, and I don't know very head she was doing there. But I just thought it was strange."

oncern. "Yeah, I'll let the others know about it. Now go, hurry before you medinner." He shoos me away, and I stand and head for the stairs. Time to the Darius off of me.

Yet as I stand in the shower, about to rid myself of his scent, I hesita just more than I should have.

ness

"With Darius. I've seen the way he watches you. Just be careful." I know he does. He's a stalker as well as a babysitter.

"I will," I say, smiling softly, ignoring what he said about Darius. Then I let loose a bigger smile when I ask, "So, how's Sarah doing?" He shifts uncomfortably. Well, well.

"She's doing good, really good actually. Anna says her healing is coming along great, and I'm keeping her up to date with everything that's happening like you asked me to. She's okay, scared obviously, but not scared enough to retreat into herself fully."

"That great news, Josh." And it is, Sarah has come so far with her recovery, especially with letting Josh near her. "When the Elites leave, hopefully she has enough courage to venture outside. I'm sure you will be there to help her." I nudge my shoulder with his.

His cheeks redden, and he pushes me away from him as he stands. I hold back a laugh. "Go shower, you stink. I'll meet you at the gathering." He turns to leave, but stops at my words.

"Will you keep an eye on Maize? I saw her lurking through the forest on the way back here. I haven't seen her around much, and I don't know what she was doing there. But I just thought it was strange."

"Yeah, I'll let the others know about it. Now go, hurry before you miss dinner." He shoos me away, and I stand and head for the stairs. Time to scrub the Darius off of me.

Yet as I stand in the shower, about to rid myself of his scent, I hesitate more than I should have.

TWENTY TWO

RHEA

After a quick shower and a change of clothes, I make my way down to gathering. My steps are slow, and I crack my knuckles as I follow the a path. The Elites haven't once been to the gathering at dinnertime since arrived. They eat in their cabin, and Darius and his closest men eat in I home. Which I make sure to avoid. Breakfast is enough, especially after nightmares of my past have come back to haunt me in my sleep.

I'm not comfortable leaving them alone in my home, but they can't into my office without knowing the spell to open the door, and my offi where they might find anything useful. With that in mind, I avoid them home as much as I can.

Nervous about going to dinner, I pinch my lip between my fingers. I like anyone will know what I did, but shame still fills me. The Elites at threat to us, and I just grinded on one until I came. Even after a long shafter I scrubbed Darius' scent off of me, I still don't know what came of me. It doesn't help that Runa just let it happen either, basking in his att when he caught us. She fucking hates people, yet she practically rolls of a belly scratch from Darius. The traitor.

I shake my hands out when I reach the first trees that scarcely surrou gathering and straighten my spine. My face gives nothing away as I ap my pack, smiling at those who call out to me in greeting, acting like everything is absolutely fine. Which it's fucking not, not in the slighter

Taking a seat on my usual bench, I nudge Kade's shoulder gently, n of his injuries. He turns and looks at me, a sad smile on his face before turning back to the sunken fire pit in the middle, the glow of the flame caressing his face. I bring my hand up and rub the back of his neck, reassuring him and letting him know I'm there. I know he feels he let r the pack down, but he needs to move on and learn from it. It just may t little time with the way he stews over things.

I ripped the entire pack a new set of assholes, especially Josie, for vo for Kade to go to The Deadlands and completely disregarding my orde told them all that nothing can be done now and that they were safe, reg of the Elite now being here. They're still extremely wary of them want around our home, but they're not outright crying and running away any That's something at least.

Josie walks over to me, a smile on her face as she presses her cheek ı in my mine in greeting. She hands me a plate with strips of meat and vegetab and the smell makes my mouth water. I see extra meat, and I know it's way of apologizing to me again for pressuring Kade. "Thanks," I tell h she walks back over to Danny and sits down.

I may still be more upset with her because of how close we are, but and Danny hold each other's eyes for a moment, jealousy rises in me. want a mate, and I know I'm not capable of what they have, but it still doesn't stop me from wishing for it deep down sometimes.

A family to call my own. Someone who is solely mine, and I'm thei

the dirt

they ny

er the

get

ce is

t's not

lower,

over

re a

ention

and the like Josie and Danny are to each other. Their love is strong and true, we proach pureness that cannot be replicated.

Shaking my head at myself, I watch the pack continue to hand out for st.

everyone, the smaller plates being handed out for the pups first after mulindful don't know what's wrong with me lately. Everything just feels off, and desiring things I haven't wanted before, at least not as strong as it is no

I spot Katy and Oscar across from me, huddled together, but otherw looking okay. Taylor stands with Sebastian, plates in hand and Seb lift ne and plate in greeting, giving me a wink. I roll my eyes at his usual flirty sel take a Hudson and Colten sit close together on the bench further to my left. E looks annoyed while Colten looks bored, resting his head on the back of bench with his hands behind his head. They're always bickering about

gardless A blur of motion has my head turning as Sam runs over to us, her sn dering shy as she looks at Kade. "Hey," she whispers, tucking a piece of hair ymore. her ear.

Kade ruffles her light brown hair, and she scowls up at him as he gri to her. "Hey, winglet."

les, "Kade," she whines. "Stop calling me that."

something, but it seems more often lately.

rs. I

her He laughs, and my heart warms at the sound I don't hear often anymer as "Never. Go on to your mom and eat." He spins her by her shoulder and nudges her toward her mom, Sybill. She scowls at him over her should as she goes, and I chuckle at the pout that forms.

I don't She's shy around most people, but Kade is an exception. "She likes say to him, and he just shrugs at me, watching as Sam takes her seat or ground at her mom's legs and starts to eat.

rs. Just Josh appears at my side and sits to my right with a plate of his own I

ith a high with food, giving my shoulder a little squeeze. "Damn, have you eaten today?" I ask him, looking at the amount of food on his plate. He nod for moves the plate in front of me and passes it to Kade and my mouth drc open at him. "Where in all of Vrohkaria are you putting all that?"

Kade smirks and goes to dive in when I slap his hand away. "What? "I want to bless the food tonight. We haven't done it in a while," I in him, and he sits back and waits for me to continue. I clear my throat, a s his start the blessing, when movement catches my eye over the fire in fron lf. me.

I suck in a breath as Darius, Leo, Damian, Zaide, Maize and Jerrod, of the into the gathering. My pack is silent and shuffle in their places at their But no one panics or screams thankfully. My pack looks toward me, at pass Josh my plate of food, standing awkwardly as I address my pack.

nile are our guests," I tell my pack, loud enough for all of them to hear. "Tl behind are plates on the table near the pot, grab whatever food you would like to the Elites swiftly and take my seat again, plate back in hand.

They walk to the center, some of my pack getting up and moving to away from them. Their wary eyes tracking their movements. The Elite what is going on around them, but they don't appear bothered by it. It' nore. they don't care that my pack is scared of them at all. I watch Darius un lashes as he picks up a plate and takes a selection of meats and vegetal ler as from the low wooden tables in front of the fire pit. He looks at the rece vacated benches and takes a seat, the rest of the Elites joining him. Ma you," I the last to grab her food, her light eyes looking toward Kade every nov again in a way that sets me on edge. I wait until everyone has gotten th food and just before they start eating, I start the blessing.

piled I bow my head slightly and close my eyes. Blocking the Elites' watc

eyes on me, I say our prayer. "The earth is my witness, of the blood the been spilt. The moon is my eyes, that food will not wilt. The human is mind, as I honor this feast. The wolf is my protector, as I safely eat.

Zahariss."

"Zahariss," my pack echoes the name of our female wolf goddess as aform my eyes, and they start to eat their food.

bout to Feeling an intense gaze on me, I look up and see Darius staring at met of the flames of the fire. His face has an eerie glow as his stare bores into and I shift in my seat, feeling a warming sensation in my chest. He has walk of confusion on his face, and I guess it's because he has never heard the arrival. Goddess' blessing before. No one follows the old Gods anymore, so I'nd I surprised.

"They I break eye contact with him and take strips of meat off my plate and nere to eat. The dinner is quiet, much quieter than the liveliness we usually ," I say lean back on the bench, not feeling very hungry anymore and watch m

Worry for them is at the forefront of my mind, wondering how I can go sit to relax. I know the threat that Darius will take me to the Highers and one sknow our home is still there. If that happens, once they find out the truth, the slike Highers will take my pack members back where they originally came for my But they won't hurt them now, not physically. They have nothing to go les from it. Apart from maybe getting to me.

"Alpha," a small voice calls as most of us are finishing our food, and ize is toward Samantha, sitting with some other pups.

"What's up Sam?" I ask her, leaning forward to put my plate on the and Kade looks at her with a confused look on his face.

"Can you tell us the story of the Canaric wolves again?" She fiddles thful her fingers, her hair covering her face as she looks toward the ground.

still far more nervous than a thirteen-year-old should be when speaking at's and having attention on her that's not from Kade. If I ever saw her fath my would happily put him in the ground.

I get up and walk toward where she's sitting on the ground, her mon I open sitting on the bench behind her. I lower myself down and sit cross legg across from her, giving her a smile as I put a hand atop her head and st e over down her hair.

"Of course, I will." I slide up next to her and put my arm around her mine. a look holding her close as I look into the fire, aware of everyone's attention I won't refuse her though, even with the Elites here. "Thousands and 6 m not thousands of years ago, a man and a woman loved each other very much they couldn't be together. Their families demanded that they had to ma d start other people of their fathers' choosing. The man and the woman knew have. I but they were too madly in love, and wanted to run away together. It to y pack. many months of planning until they finally had a plan set in stone. All et them had to do was wait until a situation arose where they could sneak off, a expose from prying eyes.

"During the wait, the woman fell pregnant with her lover's babe. Th became more desperate than ever to escape their packs, so they could l rom. love freely. To be mated and be a family. She hid her pregnancy from in everyone, using tonics to hide how her scent changed, especially from d I lookfamily. Only her beloved knew. Luck was on their side when the wom around six months pregnant. The mate of the King of Vrohkaria, who t floor, people loved dearly, had just birthed a son. The lands were full of celebrations, and the king invited all of Vrohkaria to join them a week celebrate and welcome their new son at the castle in Fenrikar. with "A week went by, and on the night of the celebration, the man and v

She is

planned to sneak out and run away together. It was the perfect time as everyone would be too busy celebrating. So, they went to the castle an waited for the right moment." Even though most of my pack have hear and many other stories before, they still hang on to every word, their for entirely on me. "As the night went on and it was getting closer to the time they had agreed to leave, the woman couldn't find the man. Panicked, searched many rooms of the castle until she decided he must have gone their meeting place to wait for her. Convinced, she made her way through the castle, but she came across something she never wished she had. That wished wasn't true.

ch, but "The love of her life was with another woman in the hall that led ou the gardens. At seeing this betrayal, it felt like her heart was being torn ite and the woman choked back a cry at seeing them together. The man he this, small sound that escaped her and turned to look at the woman he loved ok much. The woman could see the pain in his eyes as they stared at each they but she could also see the warmth and excitement he had for this new v ıway Then she saw the bite mark just below his ear, the mark she was going him when she claimed him as his mate. But this other woman had done ley ive andinstead, and when she looked toward her, her entire world shifted as sh he had placed his mark on her too."

her "The man and the pregnant woman weren't mates?" Skylar asks from an was to her mom, further down from where me and Sam are sitting.

the "No," I shake my head at her. "The man and the pregnant woman w very much in love with each other. They chose to be mates and wanted later to complete the ritual after they ran away, but they were not bloodmates.

that all changed when the man came across his bloodmate. There was I voman either of them could do, a bloodmate cannot be ignored or resisted. Wh

bloodmates bite their mates, it stays for all of time. It's a powerful and do connection not many find, and the man just happened to find his blood do this the night they planned to start their new life."

"What happened next," Sam whispers, curling up next to me even me "Devastated, the woman ran out into the castle gardens alone. The next stayed inside with his bloodmate, unable to go after his lover and the begrowing in her womb. The woman ran for days, away from the castle, ugh the from her home, until she finally stopped in the center of a blooming, go she clearing surrounded by lilk trees."

I see Darius lean back against the bench out of the corner of my eye tside to barely touched food resting on his knee as he listens to the story of how apart, Canaric wolves came to be from my family, not history texts. I meet his eard the briefly, finding his rapt attention on me, before looking back into the fill very and I take a breath and continue. "The woman sobbed and sobbed on the other, ground of colorful flowers, crying her soul out until she couldn't shed woman. single tear anymore. Heartbroken and lost, she lay there for a long time to give she went into labor early. She was in labor for seven days and seven nie it until her baby girl was finally brought into the world, but she didn't me saw Alone and with no hope in sight, the woman screamed to the land and below, begging Zahariss and Cazier to save her baby, ignoring the poom next blood dampening the ground beneath her.

"What felt like hours upon hours, the Gods finally heard her scream ere just came to her. Zahariss was light in color, and Cazier dark. They were bill to than any other wolves that roamed the lands. They could do nothing for woman, nor her babe. The child was born too early, and the heartbroke nothing woman had lost too much blood. They could only offer her comfort. Zenen laid down and wrapped herself around her right side, allowing the mot

specialwith her still babe to press up against her, offering her warmth even the mate coated her fur in blood. Cazier, the ever-fierce protector took her left so watching over them as they waited for her last moments.

"The woman was slowly fading. She knew she was close to taking h iore. breaths, so she begged the Gods in a broken voice for her child to be re ıan For her child to have a chance at life again, for her to find her bloodma abe live the life her mother felt she should have had. The woman's eyes clo away for the final time after her pleading words, cradling her still child to he rassy as her life's blood soaked into the earth, causing the surrounding lilk tr change in color. At that moment, her will for her child to be protected: , his into the ground and traveled to the lilk trees. It is said that it's still ther *v* the is eyes this day.

"Zahariss and Cazier watched as their bright essence twirled up into sky as the babe rested on her chest, the woman's now stiff arms holdin in place. Zahariss stayed where she was, and looked toward Cazier wit e, until question in her eyes. Cazier walked over to the babe and touched his n ghts her for a long moment as Zahariss watched him, her eyes glowing. A b ove. and black essence rose up and shot out in different directions into the r sky, and both wolf Gods sat next to each other and watched on until light of broke the dark."

"That's how the Canaric wolves were made," Sam says in a tiny wh s and I look down at her and put my finger beneath her chin gently until I igger eyes. I smile when she looks at me. "When the king's mate had anothe the she delivered a female pup, not a babe. The king and his mate didn't keen what to do, it had never happened before in the history of wolves, but the ahariss loved her all the same. On her seventh birthday, she turned into a little and they were stunned, but extremely happy. The little girl had markin

ough it her face, among other places and her parents later found out it was a sy ide, of the Gods, the markings on her body meant she was the Heir to the C Zahariss."

A scoff sounds, and my head turns to Maize, who looks at me with a born. My eyes flash in warning, and I see a wariness creep into her own eyes the and before she looks away, folding her arms and crossing her legs. My gaz used moves to Darius, who ignores her and keeps his focus on me, head tilter chest look back into the fire.

"Many months later, another pup was born to another family, a male ees to seeped his seventh birthday he changed into a little boy and had markings on l back that went to the top of his shoulders and neck. They were differer e to color, but similar to the female Heir's markings. He was Cazier's Heir were only ever two born with Heir markings at one time, one male and the female, and they could do incredible things. They were honored by all g her and set the balance of Vrohkaria, just like Zahariss of the lands and Ca h a ose to the below did. The only time a new Heir would be born is when the cu Heir died, and we wolves live a very long time, so it didn't happen for lue hundreds of years. An Heir hasn't been born or seen in over three hunc night years now. It is said that they went into hiding as they were ruthlessly **zht**

by those that thought their Heir power was too dangerous to be left alivisper. the Gods still watch over us, even if some of us are a bit misguided at a see her But that's how the Canaric wolf came to be. Through the heartbreak of r child, woman losing the love of her life, wanting her babe to be reborn and h now chance at life and happiness, and the Gods granting her wish in the onliney that they could."

girl, "But why did Cazier and Zahariss decide to have Heirs? They could gs on just reborn the babe," Sam says, blinking up at me slowly.

"Mo one really knows," I tell her as her eyes begin to droop. "Some Goddess because they couldn't be together, they had hoped that their Heirs coul the life they never had like the woman wanted, but there is no record the lisgust. of the Heirs ever mated. Others say their power was fading, so they put last of it into making the Canaric wolves. Having their legacy live on it way while maintaining balance in the lands. Either way, the Gods are a with us, protecting us as best they can."

"If the Gods protect us," Sam murmurs half asleep, her eyes closing e. On didn't they protect mom and me?" Her head falls to the side, and I mar his her so her face is against my neck comfortably.

I clenched my jaw at her words and will the burning in my eyes to solution. There tighten my hold on her, wanting to take it all away from her and ease hold one pain. I hear her mom sniffle behind me, and I reach a hand up and link wolvesfingers with mine, giving her a gentle squeeze in support

zier of I feel, rather than see when Darius stilled at Sam's words, and my ey rrent flick toward him as he looks at the girl in my arms. I watch as he looks toward the other pack members around us who have their gazes to the lred feeling Sam's pain just like I am, and probably feeling their own. Darin hunted leans forward on his knees, hand clasped under his chin as he stares at ve. But ground in thought. I'm sure he's wondering what she meant, but I won times. the one to tell their stories. If he wants to know, it has to come from the and they don't trust any of the Elites.

ave a They may go around protecting the lands from creatures, but some have asked for their help before and a blind eye was turned to their suf Why would they trust them now?

have And as Kade comes over to me, picking Sam up so gently in his arm that he doesn't disturb her and rubbing his cheek against her head, I kn

```
say
       they will never trust the Elites with their secrets. With their pain.
          Not when some have been the cause of it.
d live
nat any
t the
n this
ılways
. "Why
ıeuver
top. I
ıer
her
yes
floor,
us
the
't be
em,
ıere
fering.
1S SO
lOW
```

they will never trust the Elites with their secrets. With their pain.

Not when some have been the cause of it.

TWENTY THREE

RHEA

"You did what!" The screeching words hit my ears, and I wince.

"Shhh," I hush her, grabbing her arm and dragging her away from li ears and looking around to see if anyone is nearby. "Dammit Josie, kee down."

"You just told me you got all frisky with Darius and you want me to it down!" Her mouth opens and closes like she can't believe the words my mouth. To be honest, I can't either. "How did that happen?" she as we continue walking to collect water from the river.

"I don't know. I don't understand how Josie, but it just happened. W wrong with me?"

She grabs my arm roughly, bringing me to a stop as the bucket from hand drops to the ground. I look at her and her dark-green eyes flash at "There is *nothing* wrong with you. Do you hear me? So you did a bit o hump and grind and got off, so fucking what? It's about time you had a pleasure from somewhere else apart from your hand."

My cheeks heat. "I have got off before without using my hand," I m I bend to pick up the bucket and continue walking. "That was one time, and you just wanted to get it over with. This was different, wasn't it?"

Of course it was different. "Yeah," I sigh. "I don't know what came me, but I've never felt so... alive when his hands were touching me." I my head. "He's the fucking enemy, but maybe I can use this to my advantage," I muse, glancing up at the sun peeking through the canopy trees.

"How so?" she asks, swinging her bucket back and forth as we walk "Let me think about it," I tell her, and walk toward the river. I bend and fill the bucket in my hand with water as Josie does the same.

Darius obviously has some attraction to me, even if he said I was just at the time. But maybe I can use that to sway his mind and see that my is good here, and that they need to stay here and be safe. If I can get his see them in a different light to how he sees me, it could work.

out of "Just be careful, Rhea, but don't shy away from exploring that man he's up for it."

I splutter a laugh. "Man meat?"

7hat's She smirks. "Oh, he's definitely a whole ass snack."

I bump her shoulder with mine as we head back to the gathering. "D Danny hear you say that."

"Why would I do that? He'll get jealous and carry me off to our caba
t me.

that would I do that? He'll get jealous and carry me off to our caba
t have his wicked way with me." She's not wrong.

"Devious girl," I tease.

"I prefer smart," she winks.

We arrive at the gathering and pour our last bucket of water into the the center. It took us a few trips to the river, but thankfully the pot is not filled to the brim and ready to boil. Josie sets the fire beneath to prepar

around, but take extra care not to get too close to my pack members. So over have been brave and started sparring with them, but a lot still keep awa I shake them. Understandably.

"I'm going to head off and find Danny," Josie smiles, mischief danc of her eyes.

I laugh and touch her cheek to mine before she skips off, excited to her mate jealous. I shake my head at her antics. That girl is about to ha down trouble sitting down for a few days after Danny is done with her.

I add a few more logs beneath the fire when a small head of dark has there catches my attention. I stand and move unhurriedly, walking between to pack scarcely placed trees around the gathering. I follow the little boy, keep m to him in my sight as I look around for his mom. Not seeing her, I pick up pace, but then come to a sudden halt.

meat if I place my palm against the tree next to me as Jerrod, the big, red-ha Elite, stands still as Oscar runs to him and clings to his leg outside of o the cabins. Shit. I step forward, about to open my mouth, when someth grabs my arm, and I'm pulled back against a hard chest.

on't let His scent hits me, making my tense body relax slightly as his breath my ear. "Watch," is all Darius says, his hands on my hips gripping me in and He's not hurting me, he just wants me to stay put.

Curious and a little worried, I watch as Oscar babbles up to Jerrod, I his little arms up to him as the Elite looks down. After a moment, Jerro tentatively reaches down and gently picks Oscar up, his arms going un pot at him to keep him steady. Oscar picks up Jerrod's long braid from where ow resting over his shoulder and looks it over before tickling himself with re for his nose.

der A chuckle leaves me as he continues to play with Jerrod's braid, but ome also a little shocked by the big redhead letting him do it. Every time I'very from Jerrod, which is not often, he's always careful with his words. But seeing how happy Oscar is warms my insides, and I'm grateful the Elite is letting in him have his fun.

Darius' grip tightens on me as he rests his chin on the top of my hea make just let him, not understanding why. Hearing Oscar's name suddenly b called, I look toward the sound and see Katy running from between the her face full of panic. I go to step forward, but Darius holds me back a finally spots her son.

She freezes at seeing her son in the arms of an Elite, and the distress ing face makes me wrench out of Darius' grip. He grabs me again by my po the and turns me toward him, our faces close together as he leans down, are out a low growl of warning that he immediately returns.

"Watch them," he murmurs against my lips. He reaches a hand up a one of grips my chin, turning my head in their direction.

Oscar still happily plays with Jerrod's hair, oblivious to his mom's presence, but Jerrod's eyes are locked with hers. I see Katy straighten lickles shoulders before skittishly walking toward them. Her posture screams firmly but with an Elite holding her son in his arms, she's being brave. She st

few feet away from them and holds out her shaky arms. Her lips are m nolding but we aren't close enough to hear what she's saying.

Her hands tremble as she holds them out for Oscar, and the big Elite der slowly takes his braid from Oscar's hands, smiling softly at him and the it was him from his embrace. He places him gently into Katy's awaiting arms it on says something that has Katy ducking her head and cradling her son classical says.

I'm reaches out slowly, and Katy tenses as her eyes scrunch shut. Jerrod pave seen hand still held out, before he ruffles Oscar's hair, and he turns and leaving Katy waits until he's a few steps away from them before she lifts he ting again with eyes open, watching him go. Rubbing her head against her she waits until Jerrod is out of sight before she walks off. Pride fills mod and I her actions. She was brave, put her fears aside and went up to an Elite. eing male. To get her son.

e cabin, Being a mother can make you do things you never thought you were s Katy to. It makes you more than the skin that holds and binds you together, you powerful enough to overcome your own mind.

"None of my Elites would hurt anyone, Rhea," Darius says suddenly onytail jolt, turning my head to look back up at him. He squeezes my chin gen id I let action so at odds with the words he left me with the day before. "We d harm our own unless there is a cause to. We hunt creatures, not people if I have no idea what you guys are capable of, Darius," I tell him how my eyes bouncing between his. "But I know what my pack is and isn't capable of, and that was a big deal for Katy."

her "He wouldn't have hurt her or the pup," he stresses, his eyes turning fear, at the thought of it. "I won't allow it."

ops a I shake my head as much as I can with his hand still gipping my chiloving, don't know that. I don't trust any of you." It's why the pack is never of own, always with someone, and why me and the guys are watching the closely. "But I'm glad you stopped me from intervening, that was gooden lifts her. Hopefully it gives her a little more confidence and a little less fear He studies me for a moment, probably wondering if any of my word ose. Hetrue, before he ducks his head, his lips a touch away from mine. I take small breath when his eyes drop to my mouth before coming back up t

res. I swallow at the heat in them, and he moves his hand from my chin, glaces. across my jaw and down until he reaches the back of my neck. Gooseb r head appear all over my body and his eyes track those that are visible.

sons, "A little fear is good, Rhea, depending on the circumstances," he rule from and the sound makes my stomach clench.

To a His gaze travels down to my now heaving breast straining against m shirt, and a small sound escapes me that has his eyes snapping up to me able presses himself closer to me, that grip on my neck a solid force as he heads me still against him. He dips his head to the side of my throat and inhat deeply, a small, growling sound leaving his lips as I shiver. His tongue y, and I over my skin from the crook of my neck up to below my ear, and I dantly, the melt against him.

on't Runa comes close to the surface, a rumbling sound leaving her, and ." feel another wolf brushing up against me. Darius' wolf. Praise and nestly, contentment flow through me as his wolf rubs up against us through ou touch. My eyes close at this strange and new feeling, relishing in it and way my body feels like it's floating.

hard Darius kisses along my jaw, and I hum at the feel of his lips, enjoyir attention on me. Then suddenly he rips himself away. My eyes spring n. "I giving myself a few seconds for my brain to catch up as I stare at Dariun their confused eyes. My eyes lower to the obvious erection pressing against elites pants then back to his face as my brows furrow.

I open my mouth to ask him what the fuck that was, when another venters the gathering. "What's for dinner? I'm starving," Damian says a ls are walks between the benches and takes a seat near the fire. He ruffles his in a hair before holding his hands out, warming himself even though it's not o mine. I clear my throat and shuffle on my feet as he looks between me and

iding it Darius. "Stew," I say, running my hands down the tops of my thighs, n numps missing the way Darius tracks the movement. "It will be ready a little l I'm just waiting for the water to boil first." I point to the pot. nbles, "Uh-huh." Damian mumbles, giving Darius the stink eye. "Right. Well, I'm just going to go and do some... stuff until then," I eventually get out, and turn to leave, my cheeks on fire. v t-Fucking Gods. Could that have been any more awkward? Damian m ine. He olds have seen us being so close, and Darius attacking my skin with his mo Why am I drawn into Darius' aura? Why do I let him put his mouth les movesme? Again. Gods, what is happening to me? nn near then I ır 1 the ng his open, us' his oice ıs he brown

et cold.

Darius. "Stew," I say, running my hands down the tops of my thighs, not missing the way Darius tracks the movement. "It will be ready a little later. I'm just waiting for the water to boil first." I point to the pot.

"Uh-huh." Damian mumbles, giving Darius the stink eye.

"Right. Well, I'm just going to go and do some... stuff until then," I eventually get out, and turn to leave, my cheeks on fire.

Fucking Gods. Could that have been any more awkward? Damian must have seen us being so close, and Darius attacking my skin with his mouth.

Why am I drawn into Darius' aura? Why do I let him put his mouth on me? Again.

Gods, what is happening to me?

TWENTY FOUR

RHEA

"The females who are beginning their heat are all in the cabin and have their tonics to prevent any unwanted pregnancies," Josh tells me as I copiling wood up in the storage shed.

It was time again for us to prepare to make sure those in heat are as and comfortable as possible. We have the routine running like clockword after so many years of doing it, but I still get anxious. You really never what can happen during this time.

"Good. I already sorted a change in jobs this morning to make up fo females and the few males that will be unavailable." Grabbing more w from outside the shed, I haul more into my arms and take it inside. It's summer, and we mostly use these months to stock up for the winter sea know it's a long way off yet, but I want to be prepared early, especially not here. "Are you just going to stand and watch?" I ask Josh, coming outside to stare at him leaning against the shed.

He scratches his chin, looking thoughtful for a moment. "I think I've enough today. You know how females get when their heat is due. I've my ear chewed off for hours this morning about what they need. I told

they had their hands," he shrugs, and my mouth drops open, barely ma to resist the grin that wants to break free. He's kidding, but I go with it anyway.

"Wow, Josh," I shake my head at him. "You really woke up and chc violence today." He opens his mouth, but I'm already lunging at him, tackling him to the dirt floor. The oomph that comes from him is satisf my ears. I move and straddle his waist to try and get to his nipples, but hands grab mine.

"Oh, you think it's that easy, do you?" His light gray eyes laugh at r then he shifts his hips. I'm on my back in a flash, and now he's the one e taken me. He grabs both my wrists in one of his and attacks my ribs, tickling "Josh!" I squeal at him. "Don't you dare! Stop it!" I laugh, trying to wriggle away from his fingers. He ducks low and licks the side of my safe laughing at the disgusting sound that comes from me. "You little shit." ork "Little?" he scoffs. "Who is little?" His tickling ramps up, and all I'1 1 know to do is squeal through my laughter at him, gasping for breath. "Tap or Rhea," he sings. "You know you want to." r the "Never!" I say breathlessly, screaming as he goes to lick my face ag boo Dirty bastard. "I don't want your saliva on me, you overgrown dog." nearly He stops tickling me and slowly brings his head back to look down a ason. I Oops, he didn't like that. I bite my lip while he looks around for somet v if I'm work to release my hands and fail. He reaches past my head, and when back to see what he's doing, cold liquid is poured over my face. I splutter, screeching while shaking my head at the coldness as Josh howls with e done laughter. had "I think you need to cool off, Rhea. Bringing dogs into it?" He tsks

"I think you woke up and chose to be too big for your boots."

them

my boots fit me perfectly," I gasp as he rolls his eyes. "Don't you l my boots into this." I glare at him through the wet strands of my hair. I my boots. Then I see his fingers going for my ribs again. "Joshy," I wa see knowing the name will piss him off.

"Am I interrupting something?" a cold voice asks, and Josh's finger ying to freeze in their tracks. We both turn our heads and look toward the voic his Darius and Leo stand a little away from us, the former glaring at me ar at Josh.

ne and Well, this is a tad awkward considering the position we are in. It's a over normal occurrence for me and Josh with how many play fights we have me. the Elites don't know that. I can honestly say that if looks could kill, we have been taking our last breaths.

face, Spoilsport.

Josh huffs as he gets off of me, reaching his hand out to help me up. m able and place my hand in his, letting him pull me off the ground before gat it, my hair and putting it in a quick braid. I give a cheeky kick at Josh's sl turn my back on them all and continue grabbing wood and taking it int ain. shed.

"Such a child," I hear Josh mutter under his breath, causing me to sr at me. "What do you want?" he asks Darius and Leo sharply.

hing. I "Some of my Elites can sense that there are females going into heat, I try Darius says, and I pause. Still holding logs in my arms, I walk out of the storage shed and step up next to Josh, waiting for Darius to continue as watches me. "Most are fine, but some of the trainees are struggling. The already having difficulty controlling their dominance." He folds his are at me. shrugs. "I couldn't care less about it, but the last thing I want to deal we my trainees trying to fuck anything in sight while trying to get to your

oring females. I need somewhere to put them for the time being, away from love females."

Irn, I tilt my head and study his face. His mouth is set into a tense and I see the slightest bit of concern in his pretty green eyes. He says h doesn't care, but yet he's coming here to see if he can put those strugg. e. somewhere away from the pack while tensions are high and they could id then potentially assault my females. My gaze roams over him subtly. From boots, up his strong, muscular legs to the t-shirt that I secretly wished v tighter, to finally back up to his eyes. I control my startled reaction at s e, but his already on mine, and I feel my cheeks heating. Dammit.

re may I turn away and go back into the shed before I speak. "They can just out in the forest, outside of the lilk trees."

"Is it safe?" Leo asks, and I roll my eyes.

I sigh "They have been in The Deadlands for how long? It's a lot safer in t thering forest than out there."

hin as I "I can show them where they can camp out," a new voice adds, and o the quickly put the last logs onto the pile and walk out of the shed.

"You could," I say warily as I look from Kade to Darius, both of the nile. sizing each other up. "I need you for a bit though, we have someone to and see," I tell Kade, walking up to him and rubbing my cheek against greeting.

"We do?" he asks, his eyes coming to mine.

"Yup." I go back to the shed and shutting the door. "I'm sure Taylor ney are wouldn't mind showing them somewhere if we're back late."

ith is show them where they can stay for a few days." I look over at him and

the knowing how much he would rather pick up wolf shit than do this, but pack safety comes first. "Shut it," he grumbles at me while I flip him o "Where are you going?" Darius demands, and I look from him to Le before I speak.

"To see someone I need to speak to," I say vaguely. "I'll catch up w in a little while Josh. We might miss dinner." I squeeze his hand as I phis him, Kade following behind. I hear another set of footsteps, and I sigh frustration before letting out a small growl. "Is there something else I c beeing help you with, Darius?" I don't even bother turning around to ask him.

"I'm your shadow, little wolf. You should be used to it at this point." camp no care in his voice as to whether I like it or not that he's following me he's right. I do know it. The asshole follows me everywhere. I can bare by myself without him lurking nearby.

his I'm sure he knows that I've sensed him following me around Eridial he's been here, he just doesn't give the slightest fuck. He's kept his dis observing and studying as I've gone about my daily duties. It's been st to feel him at my back, but I can't say I haven't got used to it. It's frust but strangely, comforting to have his presence near.

go Even Runa has been feeling more placid within me instead of her us his in grumpiness. I don't think she fears him, but he has some sort of effect and I'm not sure what to feel about that.

Kade lets out a growl besides me as the big man continues to follow and I tap him on the arm to knock it off.

"I don't think you want to try me again. It didn't end well for you la 'll time," Darius warns him, and I tense up.

smirk, "Would you stop," I exhale, spinning around to look at him. I don't remember Kade bleeding out on the ground, and I don't want him to se

the off. "Seeing as I can't get rid of you, the least you can do is be quiet." and continue forward, grabbing Kade's hand and pulling him with me.

"You didn't want to get rid of me the other day," he taunts, and ther hiding the blush in my cheeks now as I remember us against that tree. ith you that I will never look at the same again.

I glare at him over my shoulder, catching him checking out my ass, in try to ignore the thrill that goes through me from his attention. Runa we can inside me, and I give her a mental shove to stop that shit. I cannot go the again, no matter how much I want to feel him against me, or how much again, no matter how his neck and breathe in his scent. An involuntary but her unstable through me, and I swear I heard a low growl behind me.

ely pee No. Nope. Not doing it.

Kade gives me a strange look, but I just plow forward, ignoring him n since hoping he can't somehow read my thoughts. "We're going to see Solvistance, aren't we?" Kade grumbles next to me as we pass the lilk trees. I watcl range press a hand to them, the same way I do every time we leave. I let out trating, smile at the sight.

"Yes, we are, if we can find him." I still haven't seen him for quite a ual I have no idea where he goes or how he even manages to hide, but he con her, somehow.

"Isn't this supposed to be, you know, private?" he hedges, looking a us, out of the corner of his eye.

Yes it is, but the overgrown oaf behind us will always follow me, so st can't be helped. This conversation needs to happen. I'm not sure what Darius' reaction will be to Solvier, or if even Solvier will show himsel want toDarius. He is picky about who he shows himself to.

et Kade "Unfortunately, I have acquired a full-time babysitter," I answer him

I huff "Gods knows why, considering all I do is work around the settlement.' a rock on the floor and smirk at it, remembering throwing one at Dariu e is no "I can hear you," Darius gripes at my back, irritation leaking into his "Oh, shit, Kade," I whisper at him, grabbing his arm. "He can *hear* I We're doomed," I put my hand on my head for added effect before flip and I him off behind me. We both chuckle when we hear his sigh. The asshoring less shouldn't be on my ass then.

h I quiet and peaceful. the slight breeze rustling the leaves on the trees as a shiver pass. Sunlight flutters on the ground as it passes through gaps in the tree creating pretty patterns along the forest floor. Being outside and smelli earth beneath my feet with the scent of flowers in their air is a comfort and won't take for granted.

ier, I didn't get to see the sky, feel the caress of the wind on my face or a h him the scent of life embracing me for a long time. Until I left my old home a small I link my arm through Kade's as we walk, enjoying being with him, with my babysitter at my back. It's the first time I've really spent any to while with him since we got back from The Deadlands, and luckily his injurit loes it nearly healed. The thought of him dying on that dead forest floor make huddle closer to him, wanting to feel his warmth, and I feel Runa brush to me against him where my arm is linked with his, sharing the same feelings his wolf.

I might not be his birth mother, but I brought him up. I taught him to how to build a fire and forage. I comforted him at night when he had nightmares, only for him to wake and have no idea it ever happened sometimes. I held him through his grief and guided him when his wolf 1. He is mine in every way he is not *theirs*.

'I kick We're a few miles from the lake when the ground trembles beneath s. and I stop, taking my arm out of Kade's to bend down to put a hand on s tone. grassy floor.

"What are you doing?" Darius asks from somewhere behind me, and oping shushes him, getting an annoyed grunt in return.

I close my eyes and concentrate, feeling the gentle quake beneath m
I smile when I pinpoint which direction it came from. "Let's go!" I gra
. It's Kade's hand and pick up our pace to a jog. "Come on before he leaves again," I chuckle as I drag a reluctant Kade behind me, smiling wide.

ees, We run along until I see a flash of light gray ahead through the trees ng the go of Kade, taking off with a laugh of giddiness washing over me. "So

I There's a pause in the trees and then a huff-like sound reaches my ears sprint ahead, leaving Kade to catch me up with Darius not too far behin

I squeeze through the last trees between us into a little open clearing see two light gold eyes looking down at me in amusement. I laugh as I even myself off the ground and jump at him. He lowers his head when he se time coming, and my arms wrap around his neck the best I can, gripping his es are tightly. I snuggle into him and breathe in his scent, grass and blossoms before sliding down to the ground, grinning up at him.

ning up "Hello, Rhea," he says in my head, his voice a deep rumble as he br with his nose down to touch my cheek. I stroke his muzzle before scratching his chin, giggling and bouncing on my feet.

thunt, He makes a chuffing sound, tapping his head against my forehead by rubbing his cheek against my hair. I've missed him.

"I've been wanting to talk to you," I tell him, taking a step back and came. looking up at his towering frame. "But you haven't been around. Is everything okay?" I ask. It's been over two months since I last saw him

me, "All is as it should be," he tells me. "I see you have brought young the with you. And another male," he says, his eyes peering over my head.

I follow his gaze and see Kade coming toward us, a smile on his fac 1 Kade Darius isn't far behind, his eyes looking around the area, his head tilted greets Solvier while I keep my eyes on Darius, watching for his reactic y hand.surprised the big wolf even let him see him.

Darius stops when he's a few feet away from us, his eyes peering in before looking to Kade, and then finally, to Solvier. He holds his arms sides, but I see the tension in his body as he looks up at Solvier.

Livier!" It's not every day you see a six-foot wolf. In fact, he's the biggest wolf. I live seen. I thought I would get more of a reaction out of Darius, but he nd him. keeps staring at Solvier, his eyes scanning him until he finally moves to a tree to lean against it. He acts like seeing Solvier is just another occulaunch in his daily life. Does nothing phase this guy?

"How are you, Rhea?" Solvier asks me, his golden eyes looking int "I'm okay," I mumble, peering over my shoulder at Darius before lc back at him.

"I see." See what? I want to ask, but he moves his attention to Kade ings you still struggling with your wolf, young Kaden?" he asks, maneuverig underbody until he lays down in front of us, clearly not seeing Darius as a the Though nothing much is a threat to Solvier. His bite could tear you in l

efore Kade's reluctant nod, Solvier tilts his head toward the ground in front (Kade sits. "Come, tell me.

n.

I stand there awkwardly and look at them both, realizing I'm not goi be part of this conversation from the silence in my head. I move away them and sit on the ground, pinching my lip with my fingers as I watch *Kade* for a while. I take out my knife and pick up a branch from the floor, id nicking at the bark. I glance at them from time to time, crossing and

- e. uncrossing my legs. Kade nods at something Solvier says, and his heac
- 1. Kadeplaying with the laces of his boot. But I swear I see tears in his eyes. I
- on. I'm away, giving him his privacy, knowing what they must be talking about Cassie.

to mine He barely talks about her unless it's with Solvier, and even then it's at his often.

I hope Solvier can give him some advice on how to control his wolf emotions. I know no one wiser. He is family to us, and we trust him an words. I know he will do the best he can and to steer Kade in the right e just direction.

oward I sigh quietly and look out toward the trees. The only problem with rrence that puts Darius in my line of sight. He's still leaning against the tree, l

around the area, his body alert and ready. I let my senses out and feel o mine.nothing, but Darius isn't used to the sounds of Eridian like I am. He tu oking head and catches my eye, his head tilting in question. I watch as his ha just above his eyes, tickling his eyes brows. Then my gaze drops to the ... "Are of his nose and down to his mouth, remembering the feel of it on mine

reat. It does strange things to me when that man's eyes are on mine.

ing his away, but not before I hear him release a satisfied sound.

half. At I keep quiet, not wanting to disturb Kade and Solvier as they talk ev of him. though I can't hear what they are saying. He needs it. I'm at a loss at w do to help him. He's grieving all over again now that he has his wolf. I ing to struggling to find balance, and if I dig too deep, he just pushes me awa from sick of seeing the sad look on his face when he thinks no one is looking them see it. I can feel his pain like it's my own.

ly A growl snaps both mine and Darius' heads toward them, and I stan putting my knife in my boot. Kade hunches forward, and then all of a standard bows, his bones begin breaking before his dark gray wolf is there, standing plook Solvier seems unbothered by the sudden change, but I panic. Solvier not. his head, looking past the trees to our left, but my eyes stay on Kade.

"Kade?" I start toward him, my steps unsure before he suddenly turn not snarling at me viciously. I jolt, shocked at his aggression. "*Kade*," I try in a lower tone down the link, but he blocked me again. "Dammit, stop and shutting me out!" Still snarling, he ignores me and stalks forward, teetled his bared, head low. What the fuck? I growl, warning him to knock it off, keeps coming. I don't want to hurt him. I would never hurt him. "Carz think about what you're doing." He's not stopping, his pace set as his lethat is eyes darken, his focus entirely on me. I brace myself, hoping I can sho looking off me and snap him out of it if he lunges.

"You don't want to do that, pup," Darius warns in a tone so low, everns his pause. He comes and stands a little in front of me, head lowered, his pi ir landsstare on Kade. My heart rate kicks up.

- slope I'm not doing this again. No way.
- . I look "Kade, stop it. What is wrong with you?" I take a step forward, but I hand shoots out, grabbing my arm none too gently and pulling me behi him. "Darius, don't." I can't see them go at each other again, I can't. K en won't survive it. He's not even fully healed, and he shifted when he sh /hat to have.
- He's Kade charges forward, and I suck in a sharp breath. Teeth bared, his y. I'm solely on me, I can't even move. I can't protect myself.
- g. But I Darius steps fully in front of me and turns, pushing Kade at his shou with his other hand when he's near to get him away from me.

d, "Enough," Darius commands, his dominance flowing freely while I sudden breathe.

roud. Kade stops, his snarls softening and my heart breaks at the whine the soves suddenly escapes him. I look around the side of Darius and see Kade's on the ground. He shakes his head, backing away from us, before he turns, and runs off. "Carzan!" I go to follow, but Darius still has his hand tigly again gripping my arm, not letting me go. I grab the hand holding me when I realize he's staring at Solvier, who is still laying down. I stop and look between them, and Darius' head shakes slightly at whatever Solvier habut he to him.

an, Solvier makes a small growling sound that makes me jump before holue stands. He shakes out his fur, the light reflecting on the strands making we him look like he has gold threads flowing through it. I stay still as he come to us, and he shocks the shit out of me when nudges Darius' cheek before I doing the same to mine.

ercing "All will be well with Kade. Trust in him. He will always come back you." He nods his head. "Trust the dark one too," he says. "All will be once was."

Darius' With those last parting words, he wanders off, disappearing into the ind As it once was? What is that supposed to mean?

lade

ouldn't

aim

ılder

"Enough," Darius commands, his dominance flowing freely while I barely breathe.

Kade stops, his snarls softening and my heart breaks at the whine that suddenly escapes him. I look around the side of Darius and see Kade's eyes on the ground. He shakes his head, backing away from us, before he turns and runs off. "Carzan!" I go to follow, but Darius still has his hand tightly gripping my arm, not letting me go. I grab the hand holding me when I realize he's staring at Solvier, who is still laying down. I stop and look between them, and Darius' head shakes slightly at whatever Solvier has said to him.

Solvier makes a small growling sound that makes me jump before he stands. He shakes out his fur, the light reflecting on the strands making it look like he has gold threads flowing through it. I stay still as he comes over to us, and he shocks the shit out of me when nudges Darius' cheek before doing the same to mine.

"All will be well with Kade. Trust in him. He will always come back to you." He nods his head. "Trust the dark one too," he says. "All will be as it once was."

With those last parting words, he wanders off, disappearing into the trees. As it once was? What is that supposed to mean?

TWENTY FIVE

RHEA

I stand frozen, my heart hurting over Kade's sudden reaction and wonce what Solvier meant. Something is... off with the big wolf. His last wou sounded somber and resigned. I don't like that at all. What did he say to Kade, and why did he react that way? In fact, what did he say to Dariu "What did Solvier say to you?" I ask him, both of us still looking in

"What did Solvier say to you?" I ask him, both of us still looking in direction Solvier left. I feel a twitch beneath my palm and realize I'm s grabbing onto his hand with mine. I drop my hand quickly and step aw from him, making him release me.

He turns toward me, his brows low. "Nothing important," he answer looking me over curiously. "What was that language you used?"

I shake my head at the sudden question. "What?"

"You called the pup Carzan? What language is it?" His stare is intermine as he folds his arms over his chest, his eyes watching, waiting for something. I gulp.

I didn't mean to use the language my family used, it just slipped out I don't answer, he comes for me, and I stumble back, rough bark diggi my back when I hit a tree. What is it with me and trees lately? Darius c

stop until he's inches away, bringing his arms up on either side of my l caging me in. Dropping his face so he's directly in front of mine, he as again.

"What language?" he demands, and my fingers grip the bark behind I try to think of a way to get around this. The use of that language has been sacred, pure. I don't want him to taint it. He growls low when I d answer, and I growl right back, unable to stop the reaction, baring my His hand comes up to my neck, squeezing gently in warning, and I swa roughly under his palm. He feels it beneath his hand, his fingers twitch lightly before moving a finger over my pulse, rubbing back and forth s as if he's savoring it under his touch.

lering

:ds

s?

0

the

still ay

:S,

it on

"Why does it matter?" I whisper eventually, looking into his eyes ar searching for those flecks of glass, needing to watch them float around eyes as they darken.

"I want to know. I haven't heard it before, and I have heard many languages. The writing of your tattoo is old. Is that the language you st I grit my teeth and move to look away from his penetrating stare. He d let me though, moving that hand from my throat to grip my jaw, leavin trail of goosebumps in its wake. "You seem to think you have any say The least you can do is answer me after what you did in The Deadland growls low, his fingers digging into my jaw to keep my eyes on him. " me."

He releases more dominance, and it crashes into me at full force, dra whimper from me. It wraps around me, swirling around my legs, over hips and eventually rests against my chest. The pressure builds, like a loesn't pressing into my skin. I know he won't let up until I tell him, and I dor think a lie, or a half truth is going to cut it.

. When ng into

head, "It's my family language. It's of the old Gods, or so I was taught," I ks me begrudgingly, answering him this while the guilt of The Deadlands hit His reminder that I killed some of his trainees deepening the stain in m me as "Your mother and father spoke it?" At my nod, he continues. "I thou always you didn't have any family apart from the one you chose?"

on't "I *had* a family. They were stolen from me," I tell him. "Kade and Jeteeth. my only family now. They have been for a long time." They are the classical thing to me, the closest anyone will ever get, and even then I still don't them all of me.

lowly, The ugliness within me, the grime of black on my soul, of the things have done... They don't need that. They don't need that burden. And I need to make them uncomfortable in trying to comfort me when no on in his The burden is mine to bear, mine to shoulder. I keep those vines of t squeezing my heart all to myself as I feel their damage day in and day

"Is the pup yours?" Darius questions, and it brings me out of my ow peak?" to see those flecks of silver beginning to float from the edges of his iris oesn't My gaze follows those flecks, captivated by them as I answer. "He is in every way that counts. I did not birth him, but that does not make his here. less mine." I feel my pupils dilate, my protectiveness over Kade showing, "he my eyes. "You will not take him from me." I don't care what I have to will not take him to the Highers.

We stare at each other, sharing the same air as it feels like the earth awing a around us. I watch those flecks, and he watches the darkness that has my undoubtedly creeped into my eyes before I manage to pull it back. He weight at me so deeply, so intensely with a look I can't place. But I'm not scan't feels like a caress on my soul. My forearm begins to tingle, the sensation

causing my body to tremble before his eyes turn hard once again, a lay say indifference coating them as he blinks away whatever emotion was jus s me. "I won't take him from you," he agrees, and my shoulders drop their iv soul. tension. "But I will take you from him." I jolt at his unexpected words, ıght glaring at him. "You will be coming back to Fenrikar with me where y osh are be put on trial and then your punishment will be passed over to me." H moves closer, our noses softly brushing against each other, and it's suc osest contrast to his harsh words. "What the punishment will be has yet to be t give decided. I may be inclined to change the type of punishment you receive that I you're a good little wolf."

don't Heat fills his eyes, and I suck in a breath at the sight, the space betw e can. thighs warming. He moves his hand from my jaw, picking up a piece c horns hair that's fallen on my face before rubbing it between his fingers out. thoughtfully. He hums, watching his movements as he feels its softnes n head twirling it around one of his fingers.

ses. "You don't need to remind me about going to the Highers." I swallo s mine already told you I accept that. But you can't tell them about Eridian." m any Anger flashes through his eyes, the green losing their heat before he ng in my hair and takes a step back. "Why should you and your pack have the do, he haven all to yourself? Stop being a selfish bitch."

I stand straighter at the insult, looking him dead in the eyes and givistills some truth. "All I have ever done is protect my pack, my family. Anyo knowing about this place is bad Darius. Really bad." I bring a hand up stares rub the back of my neck. "We... they... cannot be taken to the Highers, red. It the Highers cannot come here. Why can't you understand that? Why can you see that?" He's not stupid.

"I've seen your pack scared, yet I'm not entirely sure why," he grinc

rer of in irritation. "I've been here for over a week, and I have gotten nothing the there. you or them. If you want them to stay out of the Highers' eye, you'll not give me a fucking good reason for it."

"Darius," I growl. "I will not tell you their stories, their lives. I will ou will betray their trust like that." I shake my head and put my hands on my le "Read between the lines, asshole. You know damn well why some of the hand are scared. You heard what Sam said at the gathering the other night. I you did. I'm the one who wronged you, so punish me and leave everyout of it."

He moves so fast I don't see his hand reaching for me until he has meen myin his grip and my head tilts backwards. "I will punish you, but on my of my terms, little wolf. I have already told you that you have no say in it."

He glares down at me, and I've had enough of his manhandling for a day. I nudge Runa, and my knee shoots up, aiming for his balls. He may the side to avoid it, my knee hitting his thigh instead, but I'm already www. "I swinging my fist forward toward his face. He releases my hair and more back, but not without me catching his jaw as he does.

He straightens to his full height, all six foot four inches of it, rubbing his safe jaw slightly. I preen at hitting him, feeling accomplished that after him shoving me around, I got a hit in. I ready myself for him to come at me ng him he doesn't disappoint. I smack away the hand that tries to grab me and kick at his shin. He takes the hit, grunting at the force of it, and grabs r and arm. Leaning back slightly, he pulls me toward him forcefully and mor and the side to throw me forward with the momentum. He lets go of my arran't I stumble over my steps before I right myself. Growling, I reach down small blade in my boot. Hearing him coming for me, I grab hold of the ls out and slash out as I spin around to face him. Metal on metal clashes as him

gout of halts mine, the hit vibrating up my arm. I growl at him and kick out, ai eed to for his stomach as he chuckles coldly, deflecting me easily. I move

backwards, holding my blade so it runs down my forearm while he twi not similar sized black blade in his hand, tilting his head at me.

ips. "If you wanted to play, little wolf, all you had to do was ask." He lic hem lips, and his smirk is downright wicked before he lunges.

know His blade comes at me, aiming to slice at my neck and I bring my foone elseup, stopping his blade with my own. I jump up and pull my left fist bac aiming for a hit to his temple with our blades still connected. He move the later head back, avoiding it as I snarl in anger. He grips my left wrist with hown hand and brings it down between us as I land back on my feet. I slide reblade down his before he takes my legs out from under me and lets go one wrist. I fall hard to the ground, a grunt quickly turning into a snarl when the later hand lets go one wrist of follows me down and straddles me.

"We have been here before, haven't we?" he murmurs down at me.

ves didn't end well for you then either." He drops his blade to the side and

my forearm, pinning it to the dirt beside my head so I can't use my bla

g his then he does the same with the other.

"How do you know this won't end well for me this time?" I pant and e, and beneath him, trying to dislodge the big fucker.

aim a "Because if you don't stop wriggling, you will have another problen ny deal with," he says in a low, gravelly voice.

wes to "Fuck you." I squirm more against him, and he shifts down slightly, m, and me more of his weight. I push my hips up, aiming to buck him off, who for my find the problem he mentioned.

hilt My eyes fly to his, widening when I feel his hardness between us. H is bladeraises an eyebrow at me, smirking, then he moves his knees between n

ming and pushes them until he's resting between my thighs. His cock presse against my center and a ragged gasp leaves me. He runs his hands up n rls a forearms, sending delicious shivers through me until he reaches my wr and moves them to one big hand.

eks his "What are you doing?" I whisper, and he just stares down at me, confliction in his eyes.

He moves his hips forward, and a moan escapes me before I can stolek, His eyes light up at the sound and any doubt he had vanishes as he does his again, but I'm ready this time and only expel a heavy breath. He growl is free and heat fills me at the sound, but I make no outward reaction.

of my before nipping my skin lightly. He leaves open mouthed kisses against the skin, his nose trailing up and down before his body tenses. "You're go into heat." He takes another deep breath, a rumbling sound coming from the skin into the side of my neck. "You smell like you want to be furgrabs. He rocks into me again, and I whimper.

de, and "You're wrong." I tell him breathlessly as he continues pressing into a leisurely pace. "My heat isn't for another few months." I can't be go! I twist heat, I would know. I only have one heat a year, and it's during the win months.

He chuckles deep and low into my neck as his free hand trails down side of my body. His fingers caress over my shoulder, following down giving side of my breast before stopping just above the waistline of my shorts en I my breath at his touch, feeling his wolf come to the surface. He moves hand underneath the bottom of my t-shirt and circles my belly button v light touch, the feel of his skin against mine making my head spin. I fe to legs delirious. A tiny moan escapes me and I arch my back, wanting more,

s craving more. My body feels itchy and sweat beads at the back of my in heat fills in my stomach. Wetness soaks through my panties, and I white ists knowing what these sudden signs are. What they mean. I shake my heat denial.

"I can't be," I growl, pissed and achy all at the same time. "It's not t yet."

Pit. "Your smell tells me differently," he murmurs, moving his fingers desit from my belly button to caressing just inside my waistband. I shift ben so low him. "And you smell delicious," he mumbles against my skin, licking a neck.

He pulls his face out of the crook of my shoulder and looks down at my desire filling his eyes as his fingers tease the edge of my panties. I clos ing eyes and will myself to calm down, to ignore the sensations those finger m him creating and the closeness of his body to mine.

cked." This isn't happening. No matter how much my body is begging me differently. I won't give in just for him to throw it in my face later. He me at already lashed out at my heart when we lost control against the tree. Wing intowe like this again?

nter I can't be.

I open my eyes and I feel Runa there, pinning him with our stare. "C the fuck off me, Darius." He smirks, his fingers skimming under the edge the panties before he removes them all together. Releasing my wrists, he g. I holdhis feet in one fluid motion.

his I sit up, breathing through my mouth to ignore his scent as he steps l vith a me and stops. He crouches down and grabs his blade, twirling it in his el before I feel his breath in my ear. "I look forward to making you beg n sooner or later, little wolf." He nips at my earlobe, and my body tremb

neck as hands clenching at my sides to stop myself from reaching out to him to mper, with this need he just created. The only one who ever has.

I wait until he's out of hearing distance before I release a growl of frustration, my fingers digging into the dirt. My body aches from Darii attention. How the fuck am I going into heat five months early? And w I acting this way around him? Why him?

"I'm going crazy," I mutter to myself. "Fucking crazy. This isn't not leath I stand, dusting my hands off and head off to do a perimeter check, I body cooling down the more I walk. That's what's important right now the thought of a male grinding on me. One particular male. I huff and some, my arms as I walk, shaking them out when a blur of black catches my left.

for it to be the light breeze, and I swear I caught the back of someone's head moving further along. I let my senses go wide, but there is nothin of the normal. I wonder if it's one of the Elites, shit, did they see us?

'hy are *"Where did you place the Elites?"* I ask Josh quickly.

He takes a second to answer me. "I took them south. Why?"

"I'm east at the moment. What are the chances of an Elite being out let the way?" I creep forward with silent footsteps as I head in the direction of of my bushes, keeping my eyes peeled.

ets to "Small. They could just be exploring. A few others have done that."

"Yeah, I guess." I reach the bushes and inhale deeply, scenting noth beside the greenery and berries around me. I look ahead of me through the tre hand spot nothing out of the ordinary. I don't sense anything. It was probabl an animal.

les, my Shaking my head, I retrace my steps and continue on to the base of t

No signs of rogures still, which is a plus, but so Kade killed the few he saw a while back, I'm still cautious and have be checking the perimeter regularly on my own. Even when it's already both done. The guys usually shake their heads at me when I do, but they knowly am how I can be sometimes.

I pull a tree branch out of the way and my tattoos catch my attention rmal." light. Looking down at my forearm where it tingled before, I run my fi ny across the swirls and lines. Bringing my fingers to the free space in the v, not center, I circle around the clear skin and sigh. I think it's time to let go swing tiny little bit of hope I have in the back of my mind of it ever being fill eyes to Part of me never wants it to be whole, but I would be lying to mysel said the other part of me didn't want it to be. I'm a wolf, and wolves w force certain things.

And even as I look in the direction where Darius went and lie to my g out that it's all down to Runa thinking this way, the human in me wonders possible.

this f those

ing but es and y just

:he

cliffs to start my check. No signs of rogures still, which is a plus, but since Kade killed the few he saw a while back, I'm still cautious and have been checking the perimeter regularly on my own. Even when it's already been done. The guys usually shake their heads at me when I do, but they know how I can be sometimes.

I pull a tree branch out of the way and my tattoos catch my attention in the light. Looking down at my forearm where it tingled before, I run my fingers across the swirls and lines. Bringing my fingers to the free space in the center, I circle around the clear skin and sigh. I think it's time to let go of that tiny little bit of hope I have in the back of my mind of it ever being filled.

Part of me never wants it to be whole, but I would be lying to myself if I said the other part of me didn't want it to be. I'm a wolf, and wolves want certain things.

And even as I look in the direction where Darius went and lie to myself that it's all down to Runa thinking this way, the human in me wonders if it's possible.

TWENTY SIX

RHEA

I'm hot, too hot. I fan myself with the paperwork I was going over befoleaning back in my chair, sighing at the brief relief it gives me. Runa he been acting strange for a couple of days since Darius mentioned my he rolling around restlessly within me. It's making my skin feel like it's crawling, like I want to rip it off me, and that is something new. Josh e from across my desk, tilting his head in question, his eyes amused as h watches me.

"Do I smell different?" I blurt out, heat filling my cheeks instantly.

"What?" he laughs, his gray eyes popping wide. "Where did that colfrom?" he asks. I grumble under my breath.

"You're what?" he questions, not quite able to make out what I'm sa I growl before speaking up. "I'm going into heat." Sebastian's head around from where he stands next to my window, his tawny eyes brigh at my words.

Here we go.

He saunters toward me at his full height, a sexy grin spreading over face as he leans down and shoves his face in my neck, taking a deep by shove his face away, scowling at him. "I can smell it a little," Sebastia hums, his eyes lazily traveling over my body. "Are you finally going to me see you through your heat?" His eyebrows wiggle suggestively as l speaks, and I don't even hesitate in my reply.

"Not a chance." He asks me every year. And every year, I turn him "It's early," Josh says to himself, ignoring Seb's flirting. "Your heat winter. We are only just nearly hitting summer. Why is it so early?"

I've been racking my brain at the very same thing. Since my eightee birthday, my heat has always come the last week of winter like clockw Not once has it changed in all these years. So why now? The only thin has changed is the Elites turning up. Darius turning up.

"I know it's early, Josh, but I can't think of a reason why."

"Maybe your heat is being brought on by the other females. They do yes me tend to sync up," he grumbles, running his hand through his hair that's a bun for once. In fact, he doesn't look put together at all. He looks as e agitated as me.

"But why now? That's never happened before." I blow out a breath. Generally, females go into heat once every three months. I only have n once a year, and that's never changed. "Well, either way it's early, so l gone for a day, maybe two, when it hits. You guys will be okay handli Elites, right?" whips

Hudson grunts from the seat to the left of me, with Colten on the flo his leg, looking at some papers on the low table in front of him. "They looking for Sarah, you know." Hudson says, running a hand over his sl head. "I heard some of the Elites talking about there being a time limit something, but didn't catch enough of their conversation to know what meant."

ore

as at,

me

aying.

itening

his

eath. I

"Why do they have a time limit?" Colten wonders, pausing in his real and looking up at Hudson who shrugs in response.

"Could they need to get back for something?" Taylor offers next to office door, his bulky frame taking up space.

down. "Maybe, but what?" I ask them.

"Does it really matter?" Josh shrugs. "The sooner they're gone the b for us."

"Did you forget the part where they know about Eridian and that I'n ork. back with them? Darius won't have it any other way." I stare out my w g that refusing to feel the fear that knowledge sends through me.

I never thought I would have to leave my home. I thought we were shere. I thought I would live the rest of my days in our little corner of all Vrohkaria.

not in Going back and seeing the Highers... seeing him.

I shiver.

It's for Eridian, for my family, I tell myself.

For Kade.

Taylor huffs before saying in a deadly voice, "Do you really think we l'll be just let him take you to the Highers?" His amber eyes turn hard at the ng the thought, and I smile internally at his words. Unfortunately, it won't madifference. We are way outnumbered.

or by "How have we known each other for so long and you don't know?" 're still says, shaking his head at me. "How could you think we'd just let you l haved here to be taken to trial by the Highers... and then what? We just stay or Eridian and get on with our lives? What about Kade?"

t they "You have to. I'm asking this from all of you and Kade is my chose for Eridian. He will take over."

ading "He's unstable," Josh bites out.

"He's still the next Alpha of this pack," I snap back at him, feeling r my eyes flash as Runa comes close to the surface. Kade will be fine, he mu "He needs a bit of healing, and I know you all will guide him. Solvier also help him."

etter "I don't think he will heal," Seb tells me in the most serious voice I ever heard from him. "That's a wound that will never heal." I don't wan going think it never will for Kade, but I know Seb is speaking from his own rindow, experiences.

The room is silent at his words, pain noticeably on Seb's face, and I nothing more than to go over to him and offer him comfort. Seb will be though and either flirt or joke it off like it's nothing. When it's everyth

I know I can't bring Kade's mate back. But that just can't be it. Sure Gods wouldn't be so cruel to have those who lost their mate suffer untend of their time. I won't accept Kade suffering for the rest of his days has to be something.

"Anyway," I shift in my seat, diverting the conversation back to the re'll at hand. "Bottom line is, I will be going to the Highers if I can't convir Darius otherwise. Which, at this rate, is looking like there is no hope it the Highers will know as soon as they see you. *He* will know," Jos whispers, his face dropping at what that means.

Josh "Maybe not if I don't reveal it," I say stiffly. "I haven't in all these y and I don't intend to, okay?" He nods, but I can see he's not convinced neither am I. The silence in the room lets me know the others aren't eit will do my punishment and come home," I say with false confidence.

n Heir "Rhea," Colten starts, his voice hesitant. I hate that they don't want go and there is nothing I can do to ease it away.

I nod. "It's my choice. I will do what it takes to protect you all. I ow want of you so much," I tell them. "I owe you my life," I say to Josh down th e Seb and his eyes shine with moisture before he looks away. "Let me do this ing. ely the if it's the last thing I might do. I have lived many more years than I the would in the first place." I blink my eyes, willing myself not to shed a il the . There damn tear. "If I have to be punished for then so be it, I can handle it. I think Darius will kill me, it would be too quick for his liking." The ma really has it out for me, but as long as it stays aimed at *just* me, I will d topic with whatever comes my way. I have to. "So, once he's done with me, ıce come home. The Highers won't bother with me by then." At least, I ho ı it." "He's always staring at you, you know?" Colten informs me, referri sh Darius with a grimace on his face.

rears, "Yeah," I chuckle. "He's plotting all the ways to make my life a mis l, and get up from my chair and throw down the papers. "I'm going to do my ther. "I checks and finish this up later." I round my desk and touch my cheek to Josh's before leaving my office. I need some space.

me to I head for the front door, put my boots on and then make my way to deck. I reach my arms up as I walk toward the gardens, stretching out 1

achy muscles and groaning in relief at the feel of it. I don't think it will hey long until my heat fully kicks in now, and I'll need to make sure I'm a fe." I from here when it happens. I don't want to be around anyone and give back up temptation.

d smile I never have, but I won't take that chance.

it's Following the trail behind our storage cabin, I step between the trees bo." behind it and enter our gardens. We plant vegetables back here, harves talk them every season when they're ready. Most of the women spend a lot time here. It's quiet and the work keeps them busy, as well as the pups e each play in the small clearing in its center. I make my way toward the pups link, playing, smiling softly at their newfound freedom. It wasn't always lik s, even for some, but they're still young enough to hopefully not have many la bught I effects from their life before here.

"Alpha!" they call out when they spot me, their faces lighting up as don't rush toward me. I bend down, not reminding them to not call me by my le and open my arms as they launch themselves at me.

leal I laugh, falling on my ass as they climb on me. "Hey, what are you as I can to?"

ng to "We were just deciding who's going to be the wolf and who's going ng to the rabbit," Elijah tells me, bouncing on his feet as his light hair swish the top of his head.

sery." I "Hmm, is that so?" At their nod, I smile. I sit up, and they back awa me, getting ready. "Well, I'll count to ten, and if you little rabbits aren briefly hidden enough, I'll gobble you up!"

"Quick, let's go!" Leah squeals, her hair swirling around her as she the Oscar's little hand and runs. Elijah and Nathen take off in another direwise while Lacy hobbles over to her mom deeper in the garden, her little leg

l be taking her as fast as she can go. I'm about to start counting when I noti way Samantha sitting on her own near one of the garden patches, looking al in to her but seeing nothing. I wander over to her slowly, not wanting to frigher and take a seat, unbothered about the dirt beneath me.

"Hey," I say softly to her. "You doing okay?" She nods, her head be slowly before picking at the dirt in front of her, her hair shielding her f ting from me. "You know you can talk to me about anything, right? Even the of you don't want your mom to know about." She stays silent, not answer who me, and I lift my head to the sky, trying to think of a way to get her to up.

I've noticed she's been withdrawn since the fire when I told her the sting of the Canaric wolves. My only guess is memories are haunting her from time before she and her mom came here with how she questions why they Gods didn't protect her. I feel at a loss as she continues to pick up dirty title, hands and then let it fall through her fingers. I don't know why she wan protected as she should have been, or her mother. It's the case for most guys uphere. We were let down by our own. We were in pain because of our of I breathe through my sudden rage, and Runa perks her ears up.

I move my hand and take one of hers in mine gently, dirt and all. Shes on startles, and I bring an arm around her, drawing her closer to me, not lead to her go. I hear her sniffle, and I squeeze her tighter, resting my head on y from hers. I hate seeing any of the pups upset, but I have an extra soft spot for the same of myself sometimes. She deals with her pain or own, silent in her hurt because she doesn't want to bother anyone else. I have an extra soft spot for the same of myself sometimes. She deals with her pain or own, silent in her hurt because she doesn't want to bother anyone else. I have an extra soft spot for the same of myself sometimes. She deals with her pain or own, silent in her hurt because she doesn't want to bother anyone else. I have an extra soft spot for the same of myself sometimes. She deals with her pain or own, silent in her hurt because she doesn't want to bother anyone else.

things through different eyes. She experienced things a kid should nevel head of to have seen or heard or felt.

I hold her there for a while as her quiet sniffles become less and less I'm just grateful I can be something for her. To shield her from anyone obbing coming near her while she's vulnerable, while she lets out a little pain shares it with me. I didn't have this at her age. The comfort or care of hings another. I just had four walls and a monster or five that came to visit.

Ting Until Josh.

open "Is she okay?" Kade's voice suddenly sounds in my head, and I turn see him at the storage cabin watching us. He looks tired, his shoulders story as he waits for my reply.

om the "Yeah, she just needed a moment." I smile softly at him, and he rela he little.

in her I haven't seen him since he went off into the forest. It was only days sn't but it feels longer. We are drifting apart, and I have no idea how to stol to fus how to keep him closer to me like he used to be. I miss the days he wo wn. up to me smiling as he told me about his adventures in the forest that d how he caught his dinner and waved his hands around as he talked exc e Those days feel like a lifetime ago.

He looks between me and Sam, a grin about to spread wide before h top of tenses up again. "When we went and talked to Solvier..." he trails off, or rubbing the back of his neck, showing he's clearly uncomfortable.

Not to talk, I'm here. Always." He nods his head at me before looking dow there We both know he won't talk to me.

"Tell her she can come for a walk with me if she wants," he mutters few moments when Sam's last sniffle reaches me.

er have "Really?" He likes being alone a lot, but then he and Sam have a dir bond than he does with anyone else, so I shouldn't be surprised.

At his nod, I look down at Sam. I nudge her with my shoulder, and I puffy eyes meet mine. I smile at her and flick my head in Kade's direc and Her brows scrunch up before following my gaze. Her face instantly lig when she sees him, quickly getting to her feet and running toward him stand, dusting myself off and watch as she dives for him, hugging him

Kade has always been good with the kids around here, but seeing ho and gentle he is with her, even as he picks her up and puts her on his back tense my heart. My smile widens at them as I watch them go, their own smil wide, and I laugh when Sam tells him to go faster.

I feel eyes on me, intense and devastating. I turn my head and lock ϵ with Darius. He's leaning against one of the apple trees, muscles bulgi ago, where his arms are crossed. My smile slowly drops as his hair falls in finitely it, his eyes when he tilts his head, looking like every bit of the animal he uld run lick my lips as I remember grabbing those dark strands in my hands as lay, or tongue tangled with mine, his hips rocking against me, and I flush as the itedly. images pop up into my mind. His eyes heat as he notices my reaction, smirks, his eyes slowly roaming over my form. When I feel a wetness between my legs, I know it's time to go.

I turn and walk quickly in the opposite direction, aiming for one place only, knowing the countdown has now begun.

ready My heat has started, and I need to get away before I do something ren. stupid.

And stupid has a name.

after a Darius.

fferent

red

tion.

hts up

. I

close.

W

melts

es

yes

ng

front of

is. I

his

ıе

and he

pool

ce and

ally

TWENTY SEVEN

RHEA

I walk swiftly inside the tunnel hidden in the cliffside, my steps rushed small cramps fill my belly. I enter the cave, breathing a sigh of relief e sweat begins to coat my skin. I take a steady breath as another cramp h blowing it out slowly through the pain. It's only uncomfortable at the moment, but when my heat hits full force, it will sear through me as I's seeing it through on my own.

Just like I do every year.

I head over to the furs I keep here at the back of the cave, walking at the pool and run my fingers through the water flowing down over the 6 from the opening above. The cool water chills my clammy skin, and I my wet hand to the back of my neck, letting droplets of water run dow back.

Reaching my furs, I crouch down and arrange them to my liking, tale extra care in their placement before taking my boots off and placing the down next to my bed. Standing back up, I begin to undress. My t-shirt to my skin as I draw it up over my head, my hair sticking to my neck in process. I undo my pants next, my shaky fingers undoing the ties before

shimmying them down my legs. Standing in just my bra and panties, I hair in a knot on top of my head and walk toward the water.

My bare feet pad along the cold, rock floor until I reach a smaller flowater coming down from the top. I step into it, gasping at the sudden coolness and holding myself under it for a moment before taking my fi steps into the pool. I wade toward the center slowly, my fingers runnin the shimmering surface, until the water reaches just below my collarbout take deep breaths, the cramps coming stronger, and I tilt my head up to now dark sky, the tiny specks of stars covering the darkness. Wisps co from behind the lilk trees and greet me briefly, twirling in front of my before floating upwards and out of the opening above me, until their gollue glow is out of sight. I groan and clench my eyes shut as another wheat flows through me, my chest heaving through its strength.

ıits,

m

Las

ven as

I sink lower and dip my head back, letting the water soak my hair be lifting my legs to float, feeling the coolness encase me. I remain like the running my fingers over the surface, creating ripple after ripple as my burns to be touched, to stop this heat that's slowly overwhelming me. I upright suddenly, a disturbance in the air alerting me that someone has entered my cave. I stand still and take a deep breath, then unintention a out a groan at the scent that hits me. Cedarwood, damp earth after rain.

power, with a hint of something that is just him.

round edges

bring n my

cing em sticks n the I don't turn around. I just keep looking straight ahead at the water cascading down and breathing through my mouth to avoid taking in me his scent which is like an aphrodisiac. His presence makes me very aw every droplet of water that runs over my heated flesh. Runa cocks her lather smell of him, standing in his presence, knowing who is here. I men shove at her, telling her to pack that shit in.

I hear him moving around the space, his footsteps loud as if to let m tie my he's here. I already know. I can sense him. It's like my body has a dire to his, to his every breath, and I hate it. I hate not being myself around hate the way my body responds to him, and I hate that he has the audac rst show up in my space like this, knowing I can only control so much. I growl. It's low and in warning that he better turn his ass around an g over out of my space. All I get is a low chuckle in response, like I'm an ne. I insignificant threat to his balls. My fists clench beneath the surface, an) the me out slowly, the water gently moving with me as I prepare to face him. He stands between a parted section of flowing water at the edge of t eyes pool, his eyes heating as he takes me in, seeing me nearly bare for the reenvave of time as his eyes pierce through the clear water. His gaze slowly roams body, and every caress of his eyes has my body burning. My stomach (and my breathing picks up even as my deadly glare homes in on his fac fore When his gaze reaches my throat, black bleeds at the edges of his irise is, flecks of silver float in his darkened green. He lowers his head, his fing body I stand twitching at his sides.

Our eyes finally collide in heat and anger as my body flushes, my characteristic warming with the onslaught of desire coursing through my body. His rapid and flare, a small rumbling sound escaping him. My lips part at the noise, rapid chest heaving. I don't move a muscle, scared to make one single move Runa tries pushing me forward, wanting me to go to him. I growl loud ore of viciously, a snarl at my lips at her and at him for entering my space. It's are of mine.

head at "Get the fuck out," I order him, trying to ignore the obvious erection tally straining against his pants. He cannot be here. He's not welcome here. "Why would I do that, little wolf?" he murmurs, his voice laced witl

e know seduction. He moves a step back and begins to walk around the edge o ct link pool.

him, I "You're not wanted. You're not invited here!" I snap, still refusing t city to move as he's now walking at the side of me.

"Your heat has come," he states, and I hear him breathing deep as he d get walks. "You want to be fucked, need to be."

My core tightens at his words, and I release some of my dominance, d I turnit fill the space. I feel him still behind me, then a moment later he snarl dominance flowing through me, making my back start to arch before I he stop myself.

Another wave of heat hits me, and I moan, my eyes rolling as my he first up my back of its own accord. My hand runs a path from my neck to between drops breasts, water dripping down as my body aches with need. Aches for re Through my haze of desire, I hear him stop in front of me once again ce. my head snaps forward, my lips peeling back at him as he just watches s and The only sounds I hear are the pounding of my heart and my ragged br gers over the flow of water splashing into the pool. My hand drops, and I w ıeeks slowly toward him, our eyes locked in challenge as I stop a few feet av ostrils His gaze lowers, resting at the apex of my thighs as water trickles dow skin, the pool's water now resting just below my knees. His jaw clench ny a sound echoes deep from within his chest as his dark hair falls forward as and tilt of his head. So animalistic. So Darius.

"I do not want you here, Darius. Leave." His eyes flash black, locking mine as his lips tip up into a sinful smirk.

"Your body says otherwise, Rhea. What I don't understand though, are you out here on your own?" He tilts his head in the other direction.

1 "Don't you have someone you've chosen to see you through your heat

f the "It's not your business," I breathe. "What I do with *anything* in my l none of your business."

He chuckles low. "See, that is where you are wrong." He straightens grabs his t-shirt, pulling it over his head and revealing inch after inch ce tattooed skin as I squeeze my thighs tightly together. The ache intensif imagine what his bare skin would feel like on mine. "Since the momen letting locked eyes on you, little wolf, you have been my business, my enemy ls, his mine in every way that I want." He drops his t-shirt to the floor, watch rake my gaze over him, watching my face flush in desire for him.

I can't tear my eyes away as I lock on the dark tattoos swirling down and tilts the sides of his neck to the top of his shoulders, reaching his collarbon mixture of script and harsh patterns flow down over his pecs and down my elief. side of his ribs, caressing the edges of his abs before disappearing bene waistband of his pants. I bite my lip and wonder just how far down the n and As if he could hear my thoughts, he bends and takes off his boots, k : me. them aside before straightening. His hands are sure and steady as he ur eaths the ties of his pants, and I can't look away, my attention solely on him. alk on him. He shoves his pants down and steps out of them, completely vay. unashamed of his nakedness as he stands before me, hard and thick. On ies and few thoughts run through my mind at that moment.

d at the Pure. Male. Alpha.

My mind goes hazy as I devour him with my eyes, a whine escaping ng with lips as more wetness comes out of me as my body prepares itself. My leves stay locked on his cock straining against his stomach, pre-cum least why from the tip and my mouth fills with the urge to taste him, to lick him base to tip and savor him. I want to swallow him down and scent mark?" I've never done that before. I've never wanted to.

ife is Darius hurts me with his words and threats, but he also makes me fe things I have never felt before. A desire, a need, an unrelenting craving and won't leave me.

of tan, It makes me think of the moon and the night colliding in a beautiful ies as I disaster, before it all goes dark with no end in sight.

No matter how I tell myself I won't let this happen, it feels like I have, and choice in the matter, that the situation is out of my hands and I know I' ing me going to fall. I can feel it, sense it, I just have to hope the landing will I and I survive it.

He growls a different sound. It's lighter, an approval of my reaction e. A him, and I echo him, finally moving my eyes up his muscular body and the staring into his black ones. Chills run over me as he takes a step forward the the water, and I growl a warning at his approach. He growls back, just y go. fierce, and I snarl as he stops just two feet in front of me.

"Do you want me to fuck you, little wolf? Do you want my cock dea icking inside you?" he purrs, bringing his hand up and wrapping it around hin ıdoes . Fixed My eyes lower as I watch him stroke a fist down. He holds himself brid the base before bringing his hand up and collecting his pre-cum on his fingers. "Do you want to taste me just as much as I want to taste you?" nly a lifts his fingers up to my lips, trailing over them and coating them with essence. "I won't let anyone else touch you, so make a decision, you h two options." He moves closer, pressing his fingers harder into my lips (my neated they part and my tongue peaks out, tasting him for the first time. I feel eyes dilate as my pussy clenches, wanting his scent all over me. He dip aking head, our noses touching, eyes locked. "We can fuck, or we can fight t from fuck." him.

My legs tremble at his words, and with the scent of him invading me

el with the taste of him, my stomach cramps once again. My body becom र् that inferno, tingles erupting all over me, and I know I'm in full heat. I also that with him being here, it's inevitable. I can't ignore him, just like he seem to ignore me. He followed me here, stalked me, hunted me. I thir words over in my head and come to a decision. He smirks at me like he knows what it is, and I do the only thing left to do. ve no I pounce. m e soft to f rd into as đέ nself. efly at ' He ι his

ave

3 until

my

s his

hen

e along

with the taste of him, my stomach cramps once again. My body becomes an inferno, tingles erupting all over me, and I know I'm in full heat. I also know that with him being here, it's inevitable. I can't ignore him, just like he can't seem to ignore me. He followed me here, stalked me, hunted me. I think his words over in my head and come to a decision. He smirks at me like he knows what it is, and I do the only thing left to do.

I pounce.

TWENTY EIGHT

RHEA

Launching myself at him, we stagger back as I wrap my legs around hi and grip his hair in my fists, wrenching his head back. He smirks up at eyes lighting up as he grabs my ass and draws me closer to him, his co resting at my stomach. My nearly naked body connecting with his has spreading through me, and I squirm, causing him to let out a soft groar cock rubs against me. He spins, taking us out of the water, and I squeer ribs hard with my thighs. He smacks my ass in response which causes growl down at him. I let go of his hair with one hand and bring my arn aiming my elbow down toward his nose, but a fist in my own hair has upper body being pulled back away from him.

I unlock my legs from around his waist, and he releases my hair as I release his, landing on my feet. I fake a hit to his right side, which he d but he doesn't dodge the hit I aim at his ribs on his left. He grunts, my well aimed as he glares at me. I smile. If he wants my body, he has to a

We mirror each other as we circle, waiting to see who will make the move. It's him. He moves quickly, landing a kick to my thigh that has stumbling to the side, then a sudden push to my shoulder has me going

backward as my fist shoots out, catching the top of his arm as we grow each other. He stalks closer, aiming to grab me, and I drop to one knee coming face to face with his delicious cock for a moment before I hit h the back of his knee and roll forward past him. His knee gives way momentarily, and I kick him in the back when I hop back up, sending I staggering forward. He releases a dark chuckle when he spins around t me, his tongue dragging along his front teeth as he takes me in, eyes he cock leaking more of that pre-cum that I want to have on my tongue.

I charge, fist ready as I aim for his jaw which he easily dodges, bring hand up to bat mine away. Runa comes to me, our speed increasing as after him, hit after hit and he deflects every single one. We don't slow me, we keep going, our dominance slowly increasing as he matches it. I air kick at his groin, my foot just missing him as he moves with confidence easily avoiding it as he grabs my ankle and pulls me closer. I jolt forwa go to lift my other leg, using his hold to my advantage, when he yanks him. I collide with him, his warm skin touching mine as I scratch at his shoulders. His heat burrows its way under my skin as his free hand gra 1 up, hair and yanks my head back. my

We stare at each other, time suspended as our breaths mingle and an cramp hits me. A whine barely releases from my lips before he smirks, his mouth slams onto mine. The kiss is angry, firm and invading as he devours me. The taste of him hits me and more wetness floods between thighs. He groans as I bite his lower lip, his teeth coming to mine in reprimand before his tongue tangles with mine. He drops my ankle and walking me backwards, his hand still in my hair, the other now on my never breaking the kiss.

My bare feet hit something soft, and then I'm being lowered down, 1

ck tingles ı as his ze his me to

lodges, punch

earn it.

next me

back hitting soft fur as Darius settles between my thighs. His releases I throat and reaches behind me, unhooking my bra within seconds, and I next, it's off me and thrown somewhere. His lips leave mine, trailing a my neck while I gasp for breath, my eyes closing at the feel of his mountain caressing me. His kisses leave a wet trail as he reaches my breast, his to face swirling around my nipple and sucking slightly before he releases it an eated, down next to it. His teeth sink lightly into the flesh, and I moan at the spain and his marking of me. No one has ever done this, given my body ging a attention. The one time when someone was this close to me, it was ove we go quickly, just the way I wanted it to be. It never made me feel so alive I down, do now.

I lift my hips, wanting more, needing more as his cock leaks on my stomach. Then my hands are back in his hair, gripping the strands and and him closer to me, as close as he can get. His free hand pays attention to me to other breast, rolling my nipple between his fingers before his mouth is again, nipping, sucking, leaving marks all over my chest while he grov bs my hungrily, and I hum in approval.

My head tilts back, my hips rolling with the need to be filled, for thi other to be soothed in a way I haven't felt before. I should be scared of the c between his legs, wanting to get away from it instead of wanting it insi me, but for some reason, I know he won't hurt me. Not in a way I didn n my want.

His body heat disappears and I look down, watching as Darius holds I starts side of my panties before tearing them from my body, throwing the plathroat, white scraps of fabric aside. He stares at the most vulnerable part of mon't feel shy or the need to hide from his view. A low rumbling escap my from his chest before his fingers hit my center. I jolt at the first touch a

ny moves them leisurely over me, gathering my wetness and rubbing it ar n the me. Then he brings his hand to his mouth. My lips part as he licks my cross off his fingers, his eyes closing on a groan as his cock twitches.

Darius' eyes flash open, pinning me with his stare. His eyes still pur ongue black, the silver flecks more prominent around the edges of his green i d bites he takes his fingers out of his mouth and brings them back to my cente slight. Giving my clit a light touch, he circles around it, making me moan. He it again and again as I squirm beneath him, his other hand holding my in a firm grip. His fingers tease my entrance before bringing them back ike I circle my clit again, not giving me enough. I need more.

"Darius," I whimper, my hips lifting to try and get his fingers where them. Need them.

pulling His fingers dip slightly inside of me, my pussy clenching around the my trying to get him to stay there. "Yes, little wolf?" he purrs, taking his for me away before bringing them back and pushing in just a little further.

I move my hip down, taking his fingers a little deeper until his other moves from my thigh to grip my hip, stilling me. He looks over me, hi s ache hungry gaze lowering from my face, over my breasts to my navel, before ock finally stopping when he reaches my pussy. His fingers move inside move inside move slowly, watching what he's doing to me, and the look in his eyes make tremble. My hands gripping the furs beside me as he keeps moving at a punishing pace.

seither I whine, and he finally shoves his fingers forward all the way. My bain, arches as he begins to fuck me with them roughly, so deeply that my lee, but I wider. I claw at the furs, my head tilting back as he continues his assaures growls leaving him as he continues to watch. He curls his fingers insides he and brings a hand up to my throat, pinning me down and watching my

ound reaction. The move should cause me to panic, but it only heightens wh taste doing to me. We stare at each other as he brings his thumb to my clit a groan, my hips grinding, wanting it all. Pleasure rushes through me, an feel my orgasm building, my moans getting louder as I near my peak. rises as "Do you want to come?" he snarls, my movements speeding up, and hear how wet I am, smell how wet I am, and it turns me on even more. does toes curl as my pussy tightens around him, and he removes his fingers suddenly, laughing coldly as I stare at him with wide eyes.

c up to I claw at his hand around my neck, trying to bring my leg up to kick him, but he lowers himself back on me, his weight pinning me down. I I want can feel his cock between us, pre-cum leaking on my stomach, and I sr "What the fuck is wrong with you?! Can't please a female, Darius?" m, even know what you're doing?" I taunt.

"Is that what you think?" he laughs, and I ignore the jealousy I feel at thought of him with others. "You really think I can't make you quiver hand mess of need and make you come again and again?"

"That's exactly what I think. If you're not up to it, I'll do it myself." move my hands down my stomach, my fingers grazing his cock as my reach my pussy. He snarls, taking my wrists and slamming them down my head.

a slow, "You don't get to give yourself an orgasm, little wolf," he rumbles. unless it comes from me."

"Fuck you, asshole. You don't get to decide that." I buck beneath hi egs part glaring at him when he doesn't move an inch.

ilt, "Oh, I fucking do," he mocks, watching my struggles with a smirk c e me face.

every "Can you even give someone an orgasm?" I taunt him some more af

at he's slump down into the furs when I realize he isn't moving.

nd I He squeezes my wrists in his hands. "Are you questioning my abilit id I can please a female in bed?"

"Of course, I am," I laugh mockingly, earning a scowl from him. I s
I I can wriggling beneath him again to get him off of me. I ache. I need releas
My this asshole is stopping me. "Get the fuck off of me!" I shout. "If you'
going to fuck me, then I'll find someone else to—"

He pulls back and slams inside of me in one, brutal thrust. I scream, back bowing as he fills me completely, my body tensing with the burn still. I His snarl is terrifying, his dominance powerful as he unleashes it on m ap. full force. My pussy squeezes him as he thrusts into me at a punishing Do you My moans are loud as my body is finally getting what it needs. He rele his hold on my wrists and my hands land on his shoulders, my nails dig at the into his skin as he pulls out nearly all the way before slamming into me again, laughing as I whimper from pain and pleasure.

"What's wrong, little wolf? Too much?" It is too much, but not enough the same time. He leans back on his haunches and grabs hold of my hip hands tight grip. He smirks at me as he holds me still while he fucks me. Har above groan tears from me, and I wrap my legs around him as he picks up his "So. Fucking. Tight," he growls the words out with each shove of his have core clenches, and I can feel more wetness coating his cock, making easy for him to push inside of me again and again. The sound of sking slapping on skin with my moans and his groans just takes me higher at higher. My world narrowing down to the feel of him moving inside of the pleasure he's giving me.

He lets go of my hips suddenly and comes back over me, his forearn leter I either side of my head and we both groan at the feeling of him entering

deeper inside of me. I claw at his back, my legs tightening around him y to bites at my neck. His thrusts become harder, my moans louder, and I si nails into him as my orgasm hits me fast and hard. My back arches, my tart curl and his mouth lands on mine, swallowing my scream, claiming it e, and himself as he fucks me through it before releasing my mouth.

"Your pussy is strangling my cock," he groans, his teeth clamping d re not on my shoulder. I whimper in pain, digging my fingers in harder. He g his pace picking up before he slams into me one more time before still my "Fuck." Heat floods me as he comes, his essence coating my insides as of it. teeth dig further into me while his hips still move with small, shallow t e at We still, breathing heavily and my body shakes with tremors. I relea pace. hands from his shoulders and drop my legs from around his waist, letti ases them fall to the sides. He releases his teeth from my shoulder and slow gging brings his head back to look at me. His eyes are now a light green, his features soft before he suddenly snarls. I frown, shoving at his shoulde igh at wanting him away from me as I realize what we just did. How could I ps in a fucking stupid?

d. A He grips my throat, getting in my face, and my pussy floods with most pace. need around him, causing his now soft cock to twitch inside of me. "Whips. found one good thing about you," he says, a look of disgust crossing or ig it features. "Your pussy is worth something, at least."

My gaze hardens, my own hand moving to grip his throat, and I feel d fingers twitching. "It's a good thing you have a cock Darius, because v me, to it, all you would be is a walking, talking asshole."

"You think you can play with me and win?" he asks, his head tilting ns on unable to stop the rock of my hips. He starts to harden inside me.

3

"I know I can." He brings me up into a sitting position, his cock mo

as he inside me as he does. I moan, and he grunts before he pulls out of me a ink my spins me around until I'm on my hands and knees. His warmth comes to behind me before his hand lands on the back of my neck, pinning my hands into the furs. I growl as he parts my legs with his own, and I feel his culeaking out of me, running down my thighs. He growls, gathering it wiown head of his cock before he circles my entrance.

rowls, "Let's see how well you play, little wolf," he groans before slammir ing. inside me.

3 his

hrusts.

ıse my

ng

·ly

rs,

be so

ore

⁷e

ver his

his

vithout

as I'm

ving

inside me as he does. I moan, and he grunts before he pulls out of me and spins me around until I'm on my hands and knees. His warmth comes up behind me before his hand lands on the back of my neck, pinning my head into the furs. I growl as he parts my legs with his own, and I feel his cum leaking out of me, running down my thighs. He growls, gathering it with the head of his cock before he circles my entrance.

"Let's see how well you play, little wolf," he groans before slamming back inside me.

TWENTY NINE

RHEA

"Fuck," Darius groans, thrusting back into my already tender flesh.

He kneels behind me, his hand on my throat and an arm around my hold me against his chest as drives into me. I moan, rocking my hips to his thrusts, our sweaty skin sliding together as I bring my hands up to I to the sides of his neck. His hand moves across my chest, squeezing m breast and playing with my nipple, making my breath hitch. My orgasi builds, my pussy clenching around him as my movement speeds up. H leaves my breast and skims his hand down until he reaches my clit, rul circles over the sensitive bud that causes me to buck against him.

"Already there, little wolf?" he taunts, nipping at my shoulder. His f tighten around my throat as he tilts my head back to rest on his shoulde

"Yes," I whimper, as he nuzzles my neck, his breathing heavy. Thos too skillful fingers of his speed up over my clit, his thrusts coming fast I can't hold it off. I shatter. My fingers dig into his neck, my back arch my pussy spasms around him. He holds me in place, growling in satisf as the hand pressing against my pussy keeps me still as he fills me witl cum.

I slump back against him, moaning with little aftershocks while his l moves lazily down to my entrance, feeling where he's inside of me. He guides me forward by my throat until the side of my face hits the furs l us, and my exhausted body melts into them. He pulls out slowly, then and walks toward the water. I watch him though half lidded eyes, feeli cum drip out of me as he ducks his head under a flow of water. I follow flow, watch it travel over his back where my scratches are along with l tattoos that mirror the ones on his torso, down and over his sculpted as back of his thighs.

It really is unfair that he has a body like that, but I can't help preenir the marks I've left on his body. Something about them satisfies me in $\boldsymbol{\epsilon}$ haven't felt before.

"Your heat is nearly over," he states as he turns and walks back over nold on I hum and roll on my side away from him, too exhausted to hold a conversation.

We've been fucking and fighting for three days. The marks on my b show as much, just like mine on him. I have bite marks on my shoulde chest and inner thighs. I also have no doubt his handprints are bruised throat and hips where he's gripped me as he drove into me. I squirm a the reminder. It's been a haze after the first time we fucked. The memo are blurry, but there is no doubt from the soreness of my pussy that we fucked. A lot.

Fingers trail up the back of my thighs before lifting the one on top sl He freezes, and I feel his stare on my center, on his cum staining my th A low sound escapes him before he drops my leg abruptly. I groan as t sudden movement, pain shooting through me.

"Oww," I grumble.

) meet

y

e bing

n

ingers er. se far

er, and

action

ing as

1 his

"You can handle some pain, it's not like you don't deserve it," he gr "You're really doing this now?" I huff, snuggling into the furs more beneath closing my eyes. "Don't be an asshole, Darius. I'm tired." He can take gets up elsewhere. I need to sleep.

ng his We have been in the same space constantly for three days, and he's very that once brought up anything from outside the cave. No Elites, no laws, no laws we have been too focused on each other, on him owning my body like set to the never been before. I let him, my heat tearing down any willpower I have the land I both knew I wouldn't be able to resist.

He grabs me, my body moving like a rag doll as he pins me down w way I weight on top of me. I growl, opening my eyes and giving him a deadly

"I will do what I want, when I want, Rhea." His fingers tighten around r to me.throat, cutting off most of my air. "Stay still."

"You have to be kidding me?" I croak. What suddenly crawled up h
"I'm not in the mood for your shit, Darius." I dig my nails into his han
ody around my throat, drawing blood as Runa lends me some strength.

rs, "I don't give a fuck." He slips between my thighs and shoves into m on my smirk cruel as he tears a small groan from me. "That's it, little wolf. Fe little at what I'm doing to you."

into the back of my head. He leans down, his breath at my ear as he slainto me, over and over again. With every slam of his hips, they become lightly. harder, angry. My vision starts to blur, both my hands digging into his nighs. as he groans above me, enjoying me at his mercy. He lets his fingers under again. He keeps his pace, only slowing when I'm nearing my organically into the start of the slower again. He keeps his pace, only slowing when I'm nearing my organically into the slower again.

owls. deny me of my release, and I shake my head in frustration, tears stingil and eyes.

his ass His fingers suddenly tighten around my throat painfully, his other had grabbing my hair and yanking my head back as he growls into my necl not thrusts becoming jerky until I feel his essence filling me. His fingers loothing. and I take in gulp full of air, tears sliding down the side of my face at he it has getting his release and denying me of mine. Over the last few days, he left. never left me without coming. In fact, he's pushed my limits demanding more, like he needed to see how many times he could make me come.

ith his now he just decides not to give it to me?

y stare. When I can speak, I grab his hair, shoving him away from my neck my laughs. "Get the fuck out of my cave, Darius." He slips out of my sore standing in one fluid motion as he looks down at me.

He takes me in, from my feet all the way up to my center, his eyes red there, watching his cum leak out of me with furrowed brows. He then this markings on my breasts, my shoulders and neck until he reaches me, his watery eyes. His voice is cold when he speaks, his lips curling as he lo me like I'm a piece of shit, like what he sees disgusts him. I barely sup flinch.

"You weren't a bad fuck, Rhea," he shrugs, tilting his head at me. "I wonder how many males have slipped between your thighs beforehance though. Is that how you became Alpha of this pack? You fucked the ol wrist and he had an unfortunate accident?" I jolt at his words. "You say bad p everyhappened here, yet I don't see the cause of that bad shit. Only scared p off all and you opening your legs so easily to anyone willing to climb betwee asm to them." He tilts his head the other way. "Or is that lying, bitch mouth or still spewing bullshit and manipulating her own pack?

I'm frozen, wondering where this is coming from. What caused this in him to make him so cruel? We have been at somewhat of a truce. I l inside my body, and he wanted it. He came to me. Yet I let just anyone k, his Why is he doing this now?

I get to my feet, my legs shaky with exhaustion as I face him. I stand the bare, trembling and feeling more vulnerable than I can ever remember

bare, trembling and feeling more vulnerable than I can ever remember 's his cum drips down my thighs. But my voice is hard, no emotion show my tone as I tell him, "Careful of the words you throw around so carely And Darius. Be careful how far you dig, because you might not like what you just below."

as he "You think I care what you think? All I want right now is to find thi flesh, missing woman, get the fuck out of here, and drag you and the rest of y pack with me to the Highers. Don't get attached to my cock, Rhea. It's esting yours. You're just a hole for me to use, and I will make that a part of y takes inpunishment." He flicks my hair over my shoulder before his fingers pr one of the many bite marks I have there. I grind my teeth, refusing to s oks at him the pain he's causing me. "By the time I'm done with you, little w press a you will be all used up, crying and begging for mercy." He gets lower, face now directly in front of mine as our noses touch while I keep siler

He stands, picking up his discarded clothes as the space fills with tend one, and without another word, he walks out of the cave. Walks away from shit again. My legs collapse beneath me, unable to hold me up any longer, eople grip the furs, my head hanging low. I'm exhausted. Not just physically mentally, and his words hit harder, deeper than they ever should.

you'll do well to remember, I have none."

f yours Having the Elites here has me on edge. I'm waiting for the moment find Sarah and drag us all back to the Highers. Kade is acting different

changethat's making me question if I can even help him. I'm trying to find a vet him get Darius to keep Eridian out of my punishment and let it remain a seen? in? thought I could convince him to keep the pack out of it. I thought if he them and realized how strange their behavior is, he might consider that I there, needed to stay here. I thought with what we shared over the last few downlike could speak to him, maybe even soften him a little toward me. But how is in fucking stupid am I? I have just given him another way to punish me, a essly, way for him to slowly break me down. He's only the second person I hou find into my body, and he treated it like it was nothing, accusing me of giving myself to many. When to me, it was so much more than that.

My skin feels like it's crawling. I feel dirty with his cum dried on myour thighs and shame fills me with what I did here. In my space. I clench not closed, biting my lip until I draw blood, until the pain brings me back to now. It's for the pack, I remind myself. It's for Kade.

ess into I'll do whatever it takes. This was my choice. This is my body. No behow deal.

olf, I repeat this over and over in my head as I stand. As I walk into the J his and wash his scent off of me, rubbing furiously at my skin even as Rur It. "But whines at me. As I get out and walk numbly toward my carvings, my be feet slapping against the stone floor. I repeat it as I pick up the wolf I n nsion, years ago and examine its twin tails. I bring it with me and lay down in the furs.

and I Wisps float near me, the glow reaching past my closed eyes, and I p over me to warm the chill in my bones. Fingers run through my hair. It gentle, soothing.

they If only they could sooth my soul instead as I drift off to sleep. ly, and

way to

cret. I

saw

t they "Mommy?"

Yes, sweetheart?"

"Are you and daddy bloodmates?" I ask, picking the grass between another fingers.

She sits next to me in our garden, a sad smile on her face as she rep
"We are not, but we chose each other. Love is love, and me and your c
are very much in love. It's how we made you."

"With love?" I wrinkle my nose at her.

"Yes," she laughs, and bops my nose. "Without our love, you would to the here, and you are very precious to us." Her face turns serious as her e the same as mine, look back at me. "Love when you can, sweetheart, a hard. You don't know when it will be taken away from you. So keep it a Hold it close and never let go."

"But I love you and Daddy and you're here. You are always here," with a frown.

"We won't always be with you, Milal," she tells me as her eyes tight nade "What? Why?" I grab onto her as she pulls me closer, and I burrow her side. She's scaring me. Mommy never scares me.

"They don't like us? But we're good, we're fun!" I cry.

"That may be true, but others don't believe it. It's why you can't she sweetheart. You must not reveal it." She cups my cheeks in her hands a

wipes my tears away. Her forehead rests against mine as she whispers pray to the Gods that you find your bloodmate, my darling girl. For he protect you more than most." Tears spill over her eyes, and I don't like Mommy crying. Mommy never cries. "I pray he keeps you safe."

I jolt awake, gasping for breath as tears roll down my face. I clench wolf carving to my chest, holding it close as I silently cry. I cry for my parents, for the lost time we should have had together because of anoth cry for my soul and the sins that stain it that can never be wiped clean. cry for my heart. The heart that is bound to get broken many more time it already has by what I fear is to come.

```
!n't be
'yes,
```

nd love

close.

I say

ten.

, into

[,] don't

w it,

and

wipes my tears away. Her forehead rests against mine as she whispers, "I pray to the Gods that you find your bloodmate, my darling girl. For he will protect you more than most." Tears spill over her eyes, and I don't like Mommy crying. Mommy never cries. "I pray he keeps you safe."

I jolt awake, gasping for breath as tears roll down my face. I clench the wolf carving to my chest, holding it close as I silently cry. I cry for my parents, for the lost time we should have had together because of another. I cry for my soul and the sins that stain it that can never be wiped clean. And I cry for my heart. The heart that is bound to get broken many more times than it already has by what I fear is to come.

THIRTY

RHEA

after yesterday in the cave, and I stayed up late to see if Kade came ho never did. I wanted him close, needing to see him, but he's shut down link yet again. Hearing voices coming from the dining area, I go across hall and enter through the open doorway, seeing the Elites and some of eating their breakfast at the table. I blink slowly, taking them all in as t look back at me. I ignore them and head into the kitchen to make coffe passing Zaide leaning against the wall, staring at Colten with curious e "Are there any other areas that you can think of where this woman a one who was with her could have gone to?" I hear Damian ask the roof "We have shown you all the places we can think of in The Deadlanc without entering anywhere dangerous," Taylor replied gruffly. Coffee hop up onto the counter and watch them while they talk. Making extra keep my eyes off Darius while everyone looks me over, no doubt seeir marks that Darius gave me during my heat. I'm only wearing shorts an shirt, so they aren't hard to miss. My cheeks heat.

I walk slowly down the stairs, rubbing my tired eyes. My sleep was fle

Leo speaks up next, shaking his blond head. "She's dead, as well as companion." I remain silent, hoping they stick to that conclusion. They be going home soon though as his men still need to heal.

"We assume the same thing for them both," Josh takes a sip of his d before continuing. "There is no way they survived, especially if they h entered The Deadlands before, and I'm assuming they hadn't."

"Morning, Rhea," Sebastian calls, looking over his shoulder at me fu where he sits, eyes on my legs as they swing back and forth. I grunt in response and look out my window. It's still early morning, the sun bare in the sky.

eting

I really don't feel like talking much, my head still swimming with the me. He of what happened in the cave with Darius. His words cut me deep whil the stood there naked and vulnerable, and I don't know why I'm letting him s the affect me so much. I suspect it's because I feel some sort of odd conne f mine toward him. Though it may not be as odd as I think. Does he feel the sa hev toward me? I doubt it with how he speaks to me. The problem is, if he e, I suspect he is, he's the Alpha of the Elite. He's close to the Highers, a yes. that's even more worrying. Even more terrifying.

"Eat more," Hudson tells Colten, and I look over at him as he points m. food on Colten's plate. ls

Colten sighs, pushing his plate away. "I've eaten enough—"

"I know you," comes a deep voice, and all our heads snap to Zaide l against the wall with his eyes on Colten, who freezes at his words alon Hudson.

"What?" Colten asks, his brows low, the grip on his fork tightening. "Your father is Alec Hallow. He was with the Elites for a long time. said his son would be joining, but he didn't turn up for the rite of passa

nd the

made, I sure I ig the

d a t-

her shamed his whole family. Alec wanted him to join the Elites, find a may won't have pups to continue the family line. He said his son was unworthy of family name and disowned him after he didn't show up," Zaide inform rink a flat tone.

aven't My mug is paused halfway to my mouth when his words hit me, and slight tremor runs through my hands. I barely breathe as Hudson slowl rom stands from his seat next to Colten, whose brown eyes now vacant, stainto nothing. I put my mug down slowly on the counter and get down, ely up walking toward Colten as Hudson takes measured steps toward Zaide.

my breath as Leo, Damian and Jerrod stand, looking at us in confusion loughts no doubt prepared for anything as Darius just watches on, curious to sele I this will pan out.

I position myself next to Colten, Josh standing at my side with Seb action Taylor close by. I put my hand on the back of his Colten's neck, rubbin ame circles there as I watch Hudson come to a stop in front of Zaide. There is who point trying to intervene, not when Zaide clearly knows who Colten is Hudson's protectiveness over him. It would make things worse.

"Do not *ever* mention that family in front of Colten again." Hudson to the shout, he doesn't even raise his voice, but you can hear the deadly inte behind his spoken warning. A warning that he has every right to give.

Zaide tilts his head at Hudson, his eyes flicking to Colten's vacant o eaning briefly, looking him over before coming back to Hudson. He shrugs, n g with once, and I release the breath I was holding. Surprised, but thankful he agreed.

Hudson walks back over to Colten and grunts as he sees the look in He eyes. I move back, giving his neck one last gentle rub, and let Hudson age and with the situation. Crouching in front of him, Hudson lifts a hand and ate and his jaw gently, giving him a little shake. "Come on, pup. Let's go for a f their he murmurs. Colten's eyes go to Hudson's, and he nods woodenly before us in getting up and letting Hudson guide him out of the cabin.

I wait until I hear the door close before I speak, getting my words or before the questions start. "Sit down," I tell them all. "I will explain."

y "You better do just that, Rhea. What happened to you all living here ring birth?" Leo demands, and I swing a hard glare his way, letting Runa conthrough my eyes.

"I said I will explain, and I will. So sit the fuck down before I put you and down again, Leo," I spit, ignoring his growl. "And you," I point at Zaid ee how "Never mention that fucking piece of shit family around Colten again, Hudson said. Or it won't be just him you will have to deal with." With waiting for his response, I take a seat in the space Colten left as Josh si down next to me, squeezing my hand where it rests on top of the table. is no rumble echoes through the room and we all freeze. I peek at Darius thr and my lashes curiously as he glares at Josh's hand, I move it away.

Elites on one side, Eridian on the other, our lines divided. I can feel doesn'tanger at me for lying about us all being here since birth, but I don't can not the only thing I lied about, and I didn't exactly expect Zaide to knc Colten's family.

nes I link my hands in front of me. "Colten came here a few years ago. I odding family were not happy with his life choices to say the least, and he had away." I pause, licking my dry lips before I continue. "He was lucky h here. If he didn't, he would be dead, they would have killed him. They his did."

deal "No way," Leo scoffs, and I scowl at him. "I remember the Hallows grabs They're good people, and Alec was a damn good Elite."

run," "You saw what they wanted you to see. Wolves hide monsters benefice their fur, Leo." I shake my head at all of them. "You all need to open y fucking eyes, and see people for who they are, not be blinded by their intentions."

"We're Elites, wolf. We're not blinded by anything," Damian chime from and I huff out an infuriated breath.

"Your arrogance will cost you," I assure him. "The Elites have been around for hundreds of years, said to be made by the Highers council a King of Vrohkaria died. Can you tell me why it was formed?" I ask him de. "The Elites were made to protect the lands against all threats. It's an like to become an Elite, an even greater honor when you have proven yours out enough to become a Higher if that's what you want," Damian says.

A low fucking right. Where is the honor in turning a blind eye to the suffering ough packs? They protect the lands from creatures, but what about the mons our homes? Who protects us from them? Is it honorable to look someo their the eye and brush off their desperation as rambling nonsense like they e. It's with Sybill and Samantha? What about Katy and Oscar, begging on a compath for help? What about me when people came to see me? My finger clench around each other in front of me on the table at the thought of under the get All Elites are the same. Memories bombard my mind, and I take in a rate came breath.

"When I see this honor you speak of, when I see the Elites truly prot Vrohkaria from the true threat, then I will honor you for what you are. Whether you believe what I said about Colten's family is up to you," I out to Damian, not looking at him in case I launch myself at him over to table. "But it is the truth."

false "I don't know who you think you are." Leo stands, putting his hands table, and I look at him as he leans forward toward me. "But you are notes in, but a little girl playing Alpha. You have been here all your life?" he must "Then how the fuck do you know about honor? The Elites? Gods, ever goes on outside this fucking valley? No, you just stay here, hidden awanter thelet everyone else fucking rot! You know what you are?" He leans even note to me over the table, and Darius stills. "A pathetic, weak, selfish cunt we honor doesn't have an honorable bone in her fucking body."

self "Weak little girl. Come on, stand for us! Don't you want to eat tonic Do you not want little Kaden over here to eat?"

"Pathetic, can't even do as she's told. She's fucking useless! Throw back inside her cage."

"Aww, are you crying again? I'll give you something to cry about, t ters in I'm suddenly hauled back, hands dragging me away from the table v ne in blink the room back into focus. Sound enters my ears slowly, like I'm did lirt coming up out of the water, and growls and grunts hit me. I shake my l and look over to see Josh on top of Leo, laying into him as blood stains **1**S fist. Leo lifts his elbow and aims for Josh's face, the blow causing him S to the side. They both get to their feet, ready to go again, when Darius ct us. a menacing growl so fierce it rattles the windows. The room stops, eve agged barely breathing as my eyes are drawn to Darius as he gets to his feet v snarl on his face. tect

"What the fuck was that?" he questions, and I look to Josh and Leo, grind waiting for their reply in a daze as Taylor keeps his hold on me.

When none comes, my eyes slide back to Darius. It's then I realize l

the wasn't talking to them, he was talking to me. His eyes hold mine as I v on my feet a little, the memories making my stomach turn as he prowls on the around the table and comes to a stop in front of me. Taylor lets go of n othing arms, but stays behind me as Seb moves closer. Josh watches Darius w ocks. as he takes a step toward me, concern etched onto his face.

"I said, what the fuck was that?" he repeats to me when I just stare usy and him in confusion. I look around the room. My guys have worry in their closer while the Elites are cautious and curious.

who What the fuck?

My brows lower. "What was what?" I try to think what he's talking and come up empty. "I didn't do anything."

"You blanked out. Your eyes went darker, and you were staring into her nothing. I tried to talk to you, but you wouldn't answer," he growls as looms over me. Is that...concern in his eyes?

oitch." "Did I do that?" I ask Josh through the link.

while I He replies instantly. "Yeah, is it happening again? If it is—"

just Darius grabs my jaw, shaking it a little when he demands, "Stop tall head through the link, little wolf." The link shuts down.

"How do you do that?" I rip my face from his fingers and take a ster to fall "What the fuck happened after Leo spoke to you?" he counters, igno lets outmy question.

ryone Neither one of us breaks our stare off, neither one of us backs down with a eyes roam my features. Josh clears his throat and comes to stand beside pulling my stare away from Darius. I look him over, his lip is split, and has blood coming out of his nose.

"You good?" he asks me, reaching out and squeezing my hand, and ne Darius' jaw tick out the corner of my eye. I nod at him and take a breath. "Let's finish our conversation, shall v don't wait for them to answer. I just pick up my chair from the floor w must have fallen over and take a seat, Josh in the seat next to me again rarily Taylor and Seb sit on my other side.

I hold my breath while I wait for Darius to take his seat, still not liki up at at my back. As everyone picks up chairs and seats themselves, I calm I reyes nerves from the memory of a time I wished I could forget. I wipe my sealms on my shorts and shift in my seat. Taylor nudges my knee with I look at him and give him a small smile.

about Darius hasn't moved yet, his stare focused on the side of my face like can pick me apart and see all of me. I feel he could if he really wanted "What else have you lied about? We can't believe a word that come he your mouth," Darius says, his tone hard and demanding as he eventual takes his seat. "You won't answer questions, and you only tell us thing you have little choice to do so."

"I have told you again and again that I will not tell you about any of cing pack members' lives. I have told you the basics of Colten's because Za recognized him. If you want the rest, ask him," I dare. "Hudson won't back. happy with the attempt though, and neither will I."

"You don't scare me, little wolf," he states, and I shrug. Just because don't scare him doesn't mean I can't slice his throat if I have to. He sm as his like he can hear my thoughts, and my lips peel back at the asshole.

e me, "Try me, asshole. See how far you get," I challenge, and Jerrod huff laugh. The red head is clearly amused, but I'm deadly serious.

"I have tried you," he murmurs, licking his lips as his pupils dilate. 'I see find I like playing with you." I shift in shift in my seat, the ache in my reminder at how he owned it. I was not expecting his words after the w

we?" I left last night, with the things he said to me... Is he playing me? Using here it would make sense as we are using each other to try and get what we w and though he has no reason to touch me to take me to the Highers. He can drag me there with the threat of Eridian over my head, he's already doing him. A laugh comes from further down the table, and I see Sebastian look between us at the bite marks and scratches the two of us have with a gray weaty his face. "You know," he chuckles. "The best fucks are the hate kind." his, and "Sebastian!" I snap, glaring at him even as my cheeks heat. He wink smiling like he knows something I don't.

"Come on, Alpha," he purrs, his voice silky smooth, and I feel rathe too. see Darius tense. "Releasing some tension is a good thing—Oww!" he s out ofwhines, as Josh slaps the back of his head.

ly "Thank you, Josh. It was either that or the knife." I pull out said knit is whenmy boot and start chipping away at the table in front of me.

"And who taught you how to use a knife?" Sebastian lifts an eyebromy me, putting his head in his hand as he leans an elbow on the table.

"You," I admit, pointing my blade at him. "The student surpasses the master." I grin, feeling some of the hazy darkness lift from my memoric close an eye, pretending to throw my knife at him. The bastard doesn't move.

"Fucking children," Damian mutters, while Zaide and Jerrod grunt i agreement.

's out a "Smiling won't fucking kill you, you know?" I tell him, the miserab idiot.

"And I "What is there to smile about?" Damian asks. "I've been stuck in The body a Deadlands for weeks and weeks, looking for a dead woman with a time ray he

me? It over my head and staying in a place that has the bare minimum. Sure, ant, smiles."

just This little shit. "You know." I fake a smile. "If your stay in our subping so. home is as awful as you say, you're *very* welcome to fuck off back whome came from." I bat my lashes at him. "I'll even help you pack."

in on "We have a few weeks left to fin-"

"Alpha!" A scream comes from my doorway, and I shoot to my feet is back, instant, my chair slamming to the floor while I rush for the front door.

the hallway and see Sybill staggering inside, tears down her face. My l r than instantly stops.

I run to her and grab her shoulders as she falls to the floor. I go dow her. "What's wrong?!" I panic, making my voice harsher than I intende fe from be.

"S... Sam," she gasps. "I can't find Sam anywhere." I snap my head Josh, but he's already aiming for my front door, Seb and Taylor follow w at "What do you mean? Where did you last see her? Did she seem oka Sybill shakes her head, a sob escaping her. "She was last at the river e today, but she doesn't go further than that. I went back and checked on ies. I when she hadn't come back for a while, but she wasn't there. She's bequiet and jumpy the last few days, I thought she may have wanted a bi time alone, but now she's gone." She grabs my hands and squeezes. Sa n doesn't know the forest very well. She's only been out there a few time only if she's with someone. "Please find her. Please." Sybill begs, lowle her head to my hands. "She wouldn't just run off, and she would tell m she was with Kade." ıe

e limit I pull her to me, giving her a quick hug before pulling back. "Stay h wait for me. It'll be okay." I help her stand and take her over to the sea

I'm all my living area. "I'll find her, I promise. Try not to worry." ıar ere you in an I enter ıeart n with ed it to l to ring. y?" · earlier ı her en t of ım es and ering ıe if

ere and

ıts in

my living area. "I'll find her, I promise. Try not to worry."

THIRTY ONE

RHEA

I race for the door, grabbing my blades and holders and attaching them around my thighs. I waste no time running out the door, jumping the dosteps and heading for the gathering. I sprint, Runa helping me to reach others as quickly as possible without question. I try to reach Kade thro link as I look around for any sign of Sam in the area, but he still has mout.

"No one has seen her," Josh tells me when I reach him, Taylor, Seb, Hudson. Their postures tense.

"She's gone into the forest," I tell them, and start heading toward the we use to get water. "She's only been out there a few times with her m and Kade. She won't have a clue where she's going."

"Why would she stay out there on her own anyway?" Taylor asks, searching the floor for any sign of footprints.

"Sybill doesn't know. It's not like Sam to do something like this," I out. "She's not inside the barrier, we would know." Someone would have seen her if she was. "Fuck," I mutter when we pass the lilk trees and re

the river, my eyes glancing everywhere trying to see if she's here. She's and there is no scent of her either.

"I'll go right and see if I can see any tracks or pick up her scent," Ta tells me, and he speeds off.

"Josh, go across the river and search that side. I'll follow it down. So further out to Josh. If you see Colten, tell him to go up the river and se went that way. I'm sure she's only been as far as this so we should find soon. She couldn't have gotten far." I scan the river, the banks and the around it, trying to see *anything*.

"Where do you want us to search?" Darius' voice sounds behind me suddenly, making me jump. I didn't even know he was following us. I ecking surprised by his question, but with more people searching, we can find the ugh the quicker.

"Split your Elites up with mine," I tell him, already moving down th of the river. "If you see her, make sure one of mine goes to her. It will her off if an Elite does it."

I rush forward, letting my senses roam free while Darius joins me. A hear is the water from the river and sticks crunching underneath our fe a single sound of another person can be heard. The forest is quiet, too stop when the river splits off into two different directions and look at t bank, seeing if I can see any signs of her. I walk into the river and wad through the water, ignoring cool liquid splashing against me. Reaching other side, I stand on the edge and look down, no footprints, no disturb earth. I look up and down along the grassy ground and see nothing to s another person was here apart from me and Darius.

What if she fell in and got swept down river?

My head snaps to the water at the thought and panic really starts to s

e shut

and

e river

om

rush ave

ach

's not, "Shit." I jog alongside the river, checking the ground and the water for signs of her. Darius stays on the other side, keeping pace with me. The tylor we follow the river, the more I feel dread starting to set in. The river do and the water turns rapid down here, violent and deadly. It's like a vice eb, go around my heart, squeezing it until I wheeze out a breath. Where in the e if she is she?

1 her "Anything?" I ask Josh, hoping he picked up something.

ground "Nothing yet," he replies through the link, his voice strained.

"Can she swim?" Darius asks from the other side of the river, lookir the water like I am.

"I don't know," I choke out, my throat tight at the thought of her not her knowing how to swim. Why haven't we been teaching the kids how to "Surely you would know if she can swim. She's what, ten?"

"Thirteen, and I don't know, Darius!" I snap at him, then come to a scare halt when I hear a snap to the left of me. "Sam!" I call out, rushing tow sound through the trees.

all I The scent of Kade hits me just before dark gray fur appears. I go to let. Not not caring about the fact that the last time he was in wolf form he was quiet. I to attack me. His blue eyes look between me and Darius, and I grip his muzzle in my hands, making him focus on me. "Kade, Sam is missing. e was last seen at the part of the river we use to collect water. She's not ly the seen since. Have you seen her?"

"No." He shakes his head, his ears standing up and alert as panic shauggest his eyes. "Has she been caught up in the river?" He moves around me lowering his nose to the ground and takes deep breaths, trying to catch scent.

set in. "I don't know! Can you go on the other side of Darius and search th

any of the forest? You're faster with your wolf, and then you can meet up velonger after you have searched there." He nods, his eyes full of concern as he eepens off, crossing the river and runs past Darius.

e grips "Why aren't you in your wolf?" Darius questions as we continue mo e Gods down the river.

"Why aren't you?" I counter. If I could be in my wolf I would, but I I don't need the fucking reminder of how useless I am.

"I'm keeping pace with you, and you told us not to approach Sam if ng at find her."

"When," I growl, glaring over at him.

"What?" His brows scrunch as he looks at me over the river.

swim? "When we find her," I tell him forcefully. "It's not if we find her. It' when."

sudden There's no other option.

zard the



him,

"How much further does the river go?" Darius asks. It's the first time ϵ of us has spoken in hours, too busy searching for Sam. The sun is slow setting, and we are quickly running out of daylight. We have to find he "Not far. We're nearly at the edge of the forest, coming up to the Unforgivable Sea."

ows in Kade and Josh haven't found any sign of Sam in all the time we've looking. Not a single trace. How could she have just disappeared? The explanation, which is one I don't want to think about, is that she's got up in the river. But it's calm where we collect water. It doesn't become at side

with us violent until you travel further down, sweeping you into its current and takes letting you go.

"The edge of the forest?" Darius wonders, looking around to keep a out. I don't know why he's helping me, I would have thought he would care. But here he is, helping us look for her.

can't. "Yeah. The river opens up more toward the end of the forest. Its cur goes to the crest of a waterfall between an opening in the cliffs that go we into the Unforgivable Sea. That's where the forest ends. It's the only we of the valley apart from climbing up the cliffs that surround us."

'S

"When I was on the top of the cliffs, I saw the Unforgivable Sea from where I stood, but I thought the valley would slope down into it. Not justification."

I glance over at him as I answer, our pace now a walk since my ener fading. He doesn't look the least bit out of breath, his movements still I'm panting slightly, my walk is more pained with my whole body ach just stops," I tell him, shrugging. "The only way to get to the sea is dov the waterfall, and no one survives it. The cliffs cage the sides of the wa you can't walk near the waterfall and try to climb down that way. Befc itherء cliffs cage on either side, there are two statues facing each other on op 'ly banks. Their hands reach out to one another across the water, their stor r soon. sad, pained, and desperate. Apparently two lovers died there, swept aw the rapids and into the Unforgivable Sea. The female fell in, and the m dove in to try to save her, but he was unable to get to her and they wen been the edge. We call it Lovers Rest. only

"The statues were built as tribute to them, but also as a warning for to be careful. We have unfortunately had some who have used that war as an invitation." I swallow hard at their memory, at my memory of states.

I not there and ready for it all to end. "When life gets too much for so long, come here and give themselves over to the waters, finding peace the or neye way they can, in death." I don't know why I told him that last bit. May ln't exhaustion, or maybe to make sure he understands that down here is dangerous. Deadly. I just hope Sam didn't come this way.

He's quiet after my words, his green eyes searching my face until I les over away from him, feeling too raw and not wanting him to see the failure ray out face at not saving the ones who chose the sea. I never know when peopenseak around to go to the end of the forest. I saw no warning signs in the people we lost. No cause for me to be overly concerned. I should have seen something.

gy is I stop dead in my tracks.

strong. Is this what Sam chose? She couldn't handle her memories anymore ing. "It came out here? She had been withdrawn, and Sybill said she's been qu wn by Am I going to find her scent at the edge of the river as she enters the water, so be swept away? I squeeze my eyes shut, feeling tears well.

re the "Rhea?" Darius asks, his voice low, a question in his tone. "What is posite snap my eyes open and pick up the pace again, not answering him. I not le facesknow she hasn't been there. I need to know she hasn't chosen this.

The trees get thinner, the river opening up more and the current pick speed, causing me and Darius to be further away from each other as we tover forward. I clear the trees on my side of the river and my eyes instantly toward the crest of the waterfall, seeing nothing. The statues in front of others base of the cliffs haunt me with the reminder of how many people have their lives here.

inding "Sam!" I shout, rushing forward into the open area and stopping at t

they edge of the water, turning in a circle looking for her. "Sam!" I stop spin and stay still, my senses open to listen for any noises, anything that conher. Nothing. Nothing apart from the rapids and the mess of emotions running through me. I'm happy she isn't here, but hurting because we haven't found her.

look Where are you, Samantha?

on my Wait. I tilt my head toward a sound and look over at Darius who is cole the same. His dark head turns forward until it stops, and I follow his gather the female statue on his side of the river.

looked He walks forward slowly before stopping ten feet away from it. Tha when I hear it, a whimper. My breath stalls in my lungs as I go toward edge of the bank, walking along as far as possible to the water until I'n parallel with Darius.

"Sam," I call out gently, and a small cry reaches my ears. My breath iet. whooshes out of me when I recognize it as Sam, and I move to the mal rater to statue on my side, my eyes never leaving the female one. "Kade, we he her. She's at the female statue at Lovers Rest." My eyes flick to Darius it?" I stays in his spot, watching me and not moving any closer.

"Sam, sweetheart. Are you alright?" Another cry. "I'm going to con round and get you, okay? I won't be long, just... just stay where you a supplease." I see a flicker of movement behind the statue, and her head peepush from behind it. My heart breaks at the sight. Her eyes are red from crying tears running down her face, and she's shaking, her body jolting with the tremor. When she sees me, her face crumples, and she starts to move one lost from behind the statue toward me. "Stop!" I shout, my voice a screech panic when she doesn't realize how close she is to the water. It's splash against the edges a few feet from her, the current fast and deadly. She

nning her body jolting at my harsh tone before she moves back to behind the uld be I hold my hands up at her. "Sam, you need to stay there, okay? It's dangerous." I gulp and move my eyes to Darius, who's moved a little of still slowly as if to not startle her. I look between him and Sam, wondering for the best when Kade's wolf breaks the tree line on Darius' side.

Thank the Gods.

Kade slows until he's standing beside Darius, who looks down at his lize to briefly. Darius steps back and away from him, letting him go to her. K moves slowly toward the female statue, emitting a gentle growl as he gentle toward it. Sam's eyes move from mine as she peaks her head around the female's legs at the sound, her tears coming in full force. She maneuve herself on her knees and grips the side of the stone as she leans around see Kade coming. She suddenly stands on shaking legs, and I let out a distress, my stomach dropping as my feet hit the edge of the bank, han reaching out as if I can grab her and keep her safe from falling.

She doesn't fall though. She grips the stone and moves around the le ave s as he until she's running and heading straight for Kade, her eyes locked on h Sam throws herself at him, her face burrowing into his neck. When I h sobs, I drop back on my ass. My breathing picks up, short, shallow par ıe coming from my tight chest. My fingers tremble as my vision waivers re. eks outout, and I put my head in my hands, trying to calm down. She could have fucking fallen in. She could have been swept over the edge into the ing, Unforgivable Sea, and I wouldn't have been able to grab her. I wouldn ery been able to reach her and keep her safe. She could have been lost to u ut I shake my head and squeeze my eyes shut, the vision of it happenin of hing upreplaying over and over again through my head. A soft touch on the ba stops, my neck has more tears forming in my eyes with how gentle it is. How

statue. even get across? Hands reach for my waist, and then I'm being picked cradled against a solid chest as his scent starts to calm me. I breathe it closer, deep, and the sound of the river gets quieter, the thoughts of her falling what's fading. I move my hands from my face and my gaze lands on Darius, I so close to mine as he carries me away from the water's edge. My brea slows, my body shakes less as I stare into his green eyes that are groun me, not blinking for a single moment as I take in deep breaths and slow ade exhale, copying his own.

He watches me, looking over my face until he stops when he notices pads wetness in my eyes. He places me down onto my feet gently, keeping (ıe hand on my waist as if to keep me steady, as he brings his other up to I rs face. I don't move as he runs a finger softly underneath my lower eyel. it to cry of collecting a tear there, and my breath catches. He examines my tear int his eyes squinting as it runs down the side of his finger before he bring d light-green eyes back to my ice-blue ones. The world stops at the look determination etched on his face. When he speaks, it's soft, but with de 2gs "The only tears I want to see in your eyes, little wolf, are the ones I ıim. ear her there from pleasure," he murmurs, a frown appearing on his face. "I do like to see them otherwise, it makes me... angry." ıts

in and "Angry?" I whisper, stunned and confused by his words.

He nods, looking at the wetness on his finger. "Yeah, angry, because something else caused you to shed tears, and I prefer to cause them as it have scream for me and me alone." He puts his finger in his mouth, and I was. rapt attention as he tastes my tear, his eyes capturing mine with a look not sure I understand. "So don't shed a tear unless you are on my cock tock of Rhea."

⁷ did he I blink, and then eventually come out of my stupor. "Listen, asshole

up, to keep my voice hard, but it comes out choked as I bring a finger up a poke his chest, ignoring the smirk that spreads across his damn kissabl "None of my tears belong to you. They're mine and mine alone, and w is face they come, it will be of my choosing." With a huff I turn on my heel, c thing my throat and ignoring him as I make my way to a safer spot in the riv ding where I can cross. His body heat caresses my back as he stays close, for my shadow babysitter as he chuckles.

"Keep those eyes open, little wolf, and have them on me," he says, a look over my shoulder at him. I have no idea what he means by that, be seriousness of his tone sets me on edge.

ny I continue on, I need to get Sam back home, and we have a long wal ash, ahead. I haven't got the energy or patience to deal with his ass right no tently, at least I'm calmer now than I was before.

is those And that's all because of my enemy, who I won't thank.

of Because then things may start to shift between us, and I will have no emand, what to do about that.

put m't

e you atch in I'm

." I try

to keep my voice hard, but it comes out choked as I bring a finger up and poke his chest, ignoring the smirk that spreads across his damn kissable lips. "None of my tears belong to you. They're mine and mine alone, and when they come, it will be of my choosing." With a huff I turn on my heel, clearing my throat and ignoring him as I make my way to a safer spot in the river where I can cross. His body heat caresses my back as he stays close, forever my shadow babysitter as he chuckles.

"Keep those eyes open, little wolf, and have them on me," he says, and I look over my shoulder at him. I have no idea what he means by that, but the seriousness of his tone sets me on edge.

I continue on, I need to get Sam back home, and we have a long walk ahead. I haven't got the energy or patience to deal with his ass right now, but at least I'm calmer now than I was before.

And that's all because of my enemy, who I won't thank.

Because then things may start to shift between us, and I will have no idea what to do about that.

THIRTY TWO

RHEA

We walk back slowly Sam on the back of Kade who's still in his wolf. seemed to want her close and refused to move until Sam was safely on back. She seemed to know what he wanted straight away, and she hop onto him without question, without fear, which makes me think they had one this often. Sam kept staring at Darius, her face pale and hands sha she gripped the wolf's fur tightly, so we hung back from them to give I space. She's been sleeping for a little while now, exhaustion winning cover her fear of Darius being near her. Seeing her look so small and fra cracks my heart open.

She's not the only one exhausted though. I haven't slept properly sin news of the Elites from Illium, and after my heat and today's emotional strain, I'm ready to fall flat on my face. I yawn, bringing a hand up to a my mouth as I sway to the side before I right myself. *Just a little furthe Runa. Not long now.* I feel her grumble inside me, her last reserves of a running low as well.

We come to the part of the river where we collect water, and I see Jo ahead, his gray eyes showing their relief before they quickly change to concern as he looks at me. He comes forward, running a hand over Ka muzzle, careful not to disturb Sam, before he comes at me. Without wa he scoops me up into his arms, and I go without protest, snuggling into familiar chest and his comforting scent. I know Josh will get me home breathe a sigh of relief at the pressure being taken off my body. Again, without warning, I'm jostled and ripped out of Josh's arms and moved another. My eyes spring open, and I glare at Darius. Josh's growl is fer at me being taken so roughly from his arms, and Darius growls back at unbothered.

Axis his

Darius doesn't look at me as he walks toward my home. "Just what think you're doing?" I grind out, wriggling about and trying to get him drop me. His hold tightens as he ignores me.

ced

ave

ner

"You can't just grab at her when you want," Josh barks at him. "She a fucking toy to be passed around."

aky as

Darius stills, his head turning toward Josh with a move that is all ani will do whatever I want, and she is to be whatever I want her to be." H is cold, his eyes sharp toward Josh, and my muscles tense at his sudder display of hostility.

)11f agile

I push out of Darius' hold while he's distracted by Josh, landing on ice the and stumbling a little. I rub my temples, just wanting the day to be don ıl know it's not over yet. I open my mouth to cuss him out when Sam wh cover from Kade's back. My head swings her way, and I walk to her as Kade гr, out a low growl. It's not for me this time, it's in displeasure that Sam is energy

I reach their side and I grab Sam's hand, holding hers as she sleeps a continue on. We leave Josh and Darius behind to size up each other's c my focus on getting Sam home.

osh up

Josh has always been my protector since we left our old home. He's

de's brother in every way but blood, I don't think Darius sees it as that thou arning, amusing and ridiculous that he seems to feel possessive of his *toy*.

when we hit the lilk trees, I try and guide a sleepy Sam off Kade's to like the lilk trees, I try and guide a sleepy Sam off Kade's to lim, I watching as she opens her sleepy eyes and snuggles closer to him, not go. "Come on," I tell her gently. "Kade will be back shortly. You know into can't go wolf inside Eridian."

socious She lets me take her off his back and I cradle her against me as Kado him, nuzzles her cheek. I hold Sam tightly as we walk, keeping silent as we few people from the pack who visibly relax at seeing her. I give them a do you reassuring nod and continue.

Taylor, Seb, Hudson and Colten already there and waiting. They all let easy not breath when they see us, and Taylor opens the door, letting us walk pathey stay outside. Padding down the hallway and through the open doo imal. "Iof my sitting room, Sybill flies off her seat, rushing toward us and gral is tone Sam in a tight hug as they both cry, holding one another close.

"Mom," Sam cries, burrowing her face in her shoulder.

"I'm here, I'm here," Sybill tells her over and over again.

my feet I swallow the lump in my throat at seeing them embrace, at the look ie, but sheer relief and love on Sybill's face to have her back in her arms. A n impersholding her daughter so close, like she's afraid she will disappear. I give lets a few moments together in peace as I turn to collect myself. That was it is upset.my mom before it was stolen from us.

I take a seat across from them as they sit, huddled close together. I v licks, give Sam some time but it's important I know what happened. I hear n open, and Josh rounds the corner with Darius on his heels, their mouth

igh. It'sset in a tight line. Sam lets out a squeak, her body shaking as she sees land hides her face from him.

letting she's not great near males, but we and the Elites have been eating at the value we gathering for a while now, and she has been getting better in their presson what happened? "Sam?" I say gently. "What's wrong?" I stand and myself between them, blocking Darius the best I can from her view. Sl pass a doesn't answer me.

"Are you hurt?" Sybill asks her, moving her daughter back a little so gaze can roam over her. Sam shakes her head, eyes to the floor as she poin, close to her mom as possible. She squeezes her eyes shut and opens he tout a mouth to speak, but no sounds come from her.

st as She's petrified.

rway I kneel before her, looking at Josh and Darius before asking. "What bbing you scared of Sam? Nothing will hurt you here. I promise."

Her bottom lip trembles, and tears fall from her eyes. "There... there man in the forest," she whispers, her voice trembling.

I nod. "Yes, some of the Elites are camping in the forest while some of females are in heat," I tell her gently.

nother She sniffles, shaking her head. "He was shocked to see me there at... we themfirst, but then he told me to go with him," she whispers, and my blood ne and cold, ice dripping into my veins as I still. The whole room stills. "I did

want to, so I turned to come back home when he tried to grab me," she vant to "I was near the... the river so I ran across it when he tried to get me ag 1y door started following me, and I heard strange noises, like whispers of voice s both talking at once." She shivers, her breath hitching as more tears fall. "I 1

Darius she sobs, her body curling in on herself. "I just ran and ran, and I didn' until I was at that statue."

I know Sybill pulls her closer as a deep, growl echoes throughout the space. e my hand out, waiting for him to come to me, knowing he needs to be c ence. "*Kade*, *calm*. *She*'s *already scared*," I urge him down the link. This til put isn't shut down.

I hear him take a deep breath before he puts his hand in mine, the war of his skin heating my own as I pull him down to the floor, his knees land her next to me. Sam's red rimmed eyes look up, and as soon as she sees Kneets as she falls into his arms, burrowing into his neck. He pulls her close with question, and I see him swallow as her gut-wrenching sobs increase in volume, barely taking a breath between them.

The room is deathly quiet apart from Sam, and I lift my hand, rubbin are soothing circles on her back while bringing my other hand to the back Kade's nape, squeezing there lightly. He sighs, squeezing Sam closer, e was a wait until her sobs calm down. I can feel Darius' eyes on us, watching everything we do, listening to what we're saying. His eyes are like a confort of the on my body as he stands at the back of the room, guarding yet imposin want him to hear this though, because I will rip apart whichever Elite attempted to grab her, and I will happily give them to Kade after I'm d turns with them. Because his eyes are deadly, dangerous and volatile.

"What did he look like, winglet?" Kade whispers against her hair.
"The was... was as tall as Josh, dark hair and his eyes were dark, but ain. He They changed color." Changed color? Was his wolf coming out? "The sall to a lighter brown, then blue, darker I think. I don't really know. I just ran," to get away from him. I didn't like him or his smell."

"His smell?" Kade rumbles, pulling her back slightly to look down a

't stop She nods. "He smelled bad. He smelled of iron, but bad iron and old shakes her head and looks at me as she shakes in Kade's arms. "I have I hold smelled it before, I can't really tell you."

lose. My brows furrow and I try to recall if I've smelled anything along the like that, but I can't. I look at Josh who shakes his head, telling me he smell anything either.

armth "Thank you for telling me." I drop my hands from Sam and Kade ar anding stand, turning to Sybil. "You're both welcome to stay here if you like. ade, the spare room at the back of the cabin."

"I'll think about it, Alpha. Thank you," Sybill murmurs, her eyes ne leaving Sam's.

"Are you going to stay home?" I ask Kade, and he looks down at Sa eyes slowly shutting, her body snuggling against him. She's so tired.

of "I'll stay until she is settled," he whispers, and I get up, touching my and we to his before walking into the hallway with Darius and Josh on my tail.

"I want that Elite found," I whisper hiss at Darius as soon as we mal way outside of the cabin. Josh shuts the door behind us, standing besid as Taylor, Seb, Hudson and Colten come closer, no doubt they listened everything at the door.

one "That's all well and good," Darius drawls. "But I don't have an Elite me that matches the description of height, eye color, hair color and small He shakes his head before folding his arms, looking down at me. "He value one of my Elites."

y went "That's not possible," Taylor starts. "You guys are the only newcon wantedhere. Who else could it have been? The only scents around here are the and Elites. We check the perimeter daily and no one has been in here." at her. would know, he is responsible for this after all.

l." She "It's not any of my Elites. I would know," Darius tilts his head. "Yo n't didn't smell what she claims to have smelled by the river, and neither a Maybe she just got scared and imagined it."

ne river "Are you fucking stupid!" I growl at him and he scowls. "That girl le didn't what is and what isn't scary to her, and a man scared her. She didn't ju imagine it, she's thirteen." There is no way she did. I saw the fear in he das she told me. There was someone here. Someone is in Eridian, and if Use is right, it wasn't any of us.

Then who was it and how did they get in? I rub my arms, my body s ver feeling cold to my bones.

"Do you know what she meant by the smell?" Josh asks, scratching m, her chin in thought.

"I'm not sure," I reply, then look at Darius. "Have you?" I haven't b 7 cheek through all of Vrohkaria like he has. I've only been through a little por the lands and through The Deadlands to here. If anyone knows this sm se our surely, he would.

His eyes turn unfocused for a second before he shakes his head. "Not old blood comes to mind when she mentioned bad iron, and you would that on a rotting corpse, which is not something I'm assuming she cam across," he pauses in thought before continuing. "I'll have my Elites the ell." not in The Deadlands search the forest and have Maize scry it as well it wasn't adamant someone was really here."

I ignore his last words. "She won't be able to scry inside the lilk tree ters she could do the forest. Where is your witch anyway?" I ask Darius, lo a packs around to see if I can spot her.

Taylor "Probably with my men in their cabin." His reply is blunt, and I can but look him over to see if he is affected by that. He isn't.

"I'll talk with whoever is searching the forest, I can help them look a did I. can speak to the ones camping out there too," Taylor tells Darius, and walk down the deck steps.

cnows "Wait," I call out and they both turn. To Darius I ask something that niggling at me. "Why are you helping?"

Per eyes He thinks for a moment. "If someone was here, it might be the person Dariushelped the missing woman in The Deadlands." His stare pins me to the and I swallow, knowing that won't be the case. "We are on a time limitial find her, and my patience is running out. Rogures are slaughtering even they can throughout Vrohkaria as we speak. We are needed out there, I his wasting our time here."

So there is a time limit like Hudson said.

rion of Alpha of the Elites, he can go back when he wants.

- ell, "I need to find this woman who has either been taken or is trying to her responsibilities," he grinds out, his jaw ticking.
- o. Only Responsibilities? Like what? Being in a fucking hole on her back for lifted many years for sick fucks to rape?
- e I take a deep breath "She is most likely dead. I've told you neither slat are the other person would not survive out in The Deadlands. The search f f your is useless."

He looks at me curiously, his jaw ticking. "I have some time left, the es, but Highers sent us here personally and their request needs to be fulfilled be oking we return home. Either she is found dead or alive, or we go back empty handed with no answers, which isn't an option." With that he turns and 't help toward Leo, Damian, Jerrod and Zaide, who are waiting further down to path. Taylor scowls at him before following them to organize a search

and we forest. Seb, Hudson and Colten lag behind them, making sure the heale they cabin is off limits discreetly when they return to Eridian and, no doubt here too.

"I have a bad feeling," I whisper to Josh. "Who is here and how did find us? Why did they try to grab Sam?"

on who He squeezes my shoulder gently as we look over Eridian from my despot, don't know, but I don't like it. Will Solvier know?"

"I'm going to find out, he knows all who enter here." I chew the instrything my lower lip as I rack my brain for the smell Sam mentioned. I don't rack one exactly like it, but I may have smelled something similar before.

I pray to the Gods I'm not right. Because if I am, I don't want to thin about what would happen.

's the What it would mean for Eridian.

escape

r how

he or

or her

Ĵ

efore

У

l walks

the

in the

forest. Seb, Hudson and Colten lag behind them, making sure the healers' cabin is off limits discreetly when they return to Eridian and, no doubt, search here too.

"I have a bad feeling," I whisper to Josh. "Who is here and how did they find us? Why did they try to grab Sam?"

He squeezes my shoulder gently as we look over Eridian from my deck. "I don't know, but I don't like it. Will Solvier know?"

"I'm going to find out, he knows all who enter here." I chew the inside of my lower lip as I rack my brain for the smell Sam mentioned. I don't recall one exactly like it, but I may have smelled something similar before.

I pray to the Gods I'm not right. Because if I am, I don't want to think about what would happen.

What it would mean for Eridian.

THIRTY THREE

RHEA

"Solvier!" I call through the trees. I could really do with him being her now.

I put my hand to the dirt ground, closing my eyes and opening my so to feel for tremors. Nothing, not even a slight disturbance. I stand and strubbing the back of my neck as exhaustion hits me. "How's the search going?" I yawn down the link to Josh.

"Nearly done. No strange smells around, and we haven't seen anyon matching Sam's description of the man she saw," Josh tells me, and I shown on the ground with a grunt. How can someone just appear in Ericand leave no trace? Better yet, what the fuck is anyone doing here in the place?

This is really bad.

I rub my calves, groaning as I knead the muscle, trying to ease its so They feel on fire and my feet are more than likely covered in blisters w how long I've been searching for Solvier. It's way into the night now, after searching for Sam all day and now searching for Solvier, I don't wove for a week after this. When is this shit going to stop?

I huff at myself. "A girl can wish."

"What do you wish for?" a drawled voice speaks behind me.

I jolt, my head whipping around with a hand on my chest as I spot Γ behind me, head tilted with a small smirk on his face.

"You scared the shit out of me! What is wrong with you?" I'm alrea edge as it is, and I don't need my babysitter creeping up on me. I put n hands on the ground, heaving myself up. I hold my breath through the shooting through my body as I do and then start forward again.

"Hmm, there is nothing wrong with me. What is wrong with you?" I questions, striding beside me, those eyes of his roaming over me. I do same with him. How does he look like he rolled out of bed on twelve he sleep while I look like a shit mess?

His dark hair is messy, but in a way that looks natural to him, and th light-green eyes, though guarded, are full of life. No sign of exhaustion I look over the thin white scar on his nose to a jaw I want to bite. My e lower to his neck, following the trail of tattoos until they disappear underneath the collar of his t-shirt. The sight of them makes me want to every one of those markings, find hidden treasure in them and translate words he has hidden in the harsh lines and patterns. I hadn't been able a closer look at them when he was naked. I was in too much of a daze my heat to examine them closely, and there is no way I would ask him them now.

He catches me looking at him and tilts his head down and toward movement wave him off, not bothering to answer the question in his eyes and hea northeast. Maybe Solvier went to his spot. I've caught him there a few so hopefully he is. We walk... Well, he walks, and I shuffle on in silen The sound of the night animals reaching us in the cool night. He stays

e right

enses

sigh,

ne slunk dian

ıe first

reness.

vith and want to to me, his eyes roaming around us and alert. Even if he doesn't believe saw someone, his actions speak differently.

)arius My foot gets caught on an exposed tree root, and I grunt, hands brac the fall, but it never comes. Darius' arm shoots out, hand gripping my as he pulls me back, yanking me toward him. I hit his solid chest, his s wrapping around me immediately and filling my lungs. I slowly lift m ١V and his eyes capture mine, and it's all I can see. His eyes bounce back pain forth, and black begins to spread slowly from the edges of his whites. I as Runa gets some energy and stirs inside me, and I feel my eyes start าค change from his reaction. His brows lower in confusion, and I try to ho the back so he doesn't see. Glass-like flecks enter his pupils, the opposite lours mine, and I follow each one of them, entranced as they float in the gree know his wolf is looking at me, just like Runa is looking at him. They' ose 1 at all. unable to help themselves, just like us.

My soul glows as we watch each other, feeling a wash of... everythic flow over me. It feels like his gaze traveling to the deepest part of me, o trace examining every drop of my being, caressing every part of what is me. in a sharp breath at this powerful, heady feeling, my forearm tingling a to get Darius' eyes lower to my lips. He dips his head closer to me, stopping during whisper of a breath away from his lips touching mine. We're so close, about breaths intertwining, and I can't move. I'm frozen from the intensity or gaze and his closeness to me. A branch cracks and his head snaps toware. I he drops my wrist and takes a step back, taking his warmth with him.

I blink, coming out of the trance and clearing my throat, knowing we times moment we had just now is gone. He scans where the sound came from once he determines it's just an animal, we continue walking.

close I cast glances at Darius out of the corner of my eye, wondering what

even doing here. How does he even keep finding me for that matter? I' deep in the forest in the dead of night and have been gone for hours. Y ring for he is, appearing out of nowhere, not making a single sound. It's really wrist beginning to annoy me. I've learned to home in on every little noise sincent was little, yet I can't hear him coming, and when he is around, all my for y head, drawn to him without my control. I really don't like it, yet all I feel frow and Runa is contentment in his presence most of the time. It's the same feel watch she gets when we are at the cave, and that worries and confuses me. I confuses the same feel understand it.

"What are you doing here?" I grumble, unable to stop my curiosity.

to "I've spoken with my Elites apart from the ones in The Deadlands, a en and said, there is no one matching the girl's description of this male. There scent, no trace and no tracks of anyone ever being there either." He loc me, brow lifting as we keep walking.

ing "Your point?" I grind out, looking through the trees ahead of me.

"My point," he drawls. "Is that there is nothing there, and there was I suck probably nothing there to begin with."

I stop, hands on hips and heave out a sigh at him. "Darius," I say, just a exhaustion showing in my voice. "I don't care what you *think* you kno our believe Sam. The whole thing feels... off. Like there is a disturbance in finite air, and I don't like it."

"Off how?" he folds his arms as some of his dominance hits me, and don't show just how that affects me. I don't show that I want to wrap in hatever around me like a second skin.

n, and I rub my temples. "Just, I don't know. It feels like something has shi Something has come into my territory and it's wrong." It's like a vaport he's intertwining with the air. Invisible to the eye, but you feel it all the san

m "You're making no sense, you know that right?" He shakes his head et here eyeing me like I'm crazy.

"I might not make sense to you, but I make sense to me. I need to fince I Solvier." I pick up the pace again, pushing myself and scanning the tre focus is the help of the moonlight to catch sight of him.

m "Who is Solvier anyway?" he wonders aloud.

ling "You could say he's the guardian of the Eridian. He's been here for lon't long time." Hundreds of years.

"How has he been here, and no one knew?" he questions, moving a out the way for me as I pass.

and as I "How am I supposed to know? You're the Elites. You're supposed t is no know everything." I roll my eyes at that. You can't know everything. I oks at impossible.

"The Elites record everything, and it's combined with the Highers' knowledge of Vrohkaria in their library. We didn't know this place exi so how would we know about a wolf guardian?" He says in a low tone "Don't get cheeky, little wolf, I may just spank your ass raw," he warn stumble over my feet.

w. I "The fuck!" I splutter. "You wouldn't dare." My cheeks are blazing n the and I look at him with wide eyes.

He drags me to him, my back to his chest as he rests his lips near my "Are you playing with me again?" he murmurs in a low, husky voice, at goosebumps raise over my skin. A shiver runs through me as he inhale deeply at my neck, letting out a quiet grunt. He presses into my back no ifted. and I feel his hardness beneath his pants. "It excites me when you do, you for of rot know that." He takes another deep breath and nips at my skin. "Maybe ne.

l, time we can fight until I quieten that mouth of yours." He rocks into m whimper spilling from my lips.

Flashes of my heat run through my mind and wetness coats my pant es with the memory of him moving inside me. His hands on my naked flesh, h marking me, licking me, and a small sounding breath escapes me. A ru comes from him, and he grabs my hips, pulling me further into him as a very leaves a wet trail of kisses on my neck.

"Do you want to play?" he murmurs, his teeth scraping my ear.

branch Do I? We fucked during my heat. I chose to allow it, and he was an when he left. I'm not in heat now though, and the cruel words he left n in the cave stung, they cut deep. If he wants to use me as just a hole for to fill as punishment, then so be it. But now is not the time, and I'm no punishment. Not yet.

Bringing my hands up and over his on my hips, I find the will power isted, peel them off me and continue on. "You can do what you want, right?"

back, not bothering to stop. "But right now, Darius, I have some things s, and IYou may think Sam was just imagining things, but I know this forest a something is wrong. I need to keep my pack safe from whoever is here hot, can't do that with your cock inside me."

He catches up to me, his gaze on the side of my face. "You are mine y ear. have a responsibility to protect you from any threat that isn't me. Your and is an extension of you, so they will also be protected as long as you are turn my head towards him, stunned at his words. "I don't do well with nore, sharing, little wolf, so if something is going to take your attention away you me, I will get rid of it."

this



ies at

is teeth With Darius' words running through my mind, we don't speak as we remained the most northeast edge of the forest, stopping at a waterfall coming on the cliffside. It's one of the larger ones, and if you go through the wate is a cave behind it where Solvier sometimes rests. He isn't here though there is no sign that he has been in a while.

asshole My shoulders slump with that knowledge. He would be around if Er ne with were in danger, right? This is his home, and he protects it, meaning he r him protects us. He's been distant, going away for much longer than usual. It under behavior is odd, and I don't understand why he's not here if someone lentered Eridian. Is it really just Sam's imagination and my paranoia?

At least everyone at home is okay. I spoke to Josh a little while ago, 'I call said all is fine, but they are keeping an eye on the Elites. Kade is still v to do. Sam at the main cabin, not wanting to leave her as she's having nightn and Every time he tried to get up, she would scream, only settling when she curled up next to him. I'm glad she feels safe around him and that Kad helping her, I know he won't leave her until she's okay.

I bend and pick up a few stones from the ground, throwing them into pack pool of water at the bottom of the waterfall, watching the ripples. I feel a." I Darius' stare on me as I continue throwing while he stands with his arr folded, the moonlight shining down on us.

"You said the Rogures are causing havoc across the lands," I start, r stone in my hand. "If you are trying to get rid of them, why have the H sent you here for one woman? Surely getting rid of the Rogures is mor

important?" Rogures are lethal. I'm glad we haven't had more encount with them, but I do feel for everyone in the rest of Vrohkaria having to their wrath.

They are scary motherfuckers, and if I could help I would. But what I do? Sure, I could open Eridian to refugees, giving them a safe place tr, there The cost of that, however, is losing my family. My pack would have to to where they escaped from and be put on trial. The pups would be tak the Highers? They would punish them all. Especially if they get their home.

We are lucky to have Eridian to protect us, but there are more monstructions.

We are lucky to have Eridian to protect us, but there are more monstructure.

"The Rogures are my main concern, but the Highers think this wom more important right now."

and he "You don't think so?" I ask, curious of his answer.

with He shakes his head, not even hesitating as he answers. "No."

I chew on my lip for a moment in thought. "I know you plan on taki to the Highers, but what if I stay here and you bring people to me that help? A safe place to come and stay. We could do it slowly, make roor from the center of Eridian and place them in new cabins, as long as the

o the Highers don't know."

He shakes his head. "You are going to the Highers either way, and y punishment will be given to me. People will come to Eridian whether y like it or not."

olling a I clench my jaw and stare at the water. "It will do more harm than go lighers" tell him. "I guarantee that. Just go home, Darius. Forget we exist," I signers he grunts. "No one is stopping you."

"If I could just go back empty handed, I would."

ers "I guess the Highers do have control over the Elites," I mutter.

suffer "They don't without my say so. They just want me to do something to avoid at all costs. My goal right now is getting rid of the Rogures, no could else, and I won't let anything get in the way of that. Even if I have to to o live. detour doing this shit." I huff, and his next question catches me off gua return "How do you know anything about the Highers and Elites anyway? You en and all the way out here, practically in your own world. So how do you know anything about Vrohkaria?"

"Well..." I trail off. When his hard stare is still on me, refusing to leters in I continue. "You know Colten came from the lands. We sometimes have others come here. They tell us things about what's happening in Vrohk an is chew the inside of my lip and look away from him as his face calls bul on my words. "Don't ask questions I can't answer, Darius," I half plea half warn him.

"So now it's not just Colten? It's others too?" He scoffs. "I know ng me something isn't right here, Rhea. I will find out what. One thing I know need sure is that I can't trust a word out of your damn mouth. You're the can naway whatever is happening here with your pack. They're petrified more than Everything is your fault, you stupid bitch. If you would have just dor you were told and stopped, I wouldn't have had to kill anyone. But you rour tell what you heard, didn't you? You had to go and open that fucking no of yours and cause all of this. Cause your mother's death!

I blink, willing myself out of the memory. Why am I having so man bod," I flashbacks? My hand shakes as I throw the next stone, watching as it so gh and the bottom of the pool, never to be found and forever stuck there, layin eternal darkness.

Darius has moved closer now, watching me intently. Noticing my ha

I want that feels like it's entered my lungs, drowning me in memories. "Some othing may be my fault," I agree on a whisper. "But all I've ever tried to do is ake a protect them as best that I can. I'm not the bad guy here, Darius. I neve ard. If I start believing that I am, then there is no hope for my pack. Or Kac nu're me.

ow so We lock eyes, mine a little sad, his a lot curious. I start to feel that p toward him again, locking us in the embrace of our stare.

"t it go, "Who are you?" His question is genuine, wanting to know all the pa ve me. I can see it in his eyes and the way he looks at me sometimes. The taria." Iconfusion, the curiosity, the need to yank out my soul and take a look ! lshit himself.

d and My reply is gentle, solemn and accepting.

"Someone you probably don't want me to be."

A gentle touch to my cheek has me leaning into it. It's soft, reassurius v for confusing all at the same time. It's familiar, yet new to me. I've felt the use of phantom touches over the years, a light pressure surrounding me at time not." it's gotten so much more frequent since the Elites appeared. Since he appeared. I watch as Darius' head turns to the side suddenly, his brows a had to scrunched as his eyes move around the space, searching for something nouth a flash of pale against him before vanishing into thin air.

Wisps float from the trees and into the night sky above us, both of u watching as they dance with each other, twirling and swirling near the inks to flowing down the cliffside. A few float down to me, tickling my skin buy in going over to Darius. He watches them slowly move closer to him. Whether they are in arms reach, he brings a hand up, holding it steady as a small ands

water wisp moves toward him. It hovers above his palm before jiggling playthings its glowing body of essence moving gently from side to side.

Then the lands stop.

er was. Everything stops.

My breath hitches as I take in his face. The lightness of his green ey le." Or seems to glow, and the gentle smile on his face seems soft in the light ull wisps. He looks unnatural, peaceful. More. His face is gentle as he loo them, and his lips move as he murmurs words to it. It's a guiet sound I never heard from him before, and it causes my chest to warm. I bring r rts of hand toward it, rubbing gently as that warmth spears over my body fro center of my chest. Runa rubs against me, experiencing the same thing for am. A small smile graces my face as I watch him, unable to stop it. Ris now, he's not the Alpha of the Elites, he's just a male content in watch the wisps play around him. The small one hovering above his palm twi ng and around him before shooting into the sky to join the others above us, glo softly against the dark. ese

nes, but As we stand there, watching them under the night sky, the only thou my head is one I never thought I would have. One I'm not sure how I for about and not entirely sure if it rings true. But as I look back over at Dook. A see the heat spreads a little stronger within my chest and tingles spread alo forearm, making me wonder.

I breathe deep, taking in the scents surrounding me, and the scent th

fully, just Darius as my eyes slowly move back to him. I watch the small sm from his face, his lightened eyes darken to a coldness that causes the h my chest to evaporate, the tingles abruptly stopping. The softness in hi turns to anger as I drop my hand from my arm, my own smile vanishin es remember who I'm standing with, remember that this isn't just a male, of the male who will be taking me to people I never wanted to see again i ks at lifetime.

've "Under the moonlight, the darkest of nights shine the brightest," I w ny to myself.

m the "What?" he asks, his jaw tightening.

that I I don't reply as I silently pray to the Gods, staring at the man who me that I be my downfall.

I pray that whatever they have in store for me, I can overcome it and back home to my family. I pray that I can keep them safe and forget allowing the male with light green eyes and a gentle smile that makes my soul so in a way I have never experienced before.

ght in And as I look back down at my forearm, I know that it will be an experience that I will never have with another, and I know most of my arius, prayers will not be answered.

ng my

to the

ı. I

ty

iere the

at is

just Darius as my eyes slowly move back to him. I watch the small smile slip from his face, his lightened eyes darken to a coldness that causes the heat in my chest to evaporate, the tingles abruptly stopping. The softness in him turns to anger as I drop my hand from my arm, my own smile vanishing as I remember who I'm standing with, remember that this isn't just a male, but the male who will be taking me to people I never wanted to see again in my lifetime.

"Under the moonlight, the darkest of nights shine the brightest," I whisper to myself.

"What?" he asks, his jaw tightening.

I don't reply as I silently pray to the Gods, staring at the man who may just be my downfall.

I pray that whatever they have in store for me, I can overcome it and come back home to my family. I pray that I can keep them safe and forget all about the male with light green eyes and a gentle smile that makes my soul scream in a way I have never experienced before.

And as I look back down at my forearm, I know that it will be an experience that I will never have with another, and I know most of my prayers will not be answered.

THIRTY FOUR

RHEA

I grab some extra furs for Darius, passing them to him as I move about cave. It's awkward, and the tension is high, but I haven't got the energy make the walk back home and be free from his presence. I could just not him stay outside, but I'm not an asshole like he would be. Eridian is sa there are no signs of this man anywhere, and although the air still seem disturbed, there is no sense of anything wrong at the moment.

I ignore my cheeks heating as I bend, shuffling my furs around until satisfied with them. I always make sure they are just right. I can still sl smell Darius' scent on them from the last time we were both here, and not sure if I'm comforted by that or not. Mostly not after the weird mo we had outside and the tingling in my arm. I try not to think about wha could mean, though it's not far from my mind.

He makes his temporary bed close to the entrance into the cave, taki space against the dark rock wall. I move over to the tables I have here rummage through a pack, taking out some dried meat and a water skin shuffle over to him and hand it over without a word after taking some

myself. We sit down and eat our bland meal in silence, him on his bed me on mine, the cool night air flowing from the opening at the top.

Not a wisp is in sight as I grab some old wood off to the side before more comfortably on my furs, pulling my blade out from my boot. The moonlight shining through gives me enough light to work. Darius watc me intently as I begin to carve, mindful of keeping the shavings on the ground rather than in my bed. I'm rounding the back of the carving wh speaks.

: the y to ıake

"Did you make all those as well?" I look over at him and see him no toward my many carvings in the crevasse of the rock wall. I nod and co to scrape my blade against the wood, making indents the best I can. I h him shuffle around before he gets up and walks toward my carvings, ca me to pause and watch him.

is to be

fe,

If he breaks them, I'll break his neck.

"There's a lot here," he muses, and I grunt in response, never taking eyes off of him.

I'm

ightly I'm

ment

it that

He reaches a muscular arm up and takes one I did of Josh years ago, bristle at him touching my things without asking. "I thought Josh was mate when I first saw you both." He turns the carving over as he studie "You fucked him?"

ng a and

. I for

I tilt my head at him, wondering why he's asking all of a sudden. "V does it matter?" I shrug and place the wood and my blade down. Gettir walk toward him, taking the carving out of his hand before gently putti back in its place.

"Just answer the question, Rhea," he says in a low, demanding tone, look at him. Why does he want to know this so badly when according I've spread my legs for anyone and everyone?

After a moment, I answer him truthfully. "I have been intimate with I pause, my eyes widening in surprise as he growls. "He was my first a sitting only. Until you." The words hang in the air between us, my eyes never leaving his as they flash to black, and then settle again.

thes He scoffs at me. "No way." When I continue to stare at him and say nothing, he looks at me more closely. "Why be with me then, if he's then he man that has ever touched you?"

I sigh, looking back at my work I've done over the years, letting it godding me for my answer. "I wanted to see if that was a way to get you to be... ontinue considerate of keeping Eridian out of your mouth when you take me to lear Highers." Also, because for some reason my body reacts to him in a wausing hasn't for anyone before. I don't tell him that pesky bit of information though.

"You fucked me in the hope that I wouldn't tell the Highers about E but not to try and convince me to leave you here?" He shakes his head and folds his arms. "It was more than that, and we both know it."

and I I do. "You followed me here, you came to me."

your "I did."

es it. "Why," I ask curiously.

"Because no one touches what's mine." He says it without any hesit Why without a hint of doubt that his words are not true.

ing up, I Shaking my head at him, I look toward the wall. "I did want you at ting it moment," I admit. "But I also did it for that reason." I wave a hand at to carvings of my pack, mainly of Kade and Josh. He looks over them. "I and I I'm going to be taken to the Highers either way, so I thought why not at the him and also try and keep this place safe." I cock my head at him. "Which obviously hasn't worked. You're right about one thing, I do manipulat

Josh,' there is a good reason to, well... try to." I laugh, but it's hollow, and he had brows pull down. I pick up a carving of Kade, looking over his face an running my finger over the smile I carved there.

He moves a little closer, his eyes on me as I turn the figure over in n hands. His scent wraps around me and I want to keep it to myself, lather e only skin with it so it's always with me.

"Have you ever loved someone so much, with all that you are? So n round that you would do anything you could to protect them?" I ask, turning him. I watch him swallow, looking at the carving in my hand before hi the come back to mine. "I don't mean just saying you would, I mean you v ay it You would sell your soul, stain it, abuse it and hurt it beyond repair. Ju keep those you love safe?" He watches me intently before finally looki away.

ridian, "I did at one time," he says quietly, shocking me that he told me son a little personal. Who was it? And why not anymore? Did he have a mate? I c my throat over the jealous growl I want to release.

I give him a small smile, looking down at the carving of Kade befor handing it to him. He takes it from me hesitantly, our fingers grazing a eyes ask a question he doesn't voice aloud. I take a breath and prepare ation, him something I know he will probably deny. But I have to try, I see n way.

hat "You have part of my world in your hands," I whisper, watching as he fingers squeeze tightly around the carving, looking it over. "I will do know whatever it takes to protect it. I *have* done whatever it takes to protect give in pause to swallow my pride. "Will you help me protect it?" I ask him, n enemy, and maybe the only one who can help. I know something is wre when can feel it in the air, and I don't know if I can keep everyone safe on m

from whatever is coming. He also has me in a chokehold. He can hold Eridian over my head, and I will do anything he demands to keep it saf why I'm going to the Highers without question, we're outnumbered. We can't just keep them here as prisoners, I don't think we have the streng behind us to even consider it. They are Elites, trained and deadly. We average. I thought about every way I could to try and get them to lister to listen. This is my last resort... damn near begging.

"You want my help?" he asks, his eyes flicking up to mine. But s eyes surprisingly, there is no smugness there. I nod. "What do I get in return would. don't tell them?" My hands shake at his question, but I continue on.

"I will gladly accept more people into Eridian, without a fight, if you ist to can assure that the original pack members are safe here. I will make su ing a peaceful transition with the members already here. They can help but nething homes and teach them the land, and we can make sure they live togeth peacefully. That is something only I can do smoothly. It will be a disas lear anyone else attempts it. They can be safe here, away from danger, awa the Rogures. There is so much more room in the forest for them to crea e life without damaging what's thriving inside of it." I take a breath befo s his to ask straightening my spine. "My problem is not sharing Eridian, Darius. It o other sharing it with the wrong people. The kind of people who hide beneath flesh of lies and strike behind closed doors, revealing who they really a those that are in no position to get away from the monster beneath the his

it." I He twists the carving of Kade over in his hands, feeling the smooth my that took time and care to make. He tosses it in the air, and I hold my brong, I before releasing it when he catches it. He says nothing for so long that my own he's just going to shrug off my suggestion. But then he speaks.

surface."

"Do you know these people? Hidden monsters?"

I look at him closely, wondering if I said so, he would feel somethin we about that. The Elites are meant to be protectors of all of Vrohkaria, but the speck on the map of life, my ability to breathe is no more important that are just others, we are all equal. We all end up in the dirt.

i, *him* "Maybe," I whisper, not exactly telling him yes or no. I look away v his stare feels too close, too forceful in his search for the truth.

"I will take you to the Highers for trial to set your punishment for w 1 if I did in The Deadlands. That won't change."

My shoulders slump. He won't help me. "I know," I tell him, biting u and I as it trembles.

"However," he begins, and my eyes go back to him. "Those fucking re it's ild new he mumbles. "I will keep this place quiet if your pack will welcome ot and help those that need sanctuary to live peacefully away from the ros er It will helpful as I don't have time to fuck around here dealing with the ster if y from issues. Instead, I can continue to look for a way to stop the rogures wh protecting those that need it by bringing them here. I will make sure th ite a that come here are not dangerous, but you will have no say in how mar re there will be." I blink a few times when his words register. "Make no r 'S though, little wolf, I might have agreed to this, but you are still under r ı their paw." are to

"You really won't tell the Highers about Eridian and take them to Fenrikar?" I breathe, my chest blooming with hope.

edges "No," he says gruffly.

reath "Why?" I ask.

I feel "They couldn't give a shit about the victims of the rogures while the me here on this goose chase, and I can't help them and take care of the

rogures. There are only so many of us." I search his eyes for any sign of deception, but all I see is truth.

It I'm a I let out a shaky breath, looking down to avoid his eyes as I try to ke body from dropping in sheer relief. He's actually going to keep them he they will be safe. When my reaction is more controlled, I look back up when hold my arm out to him. He looks at it for a moment before lifting his and clasping mine in his, forearm to forearm. He grunts, and I shiver a hat youtingles start up again.

"Do you vow it?" I ask him.

my lip "I vow it."

"I agree to the conditions of the deal before Zahariss," I say in a rusl eyes," hardly believing this is happening.

hers "I agree to the conditions of the deal before Cazier," he vows, making gures. look at him curiously. I thought he would vow it on Vrohkaria, like evenuese does with the Highers vow, but it seems the Highers have pissed here.

ose "It's a vow before your Gods, not mine," he shrugs, answering my unvoiced question. I nod and he gives my forearm a gently squeeze be nistake releasing me. Ignoring the loss of that connection, I move toward my to I lay down, finding a comfortable position facing the entrance and

covering myself with the light furs. My body relaxes for the first time received the letter from Edward, exhaustion finally catching up with m Runa curls up inside of me. My lids are just closing when I'm sure I st Darius at my wall of carvings, looking intently at one of them before n shut altogether and blissful sleep takes me away.

y sent

h,



ep my

and through the woods, my small legs moving as fast as they can to get bac home. Tears drip from my face, and I choke back a sob, my hair flying s those around me as the small stones and sticks dig into my bare feet.

A twig snaps behind me, and I whimper. I push off a tree as I pass it willing myself to go faster, to get away. A demented growl sounds behi and I begin to shake from the fear that they are going to get me. They's going to catch up to me, and they scare me. I didn't mean to hear anytheight didn't know they were in our woods.

ig me "Get back here, now!"

eryone I start crying harder when their shouts get louder. I want my momm im off daddy. I want to go home. I want—

A blur ahead of me and off to the side has me nearly tripping over me A huge, dark wolf comes out of the trees. It has a strange tail, almost later there are two of them. It's the largest wolf I have ever seen, and its heat turns toward me, its gaze focused on me before it turns toward the way came. It starts prowling in that direction, ignoring me as it passes by a since I out a frightened squeal. It growls deeply from somewhere behind me, a panic, not daring to look back.

ill see Snarls and growls reach my ears and my heart feels like it will stop, ay eyes small cry escaping my lips. Keep going, keep going! I see a figure comfrom the same place the wolf had, and I bit my lip to stop me from scre

The dark shape moves closer and closer, and I don't stop. I just keep r so they don't get me.

Running back home to safety.

Running back home to tell my parents what I heard.

I just didn't know it would change everything.

My body jolts, and then I feel strong arms sliding around me, encasi in warmth. I think I mumble something, my eyes still shut, and the arm around me squeeze tighter. "Shhh," a voice says from somewhere. "Se nd me, got you." My body relaxes, sleep claiming me again as I feel a soft tou against my forehead.

hing. I



y and My eyes slowly open, blinking away the morning light surrounding me shake off the dream, the nightmare that changed my life. I groan, my niy feet. sore as I lift my hands above me to stretch. I immediately freeze, armsike the air as I try to make sense of the heat next to me.

Turning my head to the side, my eyes widen as I take in the half nak nale laying down next to me, hands behind his head and eyes on me. I nd I letat him, wondering if I'm still half asleep. It isn't until he rumbles in a nd I gravelly voice that I know that I am not, in fact, dreaming.

"You're finally awake."

a I bolt up to a sitting position, glaring down at him, and a sinful smirl spreads across his mouth. "What are you doing in my bed?" I ask, ignowaming. his naked chest and sleep tousled hair.

unning "You were tossing and turning in your sleep, murmuring some shit.' blink, and then my eyes double in size. Shit. Did I say something to him Anything about Sarah? Edward? "You wouldn't shut up, so here I am."

"Here you are," I say slowly. Darius climbed into my furs with me t I was having a nightmare, and wanted to... Comfort me? My brain is s ng me trying to play catch up when he nods, bringing a hand to trail a finger of my bare arm, his eyes heating as he watches goosebumps appear.

ttle, I I grab one of those skillful fingers, bending it back as I dig my nails ch his wrist with my other hand. "Darius?" I purr. His eyes trail over my I I lean toward him, my lips hovering over his. His pupils dilate at my closeness, and I internally smirk.

"Yes, little wolf," he murmurs, bringing his tongue out to lick along lower lip. I suppress the flare of desire coursing through me because he as I to realize something. No matter how my body reacts to him, he needs the nuscles know one thing.

up in I lower my face further, my lips brushing against his as I speak. "Just because we made a vow last night, and just because we fucked before to doesn't mean you can invite yourself into my bed and touch me like you think you have the right." I bend his finger back more, not stopping un close to breaking and he releases a small grunt. "Think twice before co into my bed uninvited, Darius. I used you when we fucked, just like you me. Don't think for one second you can come to me unless I allow it."

With a look that I'm sure would shrivel his balls if he was any other person, I jump to my feet before going into the pool. I ignore his deep, amused chuckle and let the water cool my skin up to my knees. I would bathe, but I'll do that when I reach home. When I'm alone, without temptation. Getting naked again in front of Darius is not a good idea.

k oring "You're feisty this morning," he acknowledges, and I sigh in respon "Don't tempt me to tame that wildness, you know how I like to play w "you, and playing with you has become a favorite pastime."

Instead of giving in, I watch as wisps come out of the trees spread around the form beneath my lashes as he holds his hand out briefly to them, into to his feet and showing me what the Gods gave him. It's really fucking face as that the only attraction I have ever felt to someone is to him.

I heave out a breath, hands on hips and lifting my face to the mornin Closing my eyes, I let my senses flow, making them go wide. I pause, my a familiar feeling just outside the cave. I hop out the water quickly, not e needs bothering putting my boots on as I make my way to the tunnel that will me outside.

"Solvier is here," I tell Darius in a rush, not waiting for him to catch I quicken my steps through the tunnel, the only light coming from the then, veins of ulcalim ore running through it. We could mine it and use it for weapons, but with it being white and glowing, it's not a great color for til It's camouflage. I round a narrow section of the tunnel and shield my eyes ming the glare of the sun when I reach the end, my bare feet hitting the dirt have used me. Solvier sits there, waiting patiently for me and I go to him, wrappi arms around his neck as I always do before stepping back.

Golden eyes watch me as I ask, "Did you feel it?" Darius appears at back, the heat of his body seeping into me as he barely leaves any spac between us.

d

"I did. It won't be long now," he answers, tilting his large head, his flicking as if he hears something.

I look over my shoulder at Darius, seeing his eyebrows scrunched to se. ith letting me know Solvier is speaking to the both of us. I look back at hi pinching my lip with my fingers before asking. "Won't be long for wh shuffle on my feet waiting for his reply, unsure why he seems so solen ne. "For everything to begin anew, and to right a wrong." ınd the ook at getting (unfair ıg light. noting l lead up. ıe from eneath ng my my :e ears

I look over my shoulder at Darius, seeing his eyebrows scrunched together, letting me know Solvier is speaking to the both of us. I look back at him, pinching my lip with my fingers before asking. "Won't be long for what?" I shuffle on my feet waiting for his reply, unsure why he seems so solemn.

"For everything to begin anew, and to right a wrong."

THIRTY FIVE

RHEA

I swirl a cloth around the pot, lowering it to let more water into it before cleaning it some more. Dinner went well, surprisingly so with the Elite there. The pack have definitely got used to them over the past two wee are slowly being less hesitant around them, especially the kids.

I should stop their interactions altogether, but seeing some of those towering males make them laugh... I just can't bring myself to tell the stay away. Maybe if the Elites got close to them, they would become a protector for them. The Elites know some of the pack still shake in feathey get too close, but they never cross boundaries with them. Its surprethey respect it, considering some are the cause of some members suffer

I sigh and tip the pot forward, letting out the water into the river. "H the injured Elites doing?" I ask Anna as she washes a mug beside me. only Anna, Josie and I out here. I asked them earlier to help me so we talk privately.

She wipes a strand of red hair from her freckled face. "They are hea well. A bit too well if we want to delay their trip back to the Highers."

"It's been what? Nearly three weeks now since they arrived. They a getting restless, especially Darius." He's itching to get back, the male leave me alone, especially after we made the vow that he would keep I from the Highers. He doesn't even try to hide that he's always following

Anna has been slowing the injured Elites healing as much as possible we had time to figure out how to handle the situation. I don't know wh Darius believed her when she told him she's limited in her healing abil and lacks all the supplies she needs, it's all true, but we also needed tir keep Eridian safe.

"You mentioned they had some sort of timeline, right?" Anna asks, re nod. "Do we know when that is?"

"No idea. We haven't heard them speak of it again since Hudson ov ks and them the first time." I put the pot to the side and grab a plate. "Not kno isn't helpful either." I need to prepare for when I leave for the Highers

I've barely slept since they've arrived, apart from the time in the cav Darius, or really eat. The fact that Darius and Leo are staying in my ca only raises my anxiety. I can't function like this. The fear that I'll wak them telling me it's time to go to Fenrikar is ever pressing in my mind. letting up, never leaving me alone.

"It's not," Anna agrees. "We will have to deal with it when it comes ow are leaving. None of us want you to go."

"Are you sure you will be back?" Josie asks, rinsing another pot out other side of me.

"I will have to help them bring new people here, so yeah, I'll be bac tell them. I told them all about the vow I made with Darius a few days took a lot of persuading to reassure them that this is for the best.

"Can you trust him? They are the Highers' weapons after all," Josie

!S

m to nother

r when

ising

ring.

It's could

ling

re grumbles, hefting another pot into the river to clean.

"He vowed before the old Gods, as they call them. I don't take that l won't Eridian so I think we can trust him in this. For now, anyway." I sit back on the ng me. shaking the water off my hands as I watch the river flow in a smooth rl "I haven't come across someone like him before," I murmur. "Before l e so here, Josh, Kade and Cassie and I were just staying out in the woods o ether abandoned barns. We never interacted with anyone unless it was absol ities necessary when we went into a village to try and steal some food, or pa ne to coins we stole. Even then we kept our answers to a few short words. W weren't around a lot of people. Darius is so different from Josh or Tayl and I Danny, or anyone here."

erheard "In what way?" Josie follows my lead and sits back, waiting for my wing answer.

"He's just... more." I shake my head, tipping it up to the slowly darked with sky. "He has an aura around him I have never felt before."

bin "He's an Alpha," Anna says, squeezing out water from the rag.e up to "So are many others here too, and most of the Elites. Darius just fee , never something I can't explain," I say, shaking my head, frustrated I can't p into words.

Darius has an undertone of something I'm not sure anyone else realize on the subtle, but that something swirls around, entwining with his natural dominance and flows through it discreetly. Just not discreetly enough f k," I to not pick it up.

ago, it A howl pierces our silence, and I smile, bringing my head forward a looking into the trees on the other side of the river.

"Someone is calling you," Josie chuckles, and Anna gives a matchir

smile.

lightly, "So it seems." I get to my feet and begin piling up the pots and cutle bank, washed when Josie bumps my hip with hers.

hythm. "Go, I'm sure you miss them." I look around, unsure. "We will be fi came have been on high alert for days, and nothing has been reported as unu we will take the pots back. Go, relax a little." I look at Anna, who nod utely rolls her eyes at the next howl demanding my attention. "Quickly, before ay with you're hunted," she laughs, and I chuckle, knowing how right she is.

I touch my cheek to both of theirs in goodbye before I roll my loose lor or up to my knees and take off my boots. Once in hand, I walk across the bottom of the river, hop up and put my boots back on. Thankfully, it's shallow where we are and I can cross easily.

I turn and give one last wave before heading into the treeline, openia kening senses and heading for that howl. I nudge Runa for a burst of speed, m pumping as I get closer and closer to the sound. It isn't long until a bra snapping to my left has my head whipping that way, and a grin spreads ls like my face as the sight of fur. The wolf follows alongside me through the ut it keeping pace as another joins me on my right, gliding through the bush A chuckle falls from my lips, and I lift my face to the branches abov releasing my own human howl as they echo it. The feeling of being fre but s. It's run sends air into my lungs, even as I exert myself. I feel like the coati Rhea, Alpha of Eridian, falls away, and underneath it is just Rhea, a w for me with no responsibility, no fear or anxiety. No thoughts of Solvier's stra words to me the last time I saw him, or thoughts of being in front of th Highers. nd

I'm just me, free for a little while.

The two wolves burst through the trees on either side of me as we

approach a hollowed tree. They stroll toward me as I slow down to a wary I've and then I stop and wait. I look at the wolf to my left, our eyes connect before I look down at the one on my right, its stare already on me.

ne, we We still.

sual. We wait.

e

ls and Then, we pounce.

the others jump on my back, nipping my shoulder as I laugh and roll. *I* pants sloppy tongue comes on my cheek next, and I chuckle as I push the mu stony away as the other flops itself down on top of me.

"Stop, stop," I laugh, shoving them both to get them off of me. Runa comes closer to the surface, taking in their touches against my skin before my lying down, happy to be close as we play.

Tiny yips and cries reach my ears, and the wolves instantly jump off y heart and sit on their haunches, heads tilted to the side as their eyes go to the nch s acrosshollowed tree. I sit up, grinning as the cries get louder and louder. I wa trees, keeping quiet until a tiny black nose pops itself out of a large root, and two tiny paws come next. The little gray furball, the one I named Leif, ies. blundering out as soon as he notices me. His two brothers and sister co re, after him as he lands on my legs and climbs up my chest, licking my fa e as I "Hey, little man," I say, lifting him up to my face so I can nuzzle hir ng of little tongue covering me in saliva. More yips and the other three get b oman in my arms as I lay on my back, getting attacked by the little fur balls. ınge

I move my eyes to the large tree, seeing their mama sat there, her he tilted as she watches her pups play with me. She's always with them, be keeps her distance, trusting me not to hurt them. Her mate, however, cobit trickier in assuring his pups are fine.

The two older wolves I was playing with come back to me, licking a nuzzling us before we continue to play on the forest floor, chasing each and hiding from the pups as they hunt us down. I grab one of the pups, tickling its back as it spins and yips, its front paws to the floor, bum in as he gets ready to come for me. Leif darts between my legs and tackle brother, the other pups joining in their wrestling match. I bend down at at their paws, tickling their noises. I bring my hand back before they can me and run away as they chase me.

I eventually collapse when the moon is high, panting on the floor wider and twigs making a home on my body. One wolf curls up next to rethe other trots off to its mama, who watches her pups lay on my chest, little eyes closing after their long playtime.

"It's okay, mama," I tell her, and she tilts her head as I bring a hand of me stroke the nearest fluff ball on my chest. "A couple more minutes, and bring them to you. They aren't the only ones who need sleep."

then next to her. Then she stills, her lips peeling back and hackles on end as comes stands and growls in the direction across from me. I move in an instant me out rolling over and bracing my forearms over the pups that fell off my boace. are now beneath me, hovering over them protectively. Mama and the tan, his younger wolves move to my side instantly as I look through the trees a undled figure appears.

"I didn't know you'd find wild wolves a good talking companion," and voice murmurs, and I blow out a breath. I get to my feet, making sure lout she stand on one of the pups, and face Darius as he emerges from the trees an be a into the moonlight. He looks toward the wolves, holding eye contact w

and mama for a beat as she growls, before he nods his head. "You know I we have the harm them," he says to her, and my brows raise to my hairline.

Mama's growls become quieter, and I watch her out of the corner of the air eye until she eventually relaxes. She doesn't take her eyes off Darius tles his. A yip has my head turning to the ground and Leif, ever the curious pupend bat on his little feet and runs toward Darius at full pelt. I take a step forward not my pup. So, I stay back and hold my damn breath.

th the I don't know what I thought would happen, but it wasn't Darius smi ne as wide and picking the pup up gently in his large hands, bringing Leif to their face and rubbing his nose against him. That was the last thing I expect.

I watch on, stunned with how careful he is and my chest swirls up and uncomfortably, so uncomfortably that I bring my hand up and rub the still. I watch Leif try and nip his nose.

And then...

Then Darius releases a sound I haven't heard from him before, and I she the earth beneath me shifts and breaks before aligning into something I.

The sound is deep and hearty, and I can't take my eyes off the grin on dy and face as he laughs at the pup. His eyes light up even more as he puts hir wo and picks up a stick, waving it in front of him until Leif latches on to it is a the most adorable, tiny growl. My heart just melted.

Darius sits down and does a small, gentle growl back, as if not to scale deep him. He grips the stick and moves it back and forth, Leif's little front plant coming off the ground as he tries to hold on and take it from him. His and brothers and sister get brave and run toward them, their own little grow rith coming from them as they jump on Leif and try and get the stick for

won't themselves. Darius laughs again, picking up another stick to share while stand there stunned.

my Wordless.

hough. And utterly captivated at the sight of Darius, Alpha of the Elites, pla

o, gets with wild wolf pups and *enjoying* it. He has the same look on his face of the did in the forest with the wisps, and once again, that heat hits my chest as I let out a breathless chuckle and plonk down on my ass, crossing me as I sit and watch them. Mama comes next to me, bumping my cheek, ling reach a hand up to scratch behind her ear. She makes a small sound, ar pups stop attacking the stick and look up at mama before trotting over their tails high. Mama bends her head and nudges them toward the holf tree, and I keep my eyes on a reluctant Leif who stays with Darius.

spot as I get to my feet and walk over to them, not raising my eyes to his cu stare and still ignoring the heat within my chest. Bending down to strol Leif's head, I give him a good scratch on the back of the neck. "Come I swear fluff ball," I whisper as I place my hand under his belly and lift him up new. "Time to go." A dark shadow comes out of the trees, and I turn, meeting his gaze of a larger wolf. He stops short at the sight of me with his pup undowngaze turns to Darius. "Daddy's home," I mumble.

They stare at each other, and I don't move, too nervous as I don't kn how this will go. I usually leave when he turns up. He's not much of a mine, but with Darius here, I'm not sure what will happen. I tense up, for the male wolf to snarl and lunge. Only he doesn't. He cocks his heat the side before he walks over to me, his paws silent on the ground. He when he's in front of me, looking from me to his pup, and I have no id whether I should hold on to Leif or put him on the floor.

"Give the pup to him, Rhea," Darius says, his breath at my ear as his

le I come around. I didn't even hear him, in fact, I didn't hear him coming the first place. He followed me didn't he? Did he hear what Josie, Ann were talking about?

lying I swallow. If he knows she's been slowing his Elites healing, everythas he could fall apart.

His large hands engulf mine, and my head turns towards him. My my legs touches his jaw, and he releases a little sound that has my insides flutte and I Squeezing my hands gently, he guides them out, making sure we both id the firm hold on the wiggling pup as we bring our hands down toward Leit to her, I watch as the wolf opens his mouth, and my fingers dig into Leif's fur lowed wanting to let him go. Darius' nose nudges behind my ear, not taunting more letting me know it's okay. I release a small breath.

Darius moves our hands to just inside the wolf's mouth, then his ow fingers slip between mine as we slowly let go. Leif wriggles, but his do gently presses down onto Leif, his hold secure, but not hurting him as turns to where mama waits for them. Mama licks her mate's face as he with their pup, and she wastes no time heading into the den herself wit others, disappearing out of sight.

I breathe a sigh of relief, thankful daddy wolf didn't attack Darius, to jolt at the squeeze of a hand against mine. I look down at our threaded fan of fingers. His are much larger than mine, and I can't help but think how waiting we fit despite the size difference. I have never just held someone's han did to like this, and I've never felt the need to keep it there. His chin lands on stills head as we stay silent, listening to the odd sound of critters nearby, not wanting to disturb the bubble of peace that has descended between us. back into him, wanting his warmth to seep into me as he brings his arm around me, pulling me closer.

here in I don't feel threatened in his arms. I don't feel scared or like my lung a and I give out from not getting enough air at being held against him. I never felt truly threatened by his touch. Some part of me instinctively knowing hing won't hurt me in that way. Not physically.

I just feel peaceful, and that isn't something I should feel. Especially outh him. My enemy.

ering. "Let's go, little wolf. It's late." I nod my head beneath his chin, and have a releases his arm around me before turning me with my hand still in one f's dad. his. He pulls me along as we walk in the direction of Eridian, the moor only witness as he keeps hold of my hand and doesn't let go. It feels lil g, but secret, something only known between us and the night.

I don't try to release my hand from his, wanting to keep the connect thrumming between us at the small contact, our wolves pressing up age each other. After making the vow in the cave, we have a truce, no matt tentative it may be. I just hope when the time comes and I am brought passes Highers, I can eventually return home to my safe haven and go back to h the sort of normalcy.

But as we walk back while holding hands, silently taking in the nighthen I feels like something has changed. Something that neither one of us is very to admit. We can't stay away from each other. I feel his eyes on me all good time, watching, protecting, and I always search for that feel of him wat do, not me. Deep down, I don't want that to go away, it's become so familiar to since he came here. It feels like something that is just... mine.

He suddenly stops, bringing me to a halt and tips my chin up with a I relax We hold ourselves captive to the pull, our eyes bouncing between each Darius blinks, a small hum coming from him before placing a surprise gentle kiss to my lips. I give in to the feeling that courses through me a

gs will touch. I open my mouth and let him taste me as I taste him, breathing i have other's scent. He growls low in the back of his throat at my submissior ng he I let him take control, his tongue tangling with mine as he brings a han the back of my head and threads it through my hair, bringing me as clc / with him as he can. All the while still holding my hand.

There, under the moonlight, I feel like it's possible to have the impo he for just a moment. I'm not the Alpha of Eridian, and he isn't the Alpha e of Elites. We are not enemies, just a man and a woman with no responsib until the sun rises and the day begins anew.

ke a And as he softens the kiss and rubs his nose against mine, I know I v remember this moment as one of those precious ones. Where he let hin indulge, and I let myself be selfish until we go back to reality.

ainst

er how

to the

some

ıt air, it

villing

the

tching

o me

hand.

ı other.

d,

it his

touch. I open my mouth and let him taste me as I taste him, breathing in each other's scent. He growls low in the back of his throat at my submission when I let him take control, his tongue tangling with mine as he brings a hand up to the back of my head and threads it through my hair, bringing me as close to him as he can. All the while still holding my hand.

There, under the moonlight, I feel like it's possible to have the impossible for just a moment. I'm not the Alpha of Eridian, and he isn't the Alpha of the Elites. We are not enemies, just a man and a woman with no responsibilities until the sun rises and the day begins anew.

And as he softens the kiss and rubs his nose against mine, I know I will remember this moment as one of those precious ones. Where he let himself indulge, and I let myself be selfish until we go back to reality.

THIRTY SIX

RHEA

I trudge up the steps to the healer's cabin in the dark of night the next of the air warming with summer approaching. Anna opens the door for m silently, looking around for signs of anyone else before letting me in.

I've been doing checks around Eridian all day since talking to Solvi week, making sure all is well, which it is. There have been no signs of anything wrong and The Deadlands atop the cliffs are quiet. A bit too after having such high activity recently. The Elite search party has bee coming back empty handed and frustrated every so often, finding noth their search for Sarah. Darius was furious this morning with them, his murderous as he spoke harshly to his men. It seemed that Leo was tryintalk him down, but Darius just shook his head and walked off with Matheir heads bent together talking. Leo, Damian, Jerrod and Zaide held I choosing not to follow after Darius. They watched me and the guys clowe passed them, and I didn't like the look in their eyes. They were har cold, far more so than usual, and it makes me wonder just what was sa because I hadn't seen Darius since. Since the vow was made, all Elites been more laid back, so seeing them like that has rattled me a little.

I wonder if their deadline is approaching.

"She's awake," Anna whispers, bringing me back to her, and she no head for me to go through the door to Sarah's room. She hasn't left thi since she's been here, over three months now, making this space her o Not that she could leave the cabin if she wanted to with the Elites turni

I enter her space with Anna behind me, closing the door softly. Sara on the bed, looking at something in her hands before she notices us. St quickly puts the item beneath her covers on the bed before getting hers comfortable. She's looking better with the weight she has gained and v healing increasing now that the dassil flower's effects are fully out of l system now.

day, .e

> She's made the room her own. Scattered papers with drawings litter room's surfaces, paints and dried flowers haphazardly collected togeth table in the corner. I see several different varieties of them. Who's bee bringing her flowers? I give her a smile as I bring a chair from the side room, dragging it toward the bed and taking a seat.

quiet

ing in

face

ng to

n

er last

"Hey," she smiles, her toffee eyes lighter than they have ever been. you just last week, I didn't think you would be back so soon." Neither but I said I would keep her updated, and I will. I've been sneaking into cabin when I can in the night, making sure no one is around to notice. from the couple nights I've seen her, Josh has been keeping her compa when he can, but we have been busy for the last week.

ize, back, sely as

"It's just a quick update," I tell her, and then steel myself for what I' d and about to tell her, unsure how she will react. I wanted to be the one to te myself. "There was a man in the forest last week. He tried to grab one girls, Sam." She tenses at my words, and her worried eyes lock with m

"Is she okay?" Her voice trembles as she asks, but my heart warms t

id have even though she doesn't know this girl, she's still worried for her.

"She's shaken up, but Kade is with her." He hasn't left her side sinc s room won't let him, and he can't refuse her. "We don't know who this man't wn. there is no sign of him now. Sam said he was as tall as Josh with dark ing up. and his eyes were brown, possibly lighter, but then maybe blue. She all h sits he smelled like bad iron. Do you possibly know of anyone like that?" I thought crossed my mind that it could be someone else looking for Sar even though I doubt it, I have to ask her.

vith her She thinks for a moment before eventually shaking her head. "No, n ler I know of. Though I don't know for sure because my memory is still be from them giving me the drug," she whispers. I nod, assuming as much the you think it's someone from my pack?"

er on a "I honestly don't know," I tell her. "We haven't had anyone come to Eridian unless we brought them here. Now the Elites are here and a magnetic of the suddenly appears only to disappear again."

"Are the Elites still looking for me?" She picks at her fingernails, we "I saw for my answer.

did I, "They are. Their search party came back from The Deadlands today found nothing. I don't think they have long left on their time limit and be going soon. It seems tensions are running high. The Elites that are u the spare cabin are slowly healing, but Anna can speed that up when w her too. There is not much that can still keep them here."

"Those Elites are nearly healed," Anna says from her position by the ell her "They should be ready to go in a few days if I let them. Their witch, M of our has been helping. She is a very curious one, so I've had to be careful w ine. what I do. She's not a healer, though she knows the basics, so I try to c that her with other things when she's around them."

"What do you mean curious?" I question her.

e. She "She always watches me closely when I tend to the Elites, and I've a was as seen her watching the pack when she thinks no one notices. She stays I hair and far back unless she eats dinner with us at the gathering. I don't like so said Rhea." She moves to lean against the table beside Sarah's bed, her brother scrunched in worry.

rah, and Now that I think about it, I haven't seen her around all that much. A times at dinner at the gathering, but that's it, and she didn't go with the ot that party into The Deadlands. So what has she been doing?

lurry "What level witch is she?" I ask Anna.

1. "Do "High, if I were to take a guess."

"That's worrisome," I mutter, and sit back in my seat in thought. "If was up to something that she shouldn't be, we would know about it by right?"

Anna sighs, a curtain of red curls flowing around her face as she loo aiting down toward her feet. "I don't know if she is up to something or just c but it's just strange how she observes us so closely, especially me whe and healing. I know this place is new to her, but she takes that curiosity to should level. I've seen her try to talk to a few members, but she gets nothing f using them. She tries to talk to Kade a lot when she sees him, but he just strare need ignores her," she huffs. "We're loyal, we won't tell her shit. But she ne seems overly frustrated when she gets shut down and then stomps off i e door, forest."

laize, "I will keep an eye on her and ask around. No one has come to me a rith her yet, so maybe her curiosity is innocent, but it's worth asking them occupy anyway. If the Elites are ready to be fully healed, a few more days and

will be leaving if their time limit is up. We will have to see." Anna's e turn sad at the thought, and I give her a small smile.

idden "You will still be going with them then?" Sarah asks, already knowi e it, about me going to the Highers. Josh updated her on that.

ws I nod. "Yeah. I committed a crime against the Elites, and with the vomade with Darius, you will all be safe."

few Sarah looks down at her hands before tucking some of her dark hair searchher ear. "It's my fault the Elites are here in the first place," she whispe "You shouldn't be punished when it's my fault.

I reach forward slowly and take her hand in mine. I wait for her eyes come to me before telling her. "It was my choice to go into The Deadla she and it was my choice to do what I did to try and stop them from finding now, Eridian, even if it didn't end up the way I wanted," I laugh sadly, shak head. "But it was my choice to do what I did, just like it was your choice ks choosing to live and come here." Tears fill her eyes, and she squeezes urious, hand tightly in her grip. "Never feel bad for making that choice. The sin I'm isn't the best right now, but we will make do. We always make do with another we have. The pack will be in good hands with Kade with many guiding rom especially Josh while I'm gone." At the mention of him, a smile spreadight up across her face, and my own genuine smile appears.

Josh thinks I haven't noticed him sneaking in here for more than che nto the ups, but I have. I won't push him though. He will tell me when he's resomething is going on with them. I'm just glad Sarah seems to have so bout close to her, especially a male with what she's been through. I know Jowon't hurt her, and I guess she knows that too.

they I stand from my seat, giving Sarah's shoulder a squeeze. "I'll see my out," I tell them both, moving for the door. I go into the hallway of the

yes and pause to take a breath.

I don't think it will be long before I'll be leaving Eridian for who kn how long, I don't even know when I'll be back. I don't know what my punishment will be either, but I'll take it to keep everyone safe here. E told me about the trials that happen at the Wolvorn Castle, but he neve into details on what kind of punishments are given. Darius wants my behind punishment to be passed over to him, but will that be the outcome? Do rs. have the power to be granted that request by the Highers?

I guess time will tell what's in store for me.

I walk to the front door, pressing my ear to it and it.

I walk to the front door, pressing my ear to it and listening for any signals, movement on the other side. When I hear nothing, I silently open it and it behind me. I scan the area, seeing no sign of anyone before I make n ing my toward the gathering in the center.

ree in I press my hands to the trees in greeting as I pass them until I reach my seat. I slump into it, stretching my feet out in front of me. The fire pit i tuation center is just a glow of embers at this time of night, the slight warmth in what reaching me. I take my knife from my boot, looking over the hilt and regard, my fingers over the familiar writing there. *Arbiel Canna*. We bleed wo law to love and protect. A statement to be true to who we are, what in

My father gave me this knife as an early birthday present, he couldneck to give it to me. I smile as I remember how mad Mom was at him, telli ady if he should have waited until my birthday later on in the week. She didneone mad for long though. Dad and I went to pick her favorite lesia flowers, she couldn't keep the smile off her face when we gave them to her. I st remember how they smelled, how their pale blue petals darkened at the yself edges. I loved rolling around in them when I was a child. Mom would cabin me to the blooming meadow in our woods that was full of them, and to

stories of the Gods while Dad was busy being Alpha of our pack. The jows that betrayed us, betrayed their Alpha.

The smile fades from my face as I remember what happened the day dward Dad gave me that gift, after Mom sang me to sleep that night. If I had j r went stayed home instead of wandering into the woods behind our house...

hadn't overheard a conversation I shouldn't have, would things be diff es he now? Would Mom and Dad still be alive? Would I have been free?

My fingers grip the hilt of the knife tighter, remembering my mom's screams as they came for us during the night. My dad hadn't returned ligns of and I wanted him to come back and help. There were too many of then diclose they were too strong. I tried to get them off Mom with my knife, cutting any way of them before I was grabbed from behind and hit in the head. When I up, I was alone in a room, a cage surrounding me. It was a little later at my had woken up that they came. They would taunt me with my parents' of

n the saying it was all my fault, that I was to blame. And I should accept my from it punishment and do what they want.

unning I remember my own screams echoing in my ears at the pain they inf olf. It's my ankles and wrists raw from trying to get the chains off. My stomac we are. like it was eating itself in hunger, my throat so dry that only cracked so 't wait escaping from me. Then came my fourteenth birthday, when Runa can ng him me. They were prepared for the day that my wolf would come, though 't stay just didn't think it would happen so soon. I didn't either. I managed to and claw two of them, injuring them greatly, but I was restrained again quickly. I spent days in agony from then on, forced to stay in wolf form see how much I could take, how much I could heal, if I showed anythin take of the ordinary.

ell me They finally let me shift back, but then Runa refused to come back c

pack after all we had endured and knowing how much pain would come agathen we were dealt more pain for not doing as we were told. It was a logarithm after situation, and both options were us suffering.

Runa growls at the thought within me, at the thought of them and th ust we endured for so many years. I don't hate her for not coming back ou If I was protecting us in the way she thought best. Being in human form w erent lesser of two evils, they couldn't do as much as they wanted to do to us human form because I couldn't heal as quickly. But it was still torture. has been frightened to come back out ever since, fearing that what hap before would happen again. She knows we're safe here in Eridian, that n and ig one one would hurt us here. But having just come to me for the first time w was fourteen and then immediately experiencing that trauma, I wouldn woke fter I to come out again either. Innocents shouldn't suffer at the hands of mo I inhale sharply as the blade cuts my fingers, blood welling to the su leaths. bring my hand up to my face, watching as the red liquid trails down m Who knew something could hold so much power, yet also be an invisil licted, burden?

I'm always at war with myself about if I did the right thing being in bunds Eridian. Did I make the right choice hiding away from the whole of Vrohkaria, helping those who need it in secret when I can instead of the as a whole. But then when I look at the smiling faces of my pack and v bite the pups play, smiles so wide on their faces as they laugh, I can't say I it.

I shuffle forward in my seat before lowering myself to the ground ar ng out crossing my legs under me. I take my bloodied hand and press it to the closing my eyes and murmuring a prayer. "Ir mal terria, dah vek et ce." blood pools on the ground, the soil gently letting it seep into the earth a in. But hand warms against it, the land saying its thanks. I open my eyes when see-losewarmth leaves me, and bring my hand back up to look at it. There's no in sight, just the stain of my blood, and I let out a small smile.

e pain Then the air changes around me, and I don't move as I tense. I don't t, she look in any other direction as the words come from me with a snarl on as the face.

s in They're low, deadly and vicious. A warning.

Runa A threat.

pened "Who the fuck are you, and what do you want?"

: no

/hen I

i't want

nsters.

rface. I

y hand.

ble

e lands

vatch

regret

ıd

earth,

." My

as my

hand warms against it, the land saying its thanks. I open my eyes when the warmth leaves me, and bring my hand back up to look at it. There's not a cut in sight, just the stain of my blood, and I let out a small smile.

Then the air changes around me, and I don't move as I tense. I don't even look in any other direction as the words come from me with a snarl on my face.

They're low, deadly and vicious. A warning.

A threat.

"Who the fuck are you, and what do you want?"

THIRTY SEVEN

RHEA

How did this person get through the barrier around Eridian, and how d just turn up here unnoticed?

"Someone is here, an outsider. Make sure Axel, Finn, and Eliza stay to the cabins. Those that were in heat came back to the main area this morning. Tell anyone who is able to, to go to the pups' houses and pro them. Tell Kade to stay at home with Sam and Sybill, but you guys need come down here." I order Josh, knowing he'll do what I say without a thought. "Notify the Elites."

I get up slowly from the ground and turn and face the intruder. My i twisting at someone being here uninvited, it hasn't happened before. T pack needs to be safe, and I don't think this person is here to talk. The stands in between the trees, shadowed in all black with the hood of his pulled low over their face. I can only make out the bottom of their chir face him. I suspect this is the man who tried to grab Sam. What are the chances that person that entered the forest a week ago, and this person the barrier are two different people? The chances are slim. The figure of speak, but I feel eyes boring into me, making my skin crawl. As I twirl

knife in my hand as anger takes over, causing me to growl low and deemy chest.

"Who are you?" I repeat, walking forward until I'm at the end of the making sure nothing is in my way. Still, they don't speak, and it unner me.

I hear the crunch of twigs behind me, but I don't look at the guys as settle in around me. Josh stands to my left side, blade in hand as Hudsc Colten stand at my back. Taylor takes my right with Seb. The air is ten full of violence directed toward the intruder.

Their gloved hand comes up and we all tense at the movement, but a do is slip it inside their cloak. They pull out a small, dark crystal, holdi their palm as they tilt their head to face us. As their body turns, I see D and his men entering the gathering, their postures as tense as mine.

Darius' expression is hard, muscles straining against the fabric of hi t-shirt, and his black blade rests in his right hand against his thigh. Leo bow aimed at the intruder, Zaide has his twin blades out and Damian a Jerrod have their weapons at the ready. I watch as Darius gets closer to intruder, scanning them from head to toe before stopping a few feet aw from them. Darius looks my way briefly, his eyes roaming over me, seemingly to check me over before turning back to the cloaked person. watch as they silently stare at each other when I see movement to the r blur of long, dark hair between the trees surrounding the gathering.

"Who sent you?" Darius' demands with a growl, and my head whip: way. What does he mean who sent him? Does he know who this is? M tightens around my knife at the thought.

The cloaked figure shrugs, before tossing him the dark crystal. Darii catches it with his free hand, never taking his eyes off the hooded figure

d to second

tect

nsides

figure

he

cloak

ı as I

inside loesn't

the

ep from nods his head at it. Damian and Zaide walk closer to Darius, keeping h sides protected as Darius looks down at the crystal.

e seats, "Where did you find this?" he asks, confusion evident in his tone as turns the crystal over in his hands. The figure waves his hand around u indicating it came from Eridian and my brows furrow. Darius looks ov they me. Our eyes connect as tension rises between us, a frown on his face. On and He runs a hand over the top of the crystal, and small, yellow sparks ignise and from it before his eyes turn unfocused.

My eyes widen at the sight, and I take a step closer toward him with all they thought. I sense magic in the air coming from that crystal, magic. How ng it ineven working inside the barrier? I stop moving again when more small arius—fly out of the object he holds, becoming brighter as Darius just stands this men protecting him. My heart thunders in my chest, feeling a sense s dark—wrongness coming off that crystal. Something isn't right.

We all stand motionless for a time, some staring at the figure, some has a at Darius. My eyes flick to the intruder when the deepest growl I have nd heard suddenly rips from Darius. My heart drops to my stomach, my b) the instantly running cold. The crystal stops producing sparks, the glow from 7ay them fading, and Darius' head slowly turns toward me. His eyes are no clear and aimed directly at me filled with pure, uncontained fury. His ϵ . T ight, a bleed black at the edges of the whites and I swallow over the lump in r throat. I look around subtly at everyone to see if I'm missing somethin s his my guys look just as confused as I am at this sudden hostility. The Elit y hand between the two of us trying to make out what's going on.

A dark chuckle sounds from Darius, and every single hair on my bouts stands to attention at the violence in it. At the pure darkness vibrating if the who Runa flattens her ears, teeth bared to the sudden rage pouring off of him

feels like it's wrapping itself around me, suffocating me with every bre take and leaking into every fiber of my being. My heart rate picks up, a hands tremble.

s, "Your sins keep coming, little wolf," he moves toward me, a deadne er at his eyes I have never seen before. They're so different from the lightne before saw in them with the wisps and the wolf pups. So different from when lite kissed me under the moonlight. "You are the cause of everything. Yet stay here, thinking you can live out the rest of your life in peace while out of the lands suffers because of you?" he roars, and I recoil from him, not is that going wide at his words. At his outburst.

sparks Because of me? What? I shake my head quickly, my voice hesitant value, ask, "Darius, what do you—"

"You think you can get away with what you've done?" He cuts me (of! my mouth slams shut as I swallow hard. "You think you will not pay for staring deaths you have caused!?" He snarls, teeth bared as he looks over my l so much disgust that I feel my soul aching from it, hiding from it. "You ever not even worth spreading your legs for the lowest of the low, and you lood you could keep peace by having an Elite in your bed!" The guys start om shouting at him, telling him not to speak to me this way while I'm stoc)W frozen. "I will make you wish you never met me by the time I'm done :yes you. I will carve you up, chew you out and make you suffer in your ow ny g, but for the rest of your days," he spits at me, and I suck in a wheezing brea es look tears sting my eyes at the absolute carnage of his words.

Confusion and flight or fight war inside me as I watch him in shock, dy disbelief. Darkness starts to seep around the edges of his body, domina from it. leaking out until it hits me hard and fast, feeling like it's tearing throug m. It flesh and hitting my lungs. I inhale sharply at the pure power radiating

eath I him, and everyone around us struggles to stay on their feet as the groun and my trembles beneath us. Beneath him.

What the fuck is happening?

The cloaked figure lets out a low, menacing laugh. Their voice is miss I sounding like more than one person is talking as they speak. "It seems have found the answers we have been looking for, Alpha Darius," the you intruder croons, letting me know that he is in fact a male. I look at him the reststeps up beside Darius. He brings his gloved hand up and clicks his fin my eyes once. The snap is so loud in the all but silent air, like a whip cracking a

bark. "I'll let you take care of retrieving the traitor and all who aided h
when I With those words, they nod at each other before he vanishes into nothi
making me look around the space for him. He's nowhere to be seen. D
off, and port without a stone? Who's a traitor? Who aided the traitor?

or the "What the fuck is going on?" Josh growls next to me as we stare at to sody in where the male vanished.

u're A lone, long howl pierces the air, and my whole being locks up, pair thoughtradiating through me as I look toward the night sky. The glitter of stars spreads across it before ripples of dark pink and orange appear on Erid now visible barrier. Small at first, until they become bigger and spread with the surface.

*y*n filth My heart stops.

"Josh." My voice trembles as I speak, at what I'm witnessing happed before my eyes. That lone howl still echoes around us, haunting me und another one is released. "Solvier," I breathe, my body shaking. "It's Some The barrier starts to blink, appearing and disappearing, and I look away it, locking eyes with Darius who smirks at me. "What have you done?" off of whisper, not believing what I'm seeing.

"In a matter of moments, my Elites and the Highers' guards will be just outside the barrier to take you all back to the Fenrikar," he says co "They will all pay for aiding the traitor of Vrohkaria, especially the pu ixed, "Traitor?" I shake my head, waiver on my feet. They will all pay... we pup? What is he talking about? "I don't understand, what is going on?' breathing increases, my palms start to sweat. "Who is the traitor, Dariu as he ask, my voice high as panic sets in.

gers "You are."

er." screams along with howls soon joining until it slowly fades away. I loon ng, Josh, my movements sluggish and slow. His face is enraged as he poin id he Darius, his mouth moving, but no sound reaches me. I look to my othe and see Taylor, his blade up as he stands half in front of me, as if he's he spotto shield me. I look toward the Elites, their faces enraged and weapons tightly. I don't understand. How am I a traitor to Vrohkaria?

- 1 What was that crystal?
- What did it tell him?

ian's How do his Elites know the location of Eridian?

across Who was that man?

My mind bombards itself with questions as my eyes slowly come bath Darius, his light-green ones locking with my ice-blue ones. Darkness for around the edges of him, like he has two shadows at his back. The power tile radiating off of him is just waiting to be released, unleashed. My eyes polvier." over his face, the tense set of his jaw, the way his hair falls against his y from forehead, the flatness in his eyes. I realize now more than ever why he is feared.

A buzzing reaches me until I hear someone talking. Quiet at first un

porting finally reaches me. "Rhea! What's happening? The barrier is coming a ldly. A panicked voice reaches me in my mind. Who's talking to me? "Rheap." please! Answer me!" It's Kade.

the Kade. The pup is Kade. Fuck.

'My "Kade, run! You need to go. Now!" I scream back at him down the

"" I "My head hurts, I don't know what's wrong with me, what's going—"Kade?" I call. "Kade!" he doesn't reply, the link shutting down.

"You're not fucking touching her. Do you hear me!" Josh roars, and world finally starts moving around me again. Sounds coming from all ok at directions.

My body finally moves and I turn and run, nudging Runa harshly to r side me strength as I head toward my cabin. Toward Kade. Shouts sound be trying me. They're shouting at me, but I ignore it, just like I ignore the dark, l laugh Darius lets out that sends my body trembling with the danger in bite into my left arm, blood flowing into my mouth with the deep wou I bring my opposite hand up, gathering the blood there on the palm of hand. I press it to any trees I pass, gathering more blood from my wou go and repeating the process.

When no trees are left for me to place my hand on, I gather the last of the look welling on my arm and paint my right hand with it. With enough loats there, I quickly press it to the ground, whispering under my breath as I continue to run home. "Zahariss, hear me. Grant me protection against who have ill intentions. Against those that bring injustice upon us. Vaireidu, lec fa dienn," I plead. I beg and I pray and scream and shout insit to me that I can reach Kade before it's too late.

down."

7,

link.

_"

the

give

ehind

low

it. I

nd, and

my

nd as I

of the

ı blood

those

ka

ide of

THIRTY EIGHT

RHEA

People suddenly appear out of nowhere twenty steps away from my hc coming from in between the cabins all clad in dark leather armor. Som green straps across their chest, others black. I spin in a circle, looking a who surround me with their weapons out, aimed at me. I bend slowly a my heart in my throat and take my knife out from my boot, growling a Visions of light illuminate gently across the ground, like a flowing mis river, causing some of the armored males to grunt in pain when it reach them while others fall to their knees. Zahariss answered my call. I head two that have slumped to the floor, aiming to jump over them to get to The glint of a blade to my side catches my attention.

I lean back on myself, the male's short sword an inch from my chest spin and aim a kick at him. I hit his stomach, and he grunts, folding ov himself. I grab the back of his head and bring my knee up, smashing it his nose. Pain radiates through my kneecap as it threatens to buckle, but hold steady. Slashing out with my knife and then kicking the male ove move toward an opening in the circle. Darius suddenly steps into the g was aiming for, and I snarl at him, coming to a halt. He now wears the

armor as the men around us, but he has two leather straps across his to one red, one gold. Making it known he's the Alpha of the Elites.

"Rhea!" Josh shouts, and I turn, seeing him running toward me with guys, but men stop them, engaging them in a fight. The sound of clash metal hits my ears over the racing of my heart.

Colten jumps on Damian, blade in hand. Hudson tackles Jerrod to the while Taylor goes blow for blow with Zaide. Seb grabs a guard off of I and aims for his temple, while I spot Axel tackling another. I look arous seeing Elites and the Highers' guards grabbing my pack, the cries of the for their moms piercing my soul. My breathing picks up as I look toward own cabin, seeing no lights on inside and screams flood my ears from around me. I look back at Darius as he grunts and looks toward the growhere light is shimmering along the surface. His brows dip until he be down and places a hand atop of it. He mutters something I can't make and the light stops, sinking into the ground and disappearing all togeth Zahariss' small protection ending. The sighs of relief come from the m surrounding me as they stand to attention with the Alpha of Elites in the presence, glaring at me.

"Arhhh." A pained shout comes from ahead, and my eyes widen wh turn and see Kade staggering out of our front door, Maize at his side.

An Elite grabs a hold of him, dragging him roughly toward us, and I No. No, no, no, no. I step forward to go toward him, but the Elite that I hold on him brings his blade up to Kade's throat, the threat clear. Maiz smirks beside them, her posture relaxed as her eyes scan the chaos before Kade holds his head between his hands as I'm unable to move, his face scrunched in pain. The circle of men creates a space for him as they re-

ome,
e have
at all
with
t them.
sty
nes

1 for

t as I

er on

into

ıt I

r, I

ap I

same

Kade.

rso, and he's thrown forward. He stumbles and then falls to his knees. I rus to him as quickly as possible.

"Carzan," I whisper to Kade as he grunts in pain, gripping his head to between his hands, his fingers pulling the blond strands. What is wrong him?

Finn Grabbing the hilt, I go to slice my palm, ready to ask Zahariss for more ind, when an arrow whizzes past me and grazes my cheek. I stop short as I ie kids the scratch stinging as blood trickles down and drips from my jaw. I turd my face to Leo, bow in hand, arrow notched as he moves his aim to Kade all still holding his head before me.

"Be careful of your actions, Rhea." Leo warns, pulling the string of bow back, ready to fire at Kade. I know he won't hesitate to do it, the lout his eyes says as much. I lower my knife slowly and place it in my boot watches my every move.

I need to get Kade out of here. I need to get him somewhere safe.

A commotion has me looking toward my cabin, and I see Sam run o Sybill on her heels. Sam stops short at the mayhem around Eridian, loc en I around wildly until she spots Kade at my feet. Her face crumples, tears flowing, and she makes a move toward us. Sybill grabs her and holds I growl close as she tries to get to him, shouting his name with so much terror has a She has never shouted before. Maize steps up next to them, a look of do no her face and blade in hand. Sybill drags Sam behind her, shaking he be ore her, wildly at the threat, backing up to protect her daughter as another a mathem. My hands shake as I watch my home being overrun by Elites and ach us, guards, my pack dragged around and tied up. *How did this happen?*

The barrier around Eridian flickers aggressively, and as another pair

h over howl echoes around us, my body trembles with awareness. I turn my h and see Josie and Danny are trying to get to each other, screaming for tightly another with desperation. Taylor is still fighting with Zaide while Hude g with managed to get near Colten. They stand back-to-back as they deflect E and Jerrod's attempts to subdue them. Seb is on the floor, two Elites try him. wrap rope around him. Another cry reaches my ears, and I see Katy at e help, cabin door, holding little Oscar close to her chest as they try to take him hiss, of her. A sob bubbles up in my throat. I go to stand on shaky legs to try rn my do anything to help, but one look at Leo with his aim still on Kade has who's frozen.

"Josh!" A scream comes from the left of me. A scream so full of his desperation my blood turns cold, so very cold as I slowly move my heat ook in look at the healer's cabin, tears stinging my eyes.

as he Oh, Gods.

An Elite has Sarah in his grasp, pulling her down the steps as Anna follows, her face bloody as she lifts her palms. Red tendrils flow from hands, twisting strands ready to strike when a guard backhands her, he king to the side as she crumples to the floor. The male is on her ins winding rope around her wrists until it glows. I watch as she struggles she finally slumps into the ground, subdued.

in it. I look back at Sarah as she claws at the male Elite dragging her, screating is and kicking with everything she has for him to release her. Josh aims a er head at a male's temple, not even waiting until the guard collapses to the grale joinsbefore he makes a run for Sarah, his growl deadly. He dodges Elites, p done out of the way, and slicing another as he makes his way toward he so close to reaching her when a body hits the side of him, and they bot down in a tangle of limbs.

ead "Get off her," he shouts at the man holding Sarah as he tries to get the guard off of him. "Don't you fucking touch her!"

Son has The Elite holding Sarah tightens his grip on her, one arm around her Damian the other around the front of her throat as he drags her over to us. I start ying to slowly on trembling limbs as a tear escapes my eye. I keep close to Ka her making no move to attack as Leo keeps a watchful eye on me. I watch if I'm in someone else's body as Darius looks at Sarah curiously. I wat y and as he steps closer to her and grabs her chin, moving her face side to si

Josh is still shouting. Taylor, Seb, Hudson and Colten are still fightied to losing battle. Anna is still slumped on the floor, and Danny and Josie a up beside her as they huddle together. An Elite and Maize have Sam at Sybill backed into a corner and someone has finally taken Oscar from The Elites and guards are taking my screaming pack members out of the cabins, the kids petrified and crying, mothers begging. Kade is whimper head pain on the ground next to me as I look around me at the sheer number tantly, people, and the position we are in. Then I finally look at Darius, and I until it's all over.

"You said you would protect them. We made a vow," I whisper at he saming know Darius hears me, but he's still looking over Sarah's face, whose punch are wide with horror, looking up at him as his tall frame towers over he bound "We did," he agrees coldly. "But no more. Time to go home, isn't it ushing Sarah?"

r. He's And there it is, he knows exactly who she is, the woman he has been h go searching weeks on end for. The reason he entered The Deadlands. The

reason he hasn't been able to go home and continue his search to stop ne rogures. I was hiding her from him all this time and now he finally knc My vision blurs around the edges at the look in Sarah's eyes. They'i 'torso. lifeless now, it's like she doesn't even breathe anymore. Darius release nd chin without another look and steps into the circle of men as the barrie de, was rippling around us finally breaks. Tiny specks of light fall down a on as ch on Eridian, dark pink and orange dropping like small droplets of rain. I lo le, and as another tear falls from my eye, my world imploding around me. The haunting last painful howl of Solvier burrows in my heart as it reaches Wisps come out of the trees, the cabins, and the ground, floating in bet the specks of the barrier before coming toward me. I hold out a shaking ng a re tied reaching toward them as a sob rips from my chest, the force of it nearly bringing me to my knees. The wisp's warmth touches me, their glow s nd dimming as the smallest one makes contact with my cheek. I close my Katy. as more tears fall, feeling the connection between us and their familiar ıeir ering inpresence for what feels like the last time. The warmth slowly lessens, c of. me to open my eyes. I look up with blurry vision, watching them fly in night sky, their glow fading as the last speckles of the barrier sink into know ground, disappearing.

im. I The blood from my cheek mixes with my tears, dripping onto the dieges below me, and it's like I can feel the earth beneath my feet weeping at loss with me. The slight breeze caressing me is the lands' cry, the sway branches of the trees reaching out to each other in comfort are the wist heartbreak as Solvier's presence graces us no more.

Runa whimpers inside me, curling up against the pain in our soul, a howl leaving her. I encountered Solvier within my first moon cycle at Eridian, and he's been by my side for eleven years, helping and guidin

He has been someone I can go to for words of wisdom. I don't have the anymore, Eridian doesn't have its guardian anymore and the land has let being that was worthy.

es her And now all is lost.

The screams of my pack still surround me, the gut-wrenching cries of round kids calling for their mothers as the Elites and guards drag them away, ok up separating them. Just like I feared they would. I watch with detachedned numbness I'm all too familiar with but haven't felt in a very long time. me. didn't know I could feel this way anymore. I didn't think I would ever ween the clutches of frozen shards surrounding my heart, piercing it with every g hand, breath I take, squeezing it with every scream I hear, bleeding it as ever lodges itself deep inside.

lowly Darius enters my blurry vision. He steps in front of me, looking dow eyes Kade briefly before his cold, green eyes meet mine. He watches my tea with indifference, tracking them down my face then back up to the cut causing cheek until finally, his eyes meet mine.

They bounce between my dull ones before addressing everyone. "They ito the the of Vrohkaria have been broken. You are all to be taken to Wolvorn Ca Fenrikar to be held there and put on trial. The traitor and her closest wi chained for aiding her, her pack will be questioned," he states, and a rt drowsiness suddenly starts to take over me. I look down sluggishly and the some sort of dark mist appearing around my ankles, seeping into me as ying)s' to my knees before him. My last remaining strength leaves me, and Ka slumps forward, his hands limply falling from his head as I reach out to Trying to keep him close and out of reach of anyone that can hurt him. lone eyes go hazy and dark spots enter my vision as I lay on the ground, my g me. touching the side of Kade's face. Everything goes quiet as I slip furthe

at unconsciousness, my limbs struggling to respond as Runa tries to help ost a pawing at me to get up, to move, but I'm too weak.

My eyes flutter as Darius crouches down beside me, his eyes still co they hold my rapidly closing ones. "Darius... don't, vallier... please... murmur to him as my eyes finally close, unable to keep them open.

The last thing I feel is coldness against both of my wrists as darknes ess. A overtakes me.

. I

feel

of the

ery

y cry

n at

ars fall

on my

ie laws

stle in

ill be

1 see

3 I fall

ıde

o him.

My

7 hand

r into

unconsciousness, my limbs struggling to respond as Runa tries to help me, pawing at me to get up, to move, but I'm too weak.

My eyes flutter as Darius crouches down beside me, his eyes still cold as they hold my rapidly closing ones. "Darius... don't, vallier... please..." I murmur to him as my eyes finally close, unable to keep them open.

The last thing I feel is coldness against both of my wrists as darkness overtakes me.

THIRTY NINE

RHEA

A wheezing sound releases from me, a steady flow of pain running thromy body as the fog slowly begins to lift from my mind. My fingers twi first, and I feel hard ground beneath me, my body laying on its side. A escapes me next as the coolness of the ground seeps into me despite th of sweat coating my body. I blink my eyes open slowly, my hazy visio gradually coming into focus as I see dark-gray stone in front of me. I c my chest rattling, but I inhale deeper on the next intake of air to calm r The scent of damp hits me along with distant smells of other people, m and old blood, causing me to shiver.

I moan softly as the pain fades to a deep ache, and I slowly stretch o limbs, bringing my arms out in front of me. The sound of clanking brin attention down to my wrists, and my heart drops like stone. I stare. Sta stare and stare unblinkingly at the harsh metal surrounding my wrists. follow the chains that are attached to each wrist in a trance, examining loop until they end, welded into the hard stone ground.

I maneuver myself into a sitting position, still staring at the cuffs and chains attached to me, as ragged breaths leave me, providing the only s

can hear in the empty space. I grab hold of the chains with both hands my heart in my throat, and yank on it, trying to get it to come free as a whimper leaves me. I get to my shaky legs, looking around to see if the something that can help me, but I'm surrounded by stone with bars on side of the room. I'm in a cell. The only light I can see is coming from hallway on the other side of the bars.

I pull on the chain more, backing up as far as the chain allows me ar with my whole body, the cuffs digging into my flesh. I ignore the pain the blood welling there, and just keep pulling and pulling, trying to get off. Oh, Gods. Get it off, get it off. A cry escapes me, my bo trembling, but I yank harder, a gritted scream coming from me when the itch don't move. I collapse to the ground, my fingertips digging into the stc groan "No, no, no," I whimper, moving over to where the chains are attach e sheen the floor. I grab the metal in my hands, yanking, pulling, wrenching to to break open until I exhaust myself.

I thought I had escaped this.

I fall on my back, taking painful breaths of air as I squeeze my eyes until I have my breathing under control. I don't have my blade, my bod have been taken. I'm barefoot, only having my t-shirt and shorts. I don know where Josh or Kade are. The link is shut, closed off to me. Runa curled up inside of me, exhausted from trying to fight off whatever sen into unconsciousness, and I don't even know where the fuck I am.

A scream comes from somewhere, and I jolt, my heart racing as I lo toward the bars with wide eyes and into the cell across from me. Nothi moves in there, and when the scream stops there is only silence. Only a drops of water leaking through small crevices above me can be heard. is no sign of anything.

ough

n

ough,

nyself.

ıusk

ut my igs my

re and

T

each

1 sound I I move until I sit cross legged on the ground, the chains not long end for me to reach any of the walls to lean against. I face the bars and try ere is ignore the metal around my wrists and the memories that try to invade one mind of the last time I was chained. I breathe deep and get a hold of m the can't think if I panic. I need to get out of here and find my pack. Then to find somewhere safe for us. *Eridian isn't that place anymore*. I swal d pull roughly over the thought of Solvier. He was connected to the barrier, h essence intertwined with it, and now the barrier is gone.

them I close my eyes and block out the pain. I need rest to gather my streat but I suspect it won't be possible because it's not just iron in these chaney encase my wrists. I need to try though, because while I don't know whome. coming, I know it won't be good. How did this even happen? Why did ned to break our vow and bring everyone to Fenrikar... That's where I am, we get it said he was taking us. I must be in Wolvorn Castle, in the dungeons.

The reminder of Darius and the way he looked at me with lifeless ey sends a shiver down my spine. He's looked at me coldly, in fury and d before, but never in the way he looked at me after holding that crystal.

rest. I need to prepare for anything, everything. Whatever knocked me 's has drained me. If I could just talk to Darius... He will see reason, he lit us I'm not a traitor, I don't understand where he's got that from. I've don nothing but protect people and give them safety and a home.

ok Both of which we don't have anymore.

shut

Tears leak from my closed eyes, and I give in to the urge to shut dova few a little while, to let my body try and recover from exhaustion and my bleeding wrists and cheek. I lay down, curl in on myself and pretend I'

ough chained to the floor, but back home in Eridian, where we lived our sim to life.

my

yself. I

I need



Six days. It's been six days since I've been down here. I've been doing ad his best to track time with the light coming and going from the hallway on other side of the bars. The only time anyone comes near me is when the guards come to give me water and small pieces of bread at random time ins that take it without a word, not wanting to receive anything from them, but at's knowing I need any source of energy I can get.

Darius I sit in the center of my cell as footsteps sound far away from the lef here he paced and hard. I lift my eyes to the bars, waiting. This isn't a guard th coming. A figure rounds the corner, and when his all too familiar gree meet mine, my heart kicks up a notch. He looks over me, from the woi isgust my cheek from Leo's arrow to my frame that has lost a little weight. To notices the blood on my wrists. He stares at them for longer than I thou would care to before he puts his hand to the bars. Some of the bars discout just enough that he can pass through and step into my cell, still clad in las to. armor.

"Where's Kade?" I ask him, my voice scratchy. I stand on my feet, wavering slightly but pushing through, not wanting to be at a disadvan Not wanting him to see me weaker than I already am.

"He has been seen by a healer and is waiting in the great hall to be p trial." His voice holds no emotion as he closes the distance between us m not grabs hold of my cuffed wrists, running his fingers over where the char

before disappearing again. The chains drop to the floor at my feet, the echoing in the space with a loud clang. A thick chain appears between cuffed wrists, connecting to each other as he grabs hold of it and turns, dragging me behind him roughly.

"What do you mean healer? Is he okay?" I stumble over my feet, still from whatever that mist was, and the metal infused within the iron cuffic is making me heal slowly. He ignores me as we walk down the stone hallway, and I look into the cells on either side of me, trying to see if a my pack is inside, but there is no movement. "Where are we going?" H ignores me.

Darius opens a wooden door at the end and begins to climb the steps leading upwards as I nervously look around. Torches light the way, my feet scraping against the jagged stone steps until we reach the top and a lond on door. Pulling me through it, we enter a courtyard of sorts. Smooth ston hen he guide us along a path with sand circles dotted around the area that look light he fighting rings, dried blood mixing in with the lightness of the sand.

appear, "Darius, listen to me, you have to help us get out of here." I try to put his back, to get him to stop, but it's useless. "I don't know what happened Eridian. I...I don't understand how I'm a traitor or—"

Darius whirls around on me and grabs a hold of my chin, his fingers tage.

digging into the wound on my cheek. I hiss in pain. "Shut the fuck up, I don't have to help you with anything, I won't help you with anything fingers dig harder into my skin, and I wince. "I'll happily break your ja keep your mouth shut after what you have done." A breath leaves me a stare at each other for a beat. I never thought he would physically hurt

have always felt strangely safe with him, but now, fear rattles through sound the look in his eyes, and I know he could be capable of it.

my Please believe me that I'm not a traitor, that I don't even know what going on, I plead with my eyes.

He turns and continues to drag me with him.

Il weak My stomach swirls with nausea as I look further in the direction he's fs that taking me and notice we're inside the castle walls. They're tall, a dark imposing form that sends dread through me. The darker stone gleams on the sunlight and I recognize the flags of the Highers that float from the top battlements from the books Edward has given me. A green and black so of the moon cycle above a howling wolf, twin daggers resting on eithe of it. It's the emblem of Wolvorn Castle, and a mockery of everything the Highers are supposed to be.

another I see guards around the area. Their armor is black with green straps in slabs compared to Darius' red and gold. They stand to attention, weapons at the like in the ready as they watch Darius pull me along behind him. One of them sping my feet as he opens a side door to the castle, leading me down a cold, all hallway. The sun shines through the high arched windows as we pass the takes me down more hallways and up another set of stairs before we finally reach another door.

This door has two guards standing on either side of it. They nod to I Rhea. opening the door so we can step through. The slam of the door behind ." His echoes around the large space. Tapestries of battles line the walls of the torch-filled, domed space. Intricate patterns embedded into the marble along with the Highers insignia as we walk forward to two huge, dark me. I doors at the opposite end. Darius nods to the guards beside it, and my heartbeat pulses in my ears as they open them. The creak of the hinges

me at against my skull as they push the wood, opening up to what must be th hall.

People fill the space. The scent of wolves, witches and others hitting strongly after days of smelling the few same things in my cell. Even the my senses are weakened, the hall is so full of beings their scents assault almost painfully. They turn when they see Darius and I enter, sneers or faces as they make way for Darius to pass as I stumble along behind hit off the curling in on myself. The people surrounding us take their seats on the of the tiered benches that go at least fifteen stacks above me. Darius continue ymbol dragging me forward and then comes to a sudden stop. I collide with he reside back. I want nothing more than for him to shield me right now, enemy that but he pays no mind as he tugs the chain linking my hands and drags necessary forward forcefully until I'm in front of him.

A ragged breath leaves me at the sight of the chairs raised on a dais semicircle across from me. The chairs are elegant with green and black the stitching against the pale seating pillows, with the largest one in the ce ts at narrow curving high at the top with the Highers emblem hovering above it. Fo hooded figures are lined below the dais steps facing us, their robes reached hem. the floor as their hands are clasped in front of them. A sound comes from e lower sunken level of the room before me, and my gaze lowers, follow Darius, few steps down with my eyes until I see Kade in the center to the right then Josh to the left. Their wrists are bound in chains that are connecte us e large the floor between their feet, and I hold back the tears that want to escal Josh turns his head to look over his shoulder, his gray eyes widening a floor sight of me, full of worry. oak

One side of his face is covered in dried blood. He has a cut on his lip rattles temple with bruising on his jaw. His clothes from the day we were take le great filthy, mine faring no better. Kade on the other hand has clean pants ar shirt on, his hair clean from what I can see from the back of him as he turned his head toward me like Josh has.

A hard shove at my back sends me down a couple of steps before a let me on the back of my neck grips me tightly, guiding me to the center to stantheir between Kade and Josh. I look down at the chain attached to the floor beneath me and Darius picks it up, attaching it to the chain connecting dark two wrists. I feel his eyes on me, but I don't take mine off Kade. He's looking straight ahead, looking to be deep within his own thoughts. A my chain has my eyes snapping to Darius, his green eyes hard.

or not, "Dar—" I cut my self off with the snarl on his face. It's cruel, twiste turns and walks toward the steps that lead toward the hooded figures at stands to the side of the dais. He turns and looks down at us as the people in a the room finish taking their seats around the hall. They stop around the of the sunken floor we are standing in. The cloaked figures shuffle to the task Leo, Damian, Zaide and Jarrod come forward and stand at the edge dais with Darius, who looks toward them briefly before he folds his arrothing watching the three of us.

My eyes go to Josh, looking at his bruised and bloodied face as his r om a ing the dull eyes nod off to the side, the tightening in his face showing his une follow the direction and the breath whooshes from my lungs as I see th , and people I never, in my life, wanted to see again. Oh, Gods. Brown hair, d to eyes. Blond hair, blue eyes. My heart rate picks up as my eyes swing to pe. panic rushing through me. I go to step toward him, trying to reach him t the for me to jolt back when the short chain restricts me from going any fu "Kade," I whisper, my voice trembling as I see him shake, his own f o and clenching as he scrunches his eyes closed. "Kade, look at me. Just stay en are

with me. I'll get you out of this okay," I assure him, looking back over hasn't people that haunt my memories and see their smug smiles and hostile and I pause as I look them over, my own body beginning to tremble as I some of my own monsters for the first time in eleven years. My Aunt and in looks at Kade then back to me, her blue eyes lighting up as she folds harms, a sadistic smile upon her lips. Uncle Paul stands next to her, the my tall and imposing figure I remember. His dark brown eyes flick to me he turns his head to the side and starts talking. When my gaze moves to tug at male beside him, I stop breathing. Blue eyes so full of cruelty meet min I can't hold back the shiver wracking my body as I'm locked in the stand. He my cousin, Patrick.

nd then Runa whimpers inside of me, retreating into a corner as she sees whe ple in seeing. The people that were supposed to protect me, but instead helpe edges me tormented and tortured for years, never allowing me to leave the rough that I thought I would die in. *Wanted to die in.* They didn't care that I vof the their blood, didn't care that my screams of pain radiated through that rough some even joined in, one in particular, wanting to be in good favor of in power.

I eventually break his stare, looking over at my other cousins, Richa ase. I Alister and Sophia, before my eyes land back on Aunt Selena. The way looking at Kade, the way her eyes light up in delight and with a knowled brown that I don't know of threatens to cave my chest in.

o Kade, "Darius." I look up at him in panic, ignoring his warning to keep my, only mouth shut and shake my head. "Don't do this, you're making a mistal orther. The room goes silent as I speak, but I don't care who listens. I just kee list eyes on him. "We made a vow with the Gods as our witness," I breather here ignoring the scoff of people around the room at the mention of our God.

they think have abandoned. My pulse pounds at Kade being in this roo the glares. these people. He can't be here. "Don't go back on it. You can't, please face He stands there, unmoving, his bored stare leaving mine to look arou Selena room. He ignores me, pretending I'm not even here, like I'm not right er of him. His men grunt and scoff at my words, looking at the three of us sneers upon their lips. They won't hear me, none of them will. same "Kade, listen to me," I rush out, as I turn to walk as close as the chai pefore allow me toward him, stretching as much as I can to be near him. o the "You lied," he says in a tone I have never heard from him before, an ne, and body tenses. "You lied about everything. I don't have to listen to anyth re of you say. I won't." He finally looks at me, betrayal and anger shining ir o I'm eyes as I shake my head at him. "You stole me. You stole me from my d have family, from a life I could have had with my pack, but you kept me in Eridian." No, no, no, I try to tell him, but my throat has seized up, my om unable to make a sound. He remembers I took him from our old home? was messed with my memories, hiding them from me, but I have them all t oom. now. The ones you tried so hard to block out. My life would have been those much different if you hadn't taken me away. I could have been with m happily living the way I was supposed to, but instead, I was trapped in rd, y she's Eridian, my mate died and I had my memoires fucked with. You did th I will never forgive you for it. Never," he spits so vehemently at me th edge jolt.

I back up a step at his words, pain slicing through my soul and crack open. I blocked his memories because he was suffering from nightmare p my when he was in their hands. I didn't know what else to do. If he had his memories back, he would know what they did, what they all did. I look ds that toward my blood family and see their heads lowered to hide their smile.

m with the words Kade just said. And it's then I know... I know they've done ." something to him. They must have.

und the "Kaden," Josh calls to him, but he just scoffs, looking around me to in front him.

"You're no better than her. You both took me away, and for what? I make sure my family suffered because you couldn't handle my father in will becoming Alpha? I was just collateral damage for your fucking twisted minds. And then you help her unleash a curse on Vrohkaria? You're but my sick."

"What?" I gasp. that's not true. "What curse? No, Kade that's not—
his Circular barriers suddenly appear around each of us separately, and
The shimmering pale violet floats in waves around me before disappea
but the barrier is still there confining us inside. A door to the right of th
mouth opens and more cloaked figures enter the hall, but instead of joining th
"You cloaked people, they walk up the steps of the dais. Maize follows behin
back them, her black hair elegantly up on the top of her head in a bun, smiling
to down at us before joining the Elites as the figures each take their seats.

y mate, Darius still stands before the dais, his men near him, as new arrivals sin
themselves in the empty seats.

at I Elites, whose stares mainly bore into mine. The cloaked figure in the c of the chairs then clears his throat and pulls down his hood. Dizziness cing meovertakes me, and I sway on my feet, my fist gripping the chains attacl es frommy wrists as hard as I can to keep me standing. My eyes freeze on the the center as he looks directly at me, the air disappearing, a bolder on I chest cracking me open. His eyes light up slightly before they roam ov body in satisfaction, making me want to peel the skin from my bones s

could never look at it again. *He knows who I am*. I swallow roughly, tr not to throw up as I hear his voice for the first time in so many years.

see "Let's begin the trial."

Го

1

oth

,,

I tense.

ring,

1e dais

e other

nd

ng

t

ιe

enter

ned to

man in

ny

er my

o he

could never look at it again. *He knows who I am*. I swallow roughly, trying not to throw up as I hear his voice for the first time in so many years.

"Let's begin the trial."

FORTY

RHEA

Lord.

Higher.

Charles.

His voice echoes throughout the hall. That deep sound is so ingraine my mind that I squeeze my eyes shut to gather myself, to stop my racii heart from bursting and stopping all together. I haven't heard it in so lo but I remember it well. I remember it laughing as I cried, mocking me screamed, taunting me about my mom and dad dying, giving me false comfort only to take it away in an instant, I remember it making me alwonder when he visited me which side of him I would get, until it was ever pain.

Memory after memory rushes through my mind, causing my knees t weaken, and I'm unable to stand the force of them. My hand reaches o the barrier to steady myself, warning sparks of pain come from it that s through my palms. I slowly peel my eyes open, keeping them on the grand the chain there as I breathe. *Just breathe*, *Rhea*. I look to my left, s Josh's glare at him, knowing everything that he had done. He moves to

edge of his barrier closest to me, eyes full of hate and anger and conce my behalf. I shake my head subtly when he glances at me, then turn m to the right to look at Kade. His spine is straight, fists still clenched at sides as he looks in front of him, ignoring Josh and I entirely.

Kade might know these seated males are Highers, but he doesn't tru know who they are. It's the same with his parents and siblings. It's the with fucking everyone. I've told him all his life to keep away from the there was ever a time he was near them. It looks like that's been compl ignored by the smiles on our blood family's faces. What the fuck did tl to him and does he really have his memories? Because if he did, he wc be acting like this. He wouldn't have said the things he did to me. He v be tearing them all apart.

ıd in ng

from them. He can't go back to his family, and he can't be in the clutcl the Highers. With that thought, I raise my eyes and look forward,

I breathe deep and manage to straighten myself, I have to get him av

determination running through me.

as I

)ng,

"Alpha Darius, present why these three wolves are on trial. You hav spoken to me briefly, but let the rest of the room know," Lord Higher (says, waving a hand toward the seated people in the hall and relaxing t his seat, but I feel his eyes on me. It's like fire licking at my feet until i me alive.

only

0

ways

I look across the dais and see the other Highers removing their hood ut to expressions neutral on their faces. I look at each one, looking for a fam face, but Edward is nowhere to be seen. Where is he? Does he know I' here? He has to. I look further across the five Highers. Two seats are e

but the five seated can still cast their votes when it's time.

"These wolves have been found traitors to Vrohkaria, some more the

shoot round

eeing) the

others. Kaden," Darius begins, nodding in his direction, and I tense. "F rn on y head be innocent, but he may have also aided Rhea in her treason, which I w his to last. I spoke with Kaden's family who are currently guests here. The him being taken to the healer's wing, and his mother was in hysterics a as she saw him. His mother, Selena, informed me he was taken as a pu ly he was never seen again. They searched and searched for him, but he v never found. It was around the same time their niece and an orphaned m if letely went missing from the Aragnis pack. It turns out, Rhea and Joshua are ney say ones who had stolen him in the night." He points to us, loathing in his ouldn't and I swallow. "Joshua aided them in leaving, making sure they were vould undetected with Kaden, but two of the Aragnis pack guards saw them.' at the memory of killing one of them that tried to stop us, the other gua retreating as a blade went through their friend's heart, running back to vay hes of announce us escaping. "All three were thought to be dead after they m a guard on their way out of pack territory, and they weren't seen again Highers all shake their heads at Josh and I, noises of disgust coming fr

Charles "Alpha Paul, can you confirm for the room that what Alpha Darius lack in said is in truth?" Lord Higher Charles asks, turning his head toward my it burns uncle.

I refuse to look at him.

them as the crowd murmurs.

9

s, "It is true. My niece caused great harm to us as a family when she walliar taken in by us when her mother and father went missing." I grind my to that's not fucking true. "We gave her a home, and she repaid us by give mpty, nothing but trouble when she lived with us. But we never thought she steal our son." His voice rings across the hall, strong and sure of his wall an "Please go easy on my son. I'm sure my niece has filled him with nons

Ie may over the years. The healer confirmed she had blocked his memories. The vill get have only now been restored to him. He has lost so much time with us ey saw already."

"Did you know that your cousin had blocked your memories, Kaden ıs soon p, and Lord Higher Charles asks him, and I look over at the boy I raised since was seven years old. vas

"No, I didn't know anything until the healer unblocked them. All sh male the Josh ever told me was to stay away from our old pack and that it wasn' safe." He turns his head, looking me dead in the eye. "She never let me eyes where we lived, never let me go into other parts of Vrohkaria. I though " I gulp was just being protective, but now I know how wrong it was. She was keeping me from my family as some sort of sick punishment for them. ırd

"Carzan," I whisper, shaking my head at him, pleading. "That's not urdereddon't listen to them. You know me."

." The "My niece is clearly trying to manipulate him, even now, Lord High my uncle interjects. "She brings great shame to the Aragnis pack, and om Kazari family—"

"Keep *my* family name out of your piece of shit mouth you... Arghl 1as scream, caught off guard by a sudden pain shooting through my whole y I press both hands against the barrier, panting as the pain fades away ju quickly as it came, listening as the crowd shouts in outrage at my worc ras

He doesn't deserve to have my mom's name. None of them do.

"You will act civilized in my hall!" Lord Higher Charles booms at n eeth, ing us I let out a growled breath. Hating him, hating them, hating what they d would Hating them all so deep in my bones I would snap their necks in an ins I could. Lord Higher Charles waits for the hall to calm again before he ords. speaks. "That's enough from you at the moment, Kaden. Thank you. Jo sense

hey did you or did you not take this woman and Kaden away from your paterritory without first applying to change packs, and then waiting for confirmation to that proposal."

"It's not that fucking simple! Unghh!" The barrier around Josh glow briefly as he falls to one knee in pain, and I realize he just got hit with whatever I did just moments before.

"It is a simple question to answer, Joshua." Charles snarls. "Yes or I e and Josh looks up at me, still on one knee, and I see in his eyes what he' 't e leave to do. The resignation and determination in his eyes. He opens his mou speak, but I beat him to it. "I forced him," I cut in, ignoring Josh's sho ıt she eyes. "I made him believe that we could go to another pack and start a together. With him being orphaned and my family line, he knew it wou impossible for us to be mated in the Aragnis pack as the current Alpha true, deny it. He had a soft spot for me since we were kids. So I told him that us to have a life together, we would need to leave with Kaden. We cou er," tell anyone we were leaving as with the pack being of my family line, the forbidden for me to do so." I feel all eyes on me as I finish, but I hold. ıh!" I eye, pleading with him to stay quiet. He swallows hard before dropping body. head forward, his chest rises and falls as he takes deep breaths before s getting back to his feet. ıst as

ls. "Is that correct, Joshua?" Lord Higher Charles demands, and at Josh nod, he hums to himself. "Seems you are quite the manipulator. You st ne, and however, have committed more crimes," he tells Josh, and I look over id. Darius, his eyes boring into Josh's before looking me over with distast stant if "Let's move on. I've heard enough on this particular crime, and I will into consideration what has been said."

oshua, He waves a hand to someone off to the side, and I hear the creak of

opening. A murmur spreads across the hall as a tall, blond male approathe the front of the dais, dragging a lifeless Sarah behind him. I hold in my reaction to seeing her. The tall male stops at the first step, guiding Sara stand next to him.

Lord Higher Charles takes in Sarah's disheveled appearance and shaframe before looking to the male beside her. "Alpha Christopher, your to." daughter was taken from her home over three months ago. Has she told s about where she has been?"

th to Shock courses through me. She's this Alpha's daughter? Fuck.

cked "Yes, Lord Higher." Alpha Christopher bows his head respectfully.

life daughter has told me she was taken and brought to a place she had nevel to before and couldn't leave. She was kept prisoner. She had extensive in would from trying to fight off those who took her, and she was unable to get out for bed from those injuries, practically bedridden." Josh growls deep and I ldn't beside me, and I shoot him a warning look to stay quiet.

It was He's lying through his teeth, we know that. We don't know how this Josh's play out though, and if Josh shows a reaction to her, I don't know what g his happen.

"Is that true, dear?" Lord Higher Charles addresses Sarah, who stays looking at her feet, fingers twisting around each other. She eventually it's slowher head once, and my heart cracks even more.

at keep her safe. Now she's in the hands of those that hurt her. She's petr e. Did he beat her before she walked into this room? Threaten her? I don'take know, but whatever he did made her just lie to everyone in this room a confirmed what Alpha Christopher just said. I glance at Josh and see hadoor

iches drop before he smooths it out into a neutral expression. But I know her caused him pain.

"We are glad you have returned Sarah. You are safe now. You can he the time you need to recover and proceed with your arranged mating we have Patrick Kazari." Lord Higher Charles smiles down at her, and I swear breathing as a stillness comes over Josh.

I look over at my scum of a family, watching as a convincing, gentle spreads across my cousin Patrick's face as he looks at Sarah. It slips as taken from the room again, being rushed out a door and out of sight. T "My when his blue eyes come to mine. Malice gleaming in them, and I bare er beenteeth. He grins, licking his lips, and I shiver.

juries "Alpha Darius, please continue," Lord Higher Charles commands, a out of brings my attention to him.

"Rhea caused the deaths of six Elite trainees when we were in The Deadlands searching for Sarah. She admits to their murder, but she also swill Sarah hidden in her home where we went to get our injured Elites heal asked her and showed a sketch of Sarah. She and others stated she had idea who she was and told us she was probably dead if she ventured in Deadlands. They clearly lied as we found her healing from injuries in a in a cabin. Her pack also didn't tell the truth when we went around and them about her. They are all guilty of that crime, and hiding that they had created a pack.

ified. "More lies and manipulations," Lord Higher Charles murmurs as the 't of the Highers mumble their agreements.

nd Darius walks closer to the steps at the bottom of the dais, and I watc is face every move as he pulls out the crystal he held in Eridian. "This crystal given to me by Higher Aldus."

words That has to be the man that was in Eridian, that caused all of this will crystal. How did a Higher get there? I scan the Highers in their seats, be have all none of them speak.

"Yes, you said as much when we briefly spoke. Unfortunately, High I stop Aldus had to attend an urgent meeting that cannot be missed so he had absent today. He did confirm he handed the memory crystal to you after smile traveled to meet with Maize to check on the progress of your search for she is Sarah," Lord Higher Charles states. Maize informed a Higher where we hat's living? Fury runs through me. "He also confirmed he found it in the plant of the plant

A memory crystal? Found where we were living?

nd it "The memory crystal showed me Rhea performing some sort of ritu Darius continues, his eyes coming to mine as I shake my head. "That r cursed Vrohkaria and brought the rogures to cause havoc across the lar o had slaughtering and tearing villages and towns apart," he tells the room, to ed. We the crystal over in his hands.

Shouts echo around me as my wide eyes look from Darius to the cry no to The and then back again. "That's impossible. It's not true," I shout at him, a room chest heaving at the thought. My words are ignored as people curse at a l asked letting me hear their words of how I should pay for my treason. Hange stoned and whipped over something I didn't do. My panicked eyes turi nad Josh, his mouth moving, but no sound reaches me. They've blocked so from escaping the barriers, not letting us be heard until they want us to e rest Darius passes the crystal to Lord Higher whose eyes go dull as he ho h his sparks coming from the object. "What Darius has stated is the truth. Th grave crime you have committed against Vrohkaria. You have commit was treason against us all, against your own kind." Charles passes the cryst th that the other Highers, waiting until they have all seen this apparent memorate me bring the rogures upon us as I shake my head. "You are a disgrace kind. Tell me." He leans forward in his seat, dark eyes penetrating min "Why did you cause the lands to be plagued?"

to be "I didn't," I grind out, and Darius shakes scoffs at me, his anger er he penetrating through the barrier.

"The evidence is damning," Lord Higher Charles barks, the sound slee were enough to rattle my bones, making me feel like a little girl again. Defeate Weak. "You cannot deny what we have seen with our very own eyes!"

"Can you deny what I've seen with *my* own eyes? What had been do me?!" I scream back at him, my chains rattling as I bring them up and al," on the barrier. His eyes turn hard as pain rattles through me again, a waitual to not say any more. I grit my teeth as he keeps a neutral expression or ads, face. A perfected facade.

"Why would the Highers and I take anything that you say as true? W would anyone?" he says, and I grind my teeth. "You have lied and stal, manipulated. You ran away from your pack, *stole* a child and blocked my memories. You killed Elite trainees and took a person of interest, kept hidden whilst also failing to inform us that you had formed a pack. On all that, you have performed a ritual and brought savage creatures to Vrohkaria that slaughter and kill anyone they come across," he spits. The Highers murmur in agreement as more shouts from the people around

be. lash out at me while the Elites growl, glaring down at me.
olds it, "I didn't perform any fucking ritual. I have no idea what you are tall

nis is a about!" I glare at Darius. "What you saw is wrong. What you all saw is ted wrong."

al to "Memory crystals cannot be changed," Darius tells me. "They cannot

ry of tampered with."

"That is a lie because it obviously has been," I grind out, my body sle. at the implication of what they are saying, but I didn't do it. "I didn't d I would never do such a thing, even if I knew how.

"You're lying again, Rhea," Darius snarls. "Your sins are put out be you, and you don't even have the decency to tell the truth."

harp "I am telling the truth," I shout. "I know nothing of a ritual. Know n nseless.about how the rogures came to be! They kill everything and anything."

reason would I have to do that when we are all in danger from them?!"

one to "That's what you're going to tell us," Lord Higher Charles says, and scream. My body feels like it's being hit with raw electricity as my bac arning arches from the pain coursing through me. I fall to my knees, chained I on the floor as I feel blood trickle out of my nose. "Tell us why you cu the lands and how we can stop it." I stay quiet, panting through the ling pain when it hits me again.

I fall on to my side, my whole body shaking, and I bite my lip on a chis my blurry eyes find Kade. He's finally looking at me again, finally giv them his blue eyes that I have seen every emotion in. Except hate. That's ho top of looking at me right now. His eyes are full of hate, and a strangled sob me at the sight, but I quickly quiet as the violet glow fades from the ba and the pain slowly subsides.

the hall "Thirty lashes, maybe that will loosen her tongue," a different Highe and the crowd all cheers and shouts their approval. I stumble to my fee king hands clenching as I glare at them all while my body aches.

I bring my hands up and wipe the blood from under my nose when t chain attached to the one linking my wrists together suddenly pulls me of be downward. I'm thrown to the ground, my knees hitting the floor, and I

pull at my hands, but they are locked in place on the floor, I'm immobinaking can't stand, I can only stay on my knees as the barrier around me blink lo it."

I lift my head, watching as Maize approaches the Highers with a wh her hands. She bends at the waist, presenting it to them. Lord Higher C tilts his head, looking over at me before he turns, his gaze landing on I with a sadistic smile on his face. "As Alpha of the Elites and with Rhe othing extending your search, therefore keeping you from protecting our land What think you should do the honors."

•

lΙ

ck

hands

rsed

gering

ry as

ing me

w he's

escapes

rrier

er says,

t, my

he

hiss. I

pull at my hands, but they are locked in place on the floor, I'm immobile. I can't stand, I can only stay on my knees as the barrier around me blinks out.

I lift my head, watching as Maize approaches the Highers with a whip in her hands. She bends at the waist, presenting it to them. Lord Higher Charles tilts his head, looking over at me before he turns, his gaze landing on Darius with a sadistic smile on his face. "As Alpha of the Elites and with Rhea extending your search, therefore keeping you from protecting our lands, I think you should do the honors."

FORTY ONE

RHEA

He wouldn't, would he?

Darius looks at Charles while the other Elites look around the room silence. Charles continues to stare at Darius, his smirk never wavering sure this will quell the rage within you at her deceit for a little while. T be my gift to you, for all that you have done for Vrohkaria and all that will continue to do," he tells him. When Darius doesn't move, Charles his head at him.

Darius reaches a hand out toward Maize and grabs the whip by its be worn handle. I swallow roughly. He pulls back slowly, letting the leath strips of the whip fall, the pieces nearly touching the floor. I swallow, it over from where I'm restrained, hands clenching. I pant through my and I see Josh beside me, banging on his barrier the best he can, veins straining against his neck as he shouts, but I hear nothing. I just see the in his eyes. I look over at Kade, seeing his eyes widen slightly at what holds, but he quickly clears his expression and looks down.

Is he still in there? Does he feel anything for what's about to happen me? Does he not care anymore?

"Let's get the rest of her deplorable followers in," Lord Higher says making my head snap in his direction.

Moments later, Taylor, Sebastian, Hudson and Colten are brought de the steps. Anna, Josie and Danny follow behind them, all struggling as are shoved forward and down the steps to where we are.

Their wrists are chained together, muffled sounds coming from behi cloths tied around their mouths as they look over at us with wide eyes. Damian, Zaide and Jerrod each take a place behind them, replacing the cloaked figures who brought them in. The Elites push them to their known front of me, their features pained when they hit the hard floor. Their clare as dirty as mine and Josh's, their faces also showing bruising where have obviously been beaten.

'his can How is this allowed? They did nothing wrong.

in

. "I'm

"They have all been questioned, as well as everyone else that was in settlement. They refuse to talk. The blood witch is especially hard to compare they will after we have given you some lashes." A Higher says bald head gleaming under the torchlight.

"That is yet to be seen, Higher Frederick," Lord Higher Charles tells looking "I'm sure they will talk eventually, if not, the traitor will." His confide speaks loudly throughout the hall, so sure in himself.

"Will Joshua receive lashes as well for the start of his punishment for aiding a traitor," the Higher with dark brown hair asks Charles.

Darius

"I think that will be appropriate, Higher Mathew," he hums. "Higher Berthold, Higher Aiden?" The Highers both nod their head in agreeme their faces unkind.

"I will take his lashes," I croak, and my pack stills. Even Darius pau my words. I clear my throat, spitting out the blood dribbling down from nose. "The law allows a replacement to receive punishment from those trial. I will take it."

own "You speak of the law, yet you break it so easily," Lord Higher Chathey sneers.

"Law is still law." I lift my eyes, my resolve clear in them.

He sighs. "Although I disagree with this particular law under these Leo, circumstances, it is indeed the law, which I abide by." Bullshit. "Some you do not. Add twenty lashes to the current thirty." My pack renew the efforts of getting to their feet, their muffled cries getting louder behind othes cloth on their mouths, but the Elites subdue them, keeping them kneelied they easily in their weakened state. "Kaden, you will receive fifteen lashes. you are somewhat innocent in the crimes committed. I will allow you they your punishment on to the traitor. Do you agree?"

your Kade looks down at me on my knees for a moment, eyes blank as he rack. answers the Lord Higher. "I agree." My heart bleeds, but I'm thankful doesn't have to endure the pain that's about to come.

My head turns as Darius walks down the steps slowly, the whip trail s him. along the floor. I look up at him. Silver specks float in his eyes, and I v nce at the sight of them now instead of feeling captivated. Runa whimpers me, and I mentally stroke along her head, hoping to soothe her with the calmness I send to her. *It's okay. Everything will be okay*. I'm not sure that's true, but I have to believe that.

Darius stops in front of me, his boots at my chained hands, and I loo nt, down at them. They're clean, laces tied tightly. I breathe in his scent, wrapping it around me as deeply as I can to prepare myself as I'm sure ses at will soon be filled with the scent of my blood instead.

n my "Will your pack speak up and save you? Or will you finally tell the

e on he muses, bringing the whip up and running his free hands through the of leather.

"I have told the truth. I didn't perform any ritual. I don't know what think you saw, but you're wrong, Darius. You are so wrong," I whispe voice cracking on the last word. He crouches low with a grunt, and I li head so his face is close to mine as I speak. "Think about what you have thing with your own eyes back at Eridian. Think clearly. I admitted to killing harming your Elites, I never shied away from that. I made a vow with a protect my pack. My world. Why in all that I am, would I ever do anyt that would put my world in danger? Why would I do something like but as the rogures here?"

"You lied about Sarah, right to my face and hid her right under our I Many have died from rogures. I couldn't protect them because I was searching for her, because you kept her from me," he growls. "All you he when you open your fucking mouth is lie!" I look into his speckled eye sigh.

"Darius, please, you have to believe me. I thought... I thought we go vince point where we were beginning to understand each other. I though..." inside only reaction I get is the tightening around his eyes. My shoulders slun when he says nothing. He's not going to believe me. I did lie to him in Eridian, but I did it from a place of protection. I did what I had to do to us all safe, and it was all for nothing anyway.

We lock gazes, his eyes once again looking over my features as I we once again if he would really hurt me or if this is his anger speaking. At the air everything that happened between us in Eridian and the look of barely restrained fury in his eyes, I think he would really hurt me now.

truth?" The knowledge of that sends another unwanted crack through my all

strips bleeding heart. I really thought after the few moments we had of this..

connection between us, this pull of our bodies coming together regardl

you the circumstances, that maybe he would be lenient with me when he bi

r, my me here. He would see me in some way other than this person he clain

ft my to be.

re seen I now know I was wrong to think that. I was wrong in that moment i g and forest, with wisps dancing around him. I was wrong about the warmth you to in my chest when we played with the pups as he smiled and laughed. I hing wrong when he kissed me under the moonlight, holding hands with me ringing because he wanted to. He was wrong when he told me that I was his to protect, because he's not protecting me now.

"What?" he asks, confusion plain to see on his face. I see his knuckl do whiten around the handle of the whip, his eyes darkening.

es as I "I said. Do. It." I nod at the whip in his hand and shuffle on my knee trying to get as comfortable as possible. "This should be easy right? of to a Whipping a traitor. So get on with it."

The He pauses, searching my face with his mouth in a tight line. "You're np going to try and lie your way out of it with that mouth of yours? Not go plead for mercy?" he asks.

There is no mercy in Vrohkaria, Darius. You should know that with the lands at their feet." He blinks, his teeth grinding together as those seeks get a little larger.

"Are we ready to proceed, Alpha Darius?" drawls Lord Higher Char ready and Darius holds my eyes a moment longer as he tenses, his eyes flash

black before he stands. His hand clenches around the handle of the wh ess of leather creaking from the force as he moves behind me and out of sigh I breathe deep through my mouth, slowly expelling my breaths as th ought fabric of my t-shirt tears at my back, exposing my skin to him, and I fl is me the cool air hits me. Runa whines inside of me, curling up to my back. over at Josh, giving him a sad smile as his eyes shine with unshed tears in the screaming and banging against the barrier, but nothing can be heard. I I felt reassure him with my eyes before I turn my head forward, looking at n was members one by one, my closest. Tears stream down Anna and Josie's and they're all struggling against the Elites holding them, but they stor I shake my head, my eyes telling them that it's okay.

Lastly my eyes go to Kade, my sad smile still in place as I look him е. until our blue eyes meet. "I forgive you, Carzan." I don't know if he ca es me in his barrier, but even if he doesn't think he needs to hear it, I need to know he has nothing for me to forgive him for. One day, it will all b es, clear, he will see, and he will hate himself for this moment. I know he but I won't let him. I see him swallow hard, emotion leaking into his e before he faces forward, not wanting to see what's about to happen. not : I look up at the Highers, at Charles, seeing the sadistic grin he tries t oing to behind the hand covering his mouth as he leans on the arm of the chair it in his eyes though. I have seen it many times before when he told me killed my mom and dad. When he taunted me until I cried for them, so he paming for them to save me. When he would try to use Kade against me to get do what he wanted. He loved how he could see the war within me as I ilver decide whether I should or shouldn't bend to what he asked of me. I've it over many years from when I was nearly seven years old to just wee :les,

before my eighteenth birthday. I've seen it thousands of times in the

ing

ip, the basement below my mother's and father's home that he and others, inct. my blood, turned into my own living nightmare.

e "Alpha Darius, proceed," Charles orders, waving a hand in our directinch as No movement comes behind me. "We haven't got all night, I would have I look another punishment to be added."

s, still My brows furrow at his words, but then a barely there growl comes try to behind me before Darius finally moves. I hear the whip slicing through my packair. I hear it glide with precision until it connects with my back, makin faces, body arch from the sharp, burning pain. I try to hold it in, but a strangle when scream escapes me as the second hit comes fast and quick. Then a third fourth, again and again.

over No hesitation. No mercy.

in hear — Just like he said he had none.

Blood runs down my sides from my skin splitting, and I breathe throecome my nose, looking at a single spot on the floor as tears roll down my fact will, wait for the next strike. A sob-like breath of air escapes me, and I grit teeth and growl when it comes. Red paints the floor, the splatters making own pattern before it becomes too much and pools around me. Agony to hide me as another hit lands right on top of my already torn flesh. My body the surface as she can, trying to soothe me, but it's no use. I choke on my belong breath.

me to Another strike.

tried to I bite my lip, my teeth punching through it.

e seen Another crack.

ks *Just accept it. It's not forever, Rhea. You've had worse.*Another slash.

luding Breathe. Concentrate on the ground beneath you. Just stay looking a one spot. Ignore that this is Darius doing this to you, your—

ction. Another hit.

ite for More tears pour from my eyes. *Hold it in. Don't you dare make ano sound. Not one fucking sound.*

from Another lash.

1 the Do.

g my And another.

ed *Not*.

d and a And another.

Break.

ough

e as I

my

ng its

fills

shakes

e to the

next

Breathe. Concentrate on the ground beneath you. Just stay looking at that one spot. Ignore that this is Darius doing this to you, your—

Another hit.

More tears pour from my eyes. *Hold it in. Don't you dare make another sound. Not one fucking sound.*

Another lash.

Do.

And another.

Not.

And another.

Break.

FORTY TWO

RHEA

My vision is hazy, my breathing labored as I'm being moved, lifted ha on to something, but I still don't make a sound. My clothes are wet, the of blood all around me, soaked into my clothing and my skin. Voices sounding like they're underwater reach me as my head lulls to the side Fingers are on my neck next, a growl, voices getting louder and then cohits me. I'm jostled as we move, blood rushing to my head as a should into my stomach, my arms hanging loosely below me. I feel liquid tric my fingertips, and I imagine a trail of red splashes following us as we going down steps. My eyes open slightly, seeing the stone before me b they blur again.

A pained breath comes from me when my body hits the cold ground head bouncing off the hard surface. Pain shoots through my skull. A w comes from me at the rattle of chains jangling, then my body is being I again and my wrists are being pulled and then dropped. A sharp kick it ribs follows, knocking me over onto my torn back, a scream catching it throat until the air stills around me.

No sounds. No movement. I'm alone.

I blink my eyes open slowly, not moving as sobs wrack my body. Tl of copper comes next as it fills my mouth, and I hold back a gag at the inhale shallow breaths, feeling the pains in my body. Wrists, ribs, back Definitely my fucking back. I stay still for a long time, not daring to m I stare at the ceiling. Drops of water slip through the cracks of the ston watch them in fascination as they drop down, escaping from being trap within. Eventually I realize that being on my back is just causing me m pain, and I squeeze my eyes shut to gather some strength.

rshly e smell

I roll slowly onto my stomach, silently screaming into my arm as I f skin split more as it's stretched, fresh blood trickling from the wounds. that fucking hurts. I pant heavy breaths, fingers digging into the ground ready myself to get to my knees, sweat beading on the back of my necl Another wheezing breath, and I get my chained hands under my face b push off the ground, moving myself back until I have my knees under Bile rises in my throat from the pain, and I can't help it. I throw up wh I had in me as I gasp through it.

er digs kle off start

old air

When there is nothing left, I bring my shaking hands to my mouth a wipe, getting ready to move my abused body again. More breaths and silent screams later, I'm finally on my haunches, my vision coming an going, and I grip my thighs to steady myself, scrunching my eyes shut himper passes.

, my

efore

Opening my eyes and seeing the stone stained red beneath me, I foll streaks of it to the bars of my cell. I definitely got dragged in here then sigh, then grimace at the burning pain from my back as I shuffle on my knees, moving to the center of the room and away from where I've jus rid of the contents of my stomach. I carefully peel my torn t-shirt from front of my body, whimpering in pain. The blood soaked material stick

noved n my n my

he tastemy skin, and I slowly drag it down my arms. I throw it off to the side t taste. II can, the wet slap against the floor telling just how much blood it has

absorbed. Streaks of red decorate me, my white bra now a bright red at ove as myself over. I can see bruising on my ribs appearing through the lightee, and Istreaks, and I know whoever kicked me had decent sized feet.

oped I don't remember much after the thirty-eighth lash against my back.

ore vision was blacking out so I must have passed out from the pain or blo loss. I remember it felt like a whip of fire searing at my back, but I did eel the make a sound again, just like I promised myself. They didn't deserve to Gods my pain, and the fact that Darius is the cause of that pain made my result as I harden further.

k. The connection I thought I had with him was wrong. All the times we fore I locked in each other's gazes, seeing more than we thought possible of me. other every single time.

at little We were both wrong in what we saw.

I thought I saw good in him that I could claw out, he only saw the band me.

more I wonder where they took Kade? Is he with his mom and dad? Is Jos d the rest of my pack back in a cell somewhere like I am? I look across f until it me and see no movement again. Where are they if they aren't down he

I gently rest my hands on my thighs, my skin feeling hot as I try to r ow all my body the best I can with the feeling of lava racing up and down my

I close my eyes and check on Runa. She's sleeping, just as exhausted a I rest along with her, try to take my mind elsewhere and find some sort t gottenpeace.

the I don't think I will ever have it permanently, only snippets here and so to In the last twenty-one years, I could count the number of times I felt tr

he best peace on my hands. It's depressing to think how little I have felt that w Have the Gods really abandoned us? I think this is the first time I trues I look like they have, even if everything within me recoils at the thought.

It feels like hours before I hear a scuffle sound from in front of me, when I open my eyes again and toward the bars, a face I haven't seen i My very long time is looking back with distraught eyes. He's aged slowly od the years, but he still looks very much like the man I met all those year n't His midnight eyes look over at me, concern written on his face as he go hear bars in front of him tightly.

olve "Rhea," he breathes, and I hold back a sob at the sorrow in it. "I'm s
I wasn't here. I didn't know there was even a trial until it was too late.'

7e were shakes his blond head, bowing it as he speaks low. "This should have I each happened."

"It's not your fault, Edward," I assure him, because it isn't. He's don nothing but protect me. "This was always going to happen at some poi ad in both knew that." It was inevitable.

"Are you okay?" he asks, sighing as he looks over at the state of me sh with A hollow laugh leaves me. "I've been better." I rub a hand down my rom trying to ignore the flakes of dried blood coming off it. "Have you seen anyone else?" He shakes his head. "I need you to get Kade and my pace of here. Can you do that?"

back. "I'm not sure, Rhea. The other Highers have been having meetings value is I am. me, excluding me from important business and sending me on useless of other towns and villages. I don't know what's going on lately, but I sen nothing good from it."

there. "You have to try. They said they saw me perform a ritual to bring th ue rogures to Vrohkaria. How is that possible?" I don't even know of any *r*ay. that would bring chaos to the lands.

ily feel "I don't know. Memory stones cannot be altered, but it must be poss haven't heard of it ever happening before, I will have to search in the l and see if I can find anything in the old tomes."

n a "Do you believe I did it," I whisper, my voice shaky.

over Edwards goes to his knees, uncaring that his smart black pants will less ago. as his hands still grip the bars, his eyes hold mine. "Gods no, Rhea. You rips the would never do such a thing."

My lip trembles at his unwavering faith in me, and I want nothing me so sorrythan to go to him and seek the comfort that I know he would offer me. "He have someone hold me for a second."

"Kade said his memories returned, but I think they have also altered Edward. He wasn't making any sense." I sniffle and wipe under my no pretending I don't hear the chains rattle. "Who is powerful enough to c nt. We It took you years to produce the memory stone that blocked Kade's me from what happened with the Aragnis pack. How do they have enough to bring them back, but also to change them?"

"Lord Higher Charles holds the most power. He could do something that with a high-level witch. All of our powerful witches haven't been 'k out castle for a few weeks though. Lord Higher Charles sent them off to comething for him. He didn't tell me what." His face holds frustration without hands squeeze against the bars.

trips to "So, Charles got to him then, but why? What does he benefit from n use with Kade's memories?"

"Seeing you suffer," he murmurs, his eyes dropping at his own word thought you were dead for a long time, Rhea. He's going to make you rituals

for escaping him in any way he can." His hands release the bars, and has been sible. I them through his hair, sighing.

ibrary, "How powerful is he, really?" I know his dominance is strong. I know what he can do with his hands and some magic. But how does he hold position of Lord Higher.

"He is a wolf and more," Edward says, and I tilt my head. "He has p that no one has seen and can use it as he sees fit. I was told of the barri were surrounded by in the great hall. That is part of his power." I swall memories flashing through my mind of the pain it caused me from tour Just to it. "He can do more than that, and no one knows why. Some say he's the God, after the old ones abandoned the lands, their names and Heirs are them, the mouths of anyone whispering about them, and never in kindness." ise, looks up at me quickly before looking away again.

lo that? "What is it?" There's something on his mind but he won't tell me. "mories "Rhea..." he trails off.

power "If I need to know, Edward, then I need to know. No matter how mudon't want to tell me."

He sits down, crossing his legs as he leans his forehead against the bat the look of defeat spreading across his face. "Charles has been searching follect someone like you since you left and couldn't be found." I blink, my bras his furrowing. "He's been going from pack to pack, trying to find others the might be... suitable."

nessing "What do you mean," I whisper, dreading his answer.

"He's been training up young pups until they are old enough to see i ls. "He show any similar signs," he tells me regretfully, and I choke on a sounsuffer shaking my head at what he's telling me. "I can't prove it, he covers hi tracks well, but I know he's been doing it. I can't stop it." e runs "Why haven't you told me this before, I thought it was just me he di to," I wheeze.

"What would it change? We are powerless. There is only you and I, that is not enough. He keeps an eye on packs, looking for pups soon to born and then goes to them when they have arrived under the facade the lower blessing them. Welcoming them into Vrohkaria. When really he's look er you anything that resembles you. With you being thought dead and no othe low, found, he thought he could find a way." He swallows roughly. "He tak ching ones he has a liking to from their homes and trains them. Prepares ther he new their new life," he whispers, voice shaking as he speaks.

ash in My eyes are wide as I open and close my mouth, shock rendering m speechless for a moment. "I've been hidden in Eridian all this time, hid from the Highers and my family, and all this time." I gag. "All this time been doing that to others." I hunch over at his nod, ignoring the pain in back as I choke on nothing. "He's been taking *children* because I wasnich you around. Training them. Oh, Gods. No."

My palms hit the wet floor, tears dripping down my face as my stor pars, a turns. What has he put children through? How many have died because or me? Children. He's been taking fucking children when I was playing hows families in Eridian.

nat What have I done?

"It's not your fault, Rhea." He tries to placate me, but he's wrong. S fucking wrong. "You had to stay hidden from him. We couldn't let hin f they you."

d, "Children, Edward," I cry. "He's doing what he did to me. I thought me gone, he would stop. That he would just give up trying to be more should be."

d that "I know," he says sadly. Nothing more to add because what can he s
Either way you look at it, Gods knows how many children have been p
and my place because I was hidden away.

be Is my life worth all of theirs?

"I will try and get Kade and your pack out of here, though I'm afraic king for not looking good. Just hang tight, we will figure it out. You can't be le their grasp. Charles and the other Highers are determining your sentenes the soon and many demand it be public, so he can't do anything right now n for gives us time to come up with something. I can't stay, or they will noti absence. I will try and be back before they come and get you."

e I shake my head, so utterly defeated before lifting it to look at him v ling blurry vision. "Just get them out, vallier, Edward," *Please*.

He nods, his eyes solemn. "Don't lose hope," he pleads with me. "I my find a way." He gives me one more small smile before leaving me alor my new prison.

But all I feel is my soul crippling inside me. Sorrow at how much in lach blood has been spilled in my absence from so many young pups.

e of There is no hope for the essence that's being tainted by the Highers.

No Gods.

No justice.

Only destruction and blood. That's all that's left.

o, n have

with

than he

"I know," he says sadly. Nothing more to add because what can he say? Either way you look at it, Gods knows how many children have been put in my place because I was hidden away.

Is my life worth all of theirs?

"I will try and get Kade and your pack out of here, though I'm afraid it's not looking good. Just hang tight, we will figure it out. You can't be left in their grasp. Charles and the other Highers are determining your sentencing soon and many demand it be public, so he can't do anything right now. That gives us time to come up with something. I can't stay, or they will notice my absence. I will try and be back before they come and get you."

I shake my head, so utterly defeated before lifting it to look at him with my blurry vision. "Just get them out, vallier, Edward," *Please*.

He nods, his eyes solemn. "Don't lose hope," he pleads with me. "I will find a way." He gives me one more small smile before leaving me alone in my new prison.

But all I feel is my soul crippling inside me. Sorrow at how much innocent blood has been spilled in my absence from so many young pups.

There is no hope for the essence that's being tainted by the Highers.

No Gods.

No justice.

Only destruction and blood. That's all that's left.

FORTY THREE

Darius

We sit in a dining hall within the castle, all seated around a light wood as way too much food is set down before us. Leo sits to my right, follo Damian, Zaide, Jerrod. Maize sits next to Charles who's at the head of table, the other Highers seated across from us as they discuss the trial. Though Higher Warden and Higher Aldua are not here.

"What do you think should be done with the boy?" Higher Frederick around a mouthful of food.

"He will return to his family of course," Charles says. "Poor boy has traumatized. I've ordered Maize to be involved personally with his rec and he can leave once he is better." I look toward Maize as she gives h smile.

"I never agreed to that," I interrupt, leaning back in my seat.

Charles' eyes swing to mine, food halfway to his mouth. "I don't ne get your permission. She is skilled and will help the boy. You're not go deny his recovery, are you?"

All eyes are now on me, waiting for my answer. "I need to get back hunting the Rogures. We found what caused them to be here, but have

found how to stop it. So in the meantime, we all need to be out there protecting Vrohkaria." Until Rhea tells us how to reverse the ritual, if i even be done, there is nothing else we can do until then apart from cutt them down.

"I will be seeing to it personally that we get the information needed the woman to stop the Rogures," Charles says. "We will be close to pe throughout Vrohkaria again after the trial, and those who are rebelling us will disband. Many have spoken of my capabilities of handling the t so far and put faith in me to put an end to the Rogures. I will not fail th people."

table

"What if it can't be undone," asks Higher Aiden, his dark curls sway
the he shakes his head. "Can we even trust what she says with what the Ell
have told us? She may have us do another curse unknowingly if we tak
word for things and have her perform another ritual, if that is needed."

"That is a concern," Charles agrees, rubbing his chin. "We have to h some form of leverage over her so that she has no other option than to the truth."

s been

"Like what?" Higher Frederick asks. "She's a traitorous cunt who had caused so much death. What could we possibly hold over her when she so little for the world she lives in?"

"That is true," Higher Mathew chimes in. "The bitch couldn't care a anything."

"What about Kaden?" Maize muses. "I watched her in the pack. She always with him if he was around, and she protected him from Darius Deadlands." She looks at me, teeth showing with her laugh. "Well, as leading to the showing with her laugh."

she could. She was crying on the floor, scared to death that Darius wou

slice the kid's neck. She obviously cares about him even though he hat it can now.

shake my head as Rhea's words echo within me, and Drax growls. Wit out of being so close to the surface, I have to forcefully shove him back for cace taking his anger and holding it at bay. He's been unstable since we was against Rhea being carted off out of the great hall unconscious, bleeding from traitor wounds.

Wounds I inflicted on her flawless back.

Everything revolted inside of me as soon as I stood, whip in hand ar ving as staring down at her. But she lied about everything. Despite all of that, I tes refused Charles' order, even though it was an order with an undertone threat. Then I nearly lost control of Drax during it.

"Hmm," Charles hums thoughtfully. "It could definitely work then a with other suggestions, if her feelings are true," he says to Maize, a gli tell us his eyes. "Which we don't know for sure since she's a manipulative work the trouble she had caused the Aragnis pack over the years after las parent's death, Kaden's family may agree." He shakes his head, seeming cares lost for words. Which I know is bullshit.

"How did her parents die?" Leo asks, taking a drink.

"A terrible accident. It's a shame. Her father was a great Alpha and dear friend of mine. It was a sad day when the news of his death reaches was and it saddens me what his daughter has turned out to be."

in The "You knew them?" My brows furrow at him. Why hasn't he mention best this before now? We have sat here for hours, and we talked before he could a trial.

He nods. "I did, I was even there for the birth of Lasandrhea," he sig

the Lasandrhea? That's her real name? "I was her chosen guardian of sorts with Higher Warden. I'm ashamed of what has become of her. I wonde the she had stayed in her pack if I could have guided her. I visited often ow the him years, but she was volatile. I thought it was the death of her parents the ontrol, caused it, but clearly the girl is unstable." He glances at the drink in his tehed a look of sadness crossing his face.

"You seem to be taking it in well," Zaide states, not looking at him a her cleans one of his blades. I have to wonder why he's asking, the guy rar talks to him unless he has to. But that's why he's the best at what he do Observing. "Considering you were close to her parents and there when ıd I nearlywas born, I would have thought you would be more conflicted over thi "Yes... well," Charles clears his throat. "I am Lord Higher, and my of a personal feelings cannot get in the way of a wrong that has been done. takes a drink before continuing among the Highers about Rhea's senter ilong and how they can get Kade to help the process of her undoing the curso nt in oman. I tune them out, wondering why Rhea never mentioned her guardian Highers. She was adamant not to let them know about Eridian, well ma ner her pack. Was it because she knew they would know she was alive wit ngly and Josh, and punish her for stealing Kade and having Josh help? She going to be punished anyway. She said she had no family, and yet she a very aunt and uncle, who are the Alpha of the Aragnis pack and many cousi ed me, That pack has been around for hundreds of years, even before I was bo is well respected and in alliance with the Highers. So why did Rhea lea She said her parents were stolen from her, but they were killed in an ac ned ordered It doesn't make sense, yet does it matter?

She caused the rogures to come to the Vrohkaria, performed the ritughs. make it happen. I saw it with my own eyes. It's her fault my parents ar

s, along sister died, mauled to death by them. I was away hunting rogures in a r village when they attacked the town we lived in. Isabell was three year er if ver the whole life ahead of her and it was ripped away along with my mother t it had to protect her. I found their mutilated bodies huddled together at the sign s hand, our home next to our garden they spent many hours in. My dad survive week from his injuries from the rogures until he couldn't hold on any l He made me promise on his dying breath to aid the Highers in what the as he to do and become Alpha of the Elites. I keep that promise to this day. ely Rhea has murdered thousands with what she did. Living away in Eri es. without a care and letting Vrohkaria rot around her. She will undo the she and pay for what she has done for the rest of her miserable life. The on s."

question I want answered now is why.

" He

nce,

e.



I walk down the steps toward the cells, the smell of death hitting me as ainly the door. It slams shut behind me, and I walk down the stone hallway the hall has an lock down Drax before he can react. He growls inside me at her smell, has an smell of her blood. Reaching her cell on silent footsteps, I walk to the lins. and lean up against them.

Rhea is on her knees facing the bars, but her head is turned toward the live? wall, just staring at it, unaware of my presence. Or ignoring it. My eye cident. down her body, looking her over with precision. Dried blood covers he splotches, darker in places, especially around the sides of her ribs. Brual to appearing on her left side, and I tilt my head at it, studying it intently and little

nearby wondering where that came from. Her chained hands rest on her thighs sold, aeven a twitch coming from them as the silence continues. Not even her trying breaths can be heard. More dried blood covers the ground to the side of and I see the t-shirt I ripped to expose her back has been thrown off to ed a side. I refuse to acknowledge the feeling bubbling up inside of me at thonger. of her.

ey need I look down at the streaks of red from where she's sat to the cell's be and fury rises within me at the knowledge that she was dragged into he idian instead of placed down. "Why did you do it?" My tone is neutral, almourse bored. I'm only greeted by silence, not even a twitch. She knew I was bored tsk, waving a hand and making an opening in the bars before entering. until I'm a few feet away from her before crouching, resting my arms knees. "Can you undo the curse?" I move a finger, and her chains pull wrists in warning, jolting her, and she finally turns her head to me.

Dull eyes collide with mine, and I hold back my reaction at seeing the I open look in her once lively ice-blue orbs that sometimes look like glass. No light, no flecks... just nothing. Not even tears, though I can see she and I been crying, her eyes puffy. But the look in them is so much different the what I have seen over the weeks since I have been her shadow. Since the bars moment our eyes caught and collided in The Deadlands.

Why don't I like that look?

Everything within me feels restless, and Drax growls low and deadly strack hackles standing high. That I react at all to her is starting to piss me of the very first moment, it's like I'm attuned to everything about her. I w ising is gone. I want it to stop. This need I have to be around her, on her, in he time. I want to scent her, bite her, mark her so I can see them on her sk myself, just like I did after we fucked. It's a constant need, never wave

when I let her, other times she didn't. Especially when I followed her i f her, forest and watched her play with wild wolves like she belonged there. the there, watching from a distance, and nothing could have taken my eyes in e sight from the way she laughed and smiled so freely. Playing with pups and mother just watching on with trust in her gaze, letting me know that watches, the first time she had done so. I suspect she went to see them often.

Yet she fucking caused a plague of rogures to wreak destruction acrost lands, caused my family to die painful deaths for no reason that she has here. I given, so my reaction to her can get fucked. She deserves a lot more th I walk whipping she received for what she as done. I will just have to contain on my fury and instinct in the process.

Drax moves within me, tries to come to my eyes, and I remember ho at her hard I restrained Drax when I let the whip glide through the air to split skin on her back. I ended up having to shut myself down to punish her nat crimes she committed, because everything in me told me to get her out) fire, there to stop that from happening. I didn't even want to whip her, but I has couldn't back down from Charles. He had a challenge in his eye when than I should be the one to do it, and to refuse would make me weak. Expos he weakness I don't have. So, I held that whip and gave her the lashes unt passed out, listening to Drax snarling inside of me with every strike. E tear. Every drop of fucking blood. V,

f. From She didn't grow up in Eridian. She was born in the south in Zakith, a rant it Aragnis pack, stole a kid and manipulated another male. How did the c r all thepack members get in Eridian? How did she make them stay? She must in for stolen them too, like Sarah. Though I have no idea how that even happering. That girl is terrified of everything that moves, even her father.

ced, "Do you know we have a graveyard in the forest," Rhea says sudder nto the Her voice rough from the lack of water, and my hands ball into fists at I stood thought. "We made headstones after a few years of being there. I made away for my mom and dad, and others made them for the ones they lost too. their have a celebration of their life every year at the end of winter and then asn't welcome the new life that appears in the spring."

"Why are you telling me this? I don't fucking care," I growl. Where oss the going with this?

"I doubt I will see it again, to add more graves there for the ones tha S an the been taken from us. I would have liked to celebrate Solvier's life with parents and some of the members we have lost over the years. He prote my Eridian, you know? He had done so for so long. Remember the story I the gathering? I told the story of the Canaric wolves. He was the male)W story, finding his bloodmate when he was about to run away with his her for the pregnant chosen mate. Years later, that male's bloodmate died and he : of searching for his daughter and the woman. He eventually arrived in Er and the Gods spoke to him, told him what had happened. He was distra he saidunable to believe it and full of many regrets. But how can you go agair what the Gods had chosen for you? He made a pact with the Gods that se a day that he would protect the last place his chosen mate and daughter v il she connecting his essence to the lilk trees that surround our home, which very the barrier. The Gods granted him a longer life than what he would have at the ensuring he could protect Eridian for a long time, but that didn't make immortal. When the barrier broke, so did he." other

have "What's your point, Rhea?" I sigh. The barrier had to break to get the ened. Elites and guards inside. Aldus made sure it was done.

Solvier, the so-called guardian that he was, knew things he shouldn'

ily. I could tell Rhea was close to him, he told me as much when he spoke the But she doesn't know the things he told me, she probably never will.

"Solvier was chosen to protect Eridian and all who entered there tha worthy, with the barrier by the Gods. I was chosen to protect all life. Ju to you were chosen to destroy it."

"What the fuck are you talking about?" I look her over closely, won is she where she is going with this.

"I wonder who will be in the graveyard when this is over."

t have "I don't care about your graveyard. Just tell me how to stop the curs my growl at her. She needs to give me something.

She shakes her head slowly from side to side. Her hair sticks to the late on her face and body as it sways. "I do not know, Darius. I didn't caus in that how would I?"

"You're lying, I saw it from the memory crystal. You can't deny it." went was in the middle of a stone circle, writing glowing around the edges, idian, arms stretched out at her sides as she chanted her curse and darkness flaught, into her. Rogures came from the dirt around her, clawing and snarling way to the surface.

were, she shuffles on her knees, and my body jolts forward before I still mys made Drax pushing me toward her to ease her pain.

ve had, I lock him down.

him "You will tell us eventually how to stop it, more blood will be spille then," I snarl at her and stand in frustration. Turning and flicking a fing the bars behind to reappear, I ignore the sigh I hear come from her. It's weighted, resigned. I need to get out of here before Drax takes over.

t have. "You have to believe me, Darius. I need to get out of here." Rhea's

to me. echoes after me. "You'll end up regretting this if you don't." We both regret a lot of things, and meeting each other is one of then t were ıst like dering e," I boolc e it, so ' She her ooded their n as elf, d until ger at ; voice

echoes after me. "You'll end up regretting this if you don't."

We both regret a lot of things, and meeting each other is one of them.

FORTY FOUR

RHEA

I'm dragged harshly from my cell by two guards. I don't know how lobeen in here since Darius came to see me, but it feels like days. I hated coming to see me after what he did, after he tore the flesh from my bac

He's standing beside monsters, and he is none the wiser. To blind in anger to see how impossible it is for me to have caused the rogures. W he saw in this memory stone has made him convinced I'm the enemy, who would believe a 'traitor'?

I'm jostled and shoved by one of the guards, a sneer on his scarred f and I hiss through the pain. The cuffs around my wrists, that I now rea infused with terbium, have slowed my healing process down. That part metal is rare, and there is only one person I know who has access to it. skin has barely begun to close from the lashes and every sudden movel splits the skin more, letting fresh blood flow down my back.

I'm taken in the same direction as the last time I went to the great have arrive at its doors. The guards stop in front of them for a moment, I their armor, before we enter. People fill the room again, looking at me distaste and anger as they spit at my feet, curses falling from their lips.

guards shove me forward down the steps to the middle of the sunken a Josh and Kade once again next to me. Kade doesn't even twitch at my appearance when he looks at me briefly as I'm once again chained to the floor. Josh has more injuries over his face, blood coming from the side head, his eyes are tired and full of pain.

"Are you okay?" he asks me quietly, and I nod, staying silent. He lo over, his eyes tightening as he takes me in, but what else can I say?

My heart is bleeding more than the wounds on my back. Letting hin that I'm not okay won't help anything.

Footsteps come from my right, and I turn and see my cousin, Patrick coming down the steps toward me, and my muscles lock up. His blue ϵ bore into mine when he stops too close in front of me, and I hold my b My hands shake but I lift my chin, waiting for him to speak.

"Hello cousin," he smirks, eyes lingering on my chest that's only co by my bra. I bare my teeth at him, wanting to rip his throat out no matt much fear I have of him. "No need to be so cranky. You're the one who been naughty."

"Get the fuck away from her," Josh snarls, moving as close to me as chains will allow him.

Patrick ignores him. "Are you happy that you took our little brother us," he says to me, referring to Kade. "You stole a child from his famil brainwashed him. I can't wait to see you punished," he smirks, eyes glall until "I'm sure Lord Higher will agree to let me give you some of my own righting punishments as I am Heir to the Aragnis pack."

"I saved Kade from—"

with

The His hand flies out, backhanding me and head snaps to the side befor grabs and squeezes my throat, cutting off any more words. His touch o

him off me, but he's stronger than me at the moment. He squeezes hare with desire in his eyes. A choked sound comes from me as he brings he of his closer, until I feel his breath on my ear. The Elites walk in at that mom moving around the sunken area to stop in front of the dais. Darius' eye oks me into mine, taking in my now reddened cheek and Patrick's hold on me cousin murmurs quietly in my ear so only I can hear him.

eyes on Darius' curious ones as he tilts his head at us. "I never wanted before, but the Highers demanded it. It's different now. All that time we'yes spent playing together when I came to visit you will be nothing like wheath. will do to you now." My eyes sting with tears, and Darius' eyes darker you know where Sarah is," he taunts, and I dig my fingers into his wrist vered harder. "She's on her way to the pack, to be strapped down, ready and the er how waiting for me. Don't worry, there is enough of me to go around thougon has nips my ear, his lips on me making my stomach turn and I whimper.

"Get off me—" he squeezes my throat harder, and I thrash, desperat the him off me.

"That's enough," Darius orders from his place in front of the dais, lo from between us.

"I just wanted a word with my cousin before she is sentenced," Patri inting. shrugs. "I'm sure I will be able to talk to her later on I suppose." He lo down at my body, heat filling his eyes as I move my gaze to the floor, wanting to escape him.

I suppress a shiver thinking of what would happen if he's allowed ti e he with me. I have no doubt he will ask for it. But Sarah. Gods, Sarah is g n me his home. I look down at my bare feet, sucking in breaths as I look ove to get Josh out of the corner of my eye. If looks could kill, Patrick would be dere he walks back over to the family. When Josh finds out that Sarah is on is face way to our old home, he's going to lose it, but I need him to stay calment, now. I need to get him out of a sentence so he can go and get her. I have some try.

as my "What did he say?" Josh whispers through gritted teeth. I shake my not wanting him to know yet.

"You need to agree that I'm the one who caused all of what they are to waitassuming," I murmur, looking around to see if anyone can hear us. "You need to get out of here with the others. Blame it all on me. I'll figure nat I something out." He starts shaking his head. "Please, Josh," I plead with the eyes, nodding my head in Kade's direction. "He needs you. They all do the trapped in here for however long they want. Edward never came back, they could a way to get them out. If I take the full blame. They have chance.

The door at the back opens and Taylor, Sebastian, Hudson, Colten a e to get Anna are brought in again and put in front of us. Then Josie and Danny ooking dragged into the room. Attachments appear on the floor beneath them, the hooded figures behind them attach the chains around their wrists to bringing them to their knees so they can't stand. Their mouths are still ick covered in cloth, not able to speak, but their eyes say it all. Taylor look oks Kade, disappointment in his eyes as he shakes his head at him. Hudsor looking toward Colten whose head is bowed, fiddling with the cuffs or wrists like he could get out of them. My eyes come to Sebastian's sad me joing to and I already miss the lightness they had from him being his flirty self. and Danny are put in front of them, Josie's eyes rimmed red while Dar r at

dead as tries to get as close to her as possible. They're chained to the floor like others, all looking tired, shoulders slumping with exhaustion. I dread to her right what they have been through with the bruises and blood covering them How did we even get here? Everything happened so fast. How did tl 7e to Higher Aldus get a memory crystal, and how does it show me perform some sort of ritual? Nothing makes sense. But whether it makes sense head. my pack is in danger. Sarah is on her way to my old home and my clos friends are with me for punishment. Kade hates me and his memories a wrong. I don't know where my other pack members are either. Are the D11safe and with their moms again or are they still separated? And Eridiar Gods know what our home is like now. h my

o." It's not our home anymore though, is it? With Solvier gone, Eridian ply be probably overrun, and we are no longer a secret.

I look down at the tattoo on my forearm and then to my wrist throug own blood, silently asking for strength at what I may have to do. What I don't have to do. I made a promise, but what choice do I have?. Will strong enough to get everyone out of here? I have to try, but I'm scared y are don't know how to make it happen. Is it even possible?

I've only done it once in my life, and Mom told me never to do it ago them, She made me promise. She told me under no circumstances am I to she anyone, and I haven't. My closest, apart from Kade, know what I am, I they have never seen it. Can I really do this? Show myself and him? He keeps deserves nothing from me, not a single kindness, but he's hiding himse his reason just like I am. I'm not sure if he knows or not, but I've seen his eyes, markings. He tried to hide them within his tattoos, but I recognize then Josie knew as soon as I saw them that they looked familiar, but that day in the my

the forest with the wisps confirmed it. There is no more denying it after we think felt.

I look over at Darius talking with Leo, his stare going to someone st around the side before moving his hands rapidly while he talks. I following line of sight as he looks over Leo's shoulder again, and I see my family or not, uncle stands imposing, his blond hair styled to sweep back off his face aunt stands next to him, her dark brown hair tied up in an intricate styleme all Patrick looks smug as he folds his arms across his chest, his blue eyes roaming over us below. My other cousins Alister, Richard and Sophia standing next to him, looking bored as we all wait for the verdict.

These people were meant to protect me, protect our family. Instead, is helped destroy it. And for what? To be in the good graces of the Lord I For power and titles. They just didn't expect me to escape before my eighteenth birthday, or to take Kade with me. What have they been doi I hope this time? Have they been helping Charles?

I didn't expect the Lord Higher to have gone on to take other childred, and I see if they were like me. To train them like me. Charles rules over Vroaking would his kingdom with the exception of a few lands that have a to pledge their loyalty. So why does he want more so badly that after I escaped? He needs to be stopped. He needs to be taken down with the Highers and my family for what they have done, what they are still doing they all have to die for the blood they have spilled, or more will continuel for a soak the lands and taint it.

It was one thing doing it with me. I thought they had stopped. I unden. I that it is different now. They will never stop until they get what they we limit to a limit they get what they we strong, a force that is unmatched, especially aided by the other Highers

hat I their witches. Over the years, I tried to find a way to get my revenge of tried to figure out a plan with Edward. Nothing came of it, nothing that anding make us successful, and I had to learn to accept it. Accept what they alw his me and my mom and dad, knowing they were all still living and breath y. My had to let it go.

My But I can't let go of them bringing innocent children into their powe
 e. for years. If I had known, I would have revealed myself. I would have to him, done what he wanted and accepted it. I would never have put n are before children, and I unknowingly had by staying hidden in Eridian. I my life, being safe, while others have been suffering.

they This is another failure.

Higher. Another sin.

Another stain against my soul because of everything I am.

ing all

n to

hkaira

refused

other

ing.

nue to

erstand

ant.

r is

3 and

their witches. Over the years, I tried to find a way to get my revenge on him, tried to figure out a plan with Edward. Nothing came of it, nothing that would make us successful, and I had to learn to accept it. Accept what they all did to me and my mom and dad, knowing they were all still living and breathing, I had to let it go.

But I can't let go of them bringing innocent children into their power play for years. If I had known, I would have revealed myself. I would have gone to him, done what he wanted and accepted it. I would never have put myself before children, and I unknowingly had by staying hidden in Eridian. Living my life, being safe, while others have been suffering.

This is another failure.

Another sin.

Another stain against my soul because of everything I am.

FORTY FIVE

RHEA

The doors open and the Highers enter the hall, walking up the dais and their seats. Once again, two chairs are still left empty and there is no si Edward. They all remove their hooded cloaks as the murmurs around t room go silent in their presence.

"It is time to sentence the traitor of Vrohkaria and her followers." Cl speaks clear and commanding, his voice filling the great hall easily. "V have spoken throughout the night on the best outcome of this rare situa "The crimes against Joshua Satori are helping a traitor leave her pack a aiding in the kidnapping of a child, kidnapping others to be taken to Er to be kept there, failing to inform the Highers of a pack being establish and not handing over the traitor of the lands."

I turn my head to the side, begging Josh to do what I asked of him. "made me do it," he blurts out, and I lose some tension in my body. He be sentenced like this, he just can't. "She threatened my life and others therefore I couldn't leave or tell anyone as I would have been killing that she said she would."

"Do you say this in truth, Joshua?" Lord Higher Charles demands, le between us curiously.

"It is, but I worry she will kill those I care about. I'm trying to prote them, the kids especially." My spine is straight as I look directly into tl eyes as he speaks. No fear. No tremble. "They are all scared she will k those they love. That's why they haven't spoken, all except Kade." I go at him, but again, he's not looking at either of us.

Darius scoffs, and the Highers murmur amongst themselves. "Why we believe you in what you say? You are basically telling me that you choice but to aid her. Yet reports say you are her closest, like a brother her."

"I had to be close to her to make sure we all stayed in line so she we hurt anyone. Or if someone did something wrong, I could let them kno they could pacify her." Josh swallows roughly, hating the words that a coming out of his own mouth. Damning me. "I thought we were in lov was wrong, she just used me."

Charles hums and leans on his hand, elbow to the chair's armrest. "Verwas in it for you, taking people and keeping them in Eridian," Charles me.

I shrug. "I wanted a pack, so I created one and kept them in line. Isn how we do things?"

"Her pack was scared," Darius adds, green eyes looking directly at r "She wouldn't tell me why, but they always cowered in fear from us. Probably in fear of consequences if they spoke something that could ki loved ones." The Elites growl around him, eyes locked on me with loo

could have me dead in an instant if it were possible.

"Hmmm." Charles taps his chin, dark eyes looking between the thre

taking

gn of he

harles Ve

ition.

and ridian

ied,

'She can't

i, iose poking as I briefly look at my pack members.

Their eyes are hard on Josh's, but when they come to mine, I hope that in my own eyes that this is what I want, what has to happen. Josie shak heir head, eyes still red, and I blink slowly at her as Danny's knee presses ε ill hers.

lance "Joshua, speak clearly. Did Rhea make threats in any way, to keep y others in line?" Higher Frederick asks.

would I feel Josh's gray eyes on me. I feel his hesitation at answering when had no knows it's downhill for me, but there is no stopping it with or without to words. I turn my head, my eyes speaking for me. This is the way it has The only way I could get them out of here is if I take the blame for it a nuldn't He swallows, his voice rough when he finally speaks. "It's true."

more murmurs and looks of disgust head my way. "You really are a e, I woman," a Higher says, waving a hand toward me as his scraggy, dark falls to his chin.

What A barrier is put around me again, and I see it glow before pain wracl asks body. My wrists strain against the cuffs as I try to move away from the burning within me. I grit my teeth, leaning against the barrier at my ba 't that growl through the current and the pain lashing up my torn flesh. I feel trickle from my ears, adding to my already bloodied body. Sweat gathene. the back of my neck as I hold in a scream that wants to be released, tur look toward Josh for strength. His eyes hold mine through it, the anguiall their them worse than the lightning racking my body. I know it kills him seeks that like this, but it will kill him more if he doesn't get to Sarah.

The current fades to a low buzz, and I breathe out shakily, wiggling e of us fingers to stop the tingles there. I stand straight from the barrier as it fe

tiny needles stabbing into me and take a step to the middle, ready for v hey see next. I have to be. I don't look at Kade or at my pack again as my eyes tes her Charles, that fucking grin on his face at seeing me hurt before he drops against sitting up straighter in his seat.

"It's unfathomable how this female is of our kind. She is no wolf, no ou and of ours," Charles spits, and the crowd shouts their agreement, calling for death. "I will accept what Joshua has said as truth. I believe this woman he done unspeakable things to her pack to keep them from leaving and reachis out to any sort of authority. Through no fault of their own, they have be to be. taken and abused by this woman. Sarah Woodly has confirmed that, as ll. the wounds on her body." I don't move, I just keep my eyes on him as throws out false statements. "A strong, lengthy punishment is to be ser well as removing the curse on Vrohkaria to rid us of the Rogures. Are vile now going to tell us how to remove it?"

I stay silent, breathing evenly. They don't believe I'm not to blame is curse, I can't persuade the room otherwise. I'm the bad guy, the persor ks my are going to use to blame for all the suffering the Rogures have dealt of throughout the land, when instead they should still be looking for a warrange ck as I stop them.

blood I can't win in this situation. They won't listen to me, and I haven't hers at myself with lying to Darius. All my words are just lies and manipulationing to according to them all. All I can do now is just endure. The barrier glowsh in again, and my eyes connect to Darius as I'm brought to my knees, the sing memore intense this time, rattling my teeth as a whimpered breath comes me.

my His green eyes bore into mine, and I see them tighten around the edatels likeshoulders tensing as he watches.

what's "Tell us how to stop the Rogures!" Charles' voice booms inside the find as blood spills from my nose and over my lips as I cough. I squeeze my sit, shut, breathing through it as Runa whimpers inside of me, too exhauste help share some pain. All she can do is feel it through me.

Charles knows I didn't cause the curse, so why is he going along wi or my I was locked inside a cage and tormented by them. How could I have n has performed a ritual at seven years old? If for one second, one person wo aching think clearly, they would know the time frame doesn't add up. The pec een too blinded in their anger to see it, the Elites too blinded by what this c showed them. They all have fucking wool over their eyes, and they ref he clear the fog.

ved, as The pain eases, and I rest my cuffed hands on the barrier in front of you blood still dripping from my nose and ears, dribbling down my chin. It body aches, my muscles sore from tensing up so much and my back fe for the lava. My eyes open and they lock with Darius' once again. Through the of my vision, I watch as his head tilts, his eyes roaming over my body watching fresh blood flow from me. His hand twitches at his side before you crosses his arms, looking toward the Highers with a clenched jaw as the speak, breaking our connection.

"She will not tell us Lord Higher," Higher Frederick tsks. "She cares for Vrohkaria or our people getting slaughtered by the Rogures."

"It seems she will not," Charles muses. "Kaden, say what you have current to the traitor. Maybe you can persuade her."

I look over at Kade as he speaks, his voice cold and without any emass my breathing becomes labored. "I've had my memories blocked, yo ges, his me from my home, and I lost many years with my family. That can negiven back to me. I unknowingly helped you bring people to Eridian un

barrier the guise that we were helping them, when you were really just stealing y eyes and making them work in fear around us. I was blind to it all, but no med to to the highest punishment should be given, even though I will never get justice for what you have done to me. I will never get back the time I he that this? lost," he growls, eyes full of animosity. "Nothing I say will make you truth. You're sick and twisted, and I'm ashamed I spent so many years looking up to you as a mother when you stole me from mine." he spits ople are barrier. "I want no connection to you. You mean nothing to me."

If you could see my heart, it would be bleeding from the wounds he use to just caused. It would be on the floor beneath his foot as he stomped on repeatedly, slowly fading into ash. I suck in a shaky breath as I try to me, remember that his memories are not what he thinks they are. Try to rer that something had been done to him to make him act like this. If he ki els like would be the first in line to remove their heads, I know he would. This e haze my Kade standing in front of me.

and It's probably for the best he doesn't know. It will keep him somewh re he for now. But that didn't stop the pain in my chest that he thought I was ey capable of doing this. That I could steal someone from their home whe have done is try to help those that need it after mine was tainted. I've to some there through so many milestones in Kade's life, been there through nightmares and heartbreak. I've been there through his achievements a

to say creations, through our sacred ritual of getting his tattoo and getting his It's me that has given him a life, gave him his laughter, taught him to r otion and write, and taught him how to be kind.

u stole Not them. Me.

ver be "Can I have a blade?" Kade asks suddenly, and my body stills, my b nder heart pounding against my chest. g them "What are you doing?" I rush out, watching as Darius lifts a small boore. and holds it out to him. Kade walks up the steps as his chains are taken any and I track him until he's standing beside Darius.

"Undoing something I should have never let happen in the first plactell the Kade says as he grips the hilt of the blade tightly in his grasp.

I watch everything in slow motion as he brings the blade up to his mat the forearm, and he presses the tip to his skin just below the inside of his e Blood wells to the surface. Then in one quick move he slices down his effectively slicing through the design Josh and I lovingly put there and severing our blood link. Destroying what we etched there in the name Gods. In the name of our bond, our family.

nember I fall as my knees give out, and I hit the floor hard, a whimper leaving new, he as I watch blood drip from his forearm, splashing against the floor. The is not sharp, stabbing pain slices through my head.

I scream.

Scream and scream as it feels like I'm being ripped in to the link between us pulls taut. The strand of his link intertwining with an all I stretches, pulling as far as it can until it starts to fray. I grip my head, s screaming in pain as tears stream down my face. "Carzan," I whimper. the strands snap, his link disappearing into the darkness, and all that's void where his link once was. An endless pit of black as I try to search wolf. link. Try to reach out and grab a hold of it and never let go, but it's not ead. It's gone.

Sobs escape me, my body trembling at the loss. I don't want to feel want it to stop. All of it to stop. It's too much. I can't take it. Kade falls ruised floor beside Darius, screaming as he holds his head in his hands. Feelin what I'm feeling. They're going to destroy him. They're going to destr

lade everything he is to get to me. Breaking a blood link takes time to gentl away, unravel the strings that connect us together. Shattering it like that is dangerous. A link is sacred, and he's just destroyed it because of what e," have done to him. Broken the vows he made. What else would they make him do in the name of getting to me? He will be a shell of a person whereaster are through with him.

lbow. "Now tell us how to break the curse!" Charles demands of me as agastin, sob on the floor, my body shaking with tremors as pain flares up at the sudden loss of Kade's blood link. I drag my blurry vision to Josh, who of the his knees holding his head in his hands, feeling the same effects of the link like Kade and I. "I think it's time to show her more consequences ag me refusing us."

en, a I get to my hands and knees, coughing, barely taking in any air throu cries. I lift my head and see Darius looking at Kade on the floor, his br scrunched up as he bends and picks up his blade. He looks at me, and t vo as look in his eyes almost seems remorseful, but that can't possibly be tru mine I see two cloaked figures appearing behind Josie and Danny, and my till go wide. The cloaked figures bring a knife up to their throats, and I scr Then, to my feet, my body slamming against the barrier as I bang on it, ignor left is a needle-like stabs I get for touching it. My guys behind them start shout for his behind the cloths covering their mouths as they try to get to them.

there. "No, don't, please. I don't know how to break the curse," I cry, still banging my chained hands on the shimmering violet barrier as the guy it, I behind them try to get to them. I look at Darius. "I'm telling the truth. s to the believe me!" He puts his blade back in a holder and takes a step toward from the top of the steps.

"Just tell us!" Charles shouts, standing and pointing at me.

y "I can't!" I shake my head, looking at the cloaked figures behind Jos Danny. "I was too youn—" The barrier glows again and I cry out in pa they didn't do it. Please, believe me. Vallier," I whimper as I watch those bake start to slice through their necks slowly, blood spurting out from them en they eyes meet Josie's.

Her dark green eyes are kind, telling me without words that it's okay ain as I tear slips from her eye. Her head turns toward Danny, blood coloring he and they look at each other in so much pain, and love and heartache un is on body falls to the side, her eyes closing for the final time. Danny lands a brokenher, his chained hands touching her like he always has done, wanting to close to her as possible. Even in death their bodies are close, always we each other, and as I watch their essence coming from their body, I let it agh my in an anguished scream.

All the pain, all the hurt, all the heartbreak comes from me as Runa the and lets out a mournful howl within me. Cracks form on the barrier better. It is flashes, and I'm flung back, my body hitting against it as my chains put yeyes then I'm yanked to the floor.

ing the neatly but now covered in specks of blood. I lift my head, sobs still writing my body, guttural sounds coming from me as Darius crouches on the c side of the barrier. He looks at Kade behind him, still gripping his head hands, to Anna, Taylor, Sebastian, Hudson and Colten who are trying to up, pulling on their chains. Then to Josie and Danny, their essence flow Please, and into the air. Then finally to Josh on his knees to the left of me, his hanging low, before his eyes come back to mine, flashing black quickly before returning to green.

He clenches his jaw. "This is only the beginning for you if you don'

"Remember what I told you in the cave," I cry, cutting him off as min. "I lock with his. Darius' dark brows lower in confusion as I continue. "A lades someone you love, protecting it." My eyes flash, and my face begins to as my tingle. "I'm too late for them," I sob as I look at Danny and Josie's boo behind him. "But I can't let anymore be taken from me."

"What the fuck are you on about?" he demands, voice harsh. He loo ler lips, behind him, at Lord Higher Charles who still stands, looking toward us til her before his gaze meets mine again.

next to "I can't let it happen, but if I must reveal myself, so will you," I cho o be as "But you are not worthy of being hidden, of being Vihnarn." His eyes ith at my words, shock spreading across his face as he looks over my feat t all out "Don't," he growls low, so low that a shiver goes through me as I hi through my sobs.

"We are all falling, and so will you."

fore it I feel whispers of fingers stroking my face, palms cupping my cheel III, and I look deep into green eyes speckled with silver before I close them. For warmth spread all over my body, a warmth that's familiar.

es tied Safe.

acking Home.

"It's okay, sweetheart. Let go. This is your path. You have done so value in his stay hidden. I didn't want this burden to fall on your shoulders. I never to get Milal, but it has. I know you are frightened, but the lands needs you to uting upthe wrong. It's time."

head "Mom," I whimper, feeling the warmth become hotter, centering at chest and traveling up to my neck and face.

"Yes, sweetheart, I'm here. I've always been here, within you. I mac t—" of it. It's time for me to go now, though. It's time for me to give you the y eyes part of me that has been waiting for you."

bout "Don't go Mom, please. I need you." I reach out in the darkness, but no one there.

ties "Hush now. It's alright. All you need to do is let go. You are not going break the promise you made to me. I release you from it." Lips touch not forehead, tiny pinpricks of pain caressing there before it becomes hot, see flashes of light behind my closed lids.

Memory after memory rushes through my mind. Playing with Mom a ke out. Dad in the woods behind our house. Gathering the lesia flowers and g widen them to Mom. Dad giving me my knife and the proud smile on his face. Ites. and Dad dancing to their own music on our porch. Then pain and ccup confinement. Hiding away from the opening of my cage when I heard footsteps. Sneers and mocking laughter taunting me as I cried. Them touching me. Josh hugging me and panicking about the amount of blocks, and when he got me out of the basement. Josh holding me through the nighteeling apromising me would always be with me.

Getting Kade and cuddling him as he cried after a nightmare and schim when he fell. Burying his mate, getting his wolf, and the smile on hafter he changed the first time. Getting our tattoos and creating the blovell to link. Josie helping me with her hugs and gentle touches, helping me wirdid, Kade when he would sometimes stop eating. The way her eyes lit up wiright they landed on Danny, and Danny twirling her around and laughing a spoke in hushed whispers to each other. Meeting Solvier for the first timy when I had tears rolling down my face in the forest, feeling so lost and having too much pressure from Eridian. Solvier curling up next to me, le sure me laying against him and sleeping. And him guiding and offering adver we walked along the lakes and told me stories.

And Darius.

Darius eyes landing on me in The Deadlands. Darius with the wisps Darius with the wolf pups. Darius with his tattoos. Darius helping me ng to Sam. Darius as he held me in the cave when I had a nightmare. Kissing under the moonlight, and looking at me with speckled silver flecks in h and I seeing deep into every fiber of my being.

Heat rushes through me, and I welcome it. I welcome it all with operand as I let go.

iving "That's it. I'm so proud of you sweetheart. You are strong, my girl. Mom them."

"I'm scared."

эd

"I know, Lasandrhea, but have courage and show them. Show them will not break, that you will not surrender. Show them all exactly who. Are."

The heat leaves my body in a rush, the lingering touch on my forehe disappearing as my eyes spring open. My hair floats around me like I'n nothing underwater, and I rise from the ground, barely feeling any physical pair is face legs are steady, my spine straight, and I feel power coursing through my lighting me up from within. I keep my eyes on Darius as he follows my standing, and I see his markings mixed into the tattoos on his neck puls hen reacting to mine on my face, neck and torso.

He looks over my own markings, tracing them everywhere he can so with light green eyes full of shock and awe. He follows the one in the conformal of my chest, traveling in delicate lines to spread along my collar bones and top of my shoulders, then thinly up my neck. His eyes move to my factorice as following my markings from my cheekbones to up and around my tem before stopping in the center of my forehead.

"So that's who you are," he whispers, reminding me of all the times asked as the great hall becomes silent. The last time he asked me who told him that I was someone he wouldn't want me to be.

g me "I'm Lasandrhea Zaphina Kazari, Canaric wolf, Heir to Zahariss, pr *is eyes*, of the lands. You, Darius Rikoth..." I pause, watching as his eyes flash and his markings crawl further up his neck to just below his jaw. "You *n arms* Canaric wolf, Heir to Cazier, destroyer of the below."

And then I let loose a blast of power, shattering the barrier around n *Show* knocking him back as everyone screams.

```
you
You. To Be Continued...

ead
n
n. My
ie,
e to
se,
ee them
center
```

to the

e next,

ples

"So that's who you are," he whispers, reminding me of all the times he's asked as the great hall becomes silent. The last time he asked me who I was, I told him that I was someone he wouldn't want me to be.

"I'm Lasandrhea Zaphina Kazari, Canaric wolf, Heir to Zahariss, protector of the lands. You, Darius Rikoth..." I pause, watching as his eyes flash black and his markings crawl further up his neck to just below his jaw. "You are Canaric wolf, Heir to Cazier, destroyer of the below."

And then I let loose a blast of power, shattering the barrier around me and knocking him back as everyone screams.

To Be Continued...

AFTERWORD

Want an alternative POV from Darius? Grab it here > <u>Darius</u>

On a scale of one to eleven, how much do you want to throw a rock I mean, it's not too bad of a cliffhanger right?

nervous laughter

Rhea was going through it at the end there wasn't she? And when I is I could barely write from the tears in my eyes as Danny and Josie died felt everything in those last chapters, especially when Rhea was speakher mom.

I hope my words conveyed that emotion and made you feel it all And Darius, oh boy, you are in for it!

I was super nervous with what Darius ended up doing to Rhea. I tr change it, swap it, re-work it, and honestly? Their story just wouldn't and I have to listen to them, their journey.

This book is so very close to my soul.

I poured everything I had into it for two years and I can't believe it into the world.

This series was completely different and was meant to be a standa

until Rhea and Darius went feral and took over completely.

It's scary and exciting and I'm so proud of my book baby.

Thank you so much for reading book one of The Hidden of Vrohl

If you're interested, keep reading if you want to find out how to g

alternative POV from Darius.

Much loves and reading.
-Kelly x

at me?

tell you
, gah! I
king to

too.

ied to
let me,

lone,

until Rhea and Darius went feral and took over completely.

It's scary and exciting and I'm so proud of my book baby.

Thank you so much for reading book one of The Hidden of Vrohkaria.

If you're interested, keep reading if you want to find out how to get an alternative POV from Darius.

Much loves and reading.
-Kelly x

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

My family.

There is simply not a word strong enough to say how much I love wouldn't have clicked publish without your unwavering belief in me could do this. I love you to the moon and back.

Incognito

Without you, I honestly would be lost. Thank you so so much for support.

My Alpha and Beta readers.

The feedback you gave me is invaluable, thank you so much for tak time to help make this book what it is today.

K

With your edits, you polished it and gave it that oomph. Thank you much.

Masochists

You know who you are, your support means the world to me. Let's escape to other worlds together.

Reader.

| | You decided to take a chance and read something with your preciou Thank you so much. I hope you enjoyed Rhea and Darius as much a |
|------------------|---|
| | |
| | |
| | |
| vou I | |
| you. I that I | |
| your | |
| ing the | |
| ou so | |
| always | |
| | |

You decided to take a chance and read something with your precious time. Thank you so much. I hope you enjoyed Rhea and Darius as much as I did.

COME STALK ME

Pre-order book two in The Hidden Of Vrohkaria series > TDRBook Two Goodreads TBR - Here

Come and join my readers group for updates, teasers, giveaways and n here at > The Cove

Or click here for more links, including ARC interest form> Here

Want an alternative POV from Darius? Grab it here > <u>Darius</u>

COME STALK ME

Pre-order book two in The Hidden Of Vrohkaria series > TDR

Book Two Goodreads TBR - Here

Come and join my readers group for updates, teasers, giveaways and more here at > The Cove

Or click here for more links, including ARC interest form> Here

Want an alternative POV from Darius? Grab it here > <u>Darius</u>